# ATTRITION OF VETERINARIANS FROM CLINICAL PRACTICE AND THE INFLUENCE OF MORAL DISTRESS



Alejandra I. Arbe Montoya (B.V.Sc.)

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

> School of Animal and Veterinary Sciences The University of Adelaide Australia September 2022

# Table of contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS	
SUMMARY	1
AIMS OF THE DISSERTATION	2
THESIS DECLARATION	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
MANUSCRIPTS INCLUDED	6
	6
ARTICLES IN MANUSCRIPT FORM	6
TABLES, FIGURES, AND SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS	7
TABLES	7
FIGURES	7
SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS	8
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	9
CHAPTER 1: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	10
THE CURRENT STATE OF THE VETERINARY WORKFORCE	
WORKFORCE RETENTION	
REASONS FOR ATTRITION IN THE VETERINARY PROFESSION	
Veterinary attrition and staff turnover worldwide	12
Rural and farm animal veterinarians	13
Overall summary of reasons across literature	13
OCCUPATIONAL STRESS, JOB DISSATISFACTION, AND MORAL DISTRESS	14
Occupational stress	14
Job dissatisfaction	14
Moral distress	15
LIMITATIONS OF THE CURRENT VETERINARY LITERATURE AND GAPS IN KNOWLEDGE	15
THESIS METHODOLOGY AND OUTLINE OF METHODS	16
A MIXED-METHODS APPROACH	16
Qualitative methodology	
Description of quantitative methods and treatment of missing data	
Ethics	21
Summer	21 כר
NEFERENCES	25
CHAPTER 2: MORAL DISTRESS IN VETERINARIANS	28
SUMMARY	
STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP	29
MORAL DISTRESS IN VETERINARIANS	31
ABSTRACT	31
	32
MORAL DISTRESS IN HEALTHCARE PROFESSIONALS	
IVIOUR YING FACTORS AND OUTCOMES OF THE MORAL DELIBERATION PROCESS FOR VETERINARIANS	
NEFERENCES	42
CHAPTER 3: WHY DO VETERINARIANS LEAVE CLINICAL PRACTICE? A QUALITATIVE STUDY USING THE ANALYSIS	EMATIC
SUMMARY	45

STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP	
Why do veterinarians leave clinical practice? A qualitative study using thematic analysis	
ABSTRACT	
INTRODUCTION	50
Methodology	50
Participants	
Interviews	
Description of participants	
Analysis	
Results	52
Personal Factors (Appendix 2)	
Work Experiences (Appendix 3)	
Combination of factors	
DISCUSSION	58
Motivations, character and beliefs	
Negative thoughts and affectivity	
Moral conflict	
Working hours and workload	60
Patient care, support and workplace and client relationships	61
Pay and remuneration and other employment conditions	61
Alternative professional interests	
Overall implications	
LIMITATIONS	62
CONCLUSION	63
References	64
SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS	67
CHAPTER 4' RISK FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH VETERINARY ATTRITION FROM CLINICAL PRACTIC	CF A
DESCRIPTIVE STUDY.	
	75
RISK FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH VETERINARY ATTRITION FROM CLINICAL PRACTICE. A DESCRIPTIVE STUDY	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	80
Survey	
Description of the population and variables	
Data analysis	
RESULIS	
Overall description	
Data description	
Logistic regression modelling	
SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS	
CHAPTER 5: MORAL AND ETHICAL CONFLICT AND MORAL DISTRESS IN VETERINARIANS. A MIXED	)-METHODS
APPROACH	96

SUMMARY	
STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP	97
MORAL AND ETHICAL CONFLICT AND MORAL DISTRESS IN VETERINARIANS. A MIXED-METHODS APPROACH	
Abstract	
INTRODUCTION	

Methods	103
Study 1	103
Methods	
Results	
Study 2	107
Methods	
Results	
DISCUSSION	120
IMPLICATIONS	123
LIMITATIONS	125
Conclusion	126
References	127
SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS	130
CHAPTER 6: ATTRITION FROM VETERINARY CLINICAL PRACTICE: POTENTIAL CONTRIBUTIONS OF MOTIVATIONS TO BE A VETERINARIAN, PROFESSIONAL QUALITY OF LIFE, JOB SATISFACTION, W BALANCE AND MORAL DISTRESS	= ORK-LIFE 134
	124
ATTRITION FROM VETERINARY CLINICAL PRACTICE: POTENTIAL CONTRIBUTIONS OF MOTIVATIONS TO BE A VETERINA	RIAN,
PROFESSIONAL QUALITY OF LIFE, JOB SATISFACTION, WORK-LIFE BALANCE AND MORAL DISTRESS.	
ABSTRACT	
Motivations	
Compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue	
JOD SATISTACTION	
Moral distress	
METHODS	
Description of the variables	
Dala di di ysis	
RESULTS	
Data description. Output and demographic variables	
Logistic regression modelling	
DISCUSSION	
Molivations	154
Floressional quality of me	
SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS	
CHAPTER 7: THESIS DISCUSSION	169
OVERVIEW	169
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS	170
Moral distress. Definitions and the moral deliberation pathway	
Interviewing former veterinary clinicians. A qualitative analysis on why they left practice	
Risk factors possibly contributing to veterinary clinical attrition	
Part one: The influence of demographics and working conditions	
Understanding and measuring moral distress in veterinary clinicians	
Risk factors possibly contributing to veterinary clinical attrition	
Part two: Evaluation of psychometric variables including moral distress	
INTEGRATED ASSESSMENT OF FINDINGS	173

REFERENCES	
CONCLUSIONS	
LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDIES	
OPPORTUNITIES FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	
IMPLICATIONS FOR THE VETERINARY PROFESSION	
The influence of moral distress	
Motivations and job satisfaction	
A negative emotional state and burnout	
Important working conditions: Hours, after-hours and salary	
Demographic factors: gender, region of work and working in 'other' clinical fields	
The combination of factors	

### Summary

The veterinary profession is recording anecdotal reports of workforce shortage despite surplus expectation. There are two reasons for this concern: a) the time taken to fill available veterinary practice positions is longer, and b) the percentage of intention to leave professional practice is increasing. It is anticipated that these issues arise from veterinarians leaving practice rather than a reduced intake into the profession. Due to the critical role veterinarians have in society, maintaining an adequate workforce is paramount, prompting necessary research to understand the reasons that might be associated with veterinarians leaving clinical practice. Previous research in veterinary attrition has focused on specific groups, such as farm animal veterinarians and emergency clinicians. Only recently has investigating strategies that improve overall retention in veterinarians received attention. Previously reported reasons for attrition include: having emergency duties, poor work-life balance, poor salary, negative work environments and occupational stress. A phenomenon known as moral distress, has been related to career attrition and staff turnover in medical professionals. Moral distress is defined as the psychological and emotional anguish a professional experiences when confronted with a situation where they cannot undergo what they consider to be the morally correct path. This phenomenon has been linked to emotional distress in veterinarians but received limited investigation in veterinary clinical practice. Due to the magnitude of the deleterious effects on staff wellbeing and patient care as well as its relationship with job abandonment in healthcare professionals, an investigation of moral distress and its relationship to attrition from clinical practice was deemed warranted. This dissertation aims to identify why veterinarians leave clinical practice, and establish a possible link between attrition from practice and moral distress.

Firstly, the literature on moral distress in veterinarians was examined for a clear definition. A theoretical model was developed illustrating how exposure to a moral conflict can create a moral deliberation pathway into moral distress. The literature for healthcare professionals exposes moral distress as a possible cause for staff turnover, indicating that a similar contribution could occur in veterinary clinicians. A qualitative exploration of attrition from clinical practice was performed using this theory. A thematic analysis was conducted to understand why former veterinary clinicians had left clinical practice. Two themes emerged: Personal Factors and Work Experiences. It is ascertained that a combination of these two themes influenced veterinarians to leave practice. Several sub-themes within these two broad categories emerged, outlining a detailed list of factors hypothesised to be associated with attrition in veterinarians, including moral and ethical conflict. Following the qualitative study, a survey was disseminated among current and former veterinary clinicians to test the association between factors identified in the qualitative study and attrition from practice. The results link attrition from clinical practice to: working longer hours, having on-call duties, working for lower salaries, working in metropolitan regions, being motivated by social purpose, experiencing lower burnout and lower compassion satisfaction, being dissatisfied with scheduling, and experiencing low personal job satisfaction. The results in relation to burnout and

compassion satisfaction need to be interpreted in the light of the scale limitations when used in a retrospective fashion.

A scale for veterinary clinicians (MDS-V) was created to evaluate the influence of moral distress. The MDS-V has three sub-scales: 1) team relationships that compromise patient and client care, 2) conflicting client interactions, and 3) situations perceived as personal threats. Although moral distress was not significantly associated with attrition, it is associated with psychological ill-health in veterinarians and medical professionals. Therefore, it is important to understand moral distress in order to mitigate its deleterious effects. This study provides a better understanding of this phenomenon in veterinarians.

# Aims of the dissertation

- 1. To explore the pathway of moral distress when exposed to a moral conflict in veterinarians.
- 2. To understand the reasons for former veterinary clinicians to have left practice.
- 3. To develop a moral distress scale to measure moral distress in veterinary clinicians.

4. To assess the risk factors associated with attrition from clinical practice (including moral distress) in veterinarians.

# Thesis declaration

I certify that this work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in my name, in any university or other tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text. In addition, I certify that no part of this work will, in the future, be used in a submission in my name, for any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution without the prior approval of the University of Adelaide and where applicable, any partner institution responsible for the joint-award of this degree.

I acknowledge that copyright of published works contained within this thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of those works.

I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library Search and also through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time.

I acknowledge the support I have received for my research through the provision of an Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship.

Name: Alejandra I. Arbe Montoya Signature:

Date: 13/09/2022

### Acknowledgements

This thesis is dedicated to my father Guillermo Arbe Carbonel who paved the professional path that I am blessed to walk.

I also need to thank my favourite people in the world who I miss every day: Maibi Montoya (mum), Santiago Arbe, Illari Arbe, Brisa Ocampo, Guille Arbe, and to the rest of my beloved family: Isabel Leon, Provi Carbonel, Aira Raez, Provi Arbe, Javier Ocampo, Magali Caceres, Paul Donayre, Jessica Donayre, Ana Maria Vargas, Eduardo (Lalo) Montoya, and everyone else in Peru, USA, Canada, and France. I also acknowledge and remember those in heaven: Sergio Montoya, Armando (Mini) Arbe, Julieta Leon, Lizandro (Pepe) Vargas, Juan Montoya, Nicolas Bello, Lili, and the dogs Bronco, Tornado and Leia.

To my dear friends and my Australian family: Thank you! My dearest Simon, thank you for putting up with all my terrible moods especially in the past year, and his wonderful family that have taken me in as one of their own. I can't be grateful enough for all the love and all the food. Thank you, my friends: Irina Ochoa, Miguel Menacho, Gonzalo Herrera, Gabriel Vizcarra, Pamela Reusens, Manuel Arenas, Elyse Butler, Catherine Siouffi, Nicola Volstad, Marie Borgesson, Kat Price, Sam Goodson, Ruby Rivera, Leanne Williamson, Stuart Cassidy, Paul Harvey, Claire Connelly, Bridget McCusker, Andrew Butler, Kirsty Crookes, Andrew Carter, Cheryl Lordan and the rest of the gaming crew. Cheers to you and roll initiatives.

This journey would not have been the same without the office-floor lunches and pub nights with: Petra Edwards, Ana Costa, Nitish Narendra, Tamsyn Stephenson, Jo Aldersey, Rochelle Morton and Julia Henning. Thank you for being there to support, encourage and help.

To Sophie, Rossi, Ella, Alex and Jo. You are missed every day.

Last but not least to all the animals who enrich my every day: Shai, Peggy, Lexi, Nala, Quilla, Prins, Suri, all the rats that have come and gone and my beloved animal patients.

I am grateful for everyone that contributed to the completion of this mammoth task. Thanks to my supervisors Michelle McArthur and Susan Hazel and external advisors Susan Matthew, Aaron Jarden, Michelle Hebart, and Darren Trott. Darren and Susan M., this project would not have been possible without your huge support and you deserve to be showered with blessings; thank you so much! I would also like to acknowledge my wonderful editor Renee Gale as well as Cathy Wharburton, Kelly Hall, Russell Edson, Annie Conway, Olena Kravchuk, Emily Dunning, Adele Feakes, Dana Thomson, Janelle Trott, Diana Reed, and Gordon Howarth for their contributions and advice. Special thank you to: Anne Fawcett and The University of Sydney; Dan Schull, Roselin Bolton and The University of Queensland; Martin Cake and Murdoch University; Bridgette Shackelford and The University of Adelaide, Graham Pratt and The Australian Veterinary Association; James Cook University and Charles Sturt University for helping me recruit participants for my studies. Thank you to Tim White and The Australian Veterinary Network; Guy Weerashinge, Jeni Hood and the Veterinarians for Public Health; Emma Davis and Vets Stay Go Diversity Facebook page for disseminating my survey.

Thank you to everyone that took the time to complete surveys. Thank you to the 30 wonderful people that allowed me into their professional journey. It was an honour to meet you and interview you. This project would not have been possible without your contributions.

Finally, to Australian veterinarians, never forget how awesome you are!

# Manuscripts included

### List of publications

- 1. Arbe Montoya, A.I., Hazel, S., Matthew, S.M. and McArthur, M.L. (2019), Moral distress in veterinarians. Veterinary Record, 185:20 631-631. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.105289</u>
- Arbe Montoya, A.I., Hazel, S.J., Matthew, S.M. and McArthur, M.L. (2021), Why do veterinarians leave clinical practice? A qualitative study using thematic analysis. Veterinary Record, 188:1 49-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/vetr.2</u>
- **3.** Arbe Montoya, A.I., Hazel, S., Hebart, M. and McArthur, M.L. *Risk factors associated with attrition from veterinary clinical practice.* The Australian Veterinary Journal Nov 99:11 495-501. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/avj.13111</u>

Articles in manuscript form

- 1. Arbe Montoya, A.I., Matthew, S.M., Jarden, A. and McArthur, M.L. *Moral and Ethical Conflict and Moral Distress in Veterinarians: A Mixed-Methods Approach.* Article not yet submitted, presented in manuscript form
- 2. Arbe Montoya, A.I., Hazel, S., Jarden, A., and McArthur, M.L. Attrition from veterinary clinical practice: The contribution of motivations to be a veterinarian, professional quality of life, job satisfaction, work-life balance and moral distress. Article not yet submitted, presented in manuscript form

# Tables, figures, and supplementary materials

# Tables

Chapter 1 Review of the literature – Thesis methodology and outline of methods Table 1 Breakdown of data used for the different analyses	20
Chapter 4 Risk factors associated with attrition from veterinary clinical practice. A descriptive study	
Table 1 Demographic description for categorical variables Table 2 Description of the population for continuous variables Table 3 Logistic regression results	83 84 85
Chapter 5: Moral and ethical conflict and moral distress in veterinarians: A mixed-methods approach	
Table 1 The moral deliberation process Table 2 Description of the sample Table 3 Moral distress scale for veterinarians (MDS-V) Table 4 Model goodness of fit for confirmatory factor analysis Table 5 Moral and ethical conflict. Analysis of free text answers	106 110 112 113 116
Chapter 6: Attrition from veterinary clinical practice: The contribution of motivations to be a veterinarian, professional quality of life, job satisfaction, work-life balance and moral distress	
Table 1 Description of the variables Table 2 Demographic results Table 3 Preliminary analysis of psychometric variables Table 4 Logistic regression results	146 149 150 153
Figures	
Chapter 2: Moral distress in veterinarians	
Figure 1 The moral deliberation process	33
Chapter 3: Why do veterinarians leave clinical practice? A qualitative study using thematic analysis	
Figure 1 Representation of the combination of themes contributing to the participants' decision to leave clinical practice	53
Chapter 5: Moral and ethical conflict and moral distress in veterinarians: A mixed-methods approach	
Figure 1 Confirmatory factor analysis	113

### Supplementary materials

Chapter 3: Why do veterinarians leave clinical practice? A qualitative study using thematic analysis

Appendix 1 Interview questionnaire Appendix 2 Table of the Personal Factors theme Appendix 3 Table of the Work Experiences theme	67 68 71
Chapter 4: Risk factors associated with attrition from veterinary clinical practice. A descriptive study	
Survey demographic factors and employment conditions	92
Chapter 5: Moral and ethical conflict and moral distress in veterinarians: A mixed-methods approach	
Appendix 1 Moral distress survey questions Appendix 2 Moral distress for veterinarians (MDS-V)	130 133
Chapter 6: Attrition from veterinary clinical practice: The contribution of motivations to be a veterinarian, professional quality of life, job satisfaction, work-life balance and moral distress.	

Survey psychological variables

165

# List of abbreviations

- AVA: Australian Veterinary Association
- WLB: Work-life balance
- MD: Moral distress
- CPD: Continuous professional development
- GDV: Gastric dilation and volvulus
- OR: Odds ratio
- PCA: Principal component analysis
- CFA: Confirmatory factor analysis
- EFA: Exploratory factor analysis
- MMD-HP: The Measure of Moral Distress for Healthcare Professionals
- MDS-V: Moral Distress Scale for Veterinarians
- **RVP: Rural Veterinary Practice**
- GFI: Goodness of fit index
- RMSEA: Root mean square error of approximation
- TLI: Tucker-Lewis Index
- MMSS: McCloskey/Mueller Satisfaction Scale
- MJS: Measure of Job Satisfaction
- CS: Compassion satisfaction
- CF: Compassion fatigue

### Chapter 1: Review of the literature

#### The current state of the veterinary workforce

Veterinarians look after the health of companion and food-production animals. Out of those, veterinary clinicians fulfil key roles in animal agricultural economics, biosecurity, public health, animal welfare, wildlife, and stray animal care<sup>1-8</sup>. Therefore, the sustainability of the veterinary workforce is important. The number of registered veterinarians has seen an increase in Australia<sup>9-13</sup> and overseas<sup>14-16</sup>. For example, the Australian Veterinary Association (AVA) reported 11,418 registered veterinarians in June 2016<sup>17</sup> which increased to 12,769 by June 2018<sup>18</sup> and to 13,993 by December 2021<sup>10</sup>. The Australian Department of Employment, Skills, Small and Family business reported that in 2019 the completion of veterinary courses leading to registration increased by 15% compared to 2017<sup>19</sup>. Other Australian surveys report an increase in the intake numbers of veterinary students and an increase in veterinary graduates<sup>11-13</sup>, and universities produce between 500-710 veterinarians yearly through their seven veterinary schools<sup>12,20</sup>. Furthermore, Professionals Australia reports that universities produce graduate numbers that exceed job growth<sup>21</sup>. Similarly, in 2015 the AVA also reported a potential surplus of veterinarians in the workforce<sup>22</sup>. In the US, a veterinary workforce study suggested that the supply of veterinarians would exceed the demand by 12.5%<sup>14</sup>. Other US studies estimated that the capacity to provide veterinary services will exceed the demand for those services projected to 2025 and suggests possible underemployment<sup>23</sup>. Despite this expected surplus, several reports have indicated the perception of a 'shortage' of veterinarians in Australia<sup>19,24</sup> and overseas<sup>25,26</sup>. This labour shortage has culminated in the veterinary profession returning to the shortage occupation list in the UK<sup>27</sup> and being added to the Priority Migration Skilled Occupation List (PMSOL) in Australia<sup>28</sup>.

The notion of a veterinary labour shortage is based on two factors: more job opportunities (job advertisements) for veterinary clinicians both in Australia<sup>10,21,24</sup> and overseas<sup>27</sup>, and recruitment challenges for veterinary practices<sup>10,18,19,24,27</sup>. More than double the advertised veterinarian positions from 2010 to 2016 indicates an increase in job opportunities<sup>21</sup>. In terms of recruitment, private agencies report that veterinary practices are taking longer to fill advertised jobs<sup>24</sup>. In 2021, 31% of veterinary practices were taking over 12 months to fill their vacancies<sup>10</sup> which is an increase from 24% in 2019<sup>18</sup>. Although appearing to be relatively new for the veterinary profession overall, difficulties attracting and retaining staff has been reported in rural veterinary practice for over a decade<sup>29,30</sup>. The problem with recruitment seems to be associated with more experienced veterinarians and production animal veterinarians<sup>2,27,30,31</sup>. Furthermore, staff turnover (veterinarians leaving a place of employment) can play a role in workforce issues. The latest AVA workforce survey reports that 61% of the new job advertisements for veterinarians were replacing a veterinarian leaving<sup>10</sup>. Therefore, understanding the reasons for veterinarians leaving both their workplace (staff turnover) and the profession altogether (career attrition) is important.

The terminology of employee career attrition and staff turnover is used in the literature interchangeably. In teachers, authors define career attritions as teachers that 'stop teaching' before retirement<sup>32</sup>. Employee turnover, on the other hand, has a broader definition. Employee (staff) turnover involves workers leaving a place of employment or organisation<sup>33-35</sup> but it does not necessarily involve stopping their occupation altogether. In this dissertation we discuss attrition from veterinary clinical practice where the veterinarian has stopped working as a clinician before retirement. However, given the limited literature on career attrition in veterinarians and the possible overlap on the reasons for the two, literature in relation to staff turnover will also be discussed.

Career attrition rates in other professions vary. Professions which are reported to have problematic attrition rates include teachers (attrition rate between 30-50%)<sup>32</sup> and medical nurses (approximate attrition rate 21-39%)<sup>36-38</sup>. However, exact attrition rates are difficult to obtain even in these well-researched industries. For example, Weldon reports an inconsistency with the rates reported for teacher attrition over the years<sup>32</sup>. In medical nurses the concern is regarding how the attrition rate relates to the demand for nurses regardless of the number per se<sup>38</sup>. A similar scenario might occur in veterinary clinical practice, where the concerns regarding attrition rates could be more closely related to the demand for the professional rather than the percentage in itself.

#### Workforce retention

Managing career attrition is vital for workforce equilibrium. A 1990s survey found that 98% (75% full-time equivalent) of surveyed veterinarians remained working as veterinarians in one capacity or another<sup>39</sup>, and it estimated that the average length of a veterinarians' working life in Australia was 20 years<sup>39</sup>. Another longitudinal study reported that 77% of their respondents remained doing veterinary work after 15 years of graduation<sup>40</sup>. A more recent report showed that in 2014 only 4.8% of UK surveyed veterinarians were working outside the veterinary profession and had an intention to leave of only 9.3%<sup>41</sup>. However, the intention to leave the veterinary profession in the UK escalated significantly to 37% in 2018<sup>42</sup>. In Australia, a recent AVA workforce survey describes a 19% intention to leave among their respondents in 2018, a 7% increase from the 13% reported in 2016<sup>17,18</sup>. More recently, a 2021 Australian study reports that 27% of 800 surveyed veterinarians were intending to leave veterinary medicine and out of those intending to leave, 41% were mid-career veterinarians<sup>43</sup>. These numbers refer to stopping or intending to stop veterinary work, not necessarily clinical practice, as data includes veterinarians choosing a non-clinical role within their profession. Attrition and intention to leave veterinary clinical practice has been less explored despite suggestions that veterinarians may not be leaving the profession altogether, just clinical practice<sup>16</sup>. Staff turnover rate (where veterinarians change their place of employment) has received more attention. The Lincoln Institute, in a media release in 2017, reported a staff turnover of 39% and an intention to leave veterinary practice of 37%<sup>24</sup>. Turnover overseas was also similar with 43.7% of veterinarians responding that were likely or highly likely to leave their place of employment within the next two years<sup>27</sup>.

Similarly, a New Zealand article reported that 44% of recent graduates leave their first job in practice within the first two years, and a further 16% intend to leave their first job<sup>44</sup>. The workforce issue seems to be associated with low number of veterinarians despite yearly increases in numbers of graduating veterinarians<sup>27</sup>. Despite the essential insight workforce surveys and descriptive studies provide, they narrowly focus on a specific veterinary cohort (e.g. farm animal veterinarians)<sup>31,45</sup>, intention to leave the profession entirely<sup>17</sup>, or staff turnover<sup>27</sup>. The only report of veterinary clinical attrition is found in a private company's media release, reporting a 37% intention to leave veterinary clinical practice in Australia in 2019<sup>24</sup>. The current attrition rate of clinical veterinarians in Australia is undetermined by peer-reviewed empirical means. Considering the importance of clinical veterinarians for the welfare of companion and production animals, the contribution of clinical veterinarians to the Australian economy, and the notion of staff shortages mostly focused on veterinary clinicians; understanding why veterinarians leave clinical practice is paramount. Although some report that increasing numbers to satisfy employment vacancies could solve recruitment issues, caution is suggested over this measure since not long ago (2015) veterinary jobs were scarce compared to applicants<sup>25</sup>. Others propose the best strategy is to focus on retention of veterinary professionals<sup>46</sup>. Considering that in the latest AVA workforce report (2021), 61% of the advertised jobs were to replace a veterinarian who was leaving<sup>10</sup>, focusing on retention seems plausible as an appropriate strategy.

#### Reasons for attrition in the veterinary profession

To improve retention of veterinarians in the workforce, it is important to understand the reasons for attrition. Reasons for attrition from veterinary clinical practice altogether have not been fully explored. The veterinary literature reports turnover intentions<sup>18,47</sup>, reasons for leaving a specific employment field (e.g. emergency<sup>48</sup>, rural veterinary practice<sup>30,31,45</sup>), reasons for staff turnover<sup>27</sup>, and leaving the profession as a whole (including non-clinical roles)<sup>18,47</sup>. Some of these reasons possibly overlap with attrition from clinical practice: therefore, they are worth understanding.

#### Veterinary attrition and staff turnover worldwide

Reported reasons for career attrition, staff turnover, and turnover intentions often overlap. In terms of staff turnover, work-life balance (WLB), management and salary were the three main reasons reported by a cohort of UK veterinarians<sup>27</sup>. Similarly, a descriptive study on US emergency veterinarians found that all veterinarians intending to leave the field of small animal emergency objected to the working hours and schedules<sup>48</sup>. This North American study also found they mostly disliked the work environment, found the work stressful, and reported experiencing burnout<sup>48</sup>. Similar responses were found in those veterinarians who had already left small animal emergency practice<sup>48</sup>. New Zealand new graduates' reasons for staff turnover include 'toxic work environments' and lack of support<sup>44</sup>. Overlapping themes can be seen in Australia as reasons for overall career attrition, including personal preferences, desire to work in a non-veterinary role, poor working conditions in practice, and

salary<sup>18,24,40</sup>. However, the specifics of some variables, such as 'personal preferences' or 'toxic work environment', were not clearly conceptualised in those descriptive studies making homogenous interpretation of the variables difficult. More information on reasons for attrition and staff turnover was acquired from research in veterinarians working in rural veterinary practice.

#### Rural and farm animal veterinarians

The majority of research has focused on reasons for veterinary attrition from rural or farm (also described as food-producing) animal practice<sup>7,30,31,45,49-52</sup> as the group concerned with shortages<sup>25,29,50-53</sup>. The most frequently reported reasons for leaving rural or farm animal practice were dissatisfaction with working hours (particularly with after-hours duties) and perception of low financial return<sup>29-31</sup>. Other reasons included lack of opportunities for career diversification<sup>30</sup>, practice atmosphere<sup>31</sup>, family concerns<sup>31</sup>, and having no support from an experienced colleague<sup>45</sup>. An Australian report considered links between local shortages in production animal veterinarians and rising costs in rural communities, long hours, reluctance of producers to utilise veterinary services, and lack of social opportunities for themselves and schooling options for their families<sup>7</sup>. Furthermore, although there are some protective elements such as the type of work and enjoying the 'rural lifestyle'<sup>30,49</sup>, there were concerns regarding hours of work and fair remuneration with Australian rural veterinarians<sup>30</sup>. It is important to acknowledge that studies used in rural or food-producing animals do not represent the overall population of veterinarians.

#### Overall summary of reasons across literature

Overall, the veterinary literature relating to career attrition and staff turnover do share some commonalities. Salary, for example, is repeatedly mentioned as a source of concern<sup>52,54</sup>. Poor remuneration was a significant reason for both attrition and staff turnover in Australian veterinarians in rural veterinary practice<sup>30</sup>, non-rural Australian regions,<sup>39,40</sup> and overseas<sup>27,31,49</sup>. Some industrial reports mention stagnant wages for veterinarians, who are reported to earn 10% less than the average for all professions<sup>21</sup>. Perception of poor remuneration could contribute to poor morale<sup>21</sup> and, consequently, job dissatisfaction. Veterinarians have reported perceptions of renumeration being low since the 1990s<sup>39</sup>, and a deterrent for future shelter veterinarians in the US<sup>55</sup>. Another commonality is dissatisfaction with working hours, high workload and perception of poor work-life balance (WLB)<sup>27,30,31,41-43,47,54</sup>. Average working hours in New Zealand<sup>54</sup>, Australia<sup>19</sup> and the UK<sup>41</sup> are 40 hours per week or more which is higher than the recommended full-time equivalent of 38 hours per week. It has been suggested that more flexible working hours and schedules, and good WLB are important for staff retention and career longevity<sup>42,48,56</sup>. Finally, practice atmosphere, negative (referred to as toxic) workplaces, isolation and lack of support were found as reasons for staff turnover in veterinarians<sup>31,44,45</sup>. The work environment looks importantly associated with negative work experiences in the first year of practice, which could shape the future career of veterinary graduates<sup>57</sup>. Practice atmosphere and culture has been associated with the relationships with management and other colleagues, which was also associated with turnover intentions in UK veterinarians<sup>27</sup>.

Leadership played a critical role as the availability of role models was the strongest predictor for retention in a recent veterinary survey<sup>42</sup>. Furthermore, mentorship is stated as an important strategy to retain veterinarians in rural veterinary practice<sup>50</sup>, with collegiality being an important factor as well<sup>42</sup>. Despite extensive research around veterinary attrition from areas of veterinary practice, as yet, the contribution of moral distress to attrition is unresearched in the veterinary field. In other professions, moral distress<sup>58,59</sup> was included in the association with reduced staff retention, together with similar factors, such as salary<sup>60,61</sup>, negative work environments<sup>59</sup>, hours of work<sup>61</sup>, overwork<sup>61</sup>, and lack of support<sup>59,61-63</sup>.

#### Occupational stress, job dissatisfaction, and moral distress

Other pertinent factors linked to staff turnover and career attrition in other professionals require exploration in veterinarians, including occupational stress<sup>64</sup>, job dissatisfaction<sup>65-67</sup> and moral distress<sup>58,59,68</sup>.

#### Occupational stress

Occupational stress (when job demands exceed the employee's coping resources<sup>69</sup>) is not uncommon in veterinary practice<sup>41,42,70-74</sup>. A 2014 report from the UK state almost 90% of respondents found veterinary work stressful<sup>41</sup>, and 21% of another cohort say they could not cope with the stress, with 48% experiencing burnout<sup>42</sup>. Furthermore, veterinarians experience more psychological stress than the general population in the US<sup>75</sup>. In a 2005 Australian survey, 75% of female veterinarians and 57% of male veterinarians reported experiencing significant levels of work-related stress<sup>76</sup> associated with long hours of work, working after-hours, low pay and appreciation, lack of familiarity with medical conditions and procedures, and lack of experience with some animal species<sup>76</sup>. In a Queensland study, most veterinarians (over 70%) considered their veterinary work caused a significant amount of stress both five years and ten years after graduation<sup>76,77</sup>. One of the studies reported that veterinarians with less responsibility for animals were less likely to consider their veterinary career stressful than those with more animal responsibilities<sup>76</sup>.

#### Job dissatisfaction

Job satisfaction indicates a positive relationship between an employee and their job<sup>78,79</sup>. When this relationship is negative (job dissatisfaction), attrition (and staff turnover) tend to increase<sup>67,78,79</sup>. Job dissatisfaction can also be associated with reduced work engagement<sup>80,81</sup>, burnout<sup>79,81</sup>, and (in healthcare professionals) quality of patient care<sup>78,79</sup>. In non-veterinary professionals, the relationship between job dissatisfaction and attrition is significant<sup>67,78,82</sup>, and job satisfaction in recently graduated medical nurses has been associated with increased retention<sup>82</sup>. Although this factor holds importance, its conceptualisation has been inconsistent throughout the veterinary literature, and requires further empirical research on possible links with attrition in the veterinary profession. Indications of a relationship between job satisfaction and attrition in veterinarians exist. For example,

some North American production animal veterinarians who reported intention to leave farm animal practice also reported low satisfaction with their occupation and less enthusiasm and pride in their job as farm animal practitioners than those with no intention to leave farm animal practice<sup>83</sup>. Additionally, less joy derived from the chosen field of work was cited as a reason for intention to leave in emergency veterinarians<sup>48</sup>. Sources of job dissatisfaction in veterinary practice have been: dealing with clients, low work-life balance, and the physical and emotional impacts of the job<sup>27</sup>. Finally, although moral distress (also discussed in relation to ethical dilemmas) has been associated with occupational stress in veterinarians<sup>84-87</sup> no studies have explored its association with career attrition in veterinarians.

#### Moral distress

An area that has been linked to attrition in the healthcare profession<sup>58,59,68</sup> but under-researched in the veterinary profession is moral distress. In medical nursing research, moral distress is defined as the psychological and emotional anguish a professional experiences when confronted with a situation where they cannot take what they consider to be the morally correct path<sup>88,89</sup>. Moral distress in healthcare professionals has deleterious effects such as burnout, compromised patient care, compromised professional integrity, decreased job satisfaction, and contributes to increased staff turnover<sup>58,59,90-95</sup>. In veterinarians, moral distress has been reported<sup>85,86</sup>, but research is limited compared to medical professionals. Furthermore, the influence of moral distress on veterinary attrition from practice is not known. Due to the magnitude of deleterious effects moral distress can have in the professional experiencing it as well as in patient care and its relationship with staff turnover in healthcare; it was decided to explore the contribution of moral distress to veterinary clinical attrition. The second chapter of this thesis reviews the literature concerning moral distress in veterinarians.

#### Limitations of the current veterinary literature and gaps in knowledge

Authors reporting on attrition in teachers and healthcare professionals conclude that the reasons for this problem are multifactorial<sup>59,62,63,96</sup>, and often act in combination<sup>63</sup>. The problem is broader than addressing job deterrents such as low salary<sup>96</sup>. Still, these concepts are under-researched in veterinary sciences. A deeper understanding of the multifactorial reasons for veterinary clinical attrition, how those factors interact with each other, and the contribution of moral distress is needed. The previously cited studies in the veterinary literature have used qualitative analysis of open survey responses and descriptive statistical analysis to understand staff turnover, career attrition and attrition from specific areas of veterinary practice<sup>27,31,40,45,48,49,52</sup>. Furthermore, previous qualitative studies are limited to free-text analysis without in-depth interviews<sup>49</sup>, missing a deep exploration and contextualisation of the reasons for attrition in former veterinarians. Quantitative studies have performed descriptive data analysis without statistical modelling<sup>27,31,48,52,97</sup> to understand the research question (why veterinarians leave clinical practice) in light of confounders. One study had statistical modelling to assess interactions between variables, but the outcome variable was retention in farm animal practice<sup>45</sup>. Another study

was on staff turnover after one year in practice of newly graduated veterinarians<sup>54</sup>. Neither study evaluated attrition from veterinary clinical practice in general. Statistical modelling to assess the reasons for attrition from practice using validated scales is yet to be done. Statistical modelling would allow the assessment of multiple variables in light of each other (all else being equal) rather than as individual constructs<sup>98</sup> which is important to reduce the effect of confounders. As previously mentioned, these studies have focused on an area of clinical employment, intention to leave, staff turnover, and leaving the veterinary profession altogether, but not on leaving clinical practice. Furthermore, although moral distress is associated with staff turnover in medical professionals, and ethical challenges have been associated with work stress in veterinarians, veterinarians' moral distress as a possible reason for attrition has not been empirically studied.

The following dissertation starts with a review of the literature concerning moral distress in veterinarians (chapter 2), where the concepts of moral conflict, moral stress and moral distress are defined, and a moral deliberation model is theorised. We continue with an in-depth qualitative analysis of reasons for attrition using semi-structured interviews and qualitative methodologies unveiling why 26 former veterinary clinicians left practice (chapter 3). During these interviews, the concept of moral distress in this cohort of veterinary graduates was also explored which is reported in chapter 5 where moral distress is evaluated in more depth. After the initial interviews, a survey was developed from the qualitative results to assess hypothesised reasons for veterinary clinical attrition in a larger cohort of veterinary clinicians. This survey also included a section on moral distress which was used to develop a moral distress scale in chapter 5. The survey results are presented in three studies. The first one (chapter 4) evaluates demographic factors and working conditions, such as hours of work and salary in relation to attrition from veterinary clinical practice. The second one (chapter 5) uses the results of the moral distress section of the survey to develop a moral distress measure for veterinary clinicians. In this chapter an analysis of free-text answers on additional sources of moral conflict is also conducted. Finally, in chapter 6, potential relationships between variables, such as professional quality of life, job satisfaction and moral distress and attrition from veterinary clinical practice are reported.

#### Thesis methodology and outline of methods

#### A mixed-methods approach

To get a better understanding of the reasons that might be associated with veterinarians leaving clinical practice and the influence of moral distress, a mixed-methods approach was chosen. By choosing both qualitative and quantitative methods of investigation, a broader exploration of the human behaviour and context around reasons for attrition can be reached<sup>99,100</sup>. The results of the initial qualitative exploration can provide more depth in the understanding of a phenomenon or human behaviour which can then be measured in a quantitative method in a larger population. Utilising both qualitative and quantitative methods also enhance triangulation since the research question is explored by two different methodologies<sup>101</sup>. Qualitative information is based in empirical observation without being controlled by quantitative parameters which has the advantage of capturing information that may be missed by quantitative control<sup>99</sup>. When information is then measured by quantitative mechanisms, our confidence that the results are a representation of the measured phenomenon is enhanced, leading to an overall better understanding of the data<sup>99</sup>. As Todd<sup>99</sup> explains, qualitative research focuses on 'understanding' their subjects and quantitative is aimed to 'measure' an action or event<sup>99</sup>. Using both methods allow a synergistic approach to the research question where we can both understand the reasons behind veterinarians leaving practice and also measure the possible contribution to attrition of those variables. The quantitative approach can lead to a numerical explanation of hypothesis emerging from the qualitative exploration and inversely, the qualitative approach can provide the theoretical explanation for results seen in the quantitative analysis<sup>99</sup>. Initially, the focus is on individuals and their experiences to be followed with the measurement of such experiences in a larger cohort.

#### Qualitative methodology

An initial qualitative approach allows the researcher to explore pathways that might be opened by interview questions permitting the researcher to understand a complex process in more detail than through quantitative methods<sup>99,102</sup>. Through this exploratory step, we unveil the phenomena of veterinary clinical attrition and moral distress in former veterinary clinicians with little predisposed ideas or previously developed concepts<sup>103</sup>. In chapter 3 through in-depth interviews, we are able to understand the circumstances surrounding the experiences of veterinarians in relation to their decision to leave practice. This understanding is achieved by the interviewer being able to acquire more information by asking follow up questions in specific topics as well as allowing the participants to discuss the research topic in their own terms and in as much detail as they are willing to share<sup>102-104</sup>. Qualitative investigation also occurs in chapter 5 where the experiences of moral distress by former veterinary clinicians is described and by analysing free-text survey answers in relation to moral and ethical conflict in a cohort of current and former veterinary clinicians. Inclusion of a free-text response section allows the respondents to expand on potential aspects of moral conflict beyond the structured survey questions which otherwise would have been missed.

The philosophical assumption underling this research is more closely related to an Epistemological perspective as described by Creswell<sup>102</sup> than other described philosophical assumptions (Ontological, Axiological, and Methodological). Although the researcher does not conduct field work, the main researcher is a veterinarian in clinical practice placing the researcher as an 'insider'<sup>102</sup>. Furthermore, the researcher relies on quotes and experiences of the participants as the evidence to be analysed<sup>102</sup>. In terms of interpretative frameworks; postpositivism<sup>104</sup> underlies the work in this dissertation. The enquiry follows related logical steps, uses different types of data analysis, is based on previously developed theories and hypotheses and, although we do not

attempt to interpret the results as cause-effect, the interpretation of the results in relation to the research question is cause-effect orientated<sup>102</sup>. In a postpositivist paradigm, a probable truth and critical objectivity can be achieved<sup>105,106</sup>. However, there is a risk of compromising on diversity of perspectives and requiring additional triangulation techniques to achieve the desired accuracy<sup>106</sup>. Accuracy and rigour were ensured by following the guidelines of Braun and Clarke<sup>100,107</sup>, Liamputtong<sup>104</sup>, Creswell<sup>102</sup>, and Tashakkori and Teddlie<sup>101</sup>. The principal researcher who was a veterinary clinician before the commencement of the study, aimed for a level of prolonged engagement, and thus being immersed in the 'culture'<sup>101,102</sup> of veterinary clinical practice. This information was disclosed to the participants (through the participant information forms in both the interviews and surveys) in the hope to encourage the participants to 'open up' with more ease reducing the chances of withholding information<sup>104</sup>. Triangulation was obtained by having authors of different fields revising the data and the manuscripts, acquiring data from different locations, fields, and areas of veterinary practice, and ultimately using quantitative methods to further investigate our qualitative results<sup>101</sup>. Reflexivity was achieved as the principal researcher underwent a process of critically reflecting on their own biases as a veterinary clinician who has experienced moral distress. By creating such self-awareness, the risk of unconsciously imposing their perspective on participants was reduced<sup>104</sup>. However, it is acknowledged that the beliefs and personal history of the principal researcher can influence how this thesis is written<sup>104</sup>. Other methods to ensure rigour included: reaching saturation in the sampling of interview participants, member checking where three randomly selected interviewees confirmed that the transcription of their interviews represented their observations<sup>101</sup>, inter-coder agreement where over 90% agreement was achieved in both the coding of the interviews and free-text answers<sup>108</sup>, and the peer review process of both publications and thesis examination ensuring independent audit of the qualitative data<sup>101</sup>.

#### Description of quantitative methods and treatment of missing data

Chapter 4,5 and 6 arise from the answers to a survey which was developed based on the findings of chapter 3 and the qualitative portion of chapter 5. The survey was distributed to Australian veterinary graduates and included demographic information as well as scales to measure factors hypothesised to be related to veterinary clinical attrition. Additional questions on moral distress were added in order to perform a factor analysis and develop a scale to measure moral distress in veterinary clinicians. The survey asks both current and former veterinary clinicians to rate some of their experiences in clinical practice. The survey uses the veterinary career motivations questionnaire, Stamm's Professional Quality of Life measure (ProQOL)<sup>109</sup>, sub-scales of job satisfaction measures, a work-life balance measure for general workers, and the moral distress scale developed in chapter 5. It is important to acknowledge that the ProQOL is intended to measure professional quality of life at a given point in time (within 30 days). We are using the measure to get possible indications of professional quality of life in veterinarians that have left clinical practice potentially a long time ago. The measure was not designed to be used in this manner<sup>109</sup>. However, considering that there are few scales that can measure

psychological phenomena in such a retrospective way, we decided to use this measure despite the limitations and eliminate the 30-day timeframe from the instructions given to respondents. It is important to understand that the results that arise from this final chapter are interpreted in the light of the limitations of the measure and are used only as potential indications for future research.

There were 962 responses downloaded on February 16<sup>th</sup> 2020. Out of which 42 were either mock responses (the candidate and test subjects had answered in order to check the quality of the survey) or had not answered the consent form and thus were blank. This left a total of 920 valid responses. Out of 920, 39 were excluded since they did not answer the outcome variable (whether they had left clinical practice) or were over 75% incomplete leaving a total of 881 responses for the initial analysis. The analysis of the demographic variables was separated from the psychometrics analysis since 108 participants did not answer the psychometric measures. It is possible that respondents were less likely to respond to questions that might have been perceived as intimate or intrusive leading to response bias<sup>110,112</sup>. In order to prevent the loss of those 108 demographic responses (chapter 6) separately. From the 881 responses, 84 former veterinary clinicians (9% of total) were excluded from both the demographic and psychometrics analysis due to being retired as the research question was to investigate reasons associated with attrition from veterinary clinical practice before retirement. The analysis of moral distress did include the 84 responses of retired veterinarians.

It was an ethics committee requirement to allow respondents to skip questions. Therefore, some missing data required management. Missing data was a concern for analysing the schedules sub-scale from the job satisfaction measure. One item of the sub-scale relates to satisfaction with parental leave. Since participants were allowed to skip questions, there was an important number of participants that skipped this question (n=103). Reviewing this pattern of missingness, we suspected that the non-respondents might have been non-parents and therefore this question was not applicable to them. To avoid selection bias against the respondents that skipped this question, it was decided to impute the response of that variable as '3' (neither agree nor disagree) and use those responses in the regression model. Imputation of missing data can lead to reduced variability in the dataset and could lead to an inaccurate estimation of the missing values<sup>110</sup>. Imputation of these variables was deemed necessary to avoid the selection bias mentioned above and to retain a sizable sample to minimise loss of statistical power<sup>110</sup>. Imputation bias was minimised by theoretically explaining the pattern of missingness<sup>110</sup>. Listwise exclusion of missing data where only complete answers are included in the statistical analysis was used for both logistic regression models after imputation of '3' to the job satisfaction measure. Using a listwise exclusion for the model resulted in only having 629 cases for the descriptive analysis and 600 cases for the analysis of the psychometric variables. Listwise deletion reduces the degrees of statistical power<sup>111</sup>. However, using listwise exclusion was still deemed appropriate in our studies since there was a proportionate number of cases in both outcome groups (staying and leaving clinical practice), the sample was still large enough to yield appropriate results, and both regression models met the required assumptions.

Out of the 920 valid responses, 643 (70%) answered the moral distress survey. This might be because the moral distress survey was at the very end of a relatively long survey and some participants reported difficulties answering it on a mobile device or because the nature of the questions could have been perceived as intimate or intrusive<sup>112</sup>. The exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis for the moral distress component was completed on the 643 answers. Where respondents selected 'not applicable' was coded as '0'. The confirmatory factor analysis used maximum likelihood as the estimation method. There was also a qualitative analysis of free-text answers responding to the following question: *Thinking back to your time as a veterinary clinician, were there any other elements that you considered to cause moral or ethical conflict? (please specify).* This qualitative analysis was done on 261 codable responses. Table 1 shows a breakdown of the data numbers used for each analysis.

	Total number of responses (%)	Outcome v (%)	variable
		Staying in clinical practice	Leaving clinical practice
Total downloaded answers	n = 962		
Total valid responses	n = 920 (100%)		
Total responses for demographic analysis	n = 881 (96% of 920)	581 (66%)	216 (25%)
Demographics regression model	n = 629 (71% of 881)	459 (73%)	170 (27%)
Total responses for the psychometrics analysis	n = 773 (84% of 920)	568 (74%)	205 (27%)
Psychological variables regression model	n = 600 (78% of 773)	439 (73%)	161 (27%)
Total responses of moral distress scale	n = 643 (70% of 920)	416 (65%)	227 (35%)
Total codable responses for free text analysis	n = 261 (28% of 920)	172 (66%)	91 (34%)

 Table 1: Breakdown of data used for the different analyses.

#### Ethics

This project received ethics approval from the University of Adelaide Ethics Committee (H-2017-229). Ethical considerations included acquiring informed consent from participants, ensuring that the participants were able to stop the interviews and surveys at any given time, provision of mental health crisis phone numbers, safeguarding confidentiality and anonymity, and ability to skip questions or answer 'not applicable' on the surveys. Every participant (for both the interviews and surveys) was presented with an information sheet describing the nature of their participation in the study. Participant recruitment for the interviews included word of mouth contact in a passive form where the researcher was not contacting possible participants but people contacted the researchers themselves. To ensure mental health safety for the participants, the interviewer had a valid mental health first aid certification and contact details for mental health crisis were provided to the participants. The lead researcher received guidance from a clinical psychologist (principal supervisor) to conduct the interviews in psychologically safe way for the interviewer as well. Confidentiality was ensured by not disclosing details about the participants in the manuscripts that might compromise their anonymity and by maintaining their documentation in a locked cabinet. In relation to the surveys, they needed to be of appropriate length (recommended not longer than 30 minutes), the surveys needed to have the option for a 'not applicable' answer and ability to skip questions if desired. State based mental health hotlines were also provided at the end of the survey.

#### Summary

In the following pages we will explore reasons for attrition from veterinary clinical practice and the influence of moral distress. Initially, in chapter 2, the concept of moral distress in veterinarians will be defined in the light of the literature. In chapter 3, the reasons for clinical attrition in a group of former veterinary clinicians will be described and a number of themes will emerge. During these interviews the topic of moral distress will be discussed with the participants. The results from chapter 3 will inspire a survey asking the prevalence of certain factors hypothesised to be related to attrition in a larger group of veterinary graduates. To avoid excluding responses that only addressed demographic factors, we will divide the analysis for reasons for attrition in two studies. In chapter 4 we focus on demographic and work-related factors. To understand the influence of moral distress on attrition from clinical practice, we needed to further understand moral distress in veterinary clinicians. In chapter 5 we will analyse both the process of moral distress development in the former veterinary clinicians and develop a moral distress scale from an adaptation of a validated scale for healthcare professionals. In chapter 6 we analyse the potential relationships indicated between selected psychometric variables (including moral distress) and attrition from veterinary clinical practice.

Ideally, we would have liked to evaluate every sub-theme that arose from the analysis in chapter 3. However, it would have been logistically not possible due to the length of the survey and finding adequate existing measures. Furthermore, if no existing measure was found for any given theme, we would have liked to create our own (as we did with moral distress) but time restrictions for the dissertation did not allow for this process. Finally, we would have liked to have two different surveys, one exclusively for moral distress and the development of the measure and a different population to test the measure and the other variables. Due to time constraints that was not possible.

### References

- 1. Trevejo, R.T., *Public Health for the Twenty-First Century: What Role Do Veterinarians in Clinical Practice Play?* Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice, 2009. **39**(2): p. 215-224.
- 2. Committee to Assess the Current and Future Workforce Needs in Veterinary Medicine, *Workforce Needs in Veterinary Medicine*. 2013: The National Acedemies Press.
- 3. Magwood, S.E. and K.W. Jericho, *The role of the veterinary profession in livestock production.* The Canadian veterinary journal = La revue veterinaire canadienne, 1971. **12**(8): p. 161-164.
- 4. Ladewig, J., *The role of the veterinarian in animal welfare.* Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica, 2008. **50**(1): p. S5.
- 5. Glisson, J.R. and C.L. Hofacre, *The Future of Veterinary Medicine in Poultry Production.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2006. **33**(4): p. 492-495.
- 6. Ouedraogo, F.B., et al., *A census of veterinarians in the United States.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2019. **255**(2): p. 183-191.
- 7. Frawley, P.T., *Review of Rural Veterinary Services*, Department of Agriculture Fisheries and Forestry. 2003: Australia. p. 145.
- 8. Voith, V.L., *The Impact of Companion Animal Problems on Society and the Role of Veterinarians.* Veterinary Clinics of North America Small Animal Practice, 2009. **39**(2): p. 327-345.
- 9. Heath, T., Veterinary Employment Patterns. Australian Veterinary Practitioner, 2001. **31**(1): p. 12-16.
- 10. The Australian Veterinary Association., *Australian Veterinary Association Veterinary Workforce Survey* 2021. 2021 December 2021 [cited 2022 01/04/2022]; Available from: https://www.ava.com.au/siteassets/news/ava-workforce-survey-analysis-2021-final.pdf.
- 11. Heath, T.J., *Number, distribution and concentration of Australian veterinarians in 2006, compared with 1981, 1991 and 2001.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2008. **86**(7): p. 283-9.
- 12. Smyth, G.B., Collation of data on applicants, offers, acceptances, students and graduates in veterinary science in Australia 2001-2013. Australian Veterinary Journal, 2016. **94**(1-2): p. 4-11.
- 13. Smyth, G.B., I.J. East, and R.M. Wicks, *Spatial and temporal evaluation of veterinarians and veterinary employers relative to human and domesticated animal populations in Australia 2002–2012.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2015. **93**(5): p. 137-144.
- 14. AVMA Workforce Advisory Group, *Implications of the 2013 US Veterinary Workforce Study and Recommendations for Future Actions*, A.V.M. Association, Editor. 2013: United States of America. p. 17.
- 15. Veterinary Council of New Zealand, *Workforce Report 2015-16*, V.C.o.N. Zealand, Editor. 2015-2016.
- 16. Nelson-Pratt, A., Are vets really leaving the profession? Veterinary Record, 2018. **182**(20): p. 580.
- 17. The Australian Veterinary Association, *The Australian Veterinary Workforce Survey 2016*. 2017.
- 18. The Australian Veterinary Association. *Australian Veterinary Workforce Survey 2018*. 2019 April 2019; Available from: https://www.ava.com.au/policy-advocacy/advocacy/workforce/workforce-data/.
- 19. *Veterinarian. ANZSCO 2347-11*, S. Department of Employment, Small and Family Business, Editor. 2019, Australian Government: Australia.
- 20. Pratley, J. and K. Abbott, *Education for the Veterinary Profession.* Agricultural Science, 2012. **24**(1): p. 30-34.
- 21. Professionals Australia. *Veterinarians issues paper*. 2017 [cited 2021 26/02/2021]; Available from: http://www.professionalsaustralia.org.au/professional-women/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Veterinarians-Issues-Paper.pdf.
- 22. The Australian Veterinary Association. *Australian veterinary workforce modelling report*. 2015 February 2015 [cited 2021 26/02/2021]; Available from: https://www.ava.com.au/policy-advocacy/advocacy/workforce/workforce-data/.
- 23. Dall, T.M., et al., *Executive summary of the 2013 US veterinary workforce study.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2013. **242**(11): p. 1507-1514.
- 24. Lincoln Institute. *Our disappearing vets: Australia's veterinary industry searching for answers over high attrition rates.* [Press Release] 2019 February 2021; Available from: https://lincolninstitute.com.au/lincoln-institutes-vet-engagement-survey/.

- 25. Doherty, C., *The demand for associate veterinarians: Surveying the "shortage".* The Canadian veterinary journal = La revue veterinaire canadienne, 2020. **61**(1): p. 85-88.
- 26. Dierks, R., A. Maccabe, and L. Heider, *The critical need for federal legislation to provide for the expansion of the veterinary workforce.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2007. **34**(4): p. 529-37.
- 27. Hagen, J.R., et al., *Investigation of factors affecting recruitment and retention in the UK veterinary profession.* Veterinary Record, 2020. **187**(9): p. 354-354.
- 28. Australian Government. Department of Home Affairs. *Priority Migration Skilled Occupation List*. 2021 [cited 2021 05/09/2021]; Available from: https://immi.homeaffairs.gov.au/visas/employing-and-sponsoring-someone/sponsoring-workers/pmsol.
- 29. Maxwell, J.A.L., et al., *Rural veterinary services in Western Australia: Part B. Rural practice.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2008. **86**(3): p. 74-80.
- 30. Heath, T.J. and G.E. Niethe, *Veterinary practitioners in rural Australia: a national survey.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2001. **79**(7): p. 464-469.
- 31. Villarroel, A., et al., *A survey of reasons why veterinarians leave rural veterinary practice in the United States.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2010. **236**(8): p. 859-867.
- 32. Weldon, P., Early career teacher attrition in Australia: evidence, definition, classification and measurement. Australian Journal of Education, 2018. **62**(1): p. 61-78.
- 33. Cambridge University Press, *Cambridge international dictionary of English*. 1995, Cambridge University Press.
- 34. Sellgren, S.F., G. Ekvall, and G. Tomson, *Nursing staff turnover: does leaderhisp matter?* Leadership in Health Services, 2007. **20**(3): p. 15.
- 35. Castle, N.G., *Measuring Staff Turnover in Nursing Homes.* The Gerontologist, 2006. 46(2): p. 210-219.
- 36. Crow, S.M., S.A. Smith, and S.J. Hartman, *Attrition in Nursing: Perspectives From the National Survey of College Graduates.* The Health Care Manager, 2005. **24**(4): p. 336-346.
- 37. Mills, J., et al., Retention of early career registered nurses: the influence of self-concept, practice environment and resilience in the first five years post-graduation. Journal of Research in Nursing, 2017. **22**(5): p. 372-385.
- 38. Health Workforce Australia, *Australia's Future Health Workforce Nurses Overview Report*, D.o. Health., Editor. 2014, Department of Health: Camberra ACT. p. 55.
- 39. Heath, T.J., *Length of veterinary working life.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 1998. **76**(7): p. 478-81.
- 40. Heath, T.J., *Longitudinal study of veterinary students and veterinarians: the first 20 years.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2007. **85**(7): p. 281-9.
- 41. Buzzeo, J., D. Robinson, and W. Matthew, *The 2014 RCVS Survey of the Veterinary Profession*. 2014, Institute for Employment Studies: United Kingdom.
- 42. Begeny, C., M. Ryan, and R. Bongiorno. *Motivation, Satisfaction and Retention. Understanding the importance of vets' day-to-day work experiences.* 2018 November 2018; Available from: https://www.svf.se/media/ognjno14/motivation-satisfaction-and-retention-bva-workforce-report-nov-2018-1.pdf.
- 43. McArthur, M.L., et al., *Resilience of veterinarians at different career stages: The role of self-efficacy, coping strategies and personal resources for resilience in veterinary practice.* Veterinary Record, 2021. **n/a**(n/a): p. e771.
- 44. Gates, M.C., et al., *Experiences of employers, work colleagues, and mentors with new veterinary graduates and preferences towards new graduate support programmes.* New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 2021. **69**(1): p. 38-50.
- 45. Adam, K., S. Baillie, and J. Rushton, *Retaining vets in farm animal practice: a cross-sectional study.* Veterinary Record, 2015. **176**(25): p. 655.
- 46. Cardwell, J.M., et al., *A cross-sectional study of mental health in UK veterinary undergraduates.* Veterinary Record, 2013. **173**(11): p. 266.
- 47. The British Veterinary Association, *Voice of the Veterinary Profession Panel. Autumn 2017 Survey. Workplace Research Report*, A. Research, Editor. 2017, British Veterinary Association.
- 48. Booth, M., M. Rishniw, and L.R. Kogan, *The shortage of veterinarians in emergency practice: A survey and analysis.* Journal of Veterinary Emergency and Critical Care (San Antonio), 2021. **31**(3): p. 295-305.

- 49. Adam, K.E., S. Baillie, and J. Rushton, *Clients. Outdoors. Animals: Retaining vets in UK farm animal practice-thematic analysis of free-text survey responses.* Veterinary Record, 2019. **184**(4): p. 121.
- 50. Villarroel, A., et al., *Shortage of Rural Veterinarians: Real or Perceived?* Online Journal of Rural Research and Policy, 2010. **5**(7).
- 51. Prince, J.B., D.M. Andrus, and K.P. Gwinner, *Future demand, probable shortages, and strategies for creating a better future in food supply veterinary medicine.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2006. **229**(1): p. 57-69.
- 52. Andrus, D.M., K.P. Gwinner, and J.B. Prince, *Job satisfaction, changes in occupational area and commitment to a career in food supply veterinary medicine.* JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association, 2006. **228**(12): p. 1884-1893.
- 53. Federation of Veterinarians of Europe. *Shortage of veterinarians in rural and remote areas. Summary report.* [2020] Available from: https://2020.fve.org/cms/wp-content/uploads/Shortage\_Vets\_Rural\_Areas10July2020.pdf.
- 54. Gates, M.C., et al., *Experiences of recent veterinary graduates in their first employment position and their preferences for new graduate support programmes.* New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 2020. **68**(4): p. 214-224.
- 55. Powell, L., et al., *A Survey of Veterinary Student and Veterinarian Perceptions of Shelter Medicine Employment*. Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2021: p. e20210112.
- 56. Bell, M., M. Cake, and C. Mansfield, *Success in career transitions in veterinary practice: Perspectives of employees and their employees.* Veterinary Record, 2019. **185**(8): p. 232.
- 57. Gilling, M.L. and T.J. Parkinson, *The transition from veterinary student to practitioner: A "make or break" period.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2009. **36**(2): p. 209-215.
- 58. Dyo, M., P. Kalowes, and J. Devries, *Moral distress and intention to leave: A comparison of adult and paediatric nurses by hospital setting.* Intensive Critical Care Nursing, 2016. **36**: p. 42-8.
- 59. MacKusick, C.I. and P. Minick, *Why are nurses leaving? Findings From an Initial Qualitative Study on Nursing Attrition* MEDSURG Nursing, 2010. **19**(6): p. 335-340.
- 60. Imazeki, J., *Teacher salaries and teacher attrition*. Economics of Education Review, 2005. **24**(4): p. 431-449.
- 61. Goodare, P., *Literature review: Why do we continue to lose our nurses?* Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing, 2017. **34**(4): p. 50-56.
- 62. Hayes, L.J., et al., *Nurse turnover: a literature review an update.* International Journey of Nursing Studies, 2012. **49**(7): p. 887-905.
- 63. Mason, S. and C. Matas, *Teacher attrition and retention research in Australia: Towards a new theoretical framework.* Australian Journal of Teacher Education, 2015 **40**(11). p. 45-66.
- 64. Mosadeghrad, A.M., *Occupational stress and turnover intention: implications for nursing management.* International journal of health policy and management, 2013. **1**(2): p. 169-176.
- 65. Iverson, R.D., An event history analysis of employee turnover: The case of hospital employees in Australia. Human Resource Management Review, 1999. **9**(4): p. 397-418.
- 66. Griffeth, R.W., P.W. Hom, and S. Gaertner, *A meta-analysis of antecedents and correlates of employee turnover: Update, moderator tests, and research implications for the next millennium.* Journal of Management, 2000. **26**(3): p. 463-488.
- 67. Mobley, W.H., Intermediate linkages in the relationship between job satisfaction and employee turnover. Journal of Applied Psychology, 1977. **62**(2): p. 237-240.
- 68. Lamiani, G., L. Borghi, and P. Argentero, When healthcare professionals cannot do the right thing: A systematic review of moral distress and its correlates. Journal of Health Psychology, 2017. **22**(1): p. 51-67.
- 69. Cox, T., A. Griffiths, and E. Rial-Gonzalez, *Research on work-related stress.* 2000, European Agency for Safety and Health at Work: Luxembourg.
- 70. Meehan, M., *Practical strategies to manage work-related stress in the veterinary profession.* Veterinary Record, 2019. **184**(19): p. 585-587.
- 71. Meehan, M.P., *Psychological wellbeing of veterinary professionals.* Veterinary Record, 2014. **174**(6): p. 142-3.

- 72. Hatch, P.H., et al., *Workplace stress, mental health, and burnout of veterinarians in Australia.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2011. **89**(11): p. 460-8.
- 73. Nett, R.J., et al., *Risk factors for suicide, attitudes toward mental illness, and practice-related stressors among US veterinarians.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2015. **247**(8): p. 945-55.
- 74. Kim, R.W., et al., *Toward an evidence-based approach to stress management for veterinarians and veterinary students*. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2017. **251**(9): p. 1002-1004.
- 75. Volk, J.O., et al., *Executive summary of the merck animal health veterinary wellbeing study*. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2018. **252**(10): p. 1231-1238.
- 76. Heath, T.J., *Initial work experiences of veterinarians who graduated from Australian universities in 2005.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2008. **86**(9): p. 357-64.
- 77. Heath, T.J., Longitudinal study of veterinarians from entry to the veterinary course to 10 years after graduation: attitudes to work, career and profession. Australian Veterinary Journal, 2002. **80**(8): p. 474-478.
- 78. James-Scotter, M., C. Walker, and S. Jacobs, *An interprofessional perspective on job satisfaction in the operating room: a review of the literature.* Journal of Interprofessional Care, 2019. **33**(6): p. 782-794.
- 79. Rama-Maceiras, P., S. Parente, and P. Kranke, *Job satisfaction, stress and burnout in anaesthesia: relevant topics for anaesthesiologists and healthcare managers?* European Journal of Anaesthesiology, 2012. **29**(7).
- 80. Okeke, C.I. and P.N. Mtyuda, *Teacher Job Dissatisfaction: Implications for Teacher Sustainability and Social Transformation.* Journal of Teacher Education for Sustainability, 2017. **19**(1): p. 54-68.
- 81. Schaufeli, W.B., et al., *The Measurement of Engagement and Burnout: A Two Sample Confirmatory Factor Analytic Approach.* Journal of Happiness Studies, 2002. **3**(1): p. 71-92.
- 82. Roberts, B.J., C. Jones, and M. Lynn, *Job satisfaction of new baccalaureate nurses*. Journal of Nursing Administration, 2004. **34**(9): p. 428-435.
- 83. Andrus, D.M., J.B. Prince, and K. Gwinner, *Work conditions, job preparation, and placement strategies for food-animal veterinarians.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2006. **33**(4): p. 509-516.
- 84. Batchelor, C.E. and D.E. McKeegan, *Survey of the frequency and perceived stressfulness of ethical dilemmas encountered in UK veterinary practice.* Veterinary Record, 2012. **170**(1): p. 1-5.
- 85. Moses, L., M.J. Malowney, and J. Wesley Boyd, *Ethical conflict and moral distress in veterinary practice: A survey of North American veterinarians.* Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine, 2018. **32**(6): p. 2115-2122.
- 86. Crane, M.F., J.K. Phillips, and E. Karin, *Trait perfectionism strengthens the negative effects of moral stressors occurring in veterinary practice.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2015. **93**(10): p. 354-60.
- 87. Rollin, B.E., *Euthanasia, moral stress, and chronic illness in veterinary medicine.* Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice, 2011. **41**(3): p. 651-9.
- 88. Jameton, A., Nursing Practice. The Ethical Issues. Englewood Cliffs. 1984, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- 89. Wilkinson, J.M., Moral distress in nursing practice. Nursing Forum, 1987-1988. 23: p. 19-29.
- 90. Lamiani, G., et al., *Measuring Moral Distress Among Critical Care Clinicians: Validation and Psychometric Properties of the Italian Moral Distress Scale-Revised.* Crit Care Medicine, 2017. **45**(3): p. 430-437.
- 91. Hamric, A.B., C.T. Borchers, and E.G. Epstein, *Development and Testing of an Instrument to Measure Moral Distress in Healthcare Professionals.* AJOB Primary Research, 2012. **3**(2): p. 1-9.
- 92. Epstein, E.G. and A.B. Hamric, *Moral distress, moral residue, and the crescendo effect.* Journal of Clinical Ethics, 2009. **20**(4): p. 330-42.
- 93. Epstein, E.G., et al., *Enhancing Understanding of Moral Distress: The Measure of Moral Distress for Health Care Professionals.* AJOB Empirical Bioethics, 2019. **10**(2): p. 113-124.
- 94. Corley, M.C., *Nurse moral distress: a proposed theory and research agenda.* Nursing Ethics, 2002. **9**(6): p. 636-50.
- 95. Pauly, B., et al., *Registered nurses' perceptions of moral distress and ethical climate.* Nursing Ethics, 2009. **16**(5): p. 561-73.
- 96. Kirby, S.N. and D.W. Grissmer, *Teacher Attrition: Theory, Evidence and Suggested Policy Options*. 1993, Rand Corp: Santa Monica, California. p. 54.

- 97. Furr, M., *Factors Associated with Veterinary Clinical Faculty Attrition.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2018. **45**(1): p. 16-26.
- 98. Field, A., *Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics*. 5th ed. 2018: SAGE.
- 99. Todd, Z., et al., *Mixing Methods in Psychology : The Integration of Qualitative and Quantitative Methods in Theory and Practice*. 2004, London, UK: Taylor & Francis Group.
- 100. Braun, V. and V. Clarke, Successful Qualitative Research. A practical guide for beginners. 2013: SAGE.
- 101. Tashakkori, A. and C. Teddlie, *Mixed Methodology. Combining Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches*, ed. C.D. Laughton. Vol. 46. 1998, Thousand Oaks California: SAGE.
- 102. Creswell, J.W., *Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design. Choosing among five approaches.* Third ed. 2013, Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications
- 103. Charmaz, K., Constructing Grounded Theory. A Practical Guide Through Qualitative Analysis. 2006, London, UK: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- 104. Liamputtong, P., *Qualitative Research Methods*. Fourth ed. 2013, Victoria, Australia: Oxford University Press.
- 105. Norman, K.D. and S.L. Yvonna, *The Sage handbook of qualitative research*. Vol. 4. 2011: SAGE.
- 106. O'Byrne, P., *The Advantages and Disadvantages of Mixing Methods: An Analysis of Combining Traditional and Autoethnographic Approaches.* Qualitative Health Research, 2007. **17**(10): p. 1381-1391.
- 107. Braun, V. and V. Clarke, *Using thematic analysis in psychology.* Qualitative Research in Psychology, 2006. **3**(2): p. 77-101.
- 108. Campbell, J.L., et al., *Coding In-depth Semistructured Interviews: Problems of Unitization and Intercoder Reliability and Agreement.* Sociological Methods and Research, 2013. **42**(3): p. 294-320.
- 109. Stamm, B.H., The Concise ProQOL Manual, 2nd Edition. 2010.
- 110. Fox-Wasylyshyn, S.M. and M.M. El-Masri, *Handling missing data in self-report measures.* Research in Nursing & Health, 2005. **28**(6): p. 488-495.
- 111. Roth, P.L., Missing data: A conceptual review for applied psychologists. Personnel Psychology, 1994. **47**(3): p. 537-560.
- 112. Tourangeau, R. and T. Yan, Sensitive questions in surveys. Psychological bulletin, 2007. 133(5): p. 859.

# Chapter 2: Moral distress in veterinarians

### Summary

As discussed in the introduction of this thesis, moral distress is a phenomenon that leads to emotional anguish and occupational stress in those professionals that experience it. Moral distress has been associated with attrition in healthcare professionals and has also been associated with reduced patient care. Moral distress has been widely studied in other professions but lacks deep investigation in veterinary clinical practice. To better understand moral distress in veterinarians a review of the current literature was conducted. The following chapter was published in The Veterinary Record in 2019.

Arbe Montoya, A.I., Hazel, S., Matthew, S.M. and McArthur, M.L. (2019), Moral distress in veterinarians. Veterinary Record, 185:20 631-631. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.105289</u>

31

woral distress in veterinal	lans	
[⊽] Published [⊽	Accepted for Publi	cation
Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and U manuscript style	insubmitted work written in
Veterinary Record doi:10.1136/ vetrec-2018-105289		
Alejandra I. Arbe Montoya		
Concept development Review design Literature revision Writing Editing		
60%		
This paper reports on original reset Higher Degree by Research candida or contractual agreements with a thi in this thesis. I am the primary author	arch I conducte ature and is not rd party that wo r of this paper.	d during the period of my subject to any obligations ould constrain its inclusion
Alejandra I. Arbe-Montoya           Recoverable Signati           X         Alejandra I Arbe Montoya           Alejandra I. Arbe Montoya	Date	02/11/2020
	Image: Published       Image: Publication         Image: Publication       Image: Publication         Veterinary Record       doi:10.1136/ vetrec-2018-105289         Alejandra I. Arbe Montoya       Concept development         Review design       Literature revision         Writing       Editing         60%       This paper reports on original reseat         Higher Degree by Research candidator contractual agreements with a this in this thesis. I am the primary author         Alejandra I. Arbe-Montoya         Image: Recoverable Signation         X       Alejandra I Arbe Montoya	Image: Product of the second seco

#### **Co-Author Contributions**

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Michelle L McArthur		
Contribution to the Paper	Concept development and des Editing and revision	ign	
Signature		Date	24/5/21

rienne ar ee rienner	Susan J. Hazel		
Contribution to the Paper	Concept development and designed Editing and revision	gn	
Signature		Date	1915/21
lease cut and paste addition	al co-author panels here as required	1.	
Name of Co-Author	Susan M. Matthew		
Contribution to the Paper	Concept development and desig Editing and revision	JU	
Signature		Date	13/5/21

# Moral Distress in veterinarians

#### Authors

Alejandra I. Arbe Montoya<sup>1</sup>, Susan J. Hazel<sup>1</sup>, Susan M. Matthew<sup>2</sup>, Michelle L. McArthur<sup>1</sup>

1 School of Animal and Veterinary Science, The University of Adelaide, Roseworthy, 5371, South Australia, Australia

2 College of Veterinary Medicine, Washington State University, Pullman, Washington, 99164, USA

#### Email for correspondence: Alejandra.arbemontoya@adelaide.edu.au

#### Abstract

Moral distress is a psychological state of anguish that has been widely studied in healthcare professionals. Experiencing moral distress can lead to problems including avoidance of patients and increased staff turnover. Moral distress in veterinarians has not yet been explored to the extent seen in the human medical field, and there is limited data regarding moral distress in veterinarians. However, it is expected to be prevalent in these professionals. So far, it has been reported that veterinarians commonly experience moral conflict, ethical challenges and ethical dilemmas during their career. These conflicts in association with other modifying factors such as personality traits can lead to the experience of moral distress. In a profession with known levels of occupational stress and reported mental health problems, exploring the area of moral distress and its effects on the professional wellbeing of veterinarians is important. Further studies such as developing a moral distress scale to measure this issue are needed in order to evaluate the incidence of this problem in veterinary professionals. Furthermore, assessing a possible relationship between moral distress, mental illness and attrition in veterinarians would be useful in developing intervention strategies to minimise the experience of moral distress and its associated negative consequences in veterinarians.
## Introduction

The veterinary profession is at the centre of the ethical treatment of animals. Since veterinarians participate in almost every aspect of animal use they are considered to be a key influence on how animals are treated in society<sup>1</sup>. However, veterinarians also have a duty to serve their human clients and to meet the expectations of their communities<sup>2</sup>. These duties can sometimes oppose and veterinarians will find themselves in situations of conflict of interest. Such conflicts may then become an additional source of stress for veterinary professionals<sup>2,3</sup>.

Conflicts of interest for veterinarians include ethical dilemmas and moral conflicts<sup>1-6</sup>. An ethical dilemma occurs when a professional is unsure of the best path of action with no obvious way to prioritize one action over another<sup>3,6,7</sup>. A moral conflict occurs when the professional is aware of their own morally correct path but is unable to follow it satisfactorily due to internal or external constraints<sup>8</sup>. Throughout the literature one can find that authors use the concepts of 'ethical issue'<sup>1</sup> 'ethical conflict'<sup>7,9</sup>, 'ethical dilemma'<sup>6</sup>, 'ethical challenge'<sup>2,5</sup>, 'moral issue'<sup>10,11</sup> 'moral stressor'<sup>12</sup>, 'moral problem'<sup>2,13,14</sup> 'moral conflict'<sup>8</sup> and 'moral challenge'<sup>12</sup> interchangeably.

For simplicity, this review will use the terminology of: 'moral conflict' as a situation that conflicts with the professional's personal morals<sup>8,10</sup>, 'moral stress' as the stress elicited by experiencing a morally conflicting situation<sup>15-17</sup> and 'moral distress' as the psychological disequilibrium experienced from being constrained from following the perceived correct moral path<sup>10,12,18,19</sup>. In accordance with Morley *et al*<sup>20</sup>, moral distress occurs when there is 1- the experience of a moral event, 2- the experience of 'psychological distress' and 3- a direct causal relation between 1 and 2 together. These requisites are necessary and sufficient conditions for moral distress to occur.

Morally conflicting situations lead to the experience of moral stress<sup>16,21</sup>, but not necessarily moral distress. For example, as described by Rollin, euthanasia of healthy animals is an important moral stressor in veterinarians<sup>16,21</sup>; however, veterinarians will deliberate on this moral conflict differently<sup>2,5,12</sup> and objectionable euthanasia will not be a source of psychological distress in many veterinarians<sup>22</sup>. The development of moral distress from a moral conflict is influenced by both internal and external factors, including personality and other occupational stressors<sup>12</sup>. These factors not only impact the perception of a situation as a moral conflict but also have an effect in each step of the deliberation process the professional undergoes from the exposure to a moral conflict to a final resolution of the situation.

This reasoning process has been outlined in veterinarians<sup>2,5</sup> and described as the *moral deliberation process* in medical professionals<sup>23</sup>. The moral deliberation process in healthcare professionals is commonly influenced by factors including: personality, gender, level of ethical reasoning (how nurses reason when faced with an ethical dilemma and implement that decision)<sup>24</sup> and professional knowledge<sup>25</sup>. In veterinarians the professional's

personal experience, emotions and experiences of others<sup>5</sup>, as well as personal beliefs regarding animal value and organisational obstacles<sup>2</sup>, will guide the path of how veterinarians make ethical decisions when faced with moral conflict<sup>2,5</sup>. Figure 1 is designed to represent this process based on a pattern observed by the authors in the systematic review of the literature by Mares, and incorporates the models developed by Corley, Epstein and Wilkinson<sup>13,14,23,26</sup> for healthcare professionals. It outlines the moral deliberation process and the role of modifying factors within this, using examples drawn from the veterinary and medical nursing professions. For example, trait perfectionism has been associated with experiencing higher levels of psychological distress in veterinarians when exposed to a moral conflict<sup>12</sup> and moral competency has been associated with experiencing lower levels of moral distress<sup>14</sup>.

**Figure 1:** The moral deliberation process. The figure shows the step by step process professionals experience when a morally conflicting situation is encountered.





## Moral distress in healthcare professionals

Moral distress was initially defined by Jameton and Wilkinson when discussing the ethics of nursing<sup>10,18</sup>. Since then moral distress in healthcare has been discussed and redefined several times<sup>27,28</sup>. It is often described as the psychological disequilibrium a professional encounters when internal and/or external constraints prevent them from following what they perceive to be the correct moral path<sup>10,13,14,18</sup>. The definition we prefer by Morley *et al*<sup>P0</sup>.requires there to be a moral event, 'psychological distress', and a link between the two, without the requirement for any constraints. It can be theorized that moral conflict and moral distress stem from a conflict within one's professional role, based on ethical responsibilities. A moral distress scale (MDS) for nurses has been created and validated<sup>29</sup>, then revised and validated for other healthcare professionals (MDS-R)<sup>30</sup>, to investigate this. In the veterinary industry the term (described as moral stress) was introduced by Rollin a very particular type of stress that occurred when animal care workers had to euthanise animals for objectionable reasons<sup>16</sup>. This definition was limited to only one situation that could elicit moral stress in animal care workers and currently several other situations have been reported to elicit a similar type of stress in veterinarians<sup>3,6,9</sup>. However, as of yet there is no validated moral distress scale developed for veterinary professionals in order to measure this issue.

Moral distress has been explained as a violation of one's professional integrity and obligations<sup>13</sup>. This can then develop into an underlying perception of infringement of a person's moral integrity and feelings of belittlement, impotence and isolation. Such emotional burden can devastate one's moral sensitivity where the professional may stop recognizing or engaging in morally challenging situations<sup>31</sup>. It has been established in the medical profession that unrecognized moral distress has a negative correlation with wellbeing and is associated with low job satisfaction as well as career attrition and increased staff turnover<sup>21,23,24,26-28</sup>. In veterinarians, there is little work done on the relationship between moral distress and attrition. Other reported consequences of moral distress include conscientious objection, development of anxiety, anger, frustration and burnout<sup>27,31</sup>, avoidance of patients<sup>10,14</sup> which can compromise the patient care the professional is able to provide. While detailed research on this is yet to be conducted in the veterinary profession, the potential implications are concerning.

Career attrition and increased staff turnover has been routinely reported in the healthcare professions as a deleterious effect of moral distress. Nurses and other healthcare professionals experiencing high levels of moral distress are more likely to leave their current position or the profession altogether<sup>10,14,27,29,30,32-34</sup>. For example, a study in 2007 that surveyed nurses and physicians regarding their perspectives on the care of dying patients, found that 45% (n=90) of registered nurses from a particular institution had left or were considering leaving their position due to moral distress<sup>34</sup>. Hamric *et al.* found a high proportion of both physicians and nurses had left or were considering leaving their occupation due to moral distress (16% (n= 36) and 30% respectively (n=163))<sup>30</sup>.

Little research has occurred into relationships between moral distress and career attrition in veterinarians. Given concerns about the implications of moral distress<sup>9</sup> and the limited information regarding attrition in the veterinary profession, investigating linkages between these could prove fruitful.

The concepts of moral competency and moral comfort have been proposed in medical nurses as potential positive alternatives to moral distress<sup>14</sup>. Moral competency is the ability to understand morally conflicting situations and use good judgement, intention and behaviour when responding to these<sup>14</sup>. This competency develops through the professional growth and learning that results from experiencing and compassionately and effectively dealing with moral conflict. Moral competency has been reported in medical nurses to increase the likelihood of achieving moral comfort, which is the feeling of satisfaction that accompanies successfully resolving a moral conflict<sup>14</sup>. Moral competency may also modify the outcome of moral conflict for individuals with high moral integrity, which is adherence to moral values affecting the sense of dignity and self-respect<sup>14</sup>. Corley stipulates that, for example, nurses with high moral integrity but lack of moral competency are those that are at higher risk of developing moral distress<sup>14</sup>. Hamric proposes additional measures to alleviate moral distress in medical professionals<sup>19</sup>. These include recognizing moral distress when it occurs, speaking up and insisting on dialog with the involved parties, understanding the root of the moral conflict and whenever possible addressing it<sup>19</sup>. The notion of moral (or ethical) reasoning has been highly regarded in healthcare professionals <sup>24</sup> and studied in veterinarians<sup>2,5,35</sup> and veterinary students<sup>36-38</sup>. Although the relationship between ethical reasoning and moral distress is yet to be established some authors suggest that developing ethical (moral) reasoning to be important to avoid developing moral distress in these professionals<sup>39</sup>.

Moral distress has also been discussed in other professionals. This includes: police officers<sup>40</sup>, the military<sup>41,42</sup> and veterinarians. In veterinarians, authors have established the presence of moral conflicts and moral distress as well as a connection between moral stress and occupational stress<sup>2,6,9,12,21</sup>. However, a deep understanding of the problem in this field is lacking. In a profession, such as veterinary medicine, where high levels of mental health problems<sup>43-46</sup>, occupational stress<sup>44,47,48</sup> and burnout<sup>44,49,50</sup> have been identified, it becomes imperative to investigate factors such as moral distress that may be contributing to this.

## Moral conflicts in veterinary professionals

Similar to other healthcare professionals, veterinarians can find themselves in situations involving conflicts of interest. For example, there are times where providing best patient care will conflict with what is best for the organisation, the patient's owners or other patients<sup>2,3,7,9</sup>. A similar scenario has been noted in medical nursing<sup>14,18</sup>. However, some conflicts are unique to the veterinary profession and not experienced by other professional bodies.

Veterinarians are required to balance competing human and animal interests<sup>1</sup>. For example, veterinarians are called to respect their clients' autonomy and at the same time uphold the welfare of their animal patients<sup>2</sup>. They carry the obligation to fulfil their responsibilities towards their clients, their colleagues, the profession, their animal patients and the public<sup>2</sup>. At the same time, they deal with the moral status and value of animals as a continuously contested moral claim<sup>2,3,7</sup>. As pointed out by Tannenbaum: 'Veterinarians are confronted daily by the central ethical fact underlying all human-animal interaction: animals as well as humans often have legitimate interest and moral claims that flow from these interests' (Pg. 1)<sup>1</sup>. Therefore, veterinarians as a profession are called to serve both the interests of animals and people<sup>1</sup>. On one hand they are expected to promote and value the welfare of animals and should not condone nor take part in animal suffering<sup>2,51</sup>. Public expectations of veterinary duties align with this perception of veterinarians being the voice for the wellbeing of animals. For example, Morgan and McDonald argue that if and when veterinarians engage in harmful practices to animals (even at a client's request) they may advance the deterioration of public trust in the veterinary profession<sup>3</sup>. On the other hand, however, veterinarians are expected to fulfil their client's and employer's needs which, in some instances, may oppose the needs of the animals under their care<sup>1,3</sup>. It is concluded that society requires a profession that sometimes serves the interests of animals, sometimes the interests of humans and sometimes the interests of both<sup>3</sup>. These differing requirements often produce situations of moral conflict which can then lead to moral distress.

The complexity of veterinarians' obligations contributes to different perceptions of the role of the veterinarian even amongst veterinary staff and colleagues. There is little consensus on whether veterinarians are to be advocates of their patients, serve their client's best interest or merely act as informants to provide the clients with the necessary information<sup>3</sup>. For example, an in-depth qualitative study reviewing the responses of veterinarians to ethical dilemmas concludes that veterinarians disagree on the fundamental importance of life and death in animals. This study uses the example of food veterinarians believing that the animal's life is there for the benefit of the producer, which contrasts with the views of small animal veterinarians who have a wider breadth of opinion regarding the value of an animal's life<sup>2</sup>. This diversity of opinion amongst veterinary professionals regarding the value of animals as the focus of veterinary care is unique to the veterinary profession and generates many uniquely conflicting situations. Understanding the moral conflicts experienced by veterinarians is the initial step to comprehending moral distress in veterinary medicine.

The presence and impact of moral conflicts in the veterinary profession were first discussed nearly thirty years ago. Rollin presented the concept of moral stress in veterinary professionals such as shelter workers, laboratory technicians and veterinarians involved in the culling of animals<sup>16,21</sup>. Moral stress was described as a very specific occupational stressor that cannot be alleviated by regular stress-relief management techniques<sup>21</sup>. Such commentaries have initiated dialogue regarding moral stress in veterinarians and influenced research into moral stress in shelter workers. Recently, a study surveying 889 North American veterinarians established the

presence of moral conflict and moral stress in veterinarians. The authors hypothesised veterinarians may not recognize moral distress but describe a situation as 'sad' or 'upsetting' and that many veterinarians consider moral conflicts as just part of veterinary practice<sup>9</sup>. However, there is a paucity of research examining the psychological effects of moral stress in veterinary clinicians. Currently, experts discuss the serious, insidious and harmful effects of moral stress in veterinarians <sup>9,52</sup> and consider the exposure to ethical dilemmas (as moral conflicts) to be an important source of stress and distress <sup>6,9</sup> as well as the biggest contributor to compassion fatigue <sup>17</sup>. However, empirical data in this area are limited.

Moral conflicts as part of ethical dilemmas are experienced frequently by veterinarians. For example, a UK study reports that 57% of surveyed participants experienced one to two ethical dilemmas per week and 32% experienced up to five ethical dilemmas per week. Only 5% of the participants reported experiencing no ethical dilemmas <sup>6</sup>. Although this paper provides evidence of what the authors perceive as morally stressful situations (described as ethical dilemmas) in veterinarians it only surveyed 58 participants, which may not be representative of a larger cohort of veterinary clinicians. A survey in North American veterinarians regarding ethical conflicts reports that 32% of the participants often encountered conflicts with clients in how to proceed in terms of patient care. It found that 45% of the participants were sometimes asked to do something that felt like the wrong thing to do and 62% responded that there were times they felt they could not do the right thing<sup>9</sup>. The most common obstacle to do the right thing was the client's finances and sometimes the employer's or practice's policies. Commonly veterinarians concede in doing the requested procedures because of the legal status of animals as property<sup>9</sup>.

Veterinarians may also experience a moral conflict when they perceive an inability or failure of the client to provide care for the patient<sup>2,6,9,12</sup>, with euthanasia being the most extreme example of this. Moses reports that 29.3% of their participants sometimes or often receive what they consider to be inappropriate requests for euthanasia and that this is a source of some distress to almost 45% and severe distress to 18.7% of respondents or their staff <sup>9</sup>. Concerns about the perceived impact of euthanasia on the veterinarian's psychological wellbeing have led to this potential moral conflict receiving the most attention from authors<sup>16,21,53-58</sup>. There is consistent empirical data confirming a relationship between animal euthanasia, moral stress and psychological anguish in shelter workers<sup>16,59</sup>. Furthermore, Whiting and Marion report a syndrome similar to PTSD for workers asked to cull hundreds of healthy pigs in an epidemic event<sup>53</sup>. Bartram and Baldwin include in their literature review the possibility of a relationship between euthanasia of animals as one of several risk factors for suicide in veterinarians<sup>60,61</sup>, but empirical evidence does not support this claim<sup>22</sup>. Tran, in a cross-sectional study that surveyed 540 Australian veterinarians, found no relationship between administration of objectionable euthanasia (euthanasia that the veterinarian did not agree with) and the mental health variables assessed (depression and suicidal behaviour). Frequent euthanasia (including objectionable euthanasia) had a weak positive relationship with depression, but the influence of this in the variance of depressed mood was small (1%)<sup>22</sup>. Similarly, a

Canadian qualitative study reports that most of the veterinarians interviewed would perform convenience euthanasia, with their decision being influenced by their perception of the owner-animal bond<sup>62</sup>. Neither of these studies, however, discuss the number of objectionable euthanasia the participants performed or the overall effect of other forms of moral conflicts on the prevalence of psychological ill-health. Overall, they suggest that while euthanasia may be an important occupational stressor for veterinarians, analysing the relationship between moral conflicts and other modifying factors associated with occupational stress and psychological ill-health in veterinarians could give us a better understanding of their combined impact in the veterinary profession.

The literature outlines other common moral conflicts for veterinarians, for example: observing and reporting animal abuse, dealing with colleague incompetence, conflict of opinions between colleagues, breaking client confidentiality, lack of use of analgesia, performing unnecessary procedures, providing care they consider futile and inappropriate provision of medications and certificates<sup>2,6,9,12,63</sup>. However, the moral conflict experienced most commonly is client economic constraints impairing appropriate care for the patient<sup>6,9,56,64</sup>. A recent survey of 1,122 veterinarians found that 77% of the respondents viewed economic limitations as a moderate or primary contributor to professional burnout<sup>56</sup>. This view was verified by the positive correlation found between respondents felt that economic constraints limited their ability to provide the level of care they wanted. This finding is consistent with the finding that financial constraints are an ethical dilemma consistently encountered by Danish veterinarians<sup>64</sup>. While neither of these studies explicitly examined moral distress, the authors conclude that clients' economic limitations are an important cause of career dissatisfaction and burnout<sup>56</sup> and a major psychological challenge for the participating veterinarians<sup>64</sup>.

How veterinarians perceive a situation as a moral conflict, frame moral questions and deliberate on ethical decisions is ingrained in the veterinarian's own morality, experiences, background, emotions and judgement. Therefore, what one person may find unethical or immoral another may not<sup>2,5,7,65,66</sup>. Each step in the moral deliberation process is affected by several modifying factors. These factors include, among others, their own morality, perceptions of animal value, expectations of clients, role perceptions, experience, colleagues' advice, formal training, intuition, logical thinking and self-awareness/avoidance of self-harm<sup>2,5</sup>. The veterinarian may then act in several ways depending on the specifics of the conflict. The veterinarian then may choose to report a case to animal welfare authorities, alter their method of communication to be more persuasive, proceed to euthanise an animal, act without the owner's permission, use deception, refuse service, terminate the veterinarian-client-patient relationship or offer that a charity or themselves to take ownership of an animal<sup>2</sup>. The most common response from surveyed veterinarians was lengthy discussion about the situation with clients or peers <sup>9</sup>. Whether or not these actions result in moral distress or moral comfort will depend on their own morality, contextual factors relating to the situation, and intrinsic factors such as self-awareness and personality.

The conditions required for the development of moral distress from moral stressors have seen limited investigation in the veterinary profession. The intrinsic and extrinsic factors that modify the response of the veterinarian will impact the perception of a situation as a moral conflict and the subsequent moral deliberation process. The outcome of the moral deliberation process will depend on whether these factors are perceived as leading to the anguish of moral distress or the satisfaction of moral comfort. The veterinary context is different from other healthcare settings<sup>67</sup>. The differences between situations that veterinarians face in contrast to their medical counterparts are enough to require further research in veterinary professionals, rather than extrapolating only from medical nurses or other healthcare providers.

# Modifying factors and outcomes of the moral deliberation process for veterinarians

While some of the modifying factors that influence the response to a moral stressor have been described in the literature, the overall relationship between moral distress, modifying factors and the effect these may have on a veterinarian's mental health, their ability to provide care, job satisfaction and attrition is yet to be investigated. The literature in medical nurses describes some of these modifying factors as constraints<sup>10,19</sup>. However, there are many other modifying factors that are not necessarily considered constraints<sup>8</sup>, such as personality traits<sup>12</sup> and the moral value the individual places on animals<sup>2</sup>. The development of a moral distress scale contextualised for veterinarians would be useful to further assess the impact of moral stress on the mental health of veterinary professionals.

One factor confirmed to influence the development of moral distress in veterinarians is personality. Personality traits such as neuroticism and trait perfectionism have been linked to experiences of anxiety, depression and lower well-being in veterinarians<sup>12,68</sup>. A study involving 363 UK veterinarians concluded that personality traits have a stronger influence on the outcome of occupational stressors than environmental factors. It also concluded that veterinarians who have high neuroticism traits experienced significantly higher levels of occupational stress<sup>68</sup>. Furthermore, the cross-sectional study by Crane *et al.*, surveying 540 Australian veterinarians, established a relationship between trait perfectionism and moral distress. This study concludes that the presence of trait perfectionism enhances and increases the risk of developing moral distress from moral conflicts in the surveyed veterinarians<sup>12</sup>.

There is no literature discussing the influence of moral competency and moral integrity in veterinarians as there is in medical nurses. However, a UK study that evaluated ethical reasoning in 65 veterinarians concluded that the ethical reasoning skills of clinical veterinarians may be insufficient to meet the demands of the job<sup>35</sup>. Some authors have discussed education in ethics as a potential tool to understand ethical reasoning and potentially reduce the development of moral distress<sup>39</sup>. For example, Avery explains that an understanding of welfare and ethics can alleviate the guilt and stress that veterinarians can feel when exposed to euthanasia<sup>54</sup> and Richards

mentions that formal training in bioethics was an important contributor to ethical decision making in the participants of her study<sup>5</sup>. However, a survey of North American veterinarians found that 71% (n=889) reported receiving no conflict resolution training while at university<sup>9</sup>. It could be theorized that education in ethics could modify the development of moral comfort instead of moral distress. Developing ethical knowledge and improving moral competency has been shown to alleviate moral distress in medical nurses<sup>14</sup>. The hypothesis is that a similar response may take place in veterinarians<sup>5,9</sup>.

Occupational stressors have been reported as modifying factors in the development of moral distress in medical professionals. There is little evidence of the effect of occupational stressors in veterinarian's moral stress but there is wide evidence supporting the presence of occupational stress in these professionals<sup>44,47,48,69</sup>. Common occupational stressors such as longer working hours per week contribute to the higher perceived stress experienced by veterinarians when faced with moral conflicts<sup>12</sup>. Public perception has also been reported as an important occupational stressor when a veterinarian is perceived to fail their professional duty to protect animals<sup>2,53</sup>. All these factors contribute to the stress experienced by the veterinarian in their daily duties and may modify their moral deliberation process.

The relationship of moral distress in veterinarians to professional attrition has not been widely explored. In the US, despite work-related stressors, a large percentage of veterinarians stay in the industry<sup>69</sup>. Similar reports have emerged in Australia, with expectations of an oversupply of veterinarians in 2015<sup>70</sup>. A longitudinal study that surveyed 134 veterinarians 20 years after starting the veterinary science course at The University of Queensland reported that after 15 years 77% of the respondents were still doing veterinary work<sup>71</sup>. However, paradoxically, in Australia there is an anecdotal increase of employment need for veterinary clinicians with two or more years of experience (Eagleton, pers. comm.). It is possible that this is related to increased professional stressors which may include moral distress. For example, a relationship has been established between occupational stress and veterinary career attrition. In a cross-sectional study surveying over 11 000 US veterinarians, 16% of the participants planning on leaving the profession reported serious psychological stress whereas only 9% of those not planning to leave the profession reported similar stress<sup>69</sup>. A report on euthanasia technicians mentions that these professionals recommended to their colleagues to leave the job if the moral stress of euthanasia became unbearable<sup>57</sup>. Although this study was performed in shelter workers who were not veterinarians, there is a possibility that a similar scenario could be seen in veterinary clinicians. These findings highlight the need for further research into the relationships between veterinary career attrition and work-related stress, including the lightly explored area of moral distress.

## Conclusion

Moral distress is an important occupational stressor that has deleterious effects on the professionals that experience it. Moral distress stems from situations related to conflicts of interest, which when perceived to go against the professional's own morals can lead to emotional and psychological anguish. The development of moral distress from the experience of moral conflict is modified by several factors that impact each step of the moral deliberation process. Veterinarians are frequently exposed to morally conflicting situations which often stem from conflicts of interest between clients, patient needs, professional duties and social expectations. However, moral distress in veterinarians has not been widely studied. There is correspondingly limited evidence to understand the relationships between moral distress, psychological outcomes, modifying factors, job satisfaction and attrition in veterinarians. Given the high levels of psychological distress they experience, investigating the effects of moral distress in veterinarians becomes imperative in the hope of improving their wellbeing. Further studies could include the development of a moral distress scale for veterinarians and evaluating the relationship between moral distress and job satisfaction, wellbeing and attrition in veterinarians.

# References

- 1. Tannenbaum, J., Veterinary medical ethics. A focus of conflicting interests. Journal of Social Issues, 1993. **49**(1): p. 143-156.
- 2. Morgan, C.A., Stepping up to the plate. Veterinarians, animal welfare and ethical dilemmas., in Doctorate Dissertation. 2009, The University of British Columbia: Vancouver, Canada. p. 215.
- 3. Morgan, C.A. and M. McDonald, *Ethical dilemmas in veterinary medicine*. Veterinary Clinincs of North America: Small Animal Practice, 2007. **37**(1): p. 165-79.
- 4. Rollin, B.E., *Veterinary medical ethics.* Canadian Veterinary Journal, 2009. **50**(1): p. 13-6.
- 5. Richards, L., *Veterinarians Making Ethical Decisions How do they do it?* 2017, The University of Melbourne: Melbourne, Australia. p. 58.
- 6. Batchelor, C.E. and D.E. McKeegan, *Survey of the frequency and perceived stressfulness of ethical dilemmas encountered in UK veterinary practice.* Veterinary Record, 2012. **170**(1): p. 1-5.
- 7. Mullan, S.M. and A. Fawcett, *Veterinary Ethics: Navigating Though Cases*. 2017: 5M Publishing Ltd.
- 8. Crane, M.F., P. Bayl-Smith, and J. Cartmill, *A Recommendation for Expanding the Definition of Moral Distress Experienced in the Workplace*. The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Organisational Psychology, 2013. **6**.
- 9. Moses, L., M.J. Malowney, and J. Wesley Boyd, *Ethical conflict and moral distress in veterinary practice: A survey of North American veterinarians.* Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine, 2018.
- 10. Wilkinson, J.M., *Moral distress in nursing practice*. Nursing Forum, 1987-1988. 23: p. 19-29.
- 11. Lawrence, L., Work Engagement, Moral Distress, Education Level, and Critical Reflective Practice in Intensive Care Nurses. Nursing Forum, 2011. **46**(4): p. 256-268.
- 12. Crane, M.F., J.K. Phillips, and E. Karin, *Trait perfectionism strengthens the negative effects of moral stressors occurring in veterinary practice.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2015. **93**(10): p. 354-60.
- 13. Epstein, E.G. and A.B. Hamric, *Moral distress, moral residue, and the crescendo effect.* Journal of Clinical Ethics, 2009. **20**(4): p. 330-42.
- 14. Corley, M.C., *Nurse moral distress: a proposed theory and research agenda.* Nursing Ethics, 2002. **9**(6): p. 636-50.
- 15. Hartnack, S., et al., Attitudes of Austrian veterinarians towards euthanasia in small animal practice: impacts of age and gender on views on euthanasia. BMC Veterinary Research, 2016. **12**: p. 26.
- 16. Rollin, B.E., *Euthanasia and Moral Stress*. Loss, Grief and Care, 1987. **1**(1-2).
- 17. Kahler, S.C., Moral stress the top trigger in veterinarians' compassion fatigue: veterinary social worker suggests redefining veterinarians' ethical responsibility. Journal of the American Veterinary Medicine Association, 2015. **246**(1): p. 16-18.
- 18. Jameton, A., *Nursing Practice. The Ethical Issues.* Englewood Cliffs. 1984, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- 19. Hamric, A., W.S. Davis, and M. Childress, *Moral distress. What is it and what can we do about it?* The Pharos, 2006. **Winter 2006**: p. 16-23.
- 20. Morley, G., et al., *What is moral distres. A narrative synthesis of the literature.* Nursing Ethics, 2017. **20**(10): p. 1-17.
- 21. Rollin, B.E., *Euthanasia, moral stress, and chronic illness in veterinary medicine.* Veterinary Clinics of North America Small Animal Practice, 2011. **41**(3): p. 651-9.
- 22. Tran, L., M.F. Crane, and J.K. Phillips, *The distinct role of performing euthanasia on depression and suicide in veterinarians.* Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, 2014. **19**(2): p. 123-32.
- 23. Mareš, J., Moral distress: Terminology, theories and models. Kontakt, 2016. 18(3): p. 137-144.
- 24. Goethals, S., C. Gastmans, and B.D. de Casterle, *Nurses' ethical reasoning and behaviour: a literature review.* International Journal of Nursing Studies, 2010. **47**(5): p. 635-50.
- 25. Ramos, M.D.B., et al., *Moral distress in nurses.* Cultura de los Cuidados, 2017. 21(48): p. 210-218.
- 26. Wilkinson, J.M., *Moral distress in nursing practice: a labour and delivery nurse's experience.* Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, and Neonatal Nursing, 1989. **23**(1): p. 16-29.
- 27. Lamiani, G., L. Borghi, and P. Argentero, *When healthcare professionals cannot do the right thing: A systematic review of moral distress and its correlates.* Journal of Health Psychology, 2017. **22**(1): p. 51-67.

- 28. Hanna, D.R., *Moral distress. The state of the science.* Research and Theory of Nursing Practice: An International Journal, 2004. **18**(1): p. 73-93.
- 29. Corley, M.C., et al., *Development and evaluation of a moral distress scale.* Journal of Advanced Nursing, 2001. **33**(2): p. 250-256.
- 30. Hamric, A.B., C.T. Borchers, and E.G. Epstein, *Development and Testing of an Instrument to Measure Moral Distress in Healthcare Professionals.* AJOB Primary Research, 2012. **3**(2): p. 1-9.
- 31. Epstein, E.G., *Understanding and addressing moral distress.* Online Journal of Issues in Nursing, 2010. **15**(3).
- 32. Dodek, P.M., et al., *Moral distress in intensive care unit professionals is associated with profession, age, and years of experience.* Journal of Critical Care, 2016. **31**(1): p. 178-82.
- 33. Dyo, M., P. Kalowes, and J. Devries, *Moral distress and intention to leave: A comparison of adult and paediatric nurses by hospital setting.* Intensive Critical Care Nursing, 2016. **36**: p. 42-8.
- 34. Hamric, A. and L. Blackhall, *Nurse-physician perspectives on the care of dying patients in intensive care units: collaboration, moral distress and ethical climate.* Critical Care Medicine, 2007. **35**(2): p. 422-429.
- 35. Batchelor, C.E., A. Creed, and D.E. McKeegan, *A preliminary investigation into the moral reasoning abilities of UK veterinarians.* Veterinary Record, 2015. **177**(5): p. 1-6.
- 36. Verrinder, J.M. and C.J. Phillips, *Assessing Veterinary and Animal Science Students' Moral Judgment Development on Animal Ethics Issues.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2015. **42**(3): p. 206-16.
- 37. Verrinder, J.M. and C.J. Phillips, *Identifying veterinary students' capacity for moral behavior concerning animal ethics issues.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2014. **41**(4): p. 358-70.
- 38. Wiseman-Orr, L.M., S.A.J. Stuart, and D.E.F. McKeegan, *Ethical Dilemmas in Practice: Development of an Ethical Reasoning Assessment Tool for Veterinary Undergraduates.* Subject Centre for Philosophical and Religious Studies of the Higher Education Academy, 2009. **8**(2): p. 187-196.
- 39. Verrinder, J.M. and C.J. Phillips, *Development of a moral judgment measure for veterinary education.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2014. **41**(3): p. 258-64.
- 40. Papazoglou, K. and B. Chopko, *The role of moral suffering (Moral Distress and Moral Injury) in police compassion fatigue and PTSD: An unexplored topic.* Frontiers in Psychology, 2017. **8**(NOV).
- 41. Currier, J.M., et al., *Development and evaluation of the Expressions of Moral Injury Scale-Military Version*. Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, 2017.
- 42. Litz, B.T., et al., *Moral injury and moral repair in war veterans: a preliminary model and intervention strategy.* Clinical Psychology Review, 2009. **29**(8): p. 695-706.
- 43. Nett, R.J., et al., *Notes from the field: prevalence of risk factors for suicide among veterinarians United States, 2014.* MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 2015. **64**(5): p. 131-2.
- 44. Hatch, P.H., et al., *Workplace stress, mental health, and burnout of veterinarians in Australia.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2011. **89**(11): p. 460-8.
- 45. Hatch, P.H. VetLife Australia. 2016 [cited April 2017 12/10/17]; Available from: https://vetlifeaustralia.com.au/.
- 46. Platt, B., et al., *Suicidal behaviour and psychosocial problems in veterinary surgeons: a systematic review.* Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 2012. **47**(2): p. 223-40.
- 47. Gardner, D.H. and D. Hini, *Work-related stress in the veterinary profession in New Zealand*. New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 2006. **54**(3): p. 119-24.
- 48. Meehan, M.P. and L. Bradley, *Identifying and evaluating job stress within the Australian small animal veterinary profession.* Australian Veterinary Practitioner, 2007. **37**(2): p. 70-83.
- 49. Hansez, I., F. Schins, and F. Rollin, *Occupational stress, work-home interference and burnout among Belgian veterinary practitioners.* Irish Veterinary Journal, 2008. **61**(4): p. 233-41.
- 50. McArthur, M.L., et al., *The Prevalence of Compassion Fatigue among Veterinary Students in Australia and the Associated Psychological Factors.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2017. **44**(1): p. 9-21.
- 51. The Australian Veterinary Association. *Code of Professional Conduct*. 2018 [cited 2017 August 2018]; Available from: http://www.ava.com.au/conduct.
- 52. Moses, L. *Bioethics and advanced veterinary care: Reflections from a palliative care veterinarian.* 2017 [cited 2017 October 6th]; Available from: http://www.hsvma.org/webinar\_bioethics.

- 53. Whiting, T.L. and C.R. Marion, *Perpetration-induced traumatic stress A risk for veterinarians involved in the destruction of healthy animals.* Canadian Veterinary Journal, 2011. **52**(7): p. 794-796.
- 54. Avery, A., Convenience euthanasia'. but at what cost to all involved? Vet Times, 2013: p. 1-10.
- 55. Yeates, J.W. and D.C. Main, *Veterinary opinions on refusing euthanasia: justifications and philosophical frameworks.* Veterinary Record, 2011. **168**(10): p. 263.
- 56. Kipperman, B.S., P.H. Kass, and M. Rishniw, *Factors that influence small animal veterinarians' opinions and actions regarding cost of care and effects of economic limitations on patient care and outcome and professional career satisfaction and burnout.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2017. **250**(7): p. 785-794.
- 57. Baran, B.E., et al., *Euthanasia related strain and coping strategies in animal shelter employees.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2009. **235**(1): p. 83-88.
- 58. Sanders, C., *Killing with Kindness: Veterinary Euthanasia and the Social Construction of Parenthood.* Sociological Forum, 1995. **10**(2): p. 195-214.
- 59. Reeve, C.L., et al., *The caring-killing paradox: Euthanasia-related strain among animal-shelter workers.* Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 2005. **35**(1): p. 119-143.
- 60. Bartram, D.J. and D.S. Baldwin, *Veterinary surgeons and suicide: a structured review of possible influences on increased risk.* Veterinary Record, 2010. **166**(13): p. 388-97.
- 61. Bartram, D.J. and D.S. Baldwin, *Veterinary surgeons and suicide: influences, opportunities and research directions.* Veterinary Record, 2008. **162**(2): p. 36-40.
- 62. Rathwell-Deault, D., et al., *Conceptualization of convenience euthanasia as an ethical dilemma for veterinarians in Quebec.* Canadian Veterinary Journal, 2017. **58**(3): p. 255-260.
- 63. Magalhães-Sant'Ana, M., et al., *Ethical challenges facing veterinary professionals in Ireland: Results from Policy Delphi with vignette methodology.* Veterinary Record, 2016. **179**(17): p. 437.
- 64. Kondrup, S.V., et al., *Veterinarian's dilemma: a study of how Danish small animal practitioners handle financially limited clients.* Veterinary Record, 2016. **179**(23): p. 596.
- 65. De Graaf, G., Veterinarians' discourses on animals and clients. Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics, 2005. **18**: p. 557-578.
- 66. Rollin, B.E., *An Introduction to Veterinary Mecial Ethics. Theory and Cases.* Second ed. 2006, Iowa, USA: Blackwell Publishing. 316.
- 67. Hamood, W.J., A. Chur-Hansen, and M.L. McArthur, *A qualitative study to explore communication skills in veterinary medical education.* International Journal of Medical Education, 2014. **5**: p. 193-198.
- 68. Dawson, B.F. and N.J. Thompson, *The Effect of Personality on Occupational Stress in Veterinary Surgeons.* Journal of Veterinary Medicine Education, 2017. **44**(1): p. 72-83.
- 69. Nett, R.J., et al., *Risk factors for suicide, attitudes toward mental illness, and practice-related stressors among US veterinarians.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2015. **247**(8): p. 945-55.
- 70. The Australian Veterinary Association. *Australian veterinary workforce modelling report*. 2015 February 2015 [cited 2021 26/02/2021]; Available from: https://www.ava.com.au/policy-advocacy/advocacy/workforce/workforce-data/.
- 71. Heath, T.J., *Longitudinal study of veterinary students and veterinarians: the first 20 years.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2007. **85**(7): p. 281-9.

# Chapter 3: Why do veterinarians leave clinical practice? A qualitative study using thematic analysis

# Summary

Moral distress is an important occupational stressor experienced by veterinary clinicians. Moral distress has been associated with attrition in healthcare professionals but this relationship has not been investigated in veterinary clinicians. Furthermore, attrition from clinical practice is yet to be fully investigated in the veterinary profession. As mentioned in chapter 1, studies in relation to attrition and retention in veterinarians have limitations. Previous studies have reported intention to leave or attrition from the profession altogether or have focused on specific cohorts such as new graduates or veterinarians in rural practice. As of yet, an in-depth investigation of reasons for attrition from veterinary clinical practice is yet to be done. From this exploration we can assess whether moral distress emerges as a contributing factor for attrition from veterinary clinical practice. In chapter 3 we will explore the reasons for attrition from veterinary clinical practice using thematic analysis. This study was published in the Veterinary Record in 2021.

Arbe Montoya, A.I., Hazel, S.J., Matthew, S.M. and McArthur, M.L. (2021), *Why do veterinarians leave clinical practice? A qualitative study using thematic analysis.* Veterinary Record, 188:1 49-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/vetr.2</u>

Title of Paper	WHY DO VETERINARIANS LEAVE	CLINICAL PRACTICE? A	QUALITATIVE STUDY USING
50	THEMATIC ANALYSIS		
Publication Status	V Published	Accepted for Pu	blication
	Submitted for Publication	L Unpublished and menuscript style	Unsubmitted work written in
Publication Details	Veterinary Record Id: vetrec-2020-105946.R2	2	
Principal Author			
Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Alejandra I. Arbe Monloya		
Contribution to the Paper	Concept development		
	Research design		
	Data collection		
	Data analysis		
	VVnling Edition		
Overall percentage (%)	60%		
Certification:	This paper reports on original resear Research candidature and is not subj party that would constrain its inclusion	ch I conducted during the cond	ne period of my Higher Degree by contractual agreements with a third primary author of this paper.
Signature	Alejandra I. Arbe-Montoya	Date	04/05/2021
	R		
	χ Alejandra i Arbe Mon	toya	
	Alejandra i Arbe Montoya		
	PhD Candidate		
	Signed by Defealth Bath ADDC Ored	al-riaga dia la	1

#### **Co-Author Contributions**

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Michelle L McArthur
Contribution to the Paper	Concept development
	Research design
	Data analysis - revision

Signature,		Dale	24/5/21
Name of Co-Author	Susan J. Hazel		
Contribution to the Paper	Concept development Research design Data analysis - revision Ediilna		
Signature		Dale	19/5/21
Name of Co-Author Contribution to the Paper	Susan M. Malthew Research design Data analysis – Co-analysis Editing		
Signature		Date	(3/5/21

# Why do veterinarians leave clinical practice? A qualitative study using thematic analysis

## Authors

Alejandra I. Arbe Montoya<sup>1</sup>, Susan J. Hazel<sup>1</sup>, Susan M. Matthew<sup>2</sup>, Michelle L. McArthur<sup>1</sup>

1 School of Animal and Veterinary Science, The University of Adelaide, Roseworthy, 5371, South Australia, Australia

2 College of Veterinary Medicine, Washington State University, Pullman, Washington, 99164, USA

Email for correspondence: <u>Alejandra.arbemontoya@adelaide.edu.au</u>

## Abstract

## Background

Veterinarians have an important role in society and having an adequate veterinary workforce is not only important for their communities but also nationwide. Lately, there have been anecdotal reports regarding veterinary practices struggling to find clinicians as well as evidence of mental ill-health in veterinarians. Furthermore, the Australian Veterinary Association annual workforce survey shows an increased percentage of veterinarians intending to leave practice from 2017 to 2019. Although many factors for attrition have been described in other professions, reasons for veterinarians to leave practice are not well understood.

#### Methods

This study investigated why veterinary clinicians leave clinical practice by using Thematic Analysis to analyse 26 semi-structured interviews of former veterinary clinicians in relation to their work experiences and reasons for leaving. Interviews were done from February-April 2018 either face to face, via teleconferencing or telephone. Participants were recruited from each Australian state except for New South Wales.

#### Results

The results showed that a combination of personal and work-related factors influenced the participants to leave clinical practice. In Personal Factors participants described the internal and external circumstances that impacted on their personal lives such as personal relationships, experiencing negative thoughts and emotions, physical and mental health, core motivations and beliefs, alternative professional and personal interests. On the other hand, Work Experiences described situations, experiences and statements directly related to the participant's

veterinary clinical work such as workplace relationships, employment conditions including remuneration and working hours and clinical experiences such as negative clinical outcomes. Furthermore, interlinkages between these two themes were revealed in participants' responses.

# Conclusion

This study highlights factors that contribute to attrition from veterinary clinical practice. The narrative indicates that the interlinking of such factors influenced the decision-making process to leave clinical practice in this cohort of former veterinary clinicians. Further research is required to understand the full implications for veterinary clinical practice and inform intervention strategies for retention.

# Introduction

Having an adequate veterinary workforce to meet the needs of society is critical<sup>1-4</sup> and attention is needed to understand the factors that drive it. This is particularly the case because concerns with the supply of veterinarians have been raised. In 2015, the Australian Veterinary Association (AVA) suggested a potential oversupply of veterinarians and predicted underemployment<sup>5</sup>. A 2018 economic model report on veterinary professionals (not on veterinary clinicians) in the USA concluded that the number of small animal veterinarians grew faster than the demand, stagnating veterinary salaries<sup>6</sup>. However, veterinary workforce surveys released in 2019 report that Australian veterinary clinical practices, regardless of their geographical location, struggle to fill their positions, some waiting over 12 months to fill vacancies<sup>7,8</sup>. Furthermore, the percentage of veterinarians working in a 'non-veterinarian role' such as teaching, business management, computer programming increased from 18% in 2017 to 27% in 2019<sup>7,9</sup>. Whether this paradox can be explained with normal labour market fluctuations or if attrition of veterinary clinicians is indeed a problem for the veterinary industry is not clear.

Employment models in non-veterinary industries suggest that elements of personal, organisational and environmental factors contribute to voluntary employee turnover from a workplace or organisation<sup>10-13</sup>. For example, Lee and Mitchell's<sup>11</sup> Unfolding Model of employee turnover mentions work-related factors (e.g. change of company ownership) and personal factors (e.g. values, learned experiences) as potential 'shocks' that trigger employees' decision-making path to leaving a job. In veterinary sciences studies have reported reasons for veterinarians to resign including: poor remuneration<sup>8,14</sup>, perceived stress and anxiety<sup>8</sup>, parental and family care<sup>7</sup> and change of interests<sup>14</sup>. However, the complex relationship between these factors and attrition is yet to be fully explored.

This study aims to understand what factors are associated with a veterinarian's decision to leave clinical practice. This was achieved by analysing the working journey and decision-making process of 26 former veterinary clinicians resulting in attrition from clinical practice. A qualitative research approach was used in light of the dearth of empirical data investigating attrition in veterinary clinical practice, since this allows for deep exploration when an area is not yet well understood and allows wider understanding of the participants' experiences and perspectives<sup>15-18</sup>. Furthermore, this qualitative analysis sets the initial exploratory basis for future quantitative research in this area.

# Methodology

A qualitative research design was used to understand the contextualized subjective experiences<sup>16,19,20</sup> in former veterinary clinicians. The methodology used was inductive (builds concepts and theories from the data)<sup>16</sup>, the

methods were thematic analysis as described by Braun and Clark<sup>18,19</sup> and the coding followed the guidelines by Saldaña <sup>21</sup>.

#### Participants

Participants were recruited through social media platforms, AVA social media groups and communications sent by four of the seven Australian Universities that offer the veterinary degree. Recruitment occurred from December 2017 until March 2018 and stopped when data saturation (no new categories or links between categories were found) was reached <sup>22</sup>. Participants did not have an established relationship with the research project and researcher goals were not discussed during interviews. The selection criteria required participants not to be currently engaged in clinical work, defined as: 'diagnosis and treatment of animal patients either individuals or herds'. Selection criteria also included: having worked in clinical practice in Australia for six months or longer and have stopped clinical practice no longer than ten years ago. Participants gave informed consent and the project received Human Ethics approval by The University of Adelaide (H-2017-229).

#### Interviews

A total of 30 semi-structured interviews were conducted following the in-depth interview guidelines of Liamputtong<sup>16</sup> after a pilot test of four interviews. The initial part of the interview asked the participants about their working journey including the positive and negative experiences they had while in practice. The second part of the interview asked the participants to describe why they left clinical practice. The outline of the interview can be found on Appendix 1. After initial recruitment and data analysis, the sample population was narrowed down to include only former veterinary clinicians that had left clinical practice prior to retirement. A total of 26 interviews were analysed after this exclusion.

#### Description of participants

Twenty-six interviews were selected for thematic analysis. Participants all lived in Australia, had worked as veterinary clinicians for at least six months and had left clinical practice for no longer than 10 years. Out of those, 18 identified as female. Furthermore, nine had worked in small animal practice only, 14 had work in both mixed or production animal practice as well as small animal and three had worked in a combination of small animal practice and other type of veterinary clinical practice such as zoo animal practice. Only five participants had worked in metropolitan region only, two had worked in rural or semi-rural regions only with the remaining participants having worked in both metropolitan and rural regions. The years of experience in clinical practice ranged from one to 40 years. The time since leaving practice ranged from four weeks to 10 years. The participants' current occupation varied with 15 still working in the veterinary profession in a non-clinical capacity.

#### Analysis

Interviews were conducted in person, via videoconferencing or telephone from February 27<sup>th</sup> 2018 – April 28<sup>th</sup> 2018. The interviews took between 36 and 110 minutes each. All interviews were audio recorded with the interviewees' permission and then the transcripts were de-identified. The interviews developed into an in-depth exploration of the veterinarians' clinical journey with a focus on the factors that influenced their decision to leave practice. Although participants described both negative and positive work experiences, only the experiences that were associated with the research question (influential factors to leave clinical practice) were included in the analysis. The transcripts were checked for accuracy by comparing the audio recordings and the text prior to analysis and analysed using NVivo 12®. A total of three (12%) of the interviews were randomly selected for member checking, where the transcript was reviewed by the participant to ensure the responses were conveyed correctly, and feedback was accounted for in the analysis<sup>16,23</sup>.

The data coding structure was developed with input from all four authors: a veterinarian currently working in practice (AAM); two veterinarians currently working in academia (SMM, SJH); and a clinical psychologist currently working in academia (MLM). Data analysis started as open coding of the entire dataset (generating multiple patterns from the data) completed by the main author (AAM) followed by selective coding (organising found patterns into structured themes) to identify initial themes and sub-themes <sup>21</sup>. The structure of themes and sub-themes was reviewed iteratively by all four authors, with additional discussion on coding of individual quotes between AAM and SMM. A final review was conducted on the dataset to ensure no additional subthemes were found and that all codes were associated with one subtheme only. A codebook was created containing the themes and sub-themes identified in the analysis, together their descriptions and illustrative quotes. This was reviewed by all four authors and revised to ensure accuracy in coding. Inter-coder agreement was established by two of the authors (AAM and SMM) independently coding three (12%) of the interviews. Consensual agreement was evaluated using transcribed paragraphs as the unit of analysis. Across the interviews analysed, pre-discussion agreement was 67% and post-discussion agreement was 97%<sup>24</sup>.

# Results

Participants' decisions to leave practice were influenced by two main themes: Personal Factors and Work Experiences, each with several sub-themes. Interviews suggested that elements of both Personal Factors and Work Experiences interacted with each other and acted as facilitators in the decision to leave clinical practice; a process that is represented in Figure 1. The results below contain a description of each theme and sub-theme, together with the way in which factors combined in influencing participants to leave practice. Each of these are illustrated by sample quotes. Further quotes illustrating each sub-theme and the relationship between these in

influencing participants' decision to leave can be found on Appendix 2 (Personal Factors) and Appendix 3 (Work Experiences).

Figure 1: Representation of the combination of themes contributing to the participants' decision to leave veterinary clinical practice



# Personal Factors (Appendix 2)

This theme describes the internal and external circumstances related to the participant's personal lives. Personal factors were at times impacted by veterinary clinical work, at the same time the participant's personal lives also influenced clinical work.

Personal Factors has six subthemes: Alternative professional interests; Motivation, character and beliefs; Negative thoughts and affectivity; Other activities and personal time; Personal relationships; and Physical and mental health and fatigue.

1.1 Alternative professional interests: Participants described other professional interests and opportunities for work, whether they occurred prior to veterinary training or developed during their time as a clinician.

I had always thought of doing similar work to what I'm doing now, in more food-security-based work (...) I came into vet school already thinking that that's what I wanted to do [P13]

1.2 Motivation, character and beliefs: This sub-theme encompasses the personal perceptions that shaped the participant's view of their surroundings and thus clinical practice. This includes the motivations they had to become a veterinarian, their perception of their own character; beliefs regarding capabilities, confidence and limitations as well as their personal values.

I don't like animals being treated as commodities, (...) I didn't want to be dealing with cows and things that were just considered as units of production (...) I need to make it my job to make life better for animals and to be their voice ultimately. That's where it's all came from. [P6]

1.3 Negative thoughts and affectivity: Affectivity is described as an individual's experience of emotions, either positive or negative<sup>25</sup>. In this case negative affectivity refers to negative thoughts that can elicit a negative emotional state. Negative thoughts and affectivity described during the interviews often (but not always) arose from experiences as a veterinary clinician.

*I* was thinking: "I'm so tired that if I just crash the car, then I wouldn't have to go to work", and I was like, "Oh, okay. This is really bad" like that's not good. [P7]

1.4 Other activities and personal time: Participants described their ability (or lack of) to participate in other activities such as hobbies and sport and being able to relax. This sub-theme was also often discussed in relation to clinical work as their schedules and other working conditions had an impact in the participants' personal time.

I couldn't do any regular social activities, sports activities or whatever that required a regular attendance on the weekends so that was quite frustrating. [P18]

1.5 Personal relationships: This sub-theme describes the participant's personal relationships with family, friends, care giving responsibilities and support networks, how they were impacted by their clinical work and how they influenced their decision to leave practice.

You miss out on dinners. You miss out on seeing your children in the evenings. Catching up with friends in the evening as well. [P22]

1.6 Physical and mental health and fatigue: This sub-theme contains the influence of both physical and mental health to the participant's decision to leave practice. This includes poor mental health as well as the mention or description of physical exhaustion and fatigue whether work related or not.

As time went on, I started having mild notions of panic attacks, racing heart, sweaty palms, nausea (...) I started having heart arrhythmias a week after that. [P24]

## Work Experiences (Appendix 3)

This theme relates to situations, experiences and statements directly related to the participant's veterinary clinical work. In this theme participants discussed what it was like for them to work as a veterinary clinician. Furthermore, work experiences at times were interlinked. For example, P7 describes the link between their workload, inability to get a break and inability to deliver the desired standards of patient and client care in the following quote:

(...) There were scheduling issues there. I was always getting double booked. I was always getting things squeezed in. I never had lunch (...) I struggled with that because I knew that we could do better for the clients and for their pets and weren't because we're just trying to do as much as possible. [P7]

Work Experiences is divided in three sub-themes each with component categories.

2.1 Clinical experiences: This sub-theme refers to experiences that are intrinsic to clinical work. Participants discussed: moral and ethical conflict, patient care and professional growth. In moral and ethical conflict, participants discussed situations that conflicted with their ethical and moral values, how they responded to such situations and the emotional impact that such conflict had on them.

'It conflicts with generally your morals because, as a vet, you want to help animals and they're saying [clients], "No. This value is not enough to warrant that." It's a bit tough.' [P22]

In patient care participants discussed aspects related only to the diagnosis and treatment of animal disease and care. This included areas of clinical work they did not enjoy or found stressful (e.g. emergency work, surgery, dentistry), adverse clinical outcomes and situations where they were not able to meet their desired standards of care.

'I broke the mandible of the cat and I felt awful, and I became very sheepish or reluctant to do cat dentistries pretty much thereafter (...) I hated doing cat dental'. [P26]

Finally, participants mentioned boredom and their inability to upskill as a clinician in professional growth.

'It does become quite monotonous, just teeth, and ears, and lumps, and vaccinations, and stuff.' [P3]

2.2 Employment conditions: This sub-theme relates to working conditions which were unrelated to the diagnosis and treatment of patients and were more managerial in nature, often job specific. These are divided in: Pay and remuneration; Safe working conditions; Workload and schedules and Other employment conditions. Pay and remuneration is where participants discussed dissatisfaction with wages and perception of their value as well as the financial pressure from practices to increase profit.

'The financial reward wasn't equitable to my skill set and what was expected of me both from the clients and the boss.' [P14]

Participants also mentioned the importance of safe working conditions including concerns regarding their health and safety and situations when they were injured at work.

'I had an accident preg testing a cow. I preg tested a heifer that jumped the fence and pretty much destroyed my elbow.' [P4]

A category that was discussed at length by several interviewees was related to work schedules and workload. This included the amount of work, time available to complete such work and how these impacted their work-life balance (if they were staying back completing medical records) and patient care (if they are required to care for more patients than time allows).

'I would start at 8:00am and routinely not finish until 10:00pm. That's not being on call. That's just a day.' [P15]

Finally, working conditions that were key elements to the participants' decision to leave, but had no individual category, were categorized in one group called 'Other employment conditions'. This category includes experiences such as involvement with regulating authorities, litigation and requirements for registration.

'(...) when you go to registration, each year, they ask how many CPD [Continuing Professional Development] points you have. I have zero.' [P8]

2.3 Workplace relationships: This sub-theme relates to human interactions within the participant's workplace which were often negative. It was divided in relationships with: Clients; Employer; and Peers and team. Relationships with clients that actively influenced the participants to leave practice include the stress and sadness elicited from a client being unable to care for their animal, as well as resentment with clients and their demands.

(...) just the volume of it [client interactions] was not conducive to [laughs] my happiness (...) just the volume of clients. Just the volume of clients and meeting new people throughout the day is tiring. [P18]

Relationships with employers was a common influential factor for disillusionment with clinical practice and several participants reported negative relationships either with the owner of the practice, practice management or managerial hierarchies. The presence of a 'toxic work environment' and bullying was mentioned by some interviewees as well.

*'He* [employer] was quite passive-aggressive. The amount of emotional and manipulation and just blackmail that was put onto me (...) I could recognize that he was being emotionally manipulative. [P15]

Finally, some participants described negative inter-colleague experiences that influenced their decision-making to leave practice, including isolation from colleagues, lack of support from peers and pressure from support staff to increase workload.

'I felt betrayed by the other vet who said I had done a really bad job.' [P25]

#### Combination of factors

The narrative of each interview suggested that personal factors and work experiences were interlinked in participants' experiences, and that a combination of these influenced the participants' decision to leave clinical practice (See Figure 1). For example, P12 described the combination of lack of a salary increment and having an alternative profession as an influential factor for attrition.

Then the pay stopped. It didn't stop [laughs] it stopped increasing. [Work Experiences – Employment conditions – Pay and remuneration] I just kept looking at it and thinking well, I had another career that I could be earning a lot more and working a lot less. [Personal Factors – Alternative professional interest] That was the

deciding factor in the end. I could double the pay and work two days a week rather four days a week. [chuckles] [P12]

Furthermore, some of these interactions influenced participants in their decision to leave practice. For example, throughout their interview, P21 described a combination of stress associated with clinical work, family commitments, personal beliefs and a career alternative contributing to their decision to leave clinical practice which can be summarized in the quote below:

(...) [there were] things that I didn't like about the job. You can't pick and choose. You can't not do some of the job. You can't just say, "I'm not going to get [a patient] hit by a car [Patient care] because I feel it's a bit stressful [Negative thoughts and affectivity]." [laughs] It's just not possible. I thought, "At this stage of my life, do I really want a job that's going to really stress me out? [Negative thoughts and affectivity] (...) it just wasn't the type of job that I felt that I could cope with while I was also managing three children [Personal relationships] (...) Also, I just don't think that's where my strengths lie [Motivation, character and beliefs]. I worked elsewhere before. I've had a really great job elsewhere. A couple of great jobs. Just really worked out that my strengths lay elsewhere. [Alternative professional interests] [P21]

## Discussion

This study aimed to understand the reasons why former veterinary clinicians leave clinical practice. Two major themes emerged: Personal Factors and Work Experiences, each with several sub-themes. Furthermore, the participants' decision to leave practice was influenced by elements of both themes and these appeared to be interlinked. Similar findings regarding such combination of factors have been reported in previous employee turnover research where the relationship between more than one factor is expected<sup>10,11,26</sup> and the decision to resign is often multifactorial<sup>10-13,26-29</sup>. Moreover, the Unfolding Model of Voluntary Employee Turnover<sup>11</sup> shows a four-path decision-making process in employees' decision to resign that contains interlinked personal and work-related variables. These variables include: a triggering work-related event, personal characteristics, values and memories, presence of a job alternative and slow development of job dissatisfaction. More specifically, the results from this study resemble a model presented by Dubey<sup>12</sup> in employees of humanitarian organisations which indicated: Personal, Work-related and External factors as the main categories for employee turnover. Finally, Iverson<sup>13</sup> also reports similar variables in hospital employees indicating that employee turnover was influenced by personal, environmental (job opportunity) and job-related variables as well as employee orientations<sup>13</sup>. The current study suggests that veterinarians seem to follow similar patterns when they choose to leave clinical practice.

#### Motivations, character and beliefs

Perceptions of values and beliefs that emerged as an influential aspect for the participants and included factors that motivated them to be veterinarians as well as observations of their values, own capabilities, limitations, confidence and personalities. At times, elements of this sub-theme were interlinked to other personal factors or work experiences. For example, some participants discussed their lack of confidence in relation to some clinical activities (such as surgery) which became a source of stress (negative affectivity). In employee turnover theory both Lee and Mitchell<sup>11</sup> and Mobley<sup>10</sup> suggest that employees' personal characteristics and perception of personal fit in a company take part in the resignation process. Veterinarians may benefit from recognizing their own self perceptions and the impact of these in their work which may improve their emotional intelligence and job satisfaction. For example, self-awareness has been proposed to improve clinical encounters in physicians<sup>30</sup> and a similar link could be hypothesized in veterinarians between self-awareness, clinical outcomes and job satisfaction. Another practical implication to improve retention involves understanding employees' values and beliefs and what motivates them to choose clinical practice. It has been suggested that facilitating an individual's particular set of motivations can increase fulfillment with work and job satisfaction<sup>31</sup>. However, further research to establish a relationship between motivations, character and beliefs and attrition from clinical practice is needed to develop more specific retention strategies.

## Negative thoughts and affectivity

Affectivity is recognized as an individual's experience of emotions, either positive or negative<sup>25</sup>, and has been shown to have a relationship with job satisfaction<sup>32,33</sup>. The development of a negative emotional state (negative affectivity) was a recurrent topic among participants and this usually developed from negative thoughts. Although most factors eliciting negative thoughts and affectivity related to veterinary work, some participants also related it to personal factors. Similarly, former farm animal veterinarians report feelings of boredom, dissatisfaction and frustration, which contrast with the feelings of love and enjoyment towards the work described by retained farm animal veterinarians<sup>34</sup> and indicate a possible relationship between affectivity and attrition from clinical practice. Exploring the relationship between negative thoughts and affectivity and attrition from clinical practice using validated psychometric measures in veterinarians may prove an important future research avenue in investigating the sustainability of veterinary practice and to develop precise, evidence-based retention strategies.

Participants reported a variety of work experiences that elicited negative emotions. These included perceived low standards of patient care, negative clinical outcomes, moral conflict, lack of support from employers and interpersonal conflict. Some participants explained that these were exacerbated by fatigue and working long hours as well as intrinsic personal factors such as the way they approached cases and their perceived personalities. Similar work-related factors have been found to lead to disillusionment<sup>35</sup>, work-related stress<sup>36-38</sup> and burnout<sup>39</sup> in veterinarians. Prior research has shown personal factors such as personality traits can

exacerbate occupational stress<sup>40,41</sup>. Although further research is required to understand the complexity of these relationships, it highlights working conditions that can trigger negative cognition and emotion (e.g. working long hours, negative clinical outcomes) in veterinary clinical practice. Identifying and managing those working conditions could be helpful in reducing negative affectivity in veterinary clinicians

#### Moral conflict

Moral conflict has been defined as a situation that conflicts with a professional's personal values<sup>42</sup> and moral distress is described as the psychological anguish that a professional can experience when they are unable to follow their desired moral path<sup>43,44</sup>. Both have been reported to lead to negative emotion and stress in veterinarians<sup>36,40,42,45-47</sup> and influence attrition in medical professionals<sup>48-50</sup>. Situations that created moral conflict were described by several interviewees including perceived animal negligence, clients' inability to pay for services and euthanasia of unwanted animals. Furthermore, in some participants moral conflict and stress contributed to their decision to leave practice. The veterinary literature reports sources of moral conflict similar to those reported by the interviewees<sup>36,42,45,51-53</sup>, but there is limited research regarding the development of moral distress and its contribution to veterinary attrition. These findings suggest the veterinary industry needs to further investigate moral conflict in veterinary clinicians and seek strategies to measure and mitigate its emotional impact.

## Working hours and workload

Working hours and workload, often related to work-life balance, were discussed by participants as contributing to their decision to leave practice. In UK farm animal veterinarians, after-hours work was a contributing factor for attrition since clinicians that were less often on call were more likely to stay in practice and those that reported poorer work-life balance were more likely to leave<sup>54</sup>. Work-life balance has been an important factor discussed by veterinarians in Australia and overseas<sup>34,55-57</sup> and along with work-family balance, it is a key aspect of job satisfaction in other professionals<sup>58,59</sup>. Workload itself regardless of scheduling was also a contributor to leaving clinical practice. Participants mentioned their inability to get through their workload on time, together with the perceived impact on patient care and their own fatigue. Similar findings arose from a UK survey in which 42% of recent graduates felt that expectations regarding workload were unreasonable<sup>60</sup> and an Australian study where veterinarians reported not having enough time per patient as a source of stress<sup>37</sup>.

Control over work conditions, including speed of work, improves job satisfaction in veterinarians<sup>61</sup> suggesting that increasing autonomy in clinical activities, flexibility in working schedules and workload may increase job satisfaction. Job satisfaction is considered crucial to retention in medical nurses and childcare staff<sup>62-64</sup>, indicating that further research into this relationship for veterinarians could prove useful.

#### Patient care, support and workplace and client relationships

When discussing areas of work they found stressful, some participants discussed the link between an adverse clinical outcome, lack of support and the impact on their clinical confidence. Some also discuss negative interactions with clients and the stress elicited by clients' demands. Although there are limited data regarding the effect of adverse clinical outcomes in veterinarians and its the relationship with attrition, a survey of US veterinarians reported that 30% of respondents experienced emotional distress in relation to medical errors and adverse clinical outcomes<sup>65</sup>. In physicians, medical errors and adverse clinical outcomes contribute to depression, low self-worth and sleep deprivation<sup>66,67</sup>. Furthermore, a relationship between client complaints and intention to change careers has been found in small animal internists<sup>68</sup>. Participants mentioned the relationship between support from employers and peers when adverse situations occurred. The literature also reports veterinarians discussing lack of support from employers as a contributor to stress<sup>35,37</sup>. Although adverse clinical outcomes and negative client interactions can be unavoidable in practice a supportive workplace can mitigate the emotional impact of those. For example, peer and clinical supervision<sup>69</sup> may play a key role in mitigating their emotional consequences and increase job satisfaction in veterinary clinicians. Furthermore, clinical decision-making in a supportive environment can improve confidence building in veterinarians<sup>56</sup> and supporting development could reduce staff turnover<sup>70</sup>.

## Pay and remuneration and other employment conditions

The combination between high work-related stress and low remuneration was mentioned as influencing the decision to leave practice by some participants in the current study. This mirrors the relationship between remuneration, high work-related stress and attrition in medical nurses<sup>63</sup>. Remuneration has been recognized as a key reason for employee turnover in other industries<sup>27</sup> and an important reason for intention to leave in Australian and UK veterinarians<sup>7,8,14,54</sup>. Furthermore, work satisfaction was mostly associated with satisfaction with income for male employed veterinarians and self-employed veterinarians of both genders<sup>55</sup>, suggesting that improving remuneration may be an important influential factor for preventing attrition in veterinary clinicians.

Other employment conditions described by participants as influencing their decision to leave practice included occupational health and safety and registration requirements. Occupational health and safety was mostly discussed due to potential career ending consequences. Considering that a current survey reports that up to 71% of Australian veterinarians are injured at work<sup>71</sup>, it may still be an important area of improvement for the veterinary industry. Finally, registration requirements for regulatory authorities such as the Veterinary Surgeons Board were mentioned as an important work-related reason for leaving practice by one participant and alluded to by others. Although these other employment conditions were not recurrent in most interviews, for some participants they were a triggering factor to leave clinical practice. The impact of registration requirements and authorities on clinical attrition in veterinarians warrants further investigation.

#### Alternative professional interests

Having another career option facilitated the decision to leave clinical practice for several participants, who continued working in what they considered adverse working conditions until they were able to move to a suitable job. This mirrors employee attrition models in healthcare and medical support workers<sup>13,72</sup> where job opportunity is an important contributor for staff turnover. Furthermore, having an alternative job is a crucial factor for attrition in employee turnover theory which defines the pathway and associated factors for employees to leave their jobs<sup>10,11,26</sup>.

#### Overall implications

Taylor<sup>73</sup> describes two types of employee turnover: 'Controllable'; where the contributing factors can be controlled by management such as aspects of job dissatisfaction and 'Uncontrollable' where the contributing factors are outside of managerial control. There are aspects of the work such as working hours and increasing remuneration that can be directly controlled by leadership, additionally, employers could work towards enhancing contextual resources such as mentorship and establishing a supportive work environment thought to enhance resilience<sup>74</sup> and have a positive impact on retention. In this study some influential factors could be considered uncontrollable by employers, such as employee background, personal relationships and the emotional responses of individuals. However, some of these factors are within the control of individuals, and workplace training in enhancing resilience and emotional intelligence may have a positive effect on retention.

## Limitations

The experiences and subjective perceptions of participants in this study may incur an individualistic and memory bias in recollection of events<sup>16</sup>. This was addressed to some extent in the study design by including only former veterinarians that had left clinical practice less than 10 years ago. Furthermore, some interviews were held over the phone or via video conferencing which may reduce the rapport between interviewer and interviewee possibly reducing disclosure, however there is little evidence suggesting that telephone interviews reduce quality in qualitative data<sup>75</sup>. Recruitment bias may have influenced the results, since participants may have been more willing to share their stories than other former veterinarians that left the profession not necessarily due to negative experiences. While the coding of participants' interviews was not reviewed by the participants themselves, interpretation bias was reduced by the use of iterative development of the coding structure based on review and input from multiple members of the author team<sup>16</sup>. The communicability of the final coding structure was confirmed with inter-coder agreement.

# Conclusion

The reasons for veterinary clinicians to leave practice are complex: Work Experiences and Personal Factors were identified as the two main themes in these interviewees. The discussed factors, in combination, ultimately influenced attrition from clinical practice by the participants. Although there are personal factors that cannot be controlled by leadership in clinical practice like employee's background and values there are others that if strategically implemented (such as flexible working schedules and clinical peer support) could decrease stress, improve job satisfaction and potentially increase retention. Future quantitative research could explore how job satisfaction, moral stress, burnout and work-family conflict impacts attrition in veterinary clinicians. The results of these studies could be used to inform critical retention strategies for the profession.

# References

- 1. Baguley, J., An analysis of the demand for and revenue from companion animal veterinary services in Australia between 1996 and 2026 using industry revenue data and household census and pet ownership data and forecasts. Australian Veterinary Journal, 2011. **89**(9): p. 352-9.
- 2. Magwood, S.E. and K.W. Jericho, *The role of the veterinary profession in livestock production.* The Canadian veterinary journal = La revue veterinaire canadienne, 1971. **12**(8): p. 161-164.
- 3. Ladewig, J., *The role of the veterinarian in animal welfare.* Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica, 2008. **50**(1): p. S5.
- Lathers, C.M., Role of Veterinary Medicine in Public Health: Antibiotic Use in Food Animals and Humans and the Effect on Evolution of Antibacterial Resistance. The Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 2001.
   41(6): p. 595-599.
- 5. The Australian Veterinary Association. *Australian veterinary workforce modelling report.* 2015 February 2015 [cited 2021 26/02/2021]; Available from: https://www.ava.com.au/policy-advocacy/advocacy/workforce/workforce-data/.
- 6. Neill, C.L., R.B. Holcomb, and B.W. Brorsen, *Current market conditions for veterinary services in the U.S.* Applied Economics, 2018. **50**(60): p. 6501-6511.
- 7. The Australian Veterinary Association. *Australian Veterinary Workforce Survey 2018.* 2019 April 2019; Available from: https://www.ava.com.au/policy-advocacy/advocacy/workforce/workforce-data/.
- 8. Lincoln Institute. *Our disappearing vets: Australia's veterinary industry searching for answers over high attrition rates.* [Press Release] 2019 February 2021; Available from: https://lincolninstitute.com.au/lincoln-institutes-vet-engagement-survey/.
- 9. The Australian Veterinary Association, *The Australian Veterinary Workforce Survey 2016*. 2017.
- 10. Mobley, W.H., Intermediate linkages in the relationship between job satisfaction and employee turnover. Journal of Applied Psychology, 1977. **62**(2): p. 237-240.
- 11. Lee, T.W. and T.R. Mitchell, *An alternative approach: The unfolding model of voluntary employee turnover.* The Academy of Management Review, 1994. **19**: p. 51-89.
- 12. Dubey, R., et al., *Understanding employee turnover in humanitarian organizations*. Industrial and Commercial Training, 2016. **48**(4): p. 208-214.
- 13. Iverson, R.D., An event history analysis of employee turnover: The case of hospital employees in Australia. Human Resource Management Review, 1999. **9**(4): p. 397-418.
- 14. Heath, T.J., *Longitudinal study of veterinary students and veterinarians: the first 20 years.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2007. **85**(7): p. 281-9.
- 15. Hammarberg, K., M. Kirkman, and S. de Lacey, *Qualitative research methods: when to use them and how to judge them.* Human Reproduction, 2016. **31**(3): p. 498-501.
- 16. Liamputtong, P., *Qualitative Research Methods*. Fourth ed. 2013, Victoria, Australia: Oxford University Press.
- 17. Saldaña, J., *Fundamentals of Qualitative Research. Understanding Qualitative Research.* 2011, New York: Oxford University Press, Inc.
- 18. Braun, V. and V. Clarke, Successful Qualitative Research. A practical guide for beginners. 2013: SAGE.
- 19. Braun, V. and V. Clarke, *Using thematic analysis in psychology.* Qualitative Research in Psychology, 2006. **3**(2): p. 77-101.
- 20. Crowe, M., M. Inder, and R. Porter, *Conducting qualitative research in mental health: Thematic and content analyses.* Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 2015. **49**(7): p. 616-623.
- 21. Saldaña, J., The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers, ed. J. Seaman. 2013, London: SAGE.
- 22. Charmaz, K., Constructing Grounded Theory. A Practical Guide Through Qualitative Analysis. 2006, London, UK: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- 23. Rossman, G.B. and S.F. Rallis, *Learning in the field: An introduction to qualitative research*. Fourth ed. 2017, Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- 24. Creswell, J.W., 30 Essential Skills for the Qualitative Researcher. 2015: SAGE.
- 25. Watson, D. and L.A. Clark, *Negative affectivity. The disposition to experience aversive emotional states.* Psychological Bulletin, 1984. **96**: p. 465-490.

- 26. Hom, P.W., et al., *One hundred years of employee turnover theory and research.* Journal of Applied Psychology, 2017. **102**(3): p. 530-545.
- 27. Lee Lui, J., Main causes of voluntary employee turnover: A study of factors and their relationship with expectations and preferences, in Facultad de Economia y Negocios. 2014, Universidad de Chile: Santiago, Chile. p. 44.
- 28. De Leon, C.T., Navigating the Storm: Integrative Review of Attrition Factors Among Undergraduate Nursing Students. Health Notions, 2018. **2**(9).
- 29. Cosgrave, C., M. Maple, and R. Hussain, *An explanation of turnover intention among early-career nursing and allied health professionals working in rural and remote Australia findings from a grounded theory study.* Rural and Remote Health, 2018. **18**(3).
- 30. Borrell-Carrió, F. and R.M. Epstein, *Preventing Errors in Clinical Practice: A Call for Self-Awareness.* The Annals of Family Medicine, 2004. **2**(4): p. 310.
- 31. Cake, M., et al., *Challenging identity: development of a measure of veterinary career motivations.* Veterinary Record, 2020. **186**(12): p. 386-386.
- 32. Connolly, J.J. and C. Viswesvaran, *The role of affectivity in job satisfaction: a meta-analysis.* Personality and Individual Differences, 2000. **29**: p. 265-281.
- 33. Spector, P.E., *Development of four self-report measures of job stressors and strain: Interpersonal Conflict at Work Scale, Organizational Constraints Scale, Quantitative Workload Inventory, and Physical Symptoms Inventory.* Journal of occupational health psychology., 1998. **3**(4): p. 356-367.
- 34. Adam, K.E., S. Baillie, and J. Rushton, *Clients. Outdoors. Animals: Retaining vets in UK farm animal practice-thematic analysis of free-text survey responses.* Veterinary Record, 2019. **184**(4): p. 121.
- 35. *Disillusionment among young vets: causes and potential solutions.* Veterinary Record, 2016. **179**(15): p. 375-376.
- 36. Moses, L., M.J. Malowney, and J. Wesley Boyd, *Ethical conflict and moral distress in veterinary practice: A survey of North American veterinarians.* Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine, 2018.
- 37. Smith, D.R., et al., *Examining the dimensions and correlates of workplace stress among Australian veterinarians.* Journal of Occupational Medicine and Toxicology, 2009. **4**(1).
- 38. Meehan, M.P. and L. Bradley, *Identifying and evaluating job stress within the Australian small animal veterinary profession.* Australian Veterinary Practitioner, 2007. **37**(2): p. 70-83.
- 39. Hatch, P.H., et al., *Workplace stress, mental health, and burnout of veterinarians in Australia.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2011. **89**(11): p. 460-8.
- 40. Crane, M.F., J.K. Phillips, and E. Karin, *Trait perfectionism strengthens the negative effects of moral stressors occurring in veterinary practice*. Austrailan Veterinary Journal, 2015. **93**(10): p. 354-60.
- 41. Dawson, B.F. and N.J. Thompson, *The Effect of Personality on Occupational Stress in Veterinary Surgeons.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2017. **44**(1): p. 72-83.
- 42. Arbe Montoya, A.I., et al., *Moral distress in veterinarians.* Veterinary Record, 2019. **185**(20): p. 631.
- 43. Jameton, A., *Nursing Practice. The Ethical Issues.* Englewood Cliffs. 1984, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- 44. Wilkinson, J.M., Moral distress in nursing practice. Nursing Forum, 1987-1988. 23: p. 19-29.
- 45. Batchelor, C.E. and D.E. McKeegan, *Survey of the frequency and perceived stressfulness of ethical dilemmas encountered in UK veterinary practice.* Veterinary Record, 2012. **170**(1): p. 1-5.
- 46. Kahler, S.C., Moral stress the top trigger in veterinarians' compassion fatigue: veterinary social worker suggests redefining veterinarians' ethical responsibility. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2015. **246**(1): p. 16-18.
- 47. Kipperman, B., P. Morris, and B. Rollin, *Ethical dilemmas encountered by small animal veterinarians: characterisation, responses, consequences and beliefs regarding euthanasia.* Veterinary Record, 2018. **182**(19): p. 548.
- 48. Dyo, M., P. Kalowes, and J. Devries, *Moral distress and intention to leave: A comparison of adult and paediatric nurses by hospital setting.* Intensive Critical Care Nursing, 2016. **36**: p. 42-8.
- 49. Epstein, E.G. and A.B. Hamric, *Moral distress, moral residue, and the crescendo effect.* Journal of Clinical Ethics, 2009. **20**(4): p. 330-42.
- 50. Corley, M.C., *Nurse moral distress: a proposed theory and research agenda.* Nursing Ethics, 2002. **9**(6): p. 636-50.
- 51. Rollin, B.E., *Euthanasia and Moral Stress.* Loss, Grief and Care, 1987. **1**(1-2).

- 52. Kipperman, B.S., P.H. Kass, and M. Rishniw, *Factors that influence small animal veterinarians' opinions and actions regarding cost of care and effects of economic limitations on patient care and outcome and professional career satisfaction and burnout.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2017. **250**(7): p. 785-794.
- 53. Morgan, C.A. and M. McDonald, *Ethical dilemmas in veterinary medicine*. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice, 2007. **37**(1): p. 165-79.
- 54. Adam, K., S. Baillie, and J. Rushton, *Retaining vets in farm animal practice: a cross-sectional study.* Veterinary Record, 2015. **176**(25): p. 655.
- 55. Kersebohm, J.C., et al., *Factors related to work and life satisfaction of veterinary practitioners in Germany.* Veterinary Record Open, 2017. **4**(1).
- 56. Bell, M., M. Cake, and C. Mansfield, *Success in career transitions in veterinary practice: Perspectives of employers and their employees.* Veterinary Record, 2019. **185**(8): p. 232.
- 57. Villarroel, A., et al., *A survey of reasons why veterinarians leave rural veterinary practice in the United States.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2010. **236**(8): p. 859-867.
- 58. Greenhaus, J.H., T.D. Allen, and P.E. Spector, *Health Consequences of Work-Family Conflict: The Dark Side of the Work-Family Interface*, in *Research in Occupational Stress and Well Being*. 2006. p. 61-98.
- 59. Li, J.C.M., J.C.K. Cheung, and I.Y. Sun, *The impact of job and family factors on work stress and engagement among Hong Kong police officers.* Policing: An International Journal, 2018. **42**(2): p. 284-300.
- 60. Riggs, E.A., et al., Support needs of veterinary surgeons in the first few years of practice: A survey of recent and experienced graduates. Veterinary Record, 2001. **149**(24): p. 743-745.
- 61. Shouksmith, G. and B. Hesketh, *Changing horses in mid-stream: Job and life satisfactions for veterinarians.* New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 1986. **34**(9): p. 141-144.
- 62. Leveck, M.L. and C.B. Jones, *The Nursing Practice Environment, Staff Retention and Quality of Care.* Research in Nursing & Health, 1996. **19**: p. 331-343.
- 63. Cowin, L., *The Effects of Nurses' Job Satisfaction on Retention: An Australian Perspective.* JONA: The Journal of Nursing Administration, 2002. **32**(5).
- 64. Organizational climate as a tool for child care staff retention. Young Children, 2005. **60**(6): p. 90-95.
- 65. Kogan, L.R., et al., *Veterinarians' experiences with near misses and adverse events.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2018. **252**(5): p. 586-595.
- 66. Harrison, R., et al., *Emotion and coping in the aftermath of medical error: a cross-country exploration.* Journal of Patientient Safety, 2015. **11**(1): p. 28-35.
- 67. Christensen, J.F., W. Levinson, and P.M. Dunn, *The heart of darkness: the impact of perceived mistakes on physicians.* Journal of General Internal Medicine, 1992. **7**(4): p. 424-31.
- 68. Bryce, A.R., et al., *Effect of client complaints on small animal veterinary internists*. Journal of Small Animal Practice, 2019. **60**(3): p. 167-172.
- 69. Guess, S.C., et al., *Clinical supervision in veterinary medicine*. JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association, 2020. **257**(3).
- 70. Routly, J.E., et al., Support needs of veterinary surgeons during the first few years of practice: perceptions of recent graduates and senior partners. Veterinary Record, 2002. **150**: p. 167-171.
- 71. Jeyaretnam, J., H. Jones, and M. Phillips, *Disease and injury among veterinarians*. Australian Veterinary Journal, 2000. **78**(9): p. 625-9.
- 72. Krakovich, T., A mixed methods study examining factors associated with retention in direct support professionals, in Psychological Sciences. 2017.
- 73. Taylor, S., *People Resourcing*. Fourth ed. 2008: Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development.
- 74. Cake, M.A., et al., *Finding the Balance: Uncovering Resilience in the Veterinary Literature.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2017. **44**(1): p. 95-105.
- 75. Novick, G., *Is there a bias against telephone interviews in qualitative research?* Research in Nursing Health, 2008. **31**(4): p. 391-8.

# Supplementary materials

# Appendix 1: Interview Questionnaire

Demographic information Age Gender Year of graduation University of graduation Number of years working as a veterinary clinician Area of clinical work *Ex: small animals, equine etc.* Regions/ areas of clinical work

Open ended questions: Two areas will be explored with broad open-ended anchor questions\*

Work Experiences:
o What was your role during clinical practice?
o Please describe the activities you performed during clinical practice
o What aspects of the job did you find enjoyable?
o What aspects of the job did you find challenging?

- Reasons for leaving:

o Please tell me about the factors that motivated you to become a clinical veterinarian.

o Please tell me about the circumstances surrounding your decision to leave clinical work

\*Further questions will be developed during the interview according to your answers. You are free to stop the interview and not to answer particular questions.
# Alternative professional interests

20 out of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

Other professional interests and opportunities for work, occurring either prior to veterinary training or developed while in clinical practice

P1: I remember thinking when I was younger, "Oh, I really want to be a department vet".

P20: Immediately after graduating, I was offered a PhD candidature (...)

P8: I started a bachelors of medicine and bachelors of surgery (...) I still did horse work on the side (...)

P25: My interest had changed and I wanted to have a business, but I decided I didn't want to have a vet clinic (...)

P12: (...) my life was different because I come from a completely different career and different industry. Then I always had that to compare it to (...)

# Motivations, character and belief

23 out of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

Personal perceptions that shape the participant's view of their surroundings. Includes: the motivations they had to become a veterinarian, their values, perception of their own character; core beliefs and beliefs regarding capabilities, confidence and limitations

P13: Always having animals, I really wanted to be a vet from a little kid. I was also quite academically inclined (...) [Motivation]

P4: When you're a bit older and bit more experienced, you tend to put your foot down and say, "This is not acceptable (...) It's totally unacceptable in my view (...) to get these young vets straight out of uni and expect them to do 36 hours without a break. Totally unacceptable. [Values]

P2: I generally don't like things that I don't feel I am good at. [Perception of own character]

P15: *I am very an all or nothing person (...) I like to give it 100% and if I can't give it 100% I'm kind of not prepared to give it 50%.* [Perception of own character and capabilities]

P24: I think it was my core beliefs that were affecting, my core beliefs of not ever being good enough, not wanting to fail. [Core belief]

# Negative thoughts and affectivity

24 out of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

Negative thoughts and affectivity refers to negative thoughts that can provoke a negative emotional state which can be elicited from experiences in clinical practice.

P1: I think it just got to a point where I felt terrible as a human being.

P6: I was stuck in the middle having to carry, taking on their [clients] anger and their guilt. I would be feeling for them, and for the animal, and taking all of that on myself which was a huge emotional burden to bear (...) getting to the point where you feel like you can't feel anymore.

P16: When I wasn't suffering from a crippling lack of self-confidence I actually liked to work.

P11: I was- got angry and anxious (...) particularly being at work, feeling really angry (...) I felt really angry, I feel hurting it [patient], hurting myself.

P17: I just continually lacked confidence that I knew what I was doing.

### Other activities and personal time

18 out of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

Ability (or lack thereof) to participate in other activities such as hobbies and sport and being able to relax

P5: [Work/clinical practice] did get in the way of life balance like sort of you if wanted to, you know, get into a sporting team or sort of set up a regular exercise program.

P12: (...) that's the whole thing with the vet, you're never completely switched off, I don't think.

P23: I wasn't really able to relax very well (...) It's really distracting. It doesn't so much affect the balance of time that I'm spending on things, but it affects the balance of attention that I can give to different things.

P26: Maybe it's that notability that you just can't relax. Not just that, you don't know whether the phone's going to ring or not (...) You just can't really relax even though you're not working.

P4: (...) you don't go to the gym, you don't eat well, you don't do all these things (...) just work and there's nothing else you do.

# Personal relationships

19 of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

Personal relationships with family, friends, care giving responsibilities and support networks

P1: I was with a guy, the guy who I'm now married throughout that whole time (...) we certainly did not see each other. We were just like ships in the night basically.

P19: I think I probably became more withdrawn actually. I went out less. Got less social life (...) I know my parents were very worried about me (...)

P11: (...) if I got tired or anxious then I wouldn't spend quality time with the kids (...) relationships would probably be affected because I will just be tired or preoccupied.

P26: It [work] was a little bit family unfriendly (...) if we had sick kids, as well, it was getting a bit stressful trying to work out, between my wife and I, who'd have to stay home with our sick child.

P21: I didn't ever get to dinner; it was actually my engagement dinner. [laughs]

## Physical and mental health and fatigue

18 of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

Physical health (or lack of) and mention of fatigue. This sub-theme includes clinical mental illness as well

as the mention or description of physical exhaustion and fatigue whether work related or not

P3: (...) it wasn't burnout, but it was exhaustion. It got pretty exhausting (...)

P7: I've always had issues with anxiety, depression, and excessive compulsive disorder (...)

P9: I had my own surgical journey (...) which highlighted my allergies, which is just escalated off the charts. I'd been diagnosed with anaphylactic and had an EpiPen (...)

P10: Physically very draining. Mentally straining. [chuckles] I got very tired. (...) physically and mentally very, very tiring (...)

P23: I would feel my heart in my chest at the noise of the phone (...) I used to have a physical reaction to the sound of it ringing.

# Clinical experiences – Moral and ethical conflict

15 of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

Circumstances that caused ethical dilemmas where the participant was unsure of which path was more ethical and moral conflict where the situation exposed the participant to a direct conflict with their own values

P6: It's really, really difficult. There'd be times when you'd have to euthanize 100 cats only in one day. (...) That's distressing because it was a production line of cats coming to you and sometimes it was mothers with

their litters of kittens. It was just horrific. That was really hard to deal with.

P16: It's not ethical to make me sell dog food and worming pills to people who don't necessarily need them.

P21: I certainly think you get challenged with your moral issues. There's that undercurrent of, "Am I doing the right thing" constantly.

P14: (...) the pet shop used to come to us and want puppies euthanize if they had too much stock (...) I refused actually. I said I wouldn't do it so I did find that really conflicting because for me, that was an ethics issue.

P3: That just doesn't sit well with me. To communicate the treatment options to the client, I believe that is the ethical approach but my boss was wanting me to say, "This is what we need to do" (...) it's unethical to provide them [clients] with [only] one choice (...)

# Clinical experiences – Patient care

18 of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

Aspects related only to the diagnosis and treatment of animal disease and care including inability to provide desired standards of care, aspects of the work they did not like or found and negative clinical outcomes

P14: (...) you weren't giving anyone the best you, and you knew that you are effectively letting down that patient at the back. [Inability to provide desired standards of care]

P4: My first GDV was with a nurse holding a textbook (...) That shouldn't happen but it did [Inability to provide desired standards of care]

P26: I didn't really want to do too much surgery [Aspect of the work they did not like]

P25: (...) it really was a point where if that caesarean had really gone really well and they had been happy and live puppies, potentially, I would have stayed longer in the industry. [Negative clinical outcome]

P21: The anesthetic death was a big one (...) It was perfectly healthy, dead. It was so traumatic for everybody. [Negative clinical outcome]

# Clinical experiences – Professional growth

17 of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

Boredom and their inability to upskill as a clinician

P22: (...) you've learned the majority of stuff you need to know to do 90% of the things you do every day, vaccinations, fleas, can be a bit repetitive in that sense. Also, just not learning new things and not being able to apply them very regularly if you do [learn] them.

P8: [to] do one particular specialty which you can do with veterinary science these days. In my day, you couldn't. I think that had a little bit to do with it (...)

P15: You can only see so many skin cases and vaccinate so many of the animals before you just want to jump in front of a bus or something. [laughs]

P12: I got to the point where I was quite happy with most GP consults, I was happy with dentals, I was happy with most surgeries, but I didn't find them overly challenging (...) getting a little bit bored with the job (...)

P17: After three or four years, I lost interest in further study. I stopped reading. My knowledge base just remained static. If not declining (...)

# Employment conditions – Pay and remuneration

21 of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

Dissatisfaction with wages and perception of their value as well as the financial pressure from practices to increase profit

P10: I think veterinarians are not paid anywhere near what they should be paid (...) the financial reward is very low.

P13: (...) you're not paid for out of hour's research to try and work out how I can get to the bottom of this case (...)

P16: (...) there was definitely a you-need-to-sell-more kind of vibe. Like, "Why haven't you sold dog food and worming pills to these people?"

P4: I effectively got constructively dismissed from my last job. Their argument was I was not generating enough money per hour on farms

P22: (...) probably another one is the wages as well. They're pretty low compared to other professions (...)

# Employment conditions – Safe working conditions

7 of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

Safe working conditions. It includes concerns regarding health and safety and situations of work-related injury

P4: I've had two shoulder reconstructions. I've now had two elbow reconstructions. I've had knee surgery. I've broken ankles. All with work.

P17: I've always had this fear of being injured

P10: I suited up but I had failure in the equipment and I actually got exposed, massively exposed (...) I

realized then that if the horse had Hendra, I had three weeks to live.

P14: We used to hold them [patients] for X-rays without fully gloved up and stuff (...)

P26: (...) a lot of the bulk of the work were (...) farmers who had poor facilities, that had poor fences, poor stock yards, and crushes, and that sort of thing (...) you just go marching out there to potentially get injured (...)

# Employment conditions – Workload and schedules

24 of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

This includes the amount of work, time available to complete such work and their perception of work-life balance (if they were staying back completing medical records) and patient care (if they are required to care for more patients than time allows).

P7: I knew that we could do better for the clients and for their pets and weren't because we're just trying to [fit/do] as much as possible (...)

P4: You might start at 3:30 in the morning and you'd still be there at 7:00 at night. Then you're on call (...)

P5: (...) you work throughout two to three o'clock in the morning (...) we used to still have to get to work at nine o'clock the next morning (...) you've been up for most of the night and then you had to sort of work the

whole next day. It wasn't really sort of anything in place because you just had such a [high] workload (...)

P18: Sometimes I would see over 40 patients in a day (...) It was standard to do I guess 50 hours a week that was just what was expected.

P25: I got to the point (...) where I was working 60 hours a week.

# Employment conditions – Other employment conditions

8 of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

Work experiences such as involvement with regulating authorities, litigation and requirements for registration

P3: I had one notification to the board (...) on top of everything else it was [stressful].

P11: [I am like]: "is this going to be some court case? Am I going to be in massive problems here?" Yes, it was bad.

P4: WorkCover don't understand what we do as large animal vets.\*

Workplace relationships – clients

19 of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

Client relations such as: stress and sadness elicited from a client being unable to care for their animal, as well as resentment with clients and client demands

P15: I think I probably was like, "People, I don't need them anymore." [laughs]

P16: 'There are people [clients] you know it's not going to be easy with and that can be anxiety provoking.' (...)

P19: (...) clients would always accuse us of charging really high fees (...)

P23: I always found it really hard to let the owners take responsibility for the decision (...) if I had put things more strongly, then probably the clients would've gone with my [recommendation]

P12: He said, "(...) Every time I come in here you pricks rip me off." I said, "Hang on. Hang on. Hang on."-- I opened the door and said, "Take your cat and piss off."

# Workplace relationships – Employer and leadership

21 of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

Negative relationships either with the owner of the practice, practice management or managerial hierarchies

P4: (...) there was workplace bullying and sexual discrimination going on, female in the cattle industry and that kind of stuff (...)

P13: (...) my boss was really not valuing what we were giving to the practice, which was really difficult.

P14: At the end of the day, if they [employers] can shortchange the staff for money (...) then that's where there going go (...)

P19: I didn't get much support from my boss (...) I called him in one night when I had an emergency and he made it very clear that I was not to do that again.

P21: I can pretty much guarantee that my two male bosses would not give me assistance. In fact, they would make things difficult (...) It was the typical (...) "We've done it hard, you got to do it hard too." type of attitude.

Workplace relationships – Peers and team

17 of 26 participants shared responses coded to this sub-theme

Negative relations or absence of relations with team including isolation from colleagues, lack of support from peers and pressure from support staff to increase workload

P7: We had nurses doing things that were definitely illegal like not appropriate for a nurse to be doing.

P12: I didn't find other vets very supportive of things that might have gone [badly]. They are very quick to blame, very quick to judge.

P13: There was just one nurse who was bit of a dragon. [laugh] I'd just say she had a bee on her bonnet. (...) She was a nurse but she kept trying to pull power over everybody.

P14: That caused friction then all round, because then the vets would get cranky because the nurses would want to [keep] booking up things in (...) because they were getting paid (...)

P17: I think I was hoping, at that stage [to go back to] the multi-man practice where there's support and so forth (...) That wasn't offered and I just knew I couldn't carry on in a one-man practice (...) [Isolation from colleagues]

\*WorkCover: is a lay term used in reference to Workers Compensation which is a state-based national insurance scheme to provide insurance for employees that are injured at work.

Chapter 4: Risk factors associated with veterinary attrition from clinical practice. A descriptive study.

# Summary

The results from the previous qualitative study reveal that a combination of Personal Factors and Work Experiences influenced these cohort of former veterinary clinicians to leave practice. Several sub-themes emerged including: motivations, character and belief; employment conditions; thoughts and affectivity and patient. The next step to understand attrition from veterinary clinical practice was to assess whether the emerging themes were applicable to a larger cohort of veterinary graduates. Moral conflict emerged as a category under patient care within the theme Work Experiences. However, a quantifiable association was still required. To achieve such goals a survey was created and disseminated to veterinarians that were currently working or had worked in Australia for at least six months. The following chapter focuses on the comparison of demographic factors and working conditions between current and former veterinary clinicians. The following study was published in The Australian Veterinary Journal in 2021.

Arbe Montoya, A.I., Hazel, S., Hebart, M. and McArthur, M.L. *Risk factors associated with attrition from veterinary clinical practice.* The Australian Veterinary Journal Nov 99:11 495-501. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/avj.13111</u>

Statemen	t of Authorship	D			
Title of Paper	Risk factors associated with veterinary attrition from clinic practice. A descriptive study.				
Publication Status	Published	X Accepted for Publication			
	Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style			
Publication Details	Australian Veterinary Journa	Accepted for publication 14th of July 2021			
	Published August	st 2021			

#### **Principal Author**

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Alejandra I. Arbe Montoya				
Contribution to the Paper	Concept development				
	Research design				
	Data collection				
	Data analysis				
	Writing				
	Editing				
Overall percentage (%)	75%				
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of r Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to a obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constra its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.				
Signature	Alejandra I. Arbe-Montoya	Date	04/06/2021		

#### **Co-Author Contributions**

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Michelle L McArthur		
Contribution to the Paper	Research design Data analysis - revision Editing		8 8
Signature		Date	23/06/21

Name of Co-Author	Susan J. Hazel		
Contribution to the Paper	Research design Data analysis - revision Editing		
Signature		Date	20/7/21
Please cut and paste addition	al co-author panels here as requ	ired.	s.
Name of Co-Author	Michelle Hebart		
Contribution to the Paper	Data analysis Editing		
Signature	-	Date	23/6/2021
tcknowledgements: Russell Edson, Annie Conway			
ւcknowledgements։ Հussell Edson, Annie Conway			
Acknowledgements: Russell Edson, Annie Conway			
Acknowledgements: Russell Edson, Annie Conway			

# Risk factors associated with veterinary attrition from clinical practice. A descriptive study.

# Authors

Alejandra I. Arbe Montoya, Susan J. Hazel, Michelle L. Hebart, Michelle L. McArthur

School of Animal and Veterinary Science, The University of Adelaide, Roseworthy, 5371, South Australia,

Australia

Email for correspondence: Alejandra.arbemontoya@adelaide.edu.au

# Abstract

A sustainable workforce is important for the veterinary profession to meet the demands of society. To maintain a sustainable workforce, it has been recommended to retain veterinary clinicians. However, there seems to be an increasing issue with retention of veterinarians in clinical practice. In the following study, the researchers sought to understand the associations between demographic and work-related factors and attrition of veterinarians from clinical practice.

Responses to an online cross-sectional survey of 881 current and former Australian veterinary clinicians were analysed. A logistic regression model was used to identify and describe associations between attrition from veterinary clinical practice and: salary, working hours, role in practice, years of experience, field of work, interaction with regulatory authorities, region of work, and on-call duties. Lower salary, longer working hours, having on-call duties, and having worked in both rural and metropolitan regions were found to significantly (p<0.05) increase the likelihood of leaving clinical practice. The results may inform intervention strategies to assist the industry to retain veterinarians in clinical practice.

Keywords: Veterinary practice, Employee attrition, Employee turnover, Veterinary workforce

#### Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the contribution of The Australian Veterinary Network and other Social Media platforms, The Australian Veterinary Association and the veterinary alumni offices that assisted with the dissemination of the survey.

The authors would like to thank Russell Edson and Annie Conway from The University of Adelaide Biometry Hub for their contributions to the data analysis.

#### Introduction

The sustainability of the veterinary workforce has received attention in the past decade. In 2015 the Australian Veterinary Association (AVA) Veterinary Workforce Modelling Report suggested an imminent surplus of veterinarians<sup>1</sup>. However, in later years surveys from both the AVA and private agencies have reported that the supply might not meeting the demands of veterinarians for clinical practice, as well as raising concerns regarding workforce retention<sup>2, 3</sup>. Private surveys from the UK and Australia show that while veterinary practices may be struggling to recruit veterinarians, the general number of registered veterinarians has been increasing<sup>4-6</sup>. It has been suggested that veterinarians may not be leaving the veterinary profession completely, only clinical practice<sup>7</sup>, and that the best strategy to meet the demands of the veterinary workforce is to retain veterinarians<sup>8</sup>.

Attrition and employee turnover can be used interchangeably to refer to the exit of an employee from a company. However, professional or career attrition indicates that the employee has not only left a particular place of employment but their career or profession altogether. In this study we are referring to veterinary attrition from clinical practice; this includes veterinarians that have stopped being clinicians but may remain in the veterinary profession in a non-clinical role or have changed profession completely. Overall, 9.2% and 8.5% of Australian professional service employees from different unspecified industries left their place of employment in 2020 and 2019<sup>10, 11</sup>; and The Australian Human Resources Institute reported an average organisational turnover rate of 18% in 2018<sup>12</sup>. Staff turnover in veterinarians has received some attention, in the UK, surveys of veterinarians shows an intention to leave current employment of 43.7%<sup>9</sup> and intention to leave the veterinary profession of 37%<sup>13</sup>. Similarly, a New Zealand article reported that 44% of recent graduates leave their first job in practice and further 16% intend to leave their first job<sup>14</sup>. In Australia, The AVA disclosed in their latest workforce survey that 7% (n=88) of the respondents were not engaged in veterinary work (clinical and non-clinical) and that 19% (n=230) were considering not working as a veterinarian (clinical and non-clinical) in the following year<sup>2</sup>. However, specific numbers on how many veterinarians leave clinical practice annually has not been investigated. Furthermore, it is unclear whether veterinary clinicians leave practice for alternative professional opportunities (in non-clinical or non-veterinary roles) or due to job dissatisfaction alone. In medical nurses the perception of being overworked and underpaid, working long hours, and lack of leadership and guality of work environments were linked to attrition from the clinical aspect of the nursing profession<sup>15</sup>. In early career teachers, lack of support, high workload, and isolation have been reported to relate to career attrition<sup>16</sup>. A recent UK survey reported that the three most frequent reasons for veterinarians' turnover are work-life balance, issues with management and salary<sup>9</sup>. In Australia, similar reasons for veterinarians to stop veterinary work were found over 10 years ago<sup>17, 18</sup>. However, reasons for attrition from clinical practice are less explored. A study in rural practice of US veterinarians found that the four key reasons for leaving rural veterinary practice in that study included: 1)

emergency duty; 2) time off; 3) inadequate salary and 4) family concerns<sup>19</sup>. The authors of that study suggest that emergency duty, time off and family concerns could be inter-related since personal time interrupted by emergency calls could lead to the perception of inadequate time off and be an inconvenience for the veterinarian and their family and friends. In the UK similar work has been done investigating factors associated with retaining veterinarians in farm animal practice. They found that veterinarians that stayed in farm animal practice were on-call less frequently, had regular staff appraisals, earned higher salary and those that had given up on farm animal work had worked slightly longer hours<sup>8</sup>. Although shortages of veterinarians have been widely reported in rural regions, there has been minimal comparison regarding attrition and retention between rural and metropolitan veterinarians. A clear relationship between these matters and attrition from veterinary practice is yet to be fully explored.

The aim of this study was to understand the relationship between demographic factors and employment conditions and attrition from clinical practice in Australian veterinarians. Specifically, the researchers examined a potential relationship between attrition and gender, field of work, on-call demands, career alternative, region of work, clinical role, being investigated by regulatory authorities such as the Veterinary Surgeons Board, salary, hours of work, age and years of experience in practice.

#### Materials and methods

Data acquired through a survey of current and former veterinary clinicians in Australia were analysed. Recruitment was achieved through approved Facebook groups and six out of the seven alumni offices of Australian universities that provide a veterinary degree. In order to participate in the study, the participants needed to either have worked or were working as a veterinary clinician in Australia. Additionally, veterinarians needed to identify themselves as either a veterinary clinician, which was defined as 'Veterinarians that diagnose and treat animal patients (individuals or herds)', or no longer working in clinical practice.

#### Survey

The survey was drafted using a framework derived from the results of semi-structured interviews which explored the career path of former veterinary clinicians<sup>20</sup>. The survey responses were collected between November 2019 and February 2020. Respondents who indicated they were currently working in clinical practice responded to survey B whilst those who indicated they had left clinical practice responded to survey A. Surveys A and B were mostly identical, using past tense wording in the questions for former clinicians. The questions analysed in this study were part of a survey that explored multiple possible factors associated with attrition from veterinary clinical practice. The analysis of this study focused on questions surrounding demographics including gender and age and veterinary employment conditions such as salary, hours of work, years of experience, field of work, region

of work, role in clinical practice, and whether they had been investigated by a regulatory authority. Finally, other professional factors such as university of graduation and whether they had a career alternative before becoming a veterinarian were also investigated. This project was approved by the Human Ethics Committee of the University of Adelaide (HREC H2017-229).

#### Description of the population and variables

Participants were divided into: 1) those currently working in clinical practice and 2) those who have left clinical practice prior to retirement. The continuous variables were reported as current for existing veterinary clinicians and just prior to attrition for former veterinary clinicians. In order to meet model assumptions for minimum number of cases some of the categories for the variables of region of work and field of work were grouped. For region of work, respondents that had worked or were currently working in semi-rural or rural regions were grouped in one variable which was compared to clinicians that had worked or were currently working in metropolitan regions only. Those clinicians that had worked in both metropolitan and semi-rural/rural regions were compared to those that had worked or were working in metropolitan only. For field of work, veterinarians working with wildlife and zoo animals as well as those working in specialist practice, and government or industry work with clinical duties were grouped together under the category of 'Other'. Equine practice was grouped as part of mixed and production animal practice. Clinical role grouped respondents as employed veterinarians, employers (including veterinary directors and practice owners) and other or multiple roles. Other variables analysed included whether the participants had been investigated by veterinary regulatory authorities, whether they had on-call duties, whether they had graduated from an Australian university and whether they had an alternative career or professional interest (in the veterinary profession or otherwise) prior to commencing work as veterinarians. The continuous variables included: 1) salary which was reported in Australian dollars per annum and this variable was adjusted for inflation based on the Reserve Bank of Australia Inflation Calculator; 2) hours of work which was defined as average hours in clinical duties per week; 3) age and 4) years of experience in clinical practice.

#### Data analysis

Cases were removed if they were over 75% incomplete or if the participant did not answer the outcome question on whether they had left clinical practice. Initial exploration of the data included description of the population per independent variable. Continuous variables were described using range, mean and standard deviation and categorical variables are described using percentages. Only the variables that had a significant contribution (cut off p<0.2) to the outcome variable were included in the regression model<sup>21</sup> which excluded career alternative and university of graduation. Age was removed as an independent variable to meet the multicollinearity assumption as age was correlated with years of experience. Hours of work underwent square root transformation to meet the assumption of linearity. Therefore, the variables included in the regression model were: gender, region of work, field of work, role in practice, on-call duties, being investigated by regulatory authorities, years of experience, salary per annum and square root of average hours of work per week. The logistic regression model used data only from former clinicians that had left clinical practice before retirement and evaluated the dichotomous binary outcome as: had left clinical practice and currently working in clinical practice. The regression model met the required assumptions; the outcome was dichotomous, had more than one independent variable, variables were mutually exclusive, there were 10 cases or more per independent variable and data fit the test of linearity after a square root transformation of hours of work. Outliers were not removed from the model since they were perceived to be representative of the data.

Data were analysed using SPSS 26®. Significance was set at p<0.05.

#### Results

#### Overall description

Of 920 responses, 39 were mostly incomplete or did not respond to the outcome variable and were removed leaving a total of 881 valid responses for the analysis. Of those, 581 (65.9%) were still working in clinical practice and 300 (34.1%) had left clinical practice. Of the former clinicians 84 (28.8%) were retired and their responses were excluded from the analysis.

#### Data description

There were 561 (71.0%) females, 226 (28.6%) males and 3 (0.4%) were classified as 'other/prefer not to say'. There were 478 (60.7%) respondents that worked mostly in small animal practice, 226 (28.7%) worked in mixed animal practice, production animal practice, equine practice or a combination of the three and 83 (10.5%) worked in other fields. Other fields included: specialist practice, wildlife and zoo animal practice, and government or industry practice that included diagnosis and treatment of animal disease. There were 444 (56.5%) respondents that worked in metropolitan region only, 312 (39.7%) that worked in semi-rural and rural regions and 30 (3.8%) that had worked in both. A total of 578 (73.4%) were employed veterinarians and 143 (18.1%) were employers whereas 67 (8.5%) had multiple, undefined or other roles. There were 414 (52.7%) that did not have on-call duties and 372 (47.3%) that did. A total of 655 (83%) did not have a career alternative before becoming a veterinarian and 134 (17%) did. The majority, 529 (73.8%) had never been investigated by a regulatory authority and 188 (26.2%) had been investigated once or more than once. Finally, 742 (94.3) respondents had graduated from an Australian university and 45 (5.7%) had graduated from a university overseas. Table 1 shows the description of the population and the categorical variables.

For continuous variables, the population had an age range from 23 to 88 years with a mean of 45.1. The years of experience ranged from less than one to 60 with a mean of 15.8 years. Salary ranged between A\$3,000 to A\$300,000 per annum with a mean of A\$88,02. The hours of work per week ranged between 4 and 90 with a mean of 40.4. Table 2 shows the distribution of the population in the continuous variables.

Variable	Stayed in clinical practice n (%)	Has left clinical practice n (%)
Gender		
Females	420 (72.4)	141 (67.5)
Males	158 (27.3)	68 (32.5)
Other/Prefer not to say	3 (0.3)	0
Region of work		
Metropolitan only	340 (58.8)	104 (50.0)
Rural/Semi-rural	228 (39.4)	84 (40.4)
Has worked in both	10 (1.7)	20 (9.6)
Field of work		
Small Animal	362 (62.5)	116 (55.8)
Mix/Production/Equine	144 (24.9)	82 (39.4)
Other	73 (12.6)	10 (4.8)
Clinical role		
Employed veterinarians	411 (70.7)	167 (80.7)
Employers	119 (20.5)	24 (11.6)
Other	51 (8.8)	16 (7.7)
On-call duties		
No	365 (63.1)	49 (23.6)
Yes	213 (36.9)	159 (76.4)
Career alternative		
No	479 (82.6)	176 (84.2)

#### Table 1: Demographic description for categorical variables

Yes	101 (17.4)	33 (15.8)
Investigated by regulatory authority		
No	370 (70.6)	159 (82.4)
Yes	154 (29.4)	34 (17.6)
Graduated from an Australian university		
Yes	542 (93.8)	200 (95.7)
No	36 (6.2)	9 (4.3)

Table 2: Description of the population for continuous variables

Variable	Stayed	l in clinica	I practice	L	_eft clinica	I practice
	Mean	+- SD	Range	Mean	+- SD	Range
Age	41.19	+- 13.11	(23-76)	45.91	+-12.70	(24-76)
Years of experience	15.98	+-13.28	(<1 - 51)	10.58	+-9.68	(<1 - 43)
Hours of work per week	37.18	+-14.37	(10-90)	45.04	+-12.28	(5-75)
Salary in Australian dollars per annum	88,92	+-51,75	(3,000- 300,000)	74,64	+-31,61	(10,000– 256,000)

#### Logistic regression modelling

A binomial logistic regression was performed to evaluate the relationship between attrition from clinical practice and selected variables. Data used included all current veterinary clinicians and former veterinary clinicians that had left before retirement. A total of 629 cases were included in the logistic regression model, which is 71% of the total number of valid responses (n=881). The model was statistically significant  $x^2(10) = 201.21 \ p < .0001$ with a non-significant Hosmer and Lemeshow test X2 (10) = 12.296 p = 0.138 indicating goodness of fit. It explained 39.9% (Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup>) of the variance and correctly classified 81.6% of the cases, with a positive predictive value of 72.9% and a negative predictive value of 83.4%. Specificity was 93.5% and sensitivity 48.5%.

The regression model showed that male veterinarians had higher odds of leaving clinical practice than female veterinarians (OR 2.00). Veterinarians that worked in rural or semi-rural regions were less likely to leave than clinicians that worked in metropolitan regions (OR 0.2). However, veterinarians that had worked in both

metropolitan and regional practice were four times more likely to leave practice than those that had worked in metropolitan regions only (OR 4.11). Working in 'Other' clinical roles had a protective effect in comparison to small animal veterinarians (OR 0.21). There was no significant difference in attrition between small animals and mix practice, equine and production animal practitioners. Being on-call contributed significantly to leaving veterinary practice. Veterinarians that had on-call duties were ten times more likely to leave than those with no on-call duties (OR 10.10). Finally, longer working hours and lower salaries also contributed significantly to attrition from veterinary clinical practice. Table 3 presents the logistic regression results.

#### Table 3: Logistic regression results

Tabulated results of Binomial Logistic Regression. Including *B*, standard error of the unstandardised B coefficient, Wald predictor variable, *p* value, odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence intervals for coefficient.

Predictor	В	S.E.	Wald	Sig (p)	OR	95% C.I.	for OR
						Lower	Upper
Gender <sup>††</sup>	0.69	0.25	7.49	.006	2.00	1.22	3.29
Region of work							
Metropolitan Only*			33.16	<.0001			
Rural and Semi- rural only	-1.58	0.33	23.23	<.0001	0.21	0.11	0.39
Has worked in both	1.41	0.65	4.79	.029	4.11	1.16	14.58
Field of work Small Animal*			6.81	.033			
Mix practice /Equine/Production	0.72	0.31	0.06	.814	1.08	0.59	1.96
Other	-1.56	0.61	6.51	.011	0.21	0.06	0.70
Clinical role Employed Veterinarians*			1.91	.384			
Employers/Practice Owners	-0.20	0.38	0.27	.603	0.82	0.39	1.72
Other roles	-0.65	0.49	1.78	.183	0.52	0.20	1.36
On Call	2.31	0.31	57.31	<.0001	10.10	5.55	18.39
Investigated by regulatory authorities	-0.56	0.30	3.59	.058	0.57	0.32	1.02

Experience	-0.01	0.01	0.56	.455	0.99	0.97	1.02
Hours <sup>†</sup>	0.64	0.13	22.62	<.0001	1.89	1.45	2.45
Salary	-0.02	0.04	26.44	<.0001	0.98	0.97	0.99

\* Reference group

† Square root of average hours of work per week

<sup>††</sup> Males compared to females

#### Discussion

The aim of this study was to evaluate the relationship between demographic and work-related factors and attrition from veterinary clinical practice. Out of 881 responses, 208 had left clinical practice before retirement indicating a veterinary clinician attrition rate of 23.6%. There are no previous figures on attrition from clinical practice making these findings difficult to compare. Previous studies report figures relating to attrition from the veterinary profession altogether rather than from clinical practice. In 2007, an Australian study showed that from two cohorts of Queensland veterinary graduates, 77% were still engaged in veterinary work 15 years post-graduation; out of those 85% were in private practice<sup>18</sup>. For example, more current reports show that only 4.8% of veterinarians were working outside the profession in the UK<sup>22</sup>. It is difficult to extrapolate these findings since the outcomes are not the same. Leaving the veterinary profession is different than leaving clinical practice as there are many employment options for veterinarians outside a clinical role (e.g. Epidemiology, public health, associated industries). Further research is required where there is a clear differentiation between attrition from clinical work and the veterinary profession. Findings show that hours of work, salary, on-call duties, gender and region of work were significant predictors for attrition from veterinary clinical practice. As expected from previous workforce surveys there were more females than males that responded which is consistent with the current gender balance in the profession<sup>2</sup>. Frequency of respondents per age group was also consistent with workforce reports, an indication that the results of this study may be representative of the veterinary professional cohort.

The number of hours worked as well as presence of emergency duties were significant predictors for attrition from veterinary clinical practice. The model shows that the odds for leaving clinical practice increased by 1.89 for every unit increase in the square root of hours worked. Having on-call duties increased the odds of attrition by 10 times. Hours of work has also been an important contributor for career attrition in medical nurses and physicians<sup>15, 23</sup>. It is also consistent with a qualitative study reporting hours of work as an important reason for attrition in former veterinary clinicians<sup>20</sup>. Hours of work showed borderline significance as a predictor for attrition in UK farm animal veterinarians but less on-call duties was significantly related with retention in the same study<sup>8</sup>. Furthermore, having limited time off and emergency duties (responsibilities and hours of work) were important factors for attrition from rural practice in US veterinarians<sup>19</sup>. There seems to be an indication that although hours

of work in general are important for veterinary clinicians, the relationship between hours and attrition may be more closely related to after-hours work.

Having on-call duties as a predictor for attrition may be indicative of a relationship between after-hours duties, general working hours and work-life balance. In interviews with 26 former veterinary clinicians, the interaction between work schedules and work-life balance was considered an influential factor for attrition from practice<sup>20</sup>. Furthermore, need for time off and presence of after-hours duties, was also reported as an influential factor for veterinarians to leave farm or rural veterinary practice overseas<sup>8, 19, 24</sup>. Finally, work-life balance was one of the most disliked aspect of the profession cited by veterinarians in the UK<sup>9</sup> and is an important element for job satisfaction in German veterinarians<sup>25</sup>. More research is required to understand the dynamic between job satisfaction, hours of work and personal time. However, addressing issues relating to perceived work-life balance and on-call duties could prove beneficial in order to improve retention and sustainability of veterinary clinical practice in Australia and overseas.

Salary and remuneration was another significant factor for attrition in this study and important reason for clinical attrition described in veterinarians in different fields<sup>18, 20, 26</sup>. A negative relationship between attrition and salary in the present study indicates that as salary increased, the odds of leaving the practice decreased, that is those that were on higher salaries were more likely to remain in the practice (or less likely to leave). This is a small contribution when comparing to other variables such as hours of work, on-call duties and having worked in both regional and metropolitan areas. It could be suggested that salary is less important to the decision to leave practice than other factors such as work-life balance. However, salary as a contributor to attrition has been shown to be related to both employee turnover and job discontent in veterinarians<sup>9, 18, 20</sup>. Although it might not be without challenges, finding financial profitability seems to be important for workforce sustainability in the private veterinary clinical workforce.

Region of work was also a contributing factor to attrition from clinical practice. The researchers found that veterinarians that had worked in semi-rural and/or rural regions were less likely to leave practice than those that had worked in metropolitan regions only. Furthermore, those that had worked in both metropolitan and regional practice had higher odds of leaving than those that worked in metropolitan only. All else being equal the likelihood of leaving clinical practice was 79% lower for rural and semi-rural clinicians compared with metropolitan only. The odds of leaving if the clinician had worked in both settings was 4.1. Previous studies have found that farm animal practices have problems with recruitment and retention of clinicians<sup>19, 24, 27, 28</sup> and although shortages of rural veterinarians has been considered an important problem,<sup>29</sup> there are few comparisons of attrition between metropolitan and regional veterinarians. It is expected that the job demands and working conditions are different in different regions of practice. For example, for rural practitioners, there seems to be a commitment to the 'rural lifestyle', working outdoors, being part of their communities and being involved with farm animal work<sup>24, 30</sup> which

can contribute to their retention. Furthermore, working in metropolitan regions can have different challenges (which are yet to be explored) that can trigger career attrition and employee turnover. Investigating these potential differences and implementing region-specific intervention strategies such as management of after-hours duties for regional veterinarians may be an important step in order to increase retention in the different regions of Australia.

Gender has been considered important in the literature on veterinary attrition<sup>13</sup> and was a significant contributor in this study. However, in contrast to previous studies which found that females had a higher attrition rate than males<sup>9</sup>, we report males being more likely to leave than females. Other studies have found no link between gender and veterinarians leaving farm animal practice<sup>24</sup> or attrition from veterinary academia<sup>31</sup>. It is unclear whether gender is a predictor for veterinary clinical attrition. Significance may vary between populations and further studies are needed to adequately understand the contribution of this variable.

Other factors such as having a career alternative, conflicts with regulatory authorities, role in practice and experience have been discussed as a contributing factor for clinical attrition by participants in a qualitative study of former Australian veterinarians<sup>20</sup>. Those factors could have been important in isolation as individual contributors for that cohort of former veterinary clinicians. However, in this study, with a larger population and in the context of other variables that have a stronger association with attrition, they became less relevant.

#### Limitations

Limitations for this study include an inevitable recruitment bias. Former veterinary clinicians could potentially be less likely to have kept up to date with veterinary related communication. Although recruitment bias was minimised by using alumni offices as recruitment vectors thus inviting all veterinary graduates to participate, it is possible that former veterinary clinicians may be underrepresented. Additionally, the use of social media platforms can bias the sample towards the younger generations. Recollection bias could be elicited since some former veterinarians had left clinical practice over 10 years ago. Furthermore, response bias could occur since respondents that left practice because of dissatisfaction could be more eager in responding to the survey than those that had left for other reasons. Participants were asked whether they were currently working as veterinary clinicians but the question did not account for possible temporary step back from clinical practice such as parental leave. It is unknown whether respondents in these situations would have answered as current clinicians or not. It is important to mention that there were areas of the survey where the respondent was able to select multiple options. These included: region of work and field of work which may lead to overrepresentation of some categories and under representation of others due to having to categorise them into the groups they have worked at the most. Furthermore, it is important to consider the limitation with 'other' as field of work. This category

contains several sub-fields like zoo and wildlife veterinarians as well as government veterinarians that work on herd animals and small animal specialists. It was not possible to evaluate each of these sub-categories as indicators for attrition from veterinary clinical practice to fully understand the protective effect of this variable. Finally, the focus of this study was on attrition from clinical practice not the veterinary profession. The veterinary profession provides a vast range of non-clinical career alternatives which may provide fulfilling options for veterinarians that choose to leave clinical practice.

Having to do a square root transformation on hours of work make interpretation of the magnitude of the contribution of this variables to the outcome challenging. Finally, the model adequately predicted veterinary retention with a specificity of 93.5 but sensitivity was low (48.5) for attrition from practice. This could be due to some groups within the categorial variables having low numbers. However, the model's total predictive value was adequate and showed good model fit and the contribution of these variables should be interpreted as indicators rather than predictors. Further studies in larger population reducing the grouping of responses which yield low numbers may create better sensitivity values.

#### Conclusions

This study highlights key influential factors for attrition of veterinarians from clinical practice. Variables such as on-call duties, having worked in both in metropolitan and rural regions and hours of work seem to be strong predictors for attrition from clinical practice. Salary, gender, working in metropolitan regions only also contribute to attrition from practice. The results are consistent with similar factors influencing attrition in previous veterinary literature but provide new evidence in relation to the contribution of region of work and gender and attrition from practice. Considering concerns within the profession in relation to veterinary shortages, it becomes important to understand the factors contributing to this problem. Although the veterinary profession provides an extensive range of non-clinical options for veterinarians; the results of this study may inform strategies to increase retention of veterinarians in clinical practice.

# References

- 1. The Australian Veterinary Association. *Australian veterinary workforce modelling report.* 2015 February 2015 [cited 2021 26/02/2021]; Available from: <u>https://www.ava.com.au/policy-advocacy/advocacy/workforce-data/</u>.
- 2. The Australian Veterinary Association. *Australian Veterinary Workforce Survey 2018*. 2019 April 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.ava.com.au/policy-advocacy/advocacy/workforce/workforce-data/</u>.
- 3. Lincoln Institute. *Our disappearing vets: Australia's veterinary industry searching for answers over high attrition rates*. [Press Release] 2019 February 2021; Available from: <u>https://lincolninstitute.com.au/lincolninstitutes-vet-engagement-survey/</u>.
- 4. The Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons. *RCVS Facts 2008. The annual report of The Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons. Part 2.* 2008; Available from: <u>https://www.rcvs.org.uk/news-and-views/publications/rcvs-facts-2008/</u>.
- 5. The Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons. *RCVS Facts. Facts and figures from The Rolay College of Veterinary Surgeons.* 2018 [cited 2021 26/02/2021]; Available from: <u>https://www.rcvs.org.uk/news-and-views/publications/</u>.
- 6. Professionals Australia. Veterinarians issues paper. 2017 [cited 2021 26/02/2021]; Available from: http://www.professionalsaustralia.org.au/professional-women/wpcontent/uploads/2017/09/Veterinarians-Issues-Paper.pdf.
- 7. Nelson-Pratt, A., Are vets really leaving the profession? Veterinary Record, 2018. 182(20): p. 580.
- 8. Adam, K., S. Baillie, and J. Rushton, *Retaining vets in farm animal practice: a cross-sectional study.* Veterinary Record, 2015. **176**(25): p. 655.
- 9. Hagen, J.R., et al., *Investigation of factors affecting recruitment and retention in the UK veterinary profession.* Veterinary Record, 2020. **187**(9): p. 354-354.
- 10. Ai group. *Economics Fact Sheet. Labour turnover in 2019.* 2019 [cited 2020 05/06/2020]; Available from: https://www.aigroup.com.au/resourcecentre/economics/updates-reports/.
- 11. Ai group. *Economic Fact Sheet. Labour turnover in 2020.* 2020 [cited 2021 28.01.21]; Available from: https://www.aigroup.com.au/resourcecentre/economics/updates-reports/.
- 12. Australian Human Resources Institute. *Turnover and Retention Research Report*. 2018 August 2018 28/05/2020]; Available from: <u>https://www.ahri.com.au/media/1222/turnover-and-retention-report\_final.pdf</u>.
- 13. Begeny, C., M. Ryan, and R. Bongiorno. *Motivation, Satisfaction and Retention. Understanding the importance of vets' day-to-day work experiences.* 2018 November 2018; 12]. Available from: <u>https://www.svf.se/media/ognjno14/motivation-satisfaction-and-retention-bva-workforce-report-nov-</u>2018-1.pdf.
- 14. Gates, M.C., et al., *Experiences of recent veterinary graduates in their first employment position and their preferences for new graduate support programmes.* New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 2020. **68**(4): p. 214-224.
- 15. Goodare, P., *Literature review: Why do we continue to lose our nurses?* Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing, 2017. **34**(4): p. 50-56.
- 16. Buchanan, J., et al., *Teacher retention and attrition: Views of early career teachers.* Australian Journal of Teacher Education, 2013. **38**(3): p. 112-129.
- 17. Heath, T.J., Longitudinal study of veterinarians from entry to the veterinary course to 10 years after graduation: attitudes to work, career and profession. Australian Veterinary Journal, 2002. **80**(8): p. 474-478.
- 18. Heath, T.J., *Longitudinal study of veterinary students and veterinarians: the first 20 years.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2007. **85**(7): p. 281-9.
- 19. Villarroel, A., et al., A survey of reasons why veterinarians leave rural veterinary practice in the United States. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2010. **236**(8): p. 859-867.
- 20. Arbe Montoya, A.I., et al., *Why do veterinarians leave clinical practice? A qualitative study using thematic analysis.* Veterinary Record, 2021. **188**(1): p. 49-58.
- 21. Maldonado, G. and S. Greenland, Simulation Study of Confounder-Selection Strategies. American Journal of Epidemiology, 1993. **138**(11): p. 923-936.

- 22. Buzzeo, J., D. Robinson, and W. Matthew, *The 2014 RCVS Survey of the Veterinary Profession*. 2014, Institute for Employment Studies: United Kingdom.
- 23. Tsai, Y.-H., et al., *Work hours and turnover intention among hospital physicians in Taiwan: does income matter?* BMC Health Services Research, 2016. **16**(1): p. 667.
- 24. Adam, K.E., S. Baillie, and J. Rushton, *Clients. Outdoors. Animals: Retaining vets in UK farm animal practice-thematic analysis of free-text survey responses.* Veterinary Record, 2019. **184**(4): p. 121.
- 25. Kersebohm, J.C., et al., *Factors related to work and life satisfaction of veterinary practitioners in Germany.* Veterinary Record Open, 2017. **4**(1).
- 26. Jelinski, M.D. and T.I. Silver, *The career path choices of veterinary radiologists.* Veterinary Radiology and Ultrasound, 2015. **56**(1): p. 109-113.
- 27. Villarroel, A., et al., *Shortage of Rural Veterinarians: Real or Perceived?* Online Journal of Rural Research and Policy, 2010. **5**(7).
- 28. Heath, T.J., Longitudinal study of career plans and directions of veterinary students and recent graduates during the first five years after graduation. Australian Veterinary Journal, 1998. **76**(3): p. 181-186.
- 29. Federation of Veterinarians of Europe. *Shortage of veterinarians in rural and remote areas. Summary report.* 2020 14]; Available from: <u>https://2020.fve.org/cms/wp-content/uploads/Shortage Vets Rural Areas10July2020.pdf.</u>
- 30. Heath, T.J. and G.E. Niethe, *Veterinary practitioners in rural Australia: a national survey.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2001. **79**(7): p. 464-469.
- 31. Furr, M., *Factors Associated with Veterinary Clinical Faculty Attrition.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2018. **45**(1): p. 16-26.

# Supplementary materials

Survey: Demographic factors and employment conditions

# COMMON SURVEY

Demographics

- 1- What is your age in numbers? Open space for answer
- 2- What is your gender?
  - Multiple choice
    - Female
      - Male
      - Other open space for answer
      - Prefer not to say
- 3- What is your university of graduation?
  - Multiple choice
  - The University of Queensland
  - The University of Sydney
  - The University of Melbourne
  - Charles Sturt University
  - James Cook University
  - The University of Adelaide
  - Murdoch University
  - I did not graduate from an Australian University
  - Prefer not to say
- 4- Veterinary clinical practice is defined as: Veterinarians that diagnose and treat animal patients (individuals or herds).

How long have you worked as a veterinary clinician?

Continuous analogue Scale from 0-80

- 5- Veterinary clinical practice is defined as: Veterinarians that diagnose and treat animal patients (individuals or herds). Are you currently still working in veterinary clinical practice in any capacity?
- Yes Please follow this link (Survey B)

No. I have left clinical practice – Please follow this link (Survey A)

# SURVEY A

- 1- How long ago did you leave clinical practice? Open space to answer
- 2- Are you currently retired? Yes/No
- 3- What is your current occupation? Open space to fill Not applicable

4- Did you have an alternative career or profession before becoming a veterinarian?

Yes/No

3a- If applicable, to what extent do you agree with the following:

Having an alternative career or profession before becoming a veterinarian influenced my decision into leaving clinical practice

Y/N or NA

- 5- What area of clinical practice did you work? (please tick all that apply)
  - Multiple choice
    - Small Animal Clinical Practice
    - Mixed Animal Practice
    - Production Animal Practice
    - Equine practice
    - Specialist practice
    - Wildlife, Exotic Pets, Laboratory or Zoo Animal Practice
    - Animal Shelter Practice
    - Prefer not to say
    - Other Please Specify
  - 5a Out of those in which area did you spend most of your working time as a clinician?
- 6- To what capacity did you work as a veterinary clinician? (please tick all that apply)
  - Multiple choice
  - I was a veterinary associate
  - I was a locum/casual veterinarian
  - I was a practice owner/employer
  - Prefer not to say
  - Other. Please specify
- 7- In which state did you work the most as a veterinary clinician?
- Multiple choice
  - South Australia
  - Victoria
  - Tasmania
  - New South Wales
  - Queensland
  - Northern Territory
  - Western Australia
  - Prefer not to say
- 8- In what region(s) did you work as a veterinary clinician? (please tick all that apply) *Multiple choice* 
  - Metropolitan (>100 000 population)
  - Semi rural (10 000 100 000 population)
  - Rural (< 10 000 population)
- 9- How many hours on average do you work per week as a veterinary clinician? *Continuous analogue from 10->60+*
- 10- Did you have any 'on call' duties before you left clinical practice? Yes/No
  - Prefer not to say
- 11- How much did you earn per annum gross as a veterinary clinician before you left practice? Continuous analogue from 1-300+ Prefer not to say

12- Have you had a complaint made against you to a regulatory authority such as the veterinary surgeons board?

Multiple choice

- Never
- Once
- More than once
- Prefer not to say

Thank you very much for your time in completing this survey Please see the following numbers if you are feeling distressed

# SURVEY B

Alternative career interest and intention to leave

- 1- Did you have an alternative career or profession before becoming a veterinarian? Yes/No
- 2- Are you intending to leave veterinary clinical practice in the next: *Multiple choice* 
  - 12 months
  - 24 months
  - 3 years

I am not intending to leave clinical practice in the foreseeable future

- General questions:
- 1- What area of clinical practice do you currently work? (please tick all that apply)

Multiple choice

- Small Animal Clinical Practice
- Mixed Animal Practice
- Production Animal Practice
- Equine practice
- Specialist practice
- Wildlife, Exotic Pets, Laboratory or Zoo Animal Practice
- Animal Shelter Practice
- Other Please Specify

6a - Out of those in which area do you spend most of your working time as a clinician? 6b - To what capacity do you work as a veterinary clinician? (please tick all that apply) *Multiple choice* 

- I am a full time veterinarian
- I am a part time veterinary veterinarian
- I am a locum/casual veterinarian
- I am a practice owner/employer
- Prefer not to say

- Other. Please specify

Open space for answer

- 2- In which state do you work the most as a veterinary clinician?
  - Multiple choice
  - South Australia
  - Victoria

- Tasmania
- New South Wales
- Queensland
- Northern Territory
- Western Australia
- Prefer not to say
- 3- In what region do you currently work? (please tick all that apply) *Multiple choice* 
  - Metropolitan (>100 000 population)
  - Semi rural (10 000 100 000 population)
  - Rural (< 10 000 population)
- How much do you earn per annum gross as a veterinary clinician? Continuous analogue from 1-300+ Prefer not to say answer
- 5- How many hours on average do you work per week as a veterinary clinician? *Continuous analogue from 10->60+*
- 6- Do you have any 'on call duties? Yes/No
- 7- Have you had a complaint made against you to a regulatory authority such as the veterinary surgeons board?
  - Multiple choice
  - Never
  - Once
  - More than once
  - Prefer not to say

Thank you very much for your time in completing this survey Please see the following numbers if you are feeling distressed

# Chapter 5: Moral and ethical conflict and moral distress in veterinarians. A mixed-methods approach

# Summary

The results from chapter 4 show important demographic and work-related factors associated with attrition from clinical practice. However, moral distress and other psychological variables are yet to be evaluated. The studies were separated since over 100 respondents did not answer the psychological measures but did answer the demographic and working conditions questions. To prevent losing important demographic and working conditions data, it was decided to perform two analyses. In the literature, validated psychometric tools to measure variables such as motivations to be a veterinarian and professional quality of life can be found. However, no scale to measure moral distress in these professionals has been developed. Scales to measure moral distress in other professionals are available but may not adequately capture the moral distress experience of veterinary clinicians. Furthermore, the theoretical moral distress pathway presented in chapter 2 is yet to be evaluated. Chapter 5 explores moral distress in veterinarians in more depth. Initially, the moral deliberation pathway presented in chapter 2 is assessed in a group of former veterinary clinicians. Then, a moral distress scale is developed for veterinary clinicians. Finally, additional moral and ethical conflicts experienced in veterinary clinical practice are described.

Title of Paper	Moral and ethical conflict and moral distress in veterinarians				
Publication Status	Published Caccepted for Publication				
	Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and manuscript style	Unsubmitted work written in		
Publication Details	To be considered for publication after thesis submission.				
rincipal Author					
Name of Principal Author (Candidale)	Alejandra I. Arbe Montoya				
Contribution to the Paper	Concept development				
	Research design				
	Data collection				
	Data analysis				
	Writing				
	Editing				
Overall percentage (%)	60%				
Certification:	This paper reports on original res Research candidature and is not third party that would constrain its	earch I conducted during subject to any obligation Inclusion in this thesis. 1	the period of my Higher Degree by ns or contractual agreements with a am the primary author of this paper.		
Signature		Date	03/11/2021		
y signing the Statement of Authorship i. the candidate's stated contri ii. permission is granted for the iii. the sum of all co-author con	, each author certifies that: bution to the publication is accurate ( e candidate in include the publication tributions is equal to 100% less the c	as detailed above); in the thesis; and andidate's stated contrib	ution.		
Name of Co-Author	Michelle L. McArthur				
Contribution to the Paper	Concept development				
NOR DAYARAR (1298-128) YAN O' - 148	Research design				
	Data analysis - revision				
	Editing		2/11/21		
Signature		Date	3/11/21		
	Susan J. Hazel				
Name of Co-Author	Name of Co-Author Susan J. Frazer				
Name of Co-Author	Concept development				
Name of Co-Author Contribution to the Paper	Research design				
Name of Co-Author Contribution to the Paper	Concept development Research design Data analysis - revision				
Name of Co-Author Contribution to the Paper	Concept development Research design Data analysis - revision Editing				

Signature		Date 8/11/21
Name of Co-Author	Susan M. Matthew	1
Contribution to the Paper	Research design Data analysis – Co-analysis Editing	
Signature		Date 3/11/21
Name of Co-Author	Aaron Jarden	
Contribution to the Paper	Research design Data analysis – Co-analysis Editing	
Signature		Date 4/11/21
icknowledgements: ielly Hall – Statistician. University kenee Gale - Editor	of Adelaide School of Public Health	

# Moral and ethical conflict and moral distress in veterinarians. A mixedmethods approach

Alejandra I. Arbe Montoya<sup>1</sup>, Susan M. Matthew<sup>2</sup>, Aaron Jarden<sup>3</sup>, Susan J. Hazel<sup>1</sup>, Michelle L. McArthur<sup>1</sup> 1 School of Animal and Veterinary Science, The University of Adelaide, Roseworthy, 5371, South Australia, Australia

2 College of Veterinary Medicine, Washington State University, Pullman, Washington, 99164, USA3 Centre for Positive Psychology, Melbourne Graduate School of Education. The University of Melbourne, Victoria 3010, Australia

Corresponding author

Alejandra I. Arbe Montoya<sup>1</sup> Alejandra.arbemontoya@adelaide.edu.au

#### Acknowledgements

Kelly Hall - Statistician. The University of Adelaide. School of Public Health Renee Gale – Editor

# Abstract

Moral distress is defined as the psychological anguish a person can experience when confronted with a situation perceived to conflict with their personal values (moral conflicts). Veterinary professionals are often confronted with moral and ethical conflicts from which they can develop moral distress. Using a mixed-methods approach, this chapter investigates the moral deliberation pathway, sources of moral conflict, and measurement of moral distress in clinical settings. A mixed-methods approach was chosen to detail the pathway that veterinarians undertake when they experience a moral conflict. As well as to inform additional questions necessary to contextualise a moral distress measure designed for medical professionals to the veterinary context and capture additional sources of moral conflict in veterinary clinical practice.

The results of the qualitative study suggest that veterinarians follow a similar deliberation process to medical professionals: experiencing a moral conflict leads to stress (moral stress) then either to psychological anguish (moral distress) or resolution into moral comfort. This deliberation process was empirically explored in veterinary clinicians. The second study adapts a moral distress scale used for medical professionals and contextualises it to veterinary clinical practice. The measure contains three sub-scales: 1) Team communications that

compromise patient care, 2) Conflicting client interactions, and 3) Situations perceived as a personal threat. This study contributes empirical evidence supporting a previously proposed moral deliberation pathway in veterinarians; identifies additional moral conflicts in veterinary clinical practice highlighting the need for a moral distress measure contextualised to veterinary clinical practice; and develops a tool to measure veterinary clinicians' moral distress. Measuring moral distress allows identification of this issue in practice, which can inform intervention strategies to mitigate the deleterious effects of moral distress in veterinarians.

#### Introduction

Moral distress (MD) elicited from experiences of moral conflict has been reported in veterinarians and other healthcare professionals. A moral conflict is defined as a situation that conflicts with a professional's morals, and an ethical conflict (also known as an ethical dilemma or moral challenge) is a situation where the correct course of action is unclear<sup>1-3</sup>. The stress associated with the perceived moral conflict has been referred to as moral stress<sup>1,4,5</sup>, where the situation causes an adverse negative emotion, but it is transient<sup>1</sup>. There are two possible outcomes of a moral conflict: moral comfort and growth (if the conflict is resolved to the professional's satisfaction) or moral distress<sup>1,6,7</sup>. Moral distress is defined as the psychological disequilibrium and emotional anguish a person can experience when exposed to a moral conflict and are unable to follow what they perceive to be the correct moral path<sup>8-10</sup>.

Moral distress theories have been developed in medical professionals<sup>7,11,12</sup>. Corley's theory in medical nurses proposes that influential factors like strength of patient advocacy (how much they advocate for their patients) shape how a morally conflicting situation is perceived and the level of competency in ethical decision making, as well as working conditions (e.g. workload), influence the path towards moral comfort or distress<sup>7</sup>. Once a situation arises that challenges the nurse's values, the nurse takes one of two pathways. The first pathway leads to action, where the nurse is willing to take a stand, for example by challenging the institution (potentially jeopardising their job), and reach moral comfort<sup>13</sup>. The second path leads to moral distress. When MD occurs, the negative impacts affect the nurse themselves, the patients, and the organisation<sup>7</sup>. A literature review of moral distress in veterinarians suggests that veterinarians might undergo similar experiences<sup>1</sup>. Influential factors can also impact how moral distress develops. For example, factors such as perfectionism as a personality trait can influence the negative effect of moral distress experienced in veterinarians<sup>14</sup>. Also, individual perceptions of animal value and human-animal bond were identified as influential forces in decision making in situations of ethical or moral dilemmas in veterinarians<sup>15</sup>. Furthermore, the veterinarian can then act according to their perceived moral obligations<sup>15</sup> and experience moral comfort instead of MD. Although the implications of MD in patients and organisations in veterinary practice are less explored, the stress and negative emotional impact of MD in veterinarians has been documented<sup>2,4,5,15-18</sup>. Moral distress has been associated with depression<sup>19</sup>, burnout<sup>7</sup>, compromised patient care<sup>7</sup> and increased intention to leave the workplace in healthcare professionals<sup>6,19-23</sup>, and occupational stress in veterinarians<sup>4,14,16,18,24</sup>. It is important to understand how MD develops in veterinarians to develop evidence-based intervention strategies that mitigate its deleterious effects. Previous studies in veterinary practice have described veterinarians' ethical justifications in the presence of ethical or moral conflict<sup>15,25</sup>, documented possible influential factors for moral distress<sup>14,15</sup>, listed situations perceived as moral conflicts<sup>5,18,24,26</sup>, and reported the deleterious effect of moral stress and distress<sup>4,16-18,24</sup>. However, the pathway from moral conflict to moral distress in veterinary clinicians has not been explored in detail. Furthermore, the

frequency and degree of distress of these experiences are yet to be measured using a validated scale in veterinarians.

Moral distress has been measured in healthcare professionals, using validated psychometric scales<sup>19,27,28</sup>. Moral distress scales in healthcare professionals measure the frequency and stressfulness of MD and associated moral conflicts. Reported moral conflicts in healthcare include the inability to ensure informed consent from patients, the inability to speak up to report breaches of codes of ethics, and struggles with futile care and treatments<sup>12,23,28,48</sup>. Similar scenarios occur in veterinary practice; although, veterinarians encounter additional situations that can lead to MD. For example, moral conflicts with patient euthanasia and costs of veterinary care are common in veterinary practice<sup>4,5,17,18,26,29</sup> and may not be accurately captured in a moral distress scale for healthcare professionals. Other moral and ethical conflicts in veterinary practice include destruction of livestock during biosecurity crisis<sup>30</sup>; clients wishing to continue treatment despite poor animal welfare or quality of life<sup>24-26</sup>; having conflicting clinical views from colleagues<sup>2,14,18,26</sup>; and depending on local legislation, surgical procedures that are perceived to have no benefit for the animal patient such as de-clawing<sup>2,31</sup>. Such differences stem from the inherent conflict when veterinarians are called to meet the needs of their animal patients, their clients and society at the same time<sup>2,32</sup>. However, the exploration of moral (or ethical) conflict previously conducted in veterinarians has been qualitative research in smaller cohorts (less than 100)<sup>18,26</sup> or has focused quantitatively on the impact of the conflict in larger samples<sup>24</sup>. It is possible that moral conflicts which have not been previously reported could arise if a free-text option is distributed to a large group of veterinarians. Experiencing moral conflicts can lead to the negative impacts of moral distress. The documentation of moral conflicts associated with veterinary practice not described in moral distress scales developed for medical professionals highlights the need for a contextualised measure of MD in veterinary practice.

To better understand MD in veterinarians, an explanation of the process of moral distress as well as a scale to measure moral distress is needed. Measuring MD informs the development of intervention strategies in the workplace to mitigate the negative effects of moral distress. Measuring MD is also needed to empirically assess the relationship between moral distress and other occupational factors such as staff retention and job satisfaction. In this study we intend to assess via in-depth qualitative exploration whether the moral deliberation model previously proposed for veterinary clinicians in a recent review of the literature<sup>1</sup> (which is based on Corley's moral distress theory for medical nurses<sup>7</sup>) applies in the veterinary context. This analysis informs the development of an MD measure contextualised for veterinary practice. Finally, with a qualitative analysis of freetext answers to an extension question about other elements contributing to moral and ethical conflict<sup>33</sup> in a large cohort of veterinarians, we intend to capture any other possible sources of moral conflict not discussed previously. The objectives of this study are threefold:

1) To assess whether the moral deliberation pathway in clinical veterinarians follows the theory and model proposed by Corley in medical nurses.

2) To develop a moral distress scale to measure this phenomenon in clinical veterinarians.

3) To report any additional moral conflicts experienced in veterinary clinical practice.

#### Methods

This study used a mixed-methods approach. Firstly, qualitative methods with thematic analysis was used to identify common themes from interviews of a cohort of former veterinary clinicians regarding their experience with moral and ethical conflict (Study 1). The second study (Study 2) is both quantitative and qualitative. A moral distress measure was constructed using factor analysis of veterinary specific survey items added to a validated moral distress scale for medical professionals<sup>28</sup>. Free text responses were also analysed to capture other moral and ethical conflict sources in both current and former veterinary clinicians. Both studies received human ethics approval (H-2017-229).

A mixed-methods approach was chosen to enable a contextualised exploration of individual experiences with moral distress evolving from a moral conflict in veterinary clincians<sup>34-36</sup>. This deep exploration surrounding the context of individual experiences with moral conflict and MD informed the adaptation of a moral distress survey to veterinary settings to improve its accuracy and relevance<sup>37</sup>. Items contextualised to veterinary settings were added to a previously validated measure of MD for medical professionals based on the results of Study 1 and review of the veterinary literature. Exploratory and confirmatory factor analyses were used to develop a psychometric tool to measure moral distress in veterinarians. Finally, thematic analysis of free text answers was used to capture any other moral or ethical conflicts that might not have been described previously.

#### Study 1

#### Methods

30 former veterinary clinicians were interviewed regarding their experiences in clinical practice, including moral and ethical conflict and the possible development of moral distress. This was performed as part of a larger study investigating reasons for attrition in veterinary clinical practice<sup>38</sup>. The responses regarding moral conflict and associated stress were analysed further using thematic analysis<sup>36,39</sup> to assess whether the experiences veterinarians had when exposed to a moral conflict were reflected in an adapted moral deliberation pathway model<sup>1</sup> based on a moral distress theory for medical nurses<sup>7</sup>. Both Corley's MD theory for medical nurses and the proposed moral deliberation pathway in veterinarians establish that influential factors (such as personality and personal values) shape whether a situation is perceived as a moral conflict or not. Following the encounter of a moral conflict, the veterinarian experiences stress associated with the situation, which is referred to as moral
stress. The model and theory present two possible outcomes: moral comfort when the professional finds an acceptable resolution to the moral conflict, or moral distress when the situation generates emotional anguish<sup>1,7</sup>. The path from moral conflict to outcome has been referred to as the moral deliberation pathway<sup>1</sup>.

Participants were recruited via social media platforms and through alumni offices of four of seven Australian universities offering veterinary science programs. All interviews were completed between February and April 2018. Analysis was completed using NVivo 12<sup>®</sup>, and 12% of the interviews were selected for member checking. An Inter-coder agreement was performed by two authors (AAM and SMM) resulting in 74% pre-discussion agreement and 99% post-discussion agreement<sup>40</sup>. For the 1% of codes that the two researchers disagreed on, the coding criteria of the primary researcher prevailed on the basis that the primary researcher (who was also the interviewer) was more immersed in the data. The analysis of the interviews informed the development of the survey used in Study 2 by providing some of the additional items to be included in the adaptation of a MD scale validated for medical professionals<sup>28</sup> to the veterinary clinical setting.

#### Results

All interviews of former veterinary clinicians (n=30) addressed whether the participant had experienced moral or ethical conflict during their working life. Some participants organically (without any prompting from the interviewer) discussed 'ethical' or 'moral' issues that triggered an emotional response. Others were asked if they experienced any challenging 'ethical' or 'moral' issues or 'conflicts with their values' and how they responded to those. Of the 30, 20 had experienced moral or ethical conflict. They were asked to describe the situation further and their moral deliberation process. The themes that emerged from the deliberation process were: Influential Factors, Moral and Ethical Conflict, Moral and Ethical Stress, and Moral Distress. The codebook and examples of quotes are provided in Table 1.

Influential Factors refers to personal characteristics associated with the perception of moral and ethical conflict and influence how each part of the moral deliberation pathway is experienced. Influential factors discussed by participants included their perception of animal value, their upbringing, and intrinsic motivations and beliefs. Moral and Ethical Conflict occurs when a situation or situations are perceived to be: a conflict of interest between themselves and another person (e.g. client, colleague); conflicting with their morals and values, or an ethical dilemma where the perceived correct course of action is unclear. Whether a situation was perceived as a conflict by the participants was often driven by their influential factors. For example, Participant 25 explains their love and care for animals in the following quote, which then influences how a situation is perceived to go against such care resulting in moral conflict: It was the love of animals, (...) I felt very responsible for them (...) because the farmers' decisions are all financial and even sometimes when treating their dogs, it became a financial decision (...) from my own personal values and morals, I would say (...) I still see it as an animal has a right to a good life. [P25]

In the example above, the participant values being responsible for providing a good life for animals because they perceived animals to have a right to a good life. The conflict arises when the farmer's decision is more financial, at the expense of the animal's right to a good life. Table 1 provides further examples of moral conflicts described by participants in the study. Some participants developed moral stress from a situation that was perceived as a moral or ethical conflict. Participants used comments such as: 'didn't like', 'it was hard' or 'found stressful' or 'challenging'. When this was perceived to be manageable and transient for the participant, it was considered moral stress instead of moral distress<sup>41</sup>. For example, P5 mentioned:

#### Another aspect of the job was welfare cases as well, and so that was pretty challenging [P5]

The next step in the participants' experience was either developing moral distress (emotional anguish and psychological distress)<sup>10</sup> or finding a resolution to the moral or ethical conflict<sup>6,7</sup>. Participant 6 below provided an example of moral distress, whereas Participant 11 showed an example of resolution leading to moral comfort.

(...) I'd be feeling it, and I'd be replaying those scenarios and experiencing those emotions. I might be angry or resentful or feeling guilty because I had to euthanise animals because the owner didn't have the money. I would be carrying the guilt. [P6]

(...) there's some things that I can compartmentalise, like just go, "Well, it's the owner's call. It's their animal." That they're the ultimate people that have to make that decision, not me. I'm comfortable with that. That's okay. [P11]

Overall, the results from Study 1 support the moral deliberation pathway proposed for veterinary clinical practice in Arbe Montoya *et al.*<sup>1</sup> This model is based on the moral distress theory for medical nurses developed by Corley<sup>7</sup>. Although Study 1 identified situations that lead to moral and ethical conflicts, these were not explored in depth. Study 2 focuses on situations encountered in clinical practice that are perceived as sources of moral and ethical conflict. The moral conflicts in Study 1 were included as additional items when creating the moral distress scale for veterinary clinicians used in Study 2.

# Table 1: Facets of The Moral Deliberation Process

This table describes the themes associated with moral distress and the moral deliberation path that the participants of Study 1 presented, along with sample quotes to illustrate each theme.

Name	Description
Influential factors	Factors that influenced the participants' experience of moral or ethical conflict.
	P1: I cared about the people I guess more than anything ()
	P6: Every opportunity, my preference was to go out and find the animals and be with them. I don't know where that's come from. It just seems to be an innate thing to me
	P13: I suppose partly my background, coming from a family that we have to be very conscious about money and the stresses around it. I think there's a problem with the system but also [with] me in the system I was too empathetic almost with those situations.
Moral and ethical conflict	Situations that generated either a conflict with the participant's personal values or a conflict with their perceived professional ethics.
	P6: () having to go ahead and do a treatment that wasn't optimal for the animal because the owner couldn't afford it, or the owner just didn't care enough in some cases.
	P9: If I was aware of colleagues acting unethically [that affected me]
	P13: That one with the cat with the broken hip that just needed cage rest, that was a big ethical dilemma in a way.
	P7: If I had euthanized something that didn't need to be euthanized, like the kittens with cat flu or some dog with behaviour issues something like that.
	P5: () it's sort of professional suicide I supposed if you went around sort of pointing out all the welfare issues and things in animals.
Moral stress	Stress and accompanying negative emotions and thoughts elicited from exposure to moral or ethical conflict.
	P25: I found that really hard. [I felt like I was over servicing]
	P14: I felt bad. I felt really bad and I did feel responsible.
	P21: You know what the right thing is. It's just when do you pull the stops out and say to people, "You know what you're wanting me to do is unacceptable." I find that possibility of conflict quite stressful.
Moral distress	Psychological anguish and emotional distress stemming from moral or ethical conflicts.
	P1: I think it just got to a point where I felt terrible as a human being ()

P6: I was stuck in the middle having to carry, take on their anger and their guilt. I would be feeling for them, and for the animal, and taking all of that on myself which was a huge emotional burden to bear. That was my other really big challenge that ultimately led me to just feeling emotionally burned out, getting to the point where you feel like you can't feel anymore.
P7: I had to euthanize a number of kittens and that still upsets me. I still think about it. I still see it my head they really took a toll.

# Study 2

#### Methods

A survey was created and distributed to current and former veterinary clinicians. Surveys were distributed by veterinary groups on social media platforms and disseminated through alumni offices of six of seven Australian universities that have veterinary science programs. The survey was open between November 2019 and February 2020. The survey explored aspects of veterinary professional life to acquire data for a larger study and included a section on moral distress, which is analysed in this study along with demographics. Demographic data included gender, field of work, region of work, age and years of experience.

#### Survey

Moral distress was explored using items from a 27-item validated scale developed in healthcare professionals<sup>28</sup>. The Measure of Moral Distress for Healthcare Professionals (MMD-HP) represents the most current measure of moral distress for healthcare professionals. It was theorised that if veterinarians undergo a similar moral deliberation process as medical nurses, a validated MD scale for healthcare professionals might also apply to veterinarians. The MMD-HP had four factors that explained the root causes of moral distress in medical professionals. The MMD-HP factors were: 1) conflicts with the workplace primary systems (System) with eight items, 2) clinical conflicts at the patient level (Patient) with six items, 3) compromised team integrity perceived as a personal threat (Personal Threat) with seven items, and 4) breakdown in team interactions with a patient or the patient's family (Team communication) with six items.

The scale comprised two questions per item to evaluate both the frequency of the moral conflict and its associated distress. The scale asks per item: *In relation to the following situations: How often does this occur?* and *How distressing do you find it?* For example, question 1 of the MMD-HP states: *'Witness healthcare providers giving "false hope" to a patient or family'*. The respondent is asked how frequently this situation occurs and how distressing they found it. A final score per item is calculated by multiplying the results of the two questions as per the MMD-HP design<sup>28</sup>. Although the original measure uses a 5-point Likert scale from 0 (never/not distressing) to 4 (very frequently/very distressing), it was an ethics committee suggestion by The

University of Adelaide for this survey to include a 'not applicable' option. Therefore, the adapted measure used for this study ranged from 0 (not applicable) and 1 (never/not distressing) to 4 (very frequently/very distressing). Some of the items of the original measure were re-worded to align with a veterinary context. For the example above, the item was re-worded to *Witness veterinarians give 'false hope' to a client regarding a patient*.

Study 1 and the related veterinary literature revealed additional moral conflicts that the MMD-HP does not capture; therefore, adapting the scale for the veterinary context was necessary. The MMD-HP does not include moral conflicts previously associated with MD in veterinarians, recurrent moral conflicts discussed in literature, and those conflicts mentioned by participants from Study 1. Thus, eight items were added to further contextualise the measure for the veterinary profession. The veterinary specific items added to the scale were:

- 1- Performing euthanasia in general.
- 2- Performing euthanasia for reasons I do not agree with.
- 3- Suspecting patient abuse or animal cruelty.
- 4- Being unable to provide optimal care due to pressures from clients to reduce costs.
- 5- Working in a situation where the client would not pay for the recommended treatment.
- 6- Participating in care and procedures I do not agree with but doing so because of fear of being fired.
- 7- Carrying out the client's wishes that were not in the best interest of the patient.
- 8- Assisting other veterinarians who were providing incompetent care.

The total score used for analysis tallies the score of all the items from the MMD-HP and the added veterinary specific items, a total of thirty-five items. The moral distress component of the survey is provided in the supplementary materials.

The final step of the survey in Study 2 used a qualitative thematic analysis on the open-ended question responses asking respondents to identify any other situations perceived to cause moral or ethical conflict. This step was done to capture possible themes and conflicts in a large cohort of veterinarians that might not have been previously described in the literature. This question was worded as: *Thinking back to your time as a veterinary clinician, were there any other elements that you considered to cause moral or ethical conflict? (please specify).* In the question, 'other elements' refers to the items of the MMD-HP and the veterinary items added. This provided a contextual framing for the open-ended question<sup>33</sup>. Specific definitions of moral and ethical conflict were not provided to avoid leading the respondents towards pre-determined definitions and to allow their interpretations of moral or ethical conflict to come to light.

#### Data analysis

Two analyses were performed to develop a scale to measure moral distress. The quantitative part of the project was completed using SPSS Statistics® (V.26).

The total responses (n = 643) were randomly divided into two groups of approximately 50% partition using the randomised case selection of SPSS. An exploratory analysis using principal component analysis (PCA) was completed with one of those groups (Group A, n = 325). PCA was chosen since simple and psychometrically sound factor extraction was all that was needed<sup>43</sup>. PCA also captures maximum variation and avoids some potential problems with factor indeterminacy<sup>42,43</sup>. The program uses listwise exclusions and the PCA was performed on 325 complete answers. A Cronbach's alpha of 0.7 or above was considered acceptable for emerging factors<sup>44</sup>. However, only items with factors at a loading of 0.55 (rounded from 0.548) or above were kept in the exploratory analysis, since it was found that these provided the best model fit in the confirmatory factor analysis. The second step was to perform a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) using SPSS<sup>®</sup> Amos 26 using the default estimation method of Maximum Likelihood. The CFA was completed on Group B (n = 318). The pilot scale underwent confirmatory factor analysis using SPSS<sup>®</sup> Amos to assess the model's goodness of fit. Goodness of fit with the current sample size was established by achieving the following fit indices: Relative to degrees of freedom chi-square (X<sup>2</sup>/df) with a cut off value of <2 to 5; Goodness of fit index (GFI) with a cut off value of >0.9<sup>66</sup>.

Finally, the free-text answers were analysed using thematic analysis, where the principal researcher (AAM) did the initial coding. The codebook and structure of themes and sub-themes were reviewed iteratively by two authors (AAM and SMM). Inter-coder agreement was established by independently coding 10% of the answers, which yielded a 74% pre-discussion agreement and a 98% post-discussion agreement<sup>40</sup>. As per in Study 1, for the 2% of codes that the two researchers disagreed on, the coding criteria of the primary researcher prevailed on the basis that the primary researcher was more immersed in the data.

#### Results

#### Description of the sample

The survey had a total of 920 responses. However, only the 643 participants who completed the quantitative moral distress survey were used for the factor analysis. Of the respondents, 420 (65.3%) were female and 221 were male (34.4%), one identified as other and one answered as 'preferred not to say' (0.3%). There were 425 (66.1%) small animal clinicians, 161 (25%) mixed animal, production animal, and equine practitioners, 54 (8.4%) worked in other fields like specialist practice and wildlife care, and three did not answer. A total of 227 (35.3%) were no longer working in clinical practice, and the remaining 416 (64.7%) were still working as clinicians. The

average age of the participants was 46 years of age, and the average years since graduation was 17 years (Table 2). Three hundred and eleven participants responded to the text question at the end of the survey: *Thinking back to your time as a veterinary clinician, were there any other elements that you considered to cause moral or ethical conflict? (please specify),* however, 49 of them answered 'no' or their response was unrelated to the question. Out of the 261 respondents who provided codable responses to the free text question, 177 (67.6%) were female, 84 (32.1%) were male, and one identified as other. In regards to field of work, 174 (66.4%) had worked with small animals only, whereas the rest had worked in mixed animal practice and other fields, and 91 (34.7%) had stopped working in clinical practice at the time of the survey.

#### Table 2: Description of the sample

Variable		Categorical Variables	
		n	%
Currently still working in clinical practice			
Yes		416	64.7%
No No		227	35.3%
Region of work			
Metropolitan only		341	53.2%
Semi-rural and rural		270	42.1%
Both		30	4.7%
Gender			
Female		420	65.3%
Male		221	34.4%
Other/Prefer not to say		2	0.3%
Field of work			
Small animal only: Mix.		425	66.1%
equine and production		161	25%
animal; other		54	8.4%
	Co	ontinuous variable	9S
	n	Mean (range)	Standard deviation
Age	640	45.91 (23-88)	+- 15.06
Experience	641	16.7 (<1 – 60)	+- 13.93

## Principal component analysis (PCA)

Based on the scree plot and subsequent parallel analysis comparing eigenvalues, three factors were retained from the initial exploratory factor analysis<sup>43</sup>. Sixteen items were identified in the exploratory factor analysis as loading adequately onto these factors (>0.55 factor loading). These 16 items were analysed using both a direct oblimin and a varimax oblique rotation forced to the three factors. Since these methods yielded similar results, only the results of the varimax rotation are reported here<sup>43</sup>. Only those items that loaded on a single factor (factor loading > 0.55) and were conceptually different from each other were kept in the final scale. A factor loading cut off of >0.55 (rounded up from 0.548) was used since using a lower cut off point previously yielded an inadequate goodness of fit in the confirmatory factor analysis model. The three factors ascertained from the PCA represent possible root causes of moral distress in veterinary clinical practice. Factor 1 (Team relations that compromise patient or client care) has 6 items and represents situations where adverse team relations and communication compromise patient and client care. Factor 2 (Conflicting client interactions) also has 6 items and represents situations where there are conflicting interests between client and patient needs. Factor 3 (Situations perceived as personal threat) has 4 items and represents situations where the professional perceives a personal threat. Table 3 displays the results of the exploratory principal component analysis as the pilot scale.

# Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA)

A Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was then performed on the pilot scale. Goodness of fit indices for the analysis are shown in Table 4. The model had a RMSEA value of 0.08, indicating low indices of significant error. The relative chi square (X<sup>2</sup>/df) and the TLI and CFI indices met the cut off criteria indicating an adequate model fit. The model is provided in Figure 1. The final moral distress scale for veterinarians (MDS-V) was confirmed as a three-factor scale with 16 items (Table 3). The scale uses a 0-4 Likert scale (from never/not distressing to very frequently/very distressing with 'not applicable' as 0). Each item was measured by multiplying the frequency of the moral conflict occurring ('*How often does this occur?*') and distress elicited ('*How distressing do you find it?*') to create a single score per item ranging from 0-16<sup>28</sup>. A total moral distress score was then calculated by adding all the items together for a score ranging from 0-256.

# Table 3: Moral Distress Scale for Veterinarians (MDS-V)

Items and factors, with item's source of origin, factor loading scores and Cronbach's Alpha score per factor.

Item	Item origin	Factor 1 Team relations that compromise patient or client care	Factor 2 Conflicting client interactions	Factor 3 Situations perceived as personal threat
1. Participate on a team that gives inconsistent messages to clients	MMD-HP – Team communication affecting patient care	0.731		
<ol> <li>Experiencing lack of administrative action or support for a problem that is compromising patient and/or client care</li> </ol>	MMD-HP – System	0.665		
<ol> <li>Working within power hierarchies in teams, units and in my practice (or institution) that compromise patient and/or client care</li> </ol>	MMD-HP – Personal threat	0.658		
4. Witnessing low quality of patient and client care due to poor team communication	MMD-HP – Team communication affecting patient care	0.621		
<ol> <li>Being required to care for patients who have inconsistent or unclear treatment plans or who lack goals of care</li> </ol>	MMD-HP – Team communication affecting patient care	0.621		
6. Assisting other veterinarians who were providing incompetent care	Veterinary specific added item	0.576		
7. Working in a situation where the client would not pay for the recommended treatment	Veterinary specific added item		0.772	
8. Being unable to provide optimal care due to pressures from clients to reduce costs	Veterinary specific added item		0.741	
9. Carrying out the client's wishes that were not in the best interest of the patient	Veterinary specific added item		0.707	
10. Performing euthanasia for reasons I do not agree with	Veterinary specific added item		0.655	
11. Being required to work with abusive clients $^{\dagger}$	MMD-HP – System		0.617	
<ol> <li>Continue providing aggressive treatment to a patient who is most likely to die regardless of this treatment</li> </ol>	MMD-HP – Patients		0.548	
<ol> <li>Participate in care and procedures I do not agree with, but doing so because of fears of being fired</li> </ol>	Veterinary specific added item			0.677
14. Witness a violation of standard of practice or code of ethics and do not feel sufficiently supported to report the violation	MMD-HP – Personal threat			0.644
15. Feel the pressure to order or carry out orders for what I consider to be unnecessary or inappropriate tests and treatments	MMD-HP – Patients			0.638
16. Participate in care and procedures I do not agree with, but doing so because of fears of litigation or complaints	MMD-HP – Personal threat			0.569
Sub-Scale Cronbach's Alpha		0.849	0.835	0.768

# Figure 1 Confirmatory factor analysis



**Table 4** Model Goodness of Fit for Confirmatory Factor Analysis

 Indices of goodness of fit for confirmatory factor analysis of the Moral Distress Scale for Veterinarians (MDS-V)

Model	$\chi^2$	df	р	$\chi^2/df$	TLI	CFI	<i>RMSEA</i> (90% CI)
Three factor	287.75	101	< 0.001	2.85	0.91	0.92	0.08 (0.07, 0.09)
components							

Analysis of free-text responses in survey

Two themes emerged from the data: Animal Health and Human Interactions. In Animal Health, the respondents' perceptions related to conflicts where the health of and care for the animals were not prioritised. This theme has five sub-themes: Clinical care, Clients, Colleagues, Euthanasia and Systems. In Human Interactions, respondents described conflicting situations unrelated to animal patients but rather interactions with other people. This theme has six sub-themes: Negative colleague interactions, Client care and interactions, Financial gain, Employment conditions, Personal threat and Regulations. Furthermore, respondents often described situations that represented interactions between the two themes. The codebook for this analysis, with themes, sub-themes and illustrative quotes, is shown in Table 5.

Animal Health relates directly to the effect of a situation on the animal patient and contains five sub-themes. Below are definitions of each sub-theme and sample quotes:

Clinical care: conflict arose from the veterinarians' inability to provide the desired clinical care. This
includes treating animals with genetic deformities or pressure to provide diagnostics, treatments or
procedures they considered unnecessary or unbeneficial to the patient.

C322: Was told it was compulsory to give every animal an injection of steroids and antibiotics.

2) Clients: the respondents explained the conflicts arising from clients failing to facilitate or provide desired patient care, including inability or unwillingness to pay for treatment, not following treatment recommendations, animal cruelty or neglect, and breeding animals for commercial gain.

C411: Not having the ability to make a difference with clients who neglect their animals.

3) Colleagues: situations where the respondent's colleagues or other veterinary team members failed to provide the desired patient care.

C636: (...) watching other vets provide substandard or outdated care despite evidence this is no longer acceptable.

4) Euthanasia: situations specifically related to the undesired euthanasia of animals.

C732: healthy animals with a good chance of finding a new home, euthanasia at owners' insistence.

5) System: situations where systematic flaws in the clinic or the industry hindered the ability to provide the desired patient care, including lack of resources, staff training, and industry or practice protocols disagreeable to the respondent.

C442: Supporting animal production systems that do not take animal welfare considerations into account sufficiently.

The second theme, Human Interactions, focuses on interpersonal relationships rather than the animal patient. These include interactions with the veterinarian and the veterinary team as well as the public and clients. Human interactions contains the six sub-themes described below, each with sample quotes.

1) Negative colleague interactions: situations where moral and ethical conflict was related to interpersonal relationships with colleagues not involving animal patients. Respondents mentioned colleagues' abuse to persons other than themselves, employers and support staff, and lack of support from employers.

C811: not receiving adequate support from my employer.

2) Client care and interactions: interactions and conflicts limited to the veterinarians' ability to care for their clients, including the impact of the cost of veterinary care on the client, client expectations for service, client welfare, and unethical client actions. These conflicts do not involve a perception of personal threat to the veterinarian.

C863: Doing expensive diagnostics for clients who really couldn't afford them but paid anyway.

3) Financial gain: conflicts arising from pressure to increase financial gain, including revenue generation and over-servicing clients.

C836: Upselling products/services that are unnecessary (...)

4) Employment conditions: moral and ethical conflicts arising from working conditions perceived by the respondent as unjust or immoral.

C545: (...) on call 24/7 with no additional remuneration for extra hours worked.

5) Personal threat: situations where the respondent perceives a direct threat to themselves, including abuse and bullying, where they are unable to speak up.

Case 420: not feeling able to speak up.

6) Regulations: situations involving conflict with regulations, legislation or regulatory authorities.

C300: Being forced to perform procedures that were against the rules of horse racing.

# Table 5: Moral and Ethical Conflict. Analysis of Free Text Answers

Question that generated free text responses: Thinking back to your time as a veterinary clinician, were there any other elements that you considered to cause moral or ethical conflict? (please specify). Themes and sub-themes with associated descriptions and illustrative quotes

Name	Description and sample statements
Animal health	Conflicts where animal health is not being prioritized
1 Clinical care	Conflicts arising from the veterinarian themselves failing to provide desired clinical care, including treatment, diagnostics and avoiding breeding animals with genetic defects
	Case 305: () giving puppies a multi vitamin injection with no scientifically justifiable reason
	Case 389: () we did not use sufficient analgesia for patients ()
	Case 542: Palliative care which is not in the best interest of the patient
	Case 635: () when diagnosis for a patient was made too quickly, or other possible causes of illness were not considered
	Case 272: Working in canine reproduction - elective caesarians on "designer" breeds
2 Clients	Conflicts arising from clients failing to facilitate or provide desired patient care, including inability or unwillingness to pay for treatment, not following treatment recommendations, animal cruelty or neglect, and breeding animals for commercial gain
	Case 284: Working with animal welfare groups who weren't prepared to support optimal care, who sometimes treated the animals in their care poorly

	Case 525: The main one being when clients are unwilling or unable to pay for appropriate care/treatment of their animal
	Case 765: Skull smashed in by owner repeatedly thrashing its head against the ground. Causing brain herniation and eventual death
	Case 585: [Clients] who feel they have a right to own a pet but can't afford even basic care
	Case 701: Servicing breeders, particularly backyard, guard dogs and greyhound breeders
3 Colleagues	Conflicts arising from colleagues or other veterinary team members failing to provide desired patient care
	Case 264: Primarily when I felt other vets were not providing the appropriate standard of care
	Case 654: Vets who are dangerous to animals, e.g. using dangerous anaesthetic protocol
	Case 292: Main issue was compromised patient care from other staff members not doing their jobs properly – laziness
	Case 644: () patients who had been seriously mismanaged by their referring vet
	Case 839: The reluctance of new graduates to try anything out of their comfort zone, e.g. refusing to treat a bird, and only wanting to treat dogs and cats
4 Euthanasia	Conflicts related to performing undesired euthanasia of animals
	Case 721: Unnecessary euthanasia
	Case 744: Euthanising wild rabbits
	Case 788: () euthanising for behavioural/owner needs
	Case 872: Being asked to euthanase healthy stock animals (zoo) due to poor population management by zoo
	Case 503: euthanasia due to financial constraints
5 System	Conflicts arising from system deficits that impact on patient care, including lack of resources, staff training, and industry or practice protocols the respondent disagreed with.
	Case 387: The practice I worked in didn't have proper facilities
	Case 151: lack of support staff compromising patient care and workflow efficiency
	Case 636: () being forced to conform to this level of care due to lack of facilities or drugs or staff at the clinic

	Case 864: Practice protocols that create 'blanket rules' and do not allow
	variation for individual patients
	Case 818: Lack of consistency of care and nurse training to carry out hospital care
Human interactions	Conflicts that do not focus on prioritization of animal health, but focus on
	human interactions. This includes interactions with the veterinarian and the
	veterinary team as well as the public and clients.
1 Negative colleague interactions	Conflicts within the veterinary team, including employers, other veterinarians, support staff and bullying among staff members, that do not impact patient care and do not involve a perception of personal threat to the veterinarian.
	Case 353: Having to deal with other vets' egos
	Case 404: Working in a practice where principal and I had vastly differing values
	Case 391: Largely lack of support for new graduate
	Case 534: () support staff were lied to and encouraged to lie to clients and where staff worked as veterinarians even though they were not
	Case 743: Corporates with a bullying culture within upper management
2 Client care and interactions	Conflicts that affect the ability of the veterinarian to care for their clients, including the impact of the cost of veterinary care on the client, client expectations for service, client welfare, and unethical client actions. These conflicts do not involve a perception of personal threat to the veterinarian.
	Case 434: I have ethical issues with spending untold amounts of money to extend the life of animals when that money could be used to improve the circumstances of people who have little or nothing
	Case 340: policies that impacted livelihoods of primary producers negatively
	Case 431: dealing with clients who had mental health issues
	Case 166: dealing with clients that expect us as a profession [to] provide treatment for free
	Case 717: Unrealistic client expectations, and irate clients where complications arise despite complications being discussed previously
3 Financial gain	Conflicts arising from pressure to increase financial gain, including revenue generation and over-servicing clients.
	Case 854: () excessive diagnostic aids to make more money
	Case 860: I have been required to apply the "do you want fries with that" sales technique to on-sell food and other products. I have been pushed to

	most turnover terrete to maintain my employment encouraging pen
	meet turnover targets to maintain my employment, encouraging non-
	essential procedures and diagnostics to meet those targets.
	Case 324: income generated [was] more important than patient outcome
	Case 270: I've witnessed practice owners overservice so many times they
	don't even realize they're doing it anymore
	Case 361: Owner of practice being very money focused and wanting to
	prolong life of pets to make more money
4 Employment	Conflicts in relation to employment conditions including working hours
4 Employment	remuneration safe physical work environment and dismissal
conditions	remuneration, sale physical work environment and dismissal.
	Case 152: Being sacked instead of being allowed maternity leave
	Case 600: unsafe equipment/working environment - leaking iso machine, xray safety
	Case 872 <sup>.</sup> Seeing people terminated from positions or having hours taken
	away for personal reasons with management with no due process
	away for porconal reacond war management war no ado procede
	Case 825: Having to work while fatigued (no sleep)
	Case 571: Spending excessive hours to earn minimal income at the expense of my family
5 Personal threat	Conflicts with clients or veterinary team members that involve a perception
	of personal threat, including abuse or an inability to speak up about
	breaches in patient or client care.
	Case 644: [I] found it challenging morally/ethically to know how much to tell
	the client, i.e. that their pet has been given inappropriate treatment (which I
	feel is the right/honest thing to do) but not wanting to bad mouth another
	vet behind their back
	Case 736: Feeling like I have to be bright and bubbly and kind even when
	a client has done the wrong thing by their animal to avoid having bad
	reviews written about me online
	Case 823: Abuse from superiors in form of withholding pay, ridicule and
	physically assaulting me for standing up for patient and staff welfare
	C142: () being powerless to do anything about it.
	Case 671: Abusive clients banned due to aggression ( ) It's very
	distressing for staff to deal with abuse
6 Regulations	Conflicts in relation to regulations and regulatory organisations outside the
orregulations	work environment including breach of legislation legislative bodies such
	as the Veterinary Surgeon's Board, and animal welfare authorities such as
	the RSPCA
	Case 320: being called by RSPCA as expert witness and "quilty" offender
	aets off free

Case 549: () he had been investigated multiple times by the vet board but they kept letting him practice
Case 529: Previous work place conducting illegal activity ()
Case 479: Use of banned substances in the racing industry
Case 843: having to tell the relevant government department of a notifiable disease found in clients' livestock

## Discussion

This project investigated moral distress in veterinarians using a mixed-methods approach. Thematic analysis of semi-structured interview responses indicates that a previously proposed model for the moral deliberation pathway in veterinarians based on a moral distress theory for medical nurses<sup>1,7</sup> is consistent with veterinarians' experiences of moral and ethical conflict in clinical practice. In Study 2, a moral distress scale for veterinarians was constructed (MDS-V). The MDS-V has three factors focused on adverse team relations and communication that compromise patient or client care, conflicting interests between client and patient, and perceptions of personal threat. Thematic analysis of free-text responses confirmed that moral and ethical conflicts similar to those disclosed in Study 1 participants occur in a larger cohort of veterinarians. Furthermore, this analysis provided additional information on the moral and ethical conflicts faced by veterinarians in clinical practice. Together, these analyses provide insight into factors associated with moral distress in clinical practice and an instrument to measure these factors.

Former veterinary clinicians recounted moral and ethical conflict and moral distress in their clinical experiences. Situations that triggered a moral and ethical conflict appeared in 20 out of 30 interviews of former veterinary clinicians. The majority of this group (17/20) experienced emotions consistent with moral stress eliciting from such conflicts. Out of the 20, 9 described emotions consistent with moral distress (lasting psychological anguish). How participants perceived and managed moral conflicts was crucial to whether they developed moral distress or moral comfort. Furthermore, when exposed to a moral or ethical conflict, the deliberation path was influenced by factors including values, beliefs and perception of animal value. In previous studies, similar factors have been found to modify the response to ethical challenges in veterinarians<sup>15,25</sup>. Other influential factors in the decision-making of veterinarians include financial considerations and client expectations and wishes<sup>45</sup>. In medical nurses, factors that influence the development of moral distress include individual personal characteristics and values<sup>46</sup>; high moral competency<sup>7</sup>; lack of empathy from peers<sup>47</sup>; and staffing, time and scheduling constraints<sup>47</sup>.

This section of the study contributes empirical evidence of the factors influencing the moral deliberation pathway in veterinary clinical practice, attained by applying the moral distress theory developed for medical nurses in the

veterinary context and confirming the moral deliberation pathway proposed by the review of the literature<sup>1,7</sup>. These crucial new understandings can inform intervention strategies. Intervention strategies proposed for medical nurses include increasing professional autonomy<sup>48</sup>, improving bioethical education<sup>46,48</sup>, and providing structured support within the workplace<sup>47</sup>. Since veterinary clinicians seem to follow a similar moral distress model to medical nurses, it could be hypothesised that similar intervention strategies might be beneficious. Future research could include a prospective study analysing the response to intervention strategies. For such a proposal, measuring moral distress in veterinarians is imperative. Furthermore, moral distress can be associated with other negative occupational aspects such as staff turnover and job dissatisfaction<sup>7,19,21-23,48</sup>. Assessing whether moral distress Contributes to aspects such as clinical attrition and professional dissatisfaction in veterinarians requires MD to be measured.

Moral distress was identified when participants described feelings of heavy 'emotional burden', 'feeling awful' and 'terrible', and described the experience as a long-lasting negative emotion. Similarly, nurses experiencing moral distress report feelings of anger, anxiety, depression, sadness, frustration, decreased morale, belittlement, increased distress and psychological and physical exhaustion<sup>8,49</sup>. Moral distress is associated with attrition from practice and staff turnover in medical professionals<sup>19,21-23,48,49</sup>, and one participant in this study associated a direct link between moral distress and intention to leave practice. However, other detrimental impacts of moral distress can occur, which includes reduced job satisfaction<sup>49,50</sup>, reduced quality of patient care<sup>7</sup>, and injury to the professional's moral integrity<sup>8</sup>. These potential negative outcomes highlight the importance of recognising, measuring and minimising the development of moral distress in clinical settings, particularly when a moral conflict cannot be avoided.

A prototype for a psychometric scale to measure moral distress in veterinary clinicians was developed. The resulting Moral Distress Scale for Veterinarians (MDS-V) is comprised of three factors. Factor 1 (Team relations that compromise patient or client care) describes issues with colleagues similar to those experienced by medical professionals, and included most of the items from the original MMD-HP. The items loading in this factor originated from different sub-scales of the original measure. Three items originated in the MMD-HP from a breakdown in team interaction with patient or family. Two others originated from conflicts related to institutional systems and perception of personal threat associated with these. Finally, one item was a veterinary specific addition to the survey. Overall, this sub-scale shows moral conflicts that relate to different aspects of the veterinary team, including leadership, other veterinarians, and support staff who are perceived to be compromising the care the veterinarian can deliver to their patients and clients. These conflicts were reflected in sub-themes grouped under each of the Animal Health and Human Interactions themes identified in the free-text responses, especially in the Clinical Care, Colleagues and System sub-themes of Animal Health, and the Client Care and Interactions sub-theme of Human Interactions. Team interactions, lack of collaboration and differences in values and standards of care seem to be a recurrent root cause of moral conflict in healthcare<sup>19,20,28</sup>. In

veterinarians, the literature focuses on moral conflicts surrounding patient care, euthanasia and issues with clients<sup>4,5,16,18,45</sup>. The perception of incompetent care from colleagues<sup>14</sup>, the disproportionate use of diagnostics<sup>26</sup> and therapies<sup>45</sup>, and issues with professional working relations have also been previously proposed as possible moral challenges in small veterinary cohorts. This larger study confirms that these conflicting interactions with colleagues are prevalent sources of moral conflict in veterinary practice.

Factor 2 (Conflicting client interactions) of the MDS-V presents items that involve a conflict between clients' interests and the care the veterinarian wishes to provide. These items relate to veterinary costs; care against the best interest of the patient; euthanasia they do not wish to perform, and working with abusive clients. These conflicts were reflected in both the Animal Health and Human Interactions themes identified in the free-text responses and discussed by the participants in Study 1. This can be seen especially in the Animal Health sub-themes of Clients and Euthanasia, and the Human Interactions sub-theme of Client Care and Interactions. In healthcare professionals, situations where the patient care is not prioritised are also a source of moral and ethical conflict<sup>20,27,28,51</sup>. Conflicts regarding patient care, including that it is against the patient's best interest and working with abusive patients or family members, are seen in the paediatric medical literature<sup>20,52</sup>. However, factors associated with the cost of medical care and factors relating to euthanasia are not reported on the measures of moral distress in medical professionals. The items within Conflicting client interactions (Factor 2) have been previously reported as problems associated with moral stress and distress in veterinarians<sup>5,14,18,24,45</sup>. Furthermore, this factor highlights the previously theorised conflict that veterinarians face when balancing patient advocacy with client care<sup>2,32,45</sup>. Balancing patient advocacy and client care seems to be a recurrent source of moral conflict, stress and distress in veterinarians.

Factor 3 (Situations perceived as a personal threat) relates to issues perceived to compromise the integrity or livelihood of the respondent including fears of being fired and litigation, feeling unable to report breaching in codes of ethics and feeling pressured to carry out inappropriate treatments by practice leadership or clients. This sub-scale involved two items gathered from the Personal Threat subscale of the MMD-HP, one item gathered from the patient-related component of the MMD-HP, and one veterinary specific item. Although only one participant from Study 1 reported '*professional suicide*' (Table 1) when discussing animal welfare advocacy in the presence of moral conflicts, issues perceived as a threat to the veterinarians' integrity or livelihood were repeatedly reflected in free-text responses. These conflicts were grouped under the Personal Threat sub-theme of Human Interactions, as well as additional Animal Health and Human Interactions sub-themes depending on the source of the pressure felt to carry out inappropriate treatments. Fears of dismissal, litigation and the perception of being forced to comply with disagreeable procedures are significant conflicts in veterinary practice and have only been proposed as an ethical dilemma in a narrative qualitative investigation on ethical decision making in a cohort of Canadian veterinarians<sup>15</sup>. Although situations of perceived personal threat and pressure to

increase financial gain by over-servicing clients have received limited attention in relation to moral conflict in veterinarians, they been previously discussed in the literature as a source of job dissatisfaction, stress and attrition from veterinary clinical practice<sup>38</sup>. These results provide further evidence that issues perceived as a personal threat are important sources of moral and ethical conflict in veterinary clinicians, which can have practical implications for the veterinary workplace. Recognising and addressing situations that are considered a personal threat can help mitigate moral distress in veterinarians.

Most of the free text responses from the survey aligned with the factors that emerged in the scale development. However, some were not captured by the MDS-V. Some items (like conflicts with regulatory authorities) were not included in the original survey since they were not discussed in Study 1 as potential sources of moral conflict. while others (witnessing animal abuse) did not incur a high enough factor loading to be included in the measure. Our research proposes a pilot scale to measure MD in veterinary clinicians but further validity is needed. Scale validation is an onerous process that requires multiple studies and techniques<sup>65</sup>. Repeating an exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis adding the constructs emerging from the free-text answers would aid in the scale validation process. PCA was used for factor extraction since this simple and psychometrically sound extraction of components was deemed adequate<sup>43</sup>. However, it does not identify possible latent factors underlying the observed variables for which an exploratory factor analysis (EFA) is needed<sup>42</sup>. Although it is likely that both methods would yield similar results, future studies to assess validity of the measure could evaluate any possible latent factors using EFA. Further scale validity for the MDS-V include using EFA to determine underlying latent constructs, perform a content validity analysis, determine concurrent and discriminant validity, and perform a correlation analysis in different populations. Furthermore, administering the MDS-V in a different sample population as part of the validation process could yield different results for moral distress in association with attrition. Responses showed that veterinarians encountered moral conflict when animal care was not being prioritised, which is aligned with items seen in Conflicting client interactions (Factor 2) and the Animal Health theme of the free-text responses. These conflicts include those surrounding euthanasia of patients and clients' financial constraints. Discussing the conflicts arising from human interactions (where the focus is the human interaction rather than the animal patient) is a moral conflict that had not been previously widely explored in veterinarians.

## Implications

This study details moral distress as a work-related stressor in veterinary clinicians and establishes a contextualised measure of moral distress in veterinary clinical practice. Study 1 provides evidence that a moral distress theory developed for medical nurses needs to be contextualised to veterinarians and confirms the moral deliberation pathway proposed in a review of the veterinary literature<sup>1</sup>. These findings suggests that similar intervention strategies implemented for healthcare professionals could aid in mitigating the deleterious effects of

moral distress in veterinarians. The analysis of free-text answers in Study 2 provides additional information on moral conflicts in veterinary clinicians that had previously received limited attention. The analysis of free-text answers is not expected to contribute in our understanding of moral distress with the desired rigour and depth<sup>33,53</sup> as it lacks layers of detail and other contextualisation<sup>33</sup> but importantly, it allows us to identify additional sources of moral conflict experienced in veterinary clinical practice.

Finally, the provided instrument to measure moral distress in veterinary clinical practice is a valuable tool to identify moral distress and the associated emotional toll on clinicians presented with moral conflicts. This scale requires being validated in a different cohort of veterinary clinicians<sup>54</sup>. Validating a psychological measure requires a body of research that is beyond one empirical study<sup>54</sup>. The mixed-methods approach strengthens the findings as the constructs relate meaningfully to the qualitative findings both in Study 1 and the themes emerging from the analysis of the free-text answers. However, more research is needed to understand the nature of these constructs and how they may affect the scoring of the postulated scale.

One of the main steps established in the medical literature to reduce moral distress is to recognise the phenomenon when it occurs, name it, and increase self-awareness in the face of moral conflict<sup>55</sup>. Possible strategies to manage moral distress in veterinarians include increasing self-awareness and level of bioethical education and establishing a supportive work environment. These strategies draw on both personal and contextual resources for enhancing resilience in veterinary practice<sup>56,58</sup>. For example, the ability to debrief with and have support from peers has been reported as necessary in medical nurses<sup>49</sup>. This concept has also been discussed in the veterinary literature where peer support, mentorship and supervision has been associated with developing positive coping mechanisms and overcoming negative clinical outcomes<sup>57,58</sup>. It has also been suggested as beneficial for veterinarians dealing with challenging workplace situations<sup>56,59</sup>, including ethical conflicts concerning euthanasia<sup>60</sup>. Structured ethical decision-making skills were found to be a valuable tool for veterinary students facing ethical dilemmas<sup>61</sup>, and bioethical education has been reported to increase moral comfort in medical nurses<sup>6,7</sup>. Furthermore, developing staff empowerment, including self-awareness via peer and collegial support in a no-blame culture where professionals feel comfortable 'speaking up' and debriefing with their teams can be helpful to reduce psychological distress in general<sup>59.</sup> Additionally, empowerment is established as a helpful strategy to reduce moral distress in nurses<sup>51</sup>. Future research could include a prospective study assessing moral distress in veterinary practice before and after proposed intervention strategies. This research provides a scale to measure moral distress and the theoretical pathway to guide the development of intervention strategies.

## Limitations

The potential limitations of this study include self-selection bias due to the voluntary nature of participation in the study. Respondents that had experienced moral conflict, stress or distress may have been more likely to participate than those that did not experience the phenomenon. Further, Study 1 involved participants who had left clinical practice, which could incur recollection bias depending on the time elapsed since the conflicting event occurred. Only 643 out of 920 participants responded to the MD survey. This might be because the moral distress survey was at the very end of a relatively long survey and some participants reported difficulties answering it on a mobile device or because the nature of the questions could have been perceived as intimate or intrusive<sup>62</sup>.

Direct comparison of results on the MDS-V to those on the MMD-HP is not possible due to the use of different Likert scales between the measures. The MDS-V is based on a 5-point Likert scale due to the zero value assigned to 'not applicable', and the anchors for values 1 and 4 matched those used for the values 0 and 4 on the 5-point Likert scale of the MMD-HP. Adding a 'not applicable' option to the survey, although it deviates from the scoring of the MMD-HP, was deemed important. A 'not applicable' option allows the respondents the possibility to report that a particular item (situation potentially triggering moral distress) does not apply to their situation whatsoever. This is a different response than one where a situation could apply to them but it never occurs (scored as 1 in frequency) or that it could apply to them but is of no distress (scored as 1 in level of distress). A 'not applicable' response is also different than a non-answer which requires missing data management strategies in the data analysis rather than an interpretation of the result. In future administrations of the survey explicit instructions to the respondents about the intended difference between 'not applicable', 'never/no distress' will be necessary. The MDS-V also contained items focused on specific moral conflicts reported to occur in veterinary clinical practice. Though this enhanced the contextualisation of the measure for its intended audience and purpose, it limits the comparisons that can be drawn with results reported in other healthcare professions based on the MMD-HP. However, direct comparison is only needed if the purpose of future research is to evaluate whether veterinary clinicians experience more or less moral distress than healthcare professionals based on the results of the MMD-HP and the MDS-V. Finally, the MDS-V was developed based on the adaptation of a moral distress scale for medical professionals. Although the results of Study 1 and review of the literature informed the development of the survey for Study 2 and the added items to the new measure had face validity, a content validity analysis was not performed. It is recommended that a content validity analysis is performed in future validations of the MDS-V<sup>63,64</sup>. Furthermore, some elements of patient care, such as insufficient analgesia or inadequate use of medications, and situations, such as the inability to care for clients and conflicts with regulatory authorities, were not included in the scale. However, these items were either not included in the survey as they were not discussed as potential moral conflicts in Study 1 or did not incur a high enough factor loading to be included in the measure, which may indicate that their contribution to moral distress in veterinarians is smaller than the contribution of the other factors included in the measure.

Finally, although the analysis of the free-text answers does generate insight on additional elements contributing to moral and ethical conflicts in veterinary clinical practice; we acknowledge that the richness and depth of the qualitative analysis is limited in free-text responses<sup>33,53</sup>. Despite the limitations of the free-text response format, the results form a meaningful foundation for future research. To build on this research, future research and future administrations of the MDS-V should include these moral conflicts and assess their contribution to moral distress in veterinarians.

#### Conclusion

Moral distress is an important occupational stressor seen in many healthcare professions and found to have deleterious effects for professionals and patients alike. While observations have been made about moral distress in veterinarians, a more detailed investigation of the phenomenon in these professionals was lacking. This study provides insight into the elements involved in the development of moral distress in veterinarians, including influential factors, description of morally conflicting situations, and possible outcomes of the moral deliberation process. Moral distress has been measured using psychometric scales in healthcare professionals and other occupations but not in veterinarians. This study created a scale to measure moral distress in veterinarians. Identifying situations associated with possible sources of moral stress and distress in clinical practice and implementing strategies to help address these stressors may contribute to enhancing the resilience of the veterinary profession.

# References

- 1. Arbe Montoya, A.I., et al., *Moral distress in veterinarians.* Veterinary Record, 2019. **185**(20): p. 631.
- 2. Morgan, C.A. and M. McDonald, *Ethical dilemmas in veterinary medicine*. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice, 2007. **37**(1): p. 165-79.
- 3. Mullan, S.M. and A. Fawcett, *Veterinary Ethics: Navigating Though Cases*. 2017: 5M Publishing Ltd.
- 4. Rollin, B.E., *Euthanasia and Moral Stress*. Loss, Grief and Care, 1987. **1**(1-2).
- Kipperman, B., P. Morris, and B. Rollin, *Ethical dilemmas encountered by small animal veterinarians: characterisation, responses, consequences and beliefs regarding euthanasia.* Veterinary Record, 2018.
   **182**(19): p. 548.
- 6. Corley, M.C. and P. Minick, *Moral distress or moral comfort.* Bioethics Forum, 2002. **18**(1-2): p. 7-14.
- 7. Corley, M.C., *Nurse moral distress: a proposed theory and research agenda.* Nursing Ethics, 2002. **9**(6): p. 636-50.
- 8. Epstein, E.G., *Understanding and addressing moral distress.* Online Journal of Issues in Nursing, 2010. **15**(3).
- 9. Jameton, A., *Nursing Practice. The Ethical Issues.* Englewood Cliffs. 1984, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- 10. Wilkinson, J.M., *Moral distress in nursing practice.* Nursing Forum, 1987-1988. **23**: p. 19-29.
- 11. Mareš, J., Moral distress: Terminology, theories and models. Kontakt, 2016. 18(3): p. 137-144.
- 12. Epstein, E.G. and A.B. Hamric, *Moral distress, moral residue, and the crescendo effect.* Journal of Clinical Ethics, 2009. **20**(4): p. 330-42.
- 13. Pike, A.W., *Moral outrage and moral discourse in nurse-physician collaboration.* Journal of Professional Nursing, 1991. **7**(6): p. 351-362.
- 14. Crane, M.F., J.K. Phillips, and E. Karin, *Trait perfectionism strengthens the negative effects of moral stressors occurring in veterinary practice.* Aust Vet J, 2015. **93**(10): p. 354-60.
- 15. Morgan, C.A., Stepping up to the plate. Veterinarians, animal welfare and ethical dilemmas., in Doctorate Dissertation. 2009, The University of British Columbia: Vancouver, Canada. p. 215.
- 16. Rollin, B.E., *Euthanasia, moral stress, and chronic illness in veterinary medicine.* Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice, 2011. **41**(3): p. 651-9.
- 17. Kondrup, S.V., et al., Veterinarian's dilemma: a study of how Danish small animal practitioners handle financially limited clients. Veterinary Record, 2016. **179**(23): p. 596.
- 18. Batchelor, C.E. and D.E. McKeegan, Survey of the frequency and perceived stressfulness of ethical dilemmas encountered in UK veterinary practice. Veterinary Record, 2012. **170**(1): p. 1-5.
- 19. Lamiani, G., et al., *Measuring Moral Distress Among Critical Care Clinicians: Validation and Psychometric Properties of the Italian Moral Distress Scale-Revised.* Critical Care Medicine, 2017. **45**(3): p. 430-437.
- 20. Trotochaud, K., et al., *Moral Distress in Pediatric Healthcare Providers*. Journal of Pediatric Nursing, 2015. **30**(6): p. 908-14.
- 21. Dyo, M., P. Kalowes, and J. Devries, *Moral distress and intention to leave: A comparison of adult and paediatric nurses by hospital setting.* Intensive Critical Care Nursing, 2016. **36**: p. 42-8.
- 22. MacKusick, C.I. and P. Minick, *Why are nurses leaving? Findings From an Initial Qualitative Study on Nursing Attrition* MEDSURG Nursing, 2010. **19**(6): p. 335-340.
- 23. Lamiani, G., L. Borghi, and P. Argentero, *When healthcare professionals cannot do the right thing: A systematic review of moral distress and its correlates.* Journal of Health Psychology, 2017. **22**(1): p. 51-67.
- 24. Moses, L., M.J. Malowney, and J. Wesley Boyd, *Ethical conflict and moral distress in veterinary practice: A survey of North American veterinarians.* Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine, 2018. **32**(6): p. 2115-2122.
- 25. Richards, L., *Veterinarians Making Ethical Decisions How do they do it?* 2017, The University of Melbourne: Melbourne, Australia. p. 58.
- 26. Magalhães-Sant'Ana, M., et al., *Ethical challenges facing veterinary professionals in Ireland: Results from Policy Delphi with vignette methodology.* Veterinary Record, 2016. **179**(17): p. 437.
- 27. Corley, M.C., et al., *Development and evaluation of a moral distress scale.* Journal of Advanced Nursing, 2001. **33**(2): p. 250-256.

- 28. Epstein, E.G., et al., *Enhancing Understanding of Moral Distress: The Measure of Moral Distress for Health Care Professionals.* AJOB Empirical Bioethics, 2019. **10**(2): p. 113-124.
- 29. Avery, A., *Convenience euthanasia'. but at what cost to all involved?* Vet Times, 2013: p. 1-10.
- 30. Whiting, T.L. and C.R. Marion, *Perpetration-induced traumatic stress A risk for veterinarians involved in the destruction of healthy animals.* Canadian Veterinary Journal, 2011. **52**(7): p. 794-796.
- 31. Atwood-Harvey, D., *Death or declaw: dealing with moral ambiguity in a veterinary hospital.* Society & Animals, 2005. **13**(4): p. 315-42.
- 32. Tannenbaum, J., Veterinary medical ethics. A focus of conflicting interests. Journal of Social Issues, 1993. **49**(1): p. 143-156.
- 33. O'Cathain, A. and K.J. Thomas, "Any other comments?" Open questions on questionnaires a bane or a bonus to research? BMC Medical Research Methodology, 2004. **4**(1): p. 25.
- 34. Crowe, M., M. Inder, and R. Porter, *Conducting qualitative research in mental health: Thematic and content analyses.* Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 2015. **49**(7): p. 616-623.
- 35. Liamputtong, P., *Qualitative Research Methods*. Fourth ed. 2013, Victoria, Australia: Oxford University Press.
- 36. Braun, V. and V. Clarke, *Using thematic analysis in psychology*. Qualitative Research in Psychology, 2006. **3**(2): p. 77-101.
- 37. Black, N., *Why we need qualitative research.* Journal of epidemiology and community health, 1994. **48**(5): p. 425-426.
- 38. Arbe Montoya, A.I., et al., *Why do veterinarians leave clinical practice? A qualitative study using thematic analysis.* Veterinary Record, 2021. **188**(1): p. 49-58.
- 39. Braun, V. and V. Clarke, Successful Qualitative Research. A practical guide for beginners. 2013: SAGE.
- 40. Campbell, J.L., et al., *Coding In-depth Semistructured Interviews: Problems of Unitization and Intercoder Reliability and Agreement.* Sociological Methods and Research, 2013. **42**(3): p. 294-320.
- 41. Ridner, S.H., *Psychological distress: concept analysis.* Journal of Advanced Nursing, 2004. **45**(5): p. 536-545.
- 42. Field, A., *Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics*. 5th ed. 2018: SAGE.
- 43. Pallant, J., SPSS Survival Manual. 2011, NSW: Allen & Unwin.
- 44. Taber, K.S., *The Use of Cronbach's Alpha When Developing and Reporting Research Instruments in Science Education.* Research in Science Education, 2018. **48**(6): p. 1273-1296.
- 45. Springer, S., et al., "Patients' interests first, but ... "(-)Austrian Veterinarians' Attitudes to Moral Challenges in Modern Small Animal Practice. Animals (Basel), 2019. **9**(5).
- 46. Burston, A.S. and A.G. Tuckett, *Moral distress in nursing. Contributing factors, outcomes and intervention.* Nursing Ethics, 2013. **20**(3): p. 312-324.
- 47. Helmers, A., K.D. Palmer, and R.A. Greenberg, *Moral distress: Developing strategies from experience.* Nursing Ethics, 2020. **27**(4): p. 1147-1156.
- 48. Ramos, M.D.B., et al., Moral distress in nurses. Cultura de los Cuidados, 2017. 21(48): p. 210-218.
- 49. Wiegand, D.L. and M. Funk, *Consequences of clinical situations that cause critical care nurses to experience moral distress.* Nursing Ethics, 2012. **19**(4): p. 479-487.
- 50. Ando, M. and M. Kawano, *Relationships among moral distress, sense of coherence, and job satisfaction.* Nursing Ethics, 2018. **25**(5): p. 571-579.
- 51. Corley, M.C., et al., *Nurse moral distress and ethical work environment.* Nursing Ethics, 2005. **12**(4): p. 381-90.
- 52. Beck, J., et al., *Moral Distress in Pediatric Residents and Pediatric Hospitalists: Sources and Association With Burnout.* Academic Pediatrics, 2020. **20**(8): p. 1198-1205.
- 53. LaDonna, K.A., T. Taylor, and L. Lingard, *Why Open-Ended Survey Questions Are Unlikely to Support Rigorous Qualitative Insights.* Academic Medicine, 2018. **93**(3).
- 54. Gremigni, P., *The Importance of Using Valid and Reliable Measures in Psychology and Psychiatry.* 2020. **9**: p. 24-25.
- 55. Hamric, A., W.S. Davis, and M. Childress, *Moral distress. What is it and what can we do about it?* The Pharos, 2006. **Winter 2006**: p. 16-23.
- 56. Guess, S.C., et al., *Clinical supervision in veterinary medicine.* JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association, 2020. **257**(3).

- 57. White, S.C., Veterinarians' Emotional Reactions and Coping Strategies for Adverse Events in Spay-Neuter Surgical Practice. Anthrozoös, 2018. **31**(1): p. 117-131.
- 58. McArthur, M.L., et al., *Resilience of veterinarians at different career stages: The role of self-efficacy, coping strategies and personal resources for resilience in veterinary practice.* Veterinary Record, 2021. **n/a**(n/a): p. e771.
- 59. Rock, L.K., et al., "Circle up": Workflow adaptation and psychological support via briefing, debriefing and peer support. NEJM CAtalyst, 2020: p. 14.
- 60. Hartnack, S., et al., Attitudes of Austrian veterinarians towards euthanasia in small animal practice: impacts of age and gender on views on euthanasia. BMC Veterinary Research, 2016. **12**: p. 26.
- 61. Verrinder, J.M. and C.J. Phillips, *Development of a moral judgment measure for veterinary education*. Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2014. **41**(3): p. 258-64.
- 62. Melville, A. and D. Hincks, *Conducting sensitive interviews: A review of reflections.* Law and Method, 2016. **1**(1): p. 1-26.
- 63. Hinkin, T.R. and J.B. Tracey, *An Analysis of Variance Approach to Content Validation.* Organizational Research Methods, 1999. **2**(2): p. 175-186.
- 64. Hinkin, T.R., A review of scale development practices in the study of organizations. Journal of Management, 1995. **21**(5): p. 967-988.
- 65. Boateng, G.O., et al., Best Practices for Developing and Validating Scales for Health, Social, and Behavioral Research: A Primer. Front Public Health, 2018. **6** p. 149
- 66. Hu, L., & Bentler, P. M., *Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives.* Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal, 1999 **6**(1): p.1-55.

# Supplementary materials

Appendix 1: Moral distress survey questions

As a veterinary clinician. In relation to the following situations, how often did they occur and how distressing did you find them?

The questions were worded in past tense when presented to former veterinary clinicians and were introduced by 'Thinking back to your time as a veterinary clinician...'

5-point Likert scale from: 0= not applicable, 'never'/'not distressing' = 1 to 'very frequently'/'very distressing' = 4.

- 1- Witness veterinarians give 'false hope' to a client regarding a patient
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 2- Follow the client's (family's) insistence to continue aggressive treatment even though I believe it not to be in the best interest of the patient.
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 3- Feel pressure to order or carry out orders for what I consider to be unnecessary or inappropriate tests and treatments.
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 4- Be unable to provide optimal care due to pressures from management (administrators) or insurers to reduce costs
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 5- Be unable to provide optimal care due to pressures from clients to reduce costs
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 6- Continue to provide aggressive treatment for a patient who is most likely to die regardless of this treatment
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 7- Be pressured to avoid taking action when I learn that another veterinarian, nurse or other team colleague has made a medical error and does not report it
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 8- Be required to care for patients whom I do not feel qualified to care for
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 9- Participate in care that causes unnecessary suffering or does not adequately relieve pain
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 10-Watch patient care suffer because of a lack of provider continuity
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 11-Follow a colleague's request not to discuss the patient's prognosis with the clients
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 12- Witness a violation of a standard of practice or a code of ethics and do not feel sufficiently supported to report the violation

- How often does this occur?
- How distressing do you find it?
- 13- Participate in care and procedures that I do not agree with, but do so because of fears of litigation or complaints
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 14-Participate in care and procedures that I do not agree with, but do so because of fears of being fired
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 15-Be required to work with other team members who are not as competent as patient care requires
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 16-Witness low quality of patient care due to poor team communication
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 17- Feel pressured to ignore situations in which clients have not been given adequate information to ensure informed consent
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 18-Be required to care for more patients than I can safely care for
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 19- Experience compromised patient care due to lack of resources/equipment etc.
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 20- Experience lack of administrative action or support for a problem that is compromising patient care
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 21- Have excessive documentation requirements that compromise patient care
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 22-Fear retribution if I speak up
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 23- Feel unsafe/bullied among my own colleagues
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 24- Be required to work with abusive clients who are compromising quality of care
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 25-Feel require to over emphasize productivity at the expense of patient care
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 26- Be required to care for patients who have inconsistent or unclear treatment plans or who lack goals of care.
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 27-Work within power hierarchies in teams, units and my practice (institution) that compromise patient care
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 28- Participate on a team that gives inconsistent messages to clients
  - How often does this occur?

- How distressing do you find it?
- 29-Work with team members who do not treat patients with dignity and respect
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 30-Working in a situation where the owner would not pay for the recommended treatment
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 31- Carrying out the owner's wishes that were not in the best interest of the patient
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 32-Assisting other veterinarians who you believed were providing incompetent care
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 33- Performing euthanasia in general
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 34-Performing euthanasia for reasons you did not agree with
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?
- 35-Suspected patient/pet abuse or cruelty
  - How often does this occur?
  - How distressing do you find it?

Thinking back to your time as a veterinary clinician, were there any other elements that you considered to cause moral or ethical conflict? (please specify) Small space for comment

# Appendix 2: Moral Distress Scale for Veterinarians (MDS-V)

As a veterinary clinician. In relation to the following situations, how often did they occur and how distressing did you find them?

A total moral distress score can then be calculated by adding all the items together for a score ranging from 0-256.

5-point Likert scale from: 0 = Not applicable 1= Never / not distressing 2= Occasionally / slightly distressing 3= Frequently / distressing 4= Very frequently / very distressing

- 1. Participate on a team that gives inconsistent messages to clients
- 2. Experiencing lack of administrative action or support for a problem that is compromising patient and/or client care
- 3. Working within power hierarchies in teams, units and in my practice (or institution) that compromise patient and/or client care
- 4. Witnessing low quality of patient and client care due to poor team communication
- 5. Being required to care for patients who have inconsistent or unclear treatment plans or who lack goals of care
- 6. Assisting other veterinarians who were providing incompetent care
- 7. Working in a situation where the client would not pay for the recommended treatment
- 8. Being unable to provide optimal care due to pressures from clients to reduce costs
- 9. Carrying out the client's wishes that were not in the best interest of the patient
- 10. Performing euthanasia for reasons I do not agree with
- 11. Being required to work with abusive clients
- 12. Continue providing aggressive treatment to a patient who is most likely to die regardless of this treatment
- 13. Participate in care and procedures I do not agree with, but doing so because of fears of being fired
- 14. Witness a violation of standard of practice or code of ethics and do not feel sufficiently supported to report the violation
- 15. Feel the pressure to order or carry out orders for what I consider to be unnecessary or inappropriate tests and treatments
- 16. Participate in care and procedures I do not agree with, but doing so because of fears of litigation or complaints

Chapter 6: Attrition from veterinary clinical practice: Potential contributions of motivations to be a veterinarian, professional quality of life, job satisfaction, work-life balance and moral distress.

# Summary

Moral distress is an important occupational stressor experienced by veterinary clinicians. In chapter 5 moral distress in veterinary clinical practice was examined in depth. The moral deliberation pathway proposed in chapter 2, based in a theory developed for medical nurses was confirmed. A scale to measure moral distress in veterinary clinicians was developed and further moral and ethical conflicts were outlined. With a tool to measure moral distress in veterinary clinical practice, we can assess the relationship of MD in attrition. In the following chapter, the relationship between moral distress, motivations to be a veterinarian, professional quality of life, elements of job satisfaction and work life balance and attrition from clinical practice are investigated.

# Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Attrition from veterinary clin a veterinarian, professional and moral distress.	n from veterinary clinical practice: The contribution of motivations to be inarian, professional quality of life, job satisfaction, work-life balance oral distress.			
Publication Status	F   Published	C Accepted for Publication			
	Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style			
Publication Details	To be considered for publication a	fter thesis submission			

#### **Principal Author**

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Alejandra I. Arbe Montoya
Contribution to the Paper	Concept development
	Research design
	Data collection
	Data analysis
	Writing
	Editing
Overall percentage (%)	70%
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.
Signature	Date 20.11.2021

#### **Co-Author Contributions**

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Michelle L. McArthur			
Contribution to the Paper	Concept development			
	Research design			
	Data analysis - revision			
	Editing			
Signature		Date	3/11/2021	
Name of Co-Author	Susan J. Hazel			

Contribution to the Paper	Concept development Research design Data analysis - revision		
	Editing		
Signature		Date	8/11/21
Name of Co-Author	Aaron Jarden		
Contribution to the Paper	Research design Data analysis – Co-analysis Editing		
Signature		Date	4/11/2021

#### Acknowledgements:

Russell Edson and Annie Conway – Biometry Hub. The University of Adelaide Renee Gale - Editor

Attrition from veterinary clinical practice: Potential contributions of motivations to be a veterinarian, professional quality of life, job satisfaction, work-life balance and moral distress.

Alejandra I. Arbe Montoya<sup>1</sup>, Susan J. Hazel<sup>1</sup>, Aaron Jarden<sup>2</sup>, Michelle McArthur<sup>1</sup>

1 School of Animal and Veterinary Science, The University of Adelaide, Roseworthy, 5371, South Australia,

Australia

2 Centre for Positive Psychology, Melbourne Graduate School of Education. The University of Melbourne,

Victoria 3010, Australia

Email for correspondence

Alejandra.arbemontoya@adelaide.edu.au

Acknowledgements

Russell Edson and Annie Conway from The University of Adelaide Biometric Hub for their statistical advice.

Renee Gale as editor for this chapter

Darren Trott for final editing support

The author would like to thank the social media platforms and veterinary alumni offices for their assistance in disseminating the survey

#### Abstract

Understanding the reasons for veterinary attrition has become important for the veterinary profession since recent reports indicating low retention in veterinary clinical practice. Several reasons for attrition have been proposed in the literature, including working long hours, low remuneration, experiencing a negative emotional state in relation to work, personal values, fatigue, and other negative experiences. However, the relationships between attrition and what motivates veterinarians, professional quality of life, aspects of job satisfaction, work-life balance, and moral distress are aspects still to be investigated. This study aims to ascertain possible relationships between these variables and veterinary clinical attrition.

To achieve this aim, a cohort of current and former veterinary clinicians were surveyed using psychometric scales to measure motivations to be a veterinarian, professional quality of life, elements of job satisfaction, moral distress, and work-life balance. A logistic regression model indicated that veterinarians had higher odds to have left clinical practice if they were more motivated by social purpose, had lower scores for burnout and compassion satisfaction, were dissatisfied with working hours and schedules, or by personal (intrinsic) reward. These findings indicate that other variables associated with attrition exist beyond those currently reported in the literature, such as dissatisfaction with working hours and wages. The findings suggest that increasing compassion satisfaction and professional satisfaction may improve retention and provides indications for further research regarding contribution of burnout and collegial relations. Further research is needed due to the limitations on the use of the current available measures to get clarity in the possible contributions of these variables to attrition from clinical practice. Further research should include the development of veterinary-specific job satisfaction measures to develop evidence-based retention strategies.

## Introduction

The veterinary profession is concerned about a perceived shortage of veterinary clinicians, despite an expected surplus in Australia<sup>1</sup> and overseas<sup>2,3</sup>. This perceived shortage could be attributed to recent surveys reporting veterinary practices struggling to fill vacancies<sup>4</sup> and reports of reduced retention<sup>5,6</sup>. In 2021, attrition of veterinarians from clinical practice was 23% and intention to leave veterinary medicine overall was 27% of the surveyed cohorts<sup>7,8</sup>. Furthermore, turnover intention (a desire to leave current employment) is over 40% as documented in reports from the UK<sup>6</sup>. Such numbers align to just below what other professions with problematic attrition rates report such as teachers and nurses with estimated attrition rates of approximately 35%<sup>9,10</sup>. Despite the numbers, it is important to observe attrition rates in relation to employment needs and the veterinary profession seems to be in need of veterinary clinicians. Therefore, investigating the underlying factors that might be associated with veterinary clinical attrition is important for the veterinary profession worldwide to improve retention and solidify the workforce. Several factors have been attributed to attrition from veterinary clinical practice, including employment conditions and the influence of personal factors<sup>11</sup>. A 2021 gualitative study interviewing 26 former veterinary clinicians concluded that personal factors played a role in attrition from veterinary clinical practice. The factors identified include motivations, character and beliefs, physical and mental health, and personal relationships, among others<sup>11</sup>. Those personal factors, in combination with work-related experiences such as employment conditions, negative clinical outcomes, and negative relationships with employers, colleagues and clients, contributed to a decision to leave practice<sup>11</sup>. Employment conditions, hours of work, and salary are commonly reported reasons for attrition in veterinarians from different areas in Australia and overseas<sup>5-7,11-13</sup>. However, a comprehensive investigation into other underlying sources of discontent and their contribution to attrition from practice is required. The following paragraphs outline some of the characteristics that were linked to attrition from clinical practice in the qualitative exploration, such as motivations to be a veterinarian, professional quality of life, job satisfaction, work-life balance, and moral distress. These variables were selected due to their relevant influence on attrition from clinical practice, as shown in a previous qualitative study<sup>11</sup>.

#### Motivations

In a recent qualitative study, one of the reasons that influenced former clinicians to leave practice was that their motivations to be veterinarians were not met<sup>11</sup>. Some former clinicians conveyed that they were motivated to be veterinarians by their desire to help animals and people and explained the frustration and stress when they were unable to meet such desires<sup>11</sup>. Furthermore, greater intrinsic motivations (being moved to do something because it is inherently enjoyable or interesting<sup>14</sup>) have been associated with a reduction in turnover intentions in the public sector<sup>15</sup>, industrial sector<sup>16</sup> and medical nurses<sup>17</sup>. It is possible that career motivations (the impetus or inspiration to do something<sup>18</sup>) could also be associated with attrition or turnover intentions in veterinarians. The motivations to be a veterinarian have received some attention in the veterinary education literature. In
veterinarians, positive attitudes towards animals have been an influential factor for people to choose veterinary practice<sup>19-22</sup>. Other motivational elements to be a veterinarian include interest in learning and knowledge, childhood vocation, and community and social contribution<sup>20-22</sup>. However, whether these particular motivators influence attrition from clinical practice is yet to be explored.

### Compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue

Another personal factor associated with attrition from veterinary clinical practice is the development of a negative emotional state<sup>11</sup>. Veterinary professionals' negative emotional state and psychological ill-health have been previously documented<sup>23-26</sup>. The literature reports veterinarians are experiencing compassion fatigue, including burnout and secondary traumatic stress<sup>25,27,28</sup>. However, positivity at work where the veterinarian experiences job satisfaction, compassion satisfaction, and professional achievement have also been reported<sup>24,29-31</sup>. These elements of professional quality of life (compassion satisfaction and fatigue) have been previously discussed in other veterinary staff, and students<sup>27,32,33</sup>. Professional quality of life is defined as 'the quality one feels in relation to their work as a helper<sup>34</sup>. The concept incorporates compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue; the latter divided into burnout and secondary traumatic stress. Compassion satisfaction is defined as the pleasure a professional experiences from being able to do their work well, and compassion fatigue includes both burnout (exhaustion, frustration, anger, and depression), and secondary traumatic stress (the negative feelings associated with fear) in relation to work-related trauma. Professional guality of life is complex and can be closely related to personal characteristics and elements of the work environment<sup>34</sup>. For example, Pizzolon et al. found a negative association between job satisfaction and secondary traumatic stress and that a toxic work environment was positively associated with burnout<sup>32</sup>. The construct has been successfully measured in other professionals, such as nurses<sup>35</sup>, teachers<sup>36</sup>, and veterinary staff<sup>27</sup>. However, the specific relationship between the components of professional quality of life and veterinary attrition from practice has not been investigated.

### Job satisfaction

Job satisfaction is a cognitive construct defined as the pleasurable emotion experienced with the appraisal that one's job is achieving or facilitates the achievement of one's job values<sup>37</sup>. On the other hand, job dissatisfaction is the negative emotion elicited when the appraisal is that one's job is frustrating and blocking the achievement of one's job values<sup>37</sup>. Lower job satisfaction is considered one of the most recurrent indicators of staff turnover in different professionals<sup>38-40</sup>. Job satisfaction has been explored in healthcare and encompasses many elements of the working environment. Elements of job satisfaction in physicians and nurses include collegial relations and support, extrinsic rewards, workload, work-life/family balance, personal (intrinsic) satisfaction, and professional growth<sup>40-43</sup>. In veterinarians, job satisfaction has been positively associated with feeling valued at work, having role models, and acceptance of a culture of long hours<sup>44</sup>. Elements of job satisfaction, such as work culture or

practice atmosphere, perception of lower salary and higher hours of work, have been reported by veterinarians as reasons for staff turnover, attrition from rural veterinary practice, and clinical practice overall<sup>5,11-13</sup>. Notably, job satisfaction in veterinary professionals has previously been assessed using single-item measures ("How satisfied are you with your job?")<sup>45</sup> or described in qualitative studies<sup>11</sup>. Such an approach creates a gap in understanding which workplace elements are associated with job dissatisfaction in veterinarians and whether any are associated with attrition from practice. Understanding job satisfaction is also essential because it has been positively associated with team effectiveness in veterinary staff<sup>32,45</sup> and increased quality of patient care in healthcare<sup>46</sup>.

### Work-life balance

Another aspect of work satisfaction is work-life balance. Work-life balance (WLB) is defined as an individual's ability to meet their work, family and other non-work responsibilities<sup>47</sup>. Work-life balance (WLB) includes family concerns, time off, inability to relax, and complying with emergency duties in veterinarians<sup>5,11,48</sup>. Some studies have associated low work-life balance with attrition from farm animal practice<sup>5</sup>, emergency clinical practice<sup>48</sup>, and clinical practice in general<sup>11</sup>. For example, 55% of respondents who no longer worked in rural veterinary practice reported 'emergency duties', and 54% reported 'time off' as the reason for leaving rural veterinary practice<sup>5</sup>. These studies reported veterinarians' dissatisfaction with their WLB through surveys or interviews but without the use of a validated measure resulting in undetermined validity of the WLB variable. Thus, it could be argued that WLB in veterinarians requires further adequate measurement. In other Australian workers, WLB has been negatively associated with turnover intention (higher WLB, lower turnover intention) and positively associated with family and job satisfaction<sup>49</sup>. Measuring WLB in veterinarians and its association with attrition from practice is important; however, there is no literature on this at present.

### Moral distress

Finally, another factor associated with attrition in medical nurses and doctors is moral distress<sup>50-54</sup>. Moral distress is described as the psychological anguish experienced when a professional encounters a situation where they cannot follow their perceived correct moral path<sup>55-57</sup>. This creates an undercurrent of dissatisfaction by eliciting a negative emotional state, which has been associated with job dissatisfaction in medical nurses<sup>58</sup>. In veterinarians, moral conflict and moral distress are prevalent sources of stress<sup>55,59</sup>. Considering the contribution of moral distress to occupational stress and attrition in medical nurses, it can be theorised that moral distress could also contribute to attrition from practice in veterinarians.

Overall, a positive relationship between contextual variables such as lower salary, greater hours of work, region of work, and field of work and attrition from veterinary clinical practice has been established<sup>6,7,12</sup>. Contrastingly,

other psychological factors such as job satisfaction, professional quality of life, motivations to be a veterinarian, moral distress, and work-life balance still require thorough investigation. The present study aims to assess the possible relationships between attrition from clinical practice and the psychological factors of motivations to be a veterinarian, professional quality of life, job satisfaction, work-life balance, and moral distress.

## Methods

A survey was conducted of current and former veterinary clinicians from November 2019 until February 2020 and included psychometric measures and demographic questions (psychological variables surveyed in supplementary materials). An invitation to participate in the surveys was disseminated through approved Facebook groups (with no paid advertisement) and six out of the seven alumni offices of Australian universities offering veterinary qualifications. Respondents were required to indicate whether they were currently working in clinical practice; defined as: 'Veterinarians that diagnose and treat animal patients (individuals or herds)'. Respondents who were currently working in clinical practice responded to survey B. Surveys A and B were primarily identical, differing only by use of past tense wording in the questions for former clinicians. There was a total of 920 valid responses. Responses were excluded from the analysis if the outcome question (currently working as veterinary clinicians or not) was blank, if the respondent was retired, and if less than 75% of the survey, including the scales of the psychological variables, was answered. The total responses for the initial analysis was 773 and the logistic regression model used listwise deletion, excluding 35% of total responses (n = 920). This research was approved by The University of Adelaide Human Research Ethics Committee (H-2017-229).

### Description of the variables

The variables used in this analysis included demographic and work-related factors, and results from psychometric measures of psychological variables. The psychological variables were selected based on a qualitative study that explored former veterinary clinicians<sup>11</sup> reasons for attrition from practice and the availability of an existing measure for the variable. The selected variables were: 1) motivations to be a veterinarian; 2) professional quality of life; 3) aspects of job satisfaction; 4) work-life balance; and 5) moral distress. This study forms part of a larger research project investigating veterinary attrition from clinical practice. The current survey collected demographic factors, working conditions (such as hours and salary) and various psychological measures. Although it was initially intended to analyse all factors together, over 100 participants did not respond to the study's psychological measures. This disparity prompted the decision to separate the data into two studies. The previously published study (chapter 4)<sup>7</sup> analysed demographic and work-related factors, and this study focuses on the analysis of the psychological variables. The variables already analysed in chapter 4 are included

here to account as confounders only. The demographic variables included in the current study are: 1) gender, 2) region of work, 3) field of work, and 4) presence of on-call duties as described by Arbe-Montoya *et al*<sup>11</sup>. These factors were selected as they had a statistically significant association with attrition in chapter 4.

Variables are indicative of the current working conditions for existing clinicians, and indicative of conditions just prior to attrition for former clinicians. Salary is reported in Australian dollars per annum and adjusted for inflation using the Reserve Bank of Australia Inflation Calculator. Inflation adjustments were made for the responses of former veterinary clinicians comparing the salary on the year they left clinical practice and the date of data analysis (2019-2020). Salary and hours of work were evaluated as continuous variables.

#### Veterinary career motivations questionnaire

Motivation to be a veterinarian was evaluated using the 'Veterinary career motivations questionnaire' designed to underpin veterinary career choices<sup>21</sup>. The questionnaire contains six sub-scales (Vocational identity, Challenge and learning, Animal orientation, People orientation, Social purpose, and Career affordances) and includes 22 items. The measure was validated in a cohort of experienced and recently graduated veterinarians and demonstrated good internal consistency in five of the sub-scales with Cronbach alphas ranging from 0.71 to 0.94. For one sub-scale (career affordances), there was an  $\alpha$  of 0.63 in one of the study's populations, which was considered marginally acceptable by the authors<sup>21</sup>. The measure uses a five-point Likert scale for each item ranging from 1 (not at all like me) to 5 (very much like me), answering the following statement: '*1 am/was motivated to be a veterinary clinician because...I want to help people*' (for example).

## Professional quality of life

Professional quality of life was measured using Stamm's ProQOL survey<sup>34</sup>, a commonly used 30-item scale (10 items per sub-scale) that measures compassion satisfaction, and compassion fatigue in caregiving workers. Compassion fatigue is divided into two sub-scales that measure burnout and secondary traumatic stress. The ProQOL has often been used in different professionals and has shown good reliability for compassion satisfaction ( $\alpha = .88$ ) and secondary traumatic stress ( $\alpha = .84$ ), and adequate reliability for burnout ( $\alpha = .70$ ) when assessed in a cohort of veterinary students<sup>33</sup>. The scores of questions that needed reversing as required by the ProQOL manual<sup>34</sup> were reversed. The score of each sub-scale was calculated by summing the results of each item, then the raw total scores of each sub-scale were used in the analysis. The measure uses a Likert scale from 1 (never) to 5 (very often) to rank each statement in terms of frequency in the past 30-days. The 30-day timeframe was eliminated from the question for this cohort; as this study required former veterinary clinicians to recall aspects of their work before they left clinical practice. The ProQOL statements for former veterinary clinicians answered the following question: *Thinking back to your time as a veterinary clinician, how often did* 

*you experience the following?* The researcher acknowledges that the use of the ProQOL in former veterinary clinicians (that are responding in retrospection of over 30 days) is not the form this measure was intended to be used<sup>34</sup>. The measure was selected for this study due to the limited scales available to measure this construct in former veterinary clinicians. The researcher chose to use this measure to gain some possible indications of relationships between professional quality of life and attrition from veterinary clinical practice. The interpretations that can be drawn from the results are limited but can be used for hypothesis generation and provide possible indications for future research in the associated variables.

### Job satisfaction

Job satisfaction was evaluated not as a whole construct. Instead, individual elements were assessed using subscales of two job satisfaction measures created for medical nurses<sup>41,43</sup>. Evaluating different aspects (in contrast to using a single general job satisfaction question) allowed the study to capture the diverse factors that might influence job satisfaction. However, due to the lack of a valid job satisfaction measure in veterinary clinicians, the measures and sub-scales were selected from identified elements of job satisfaction outlined by former veterinary clinicians in a previous qualitative study<sup>11</sup>. The sub-scales used were derived from the McCloskey/Mueller Satisfaction Scale (MMSS)<sup>60</sup> for nurses (re-validated by Lee *et al*<sup>41</sup>) and the Measure of Job Satisfaction (MJS) by Traynor and Wade<sup>43</sup>. The MMSS was developed in 1990<sup>60</sup> for nurses in a hospital setting, and was recently validated by Lee for a different nurse population<sup>41</sup>. Lee's re-validated scale measure was used in this study, which contains five sub-scales and 25 items<sup>41</sup>. Four sub-scales were considered relevant for use in this study. These were: 1) Work culture and conditions (abbreviated to 'work culture'), 2) Scheduling and family/work balance (abbreviated to 'scheduling'), 3) Collegial relationships, and 4) Extrinsic reward. The 'Professional opportunities' sub-scale that evaluates opportunities to participate in research and publish was eliminated from the study for having little relevance to veterinary clinicians. Internal reliability was good with Cronbach alphas ranging from 0.71 to 0.87<sup>41</sup>. The sub-scales taken from Traynor and Wade were 'Personal satisfaction' which evaluates the satisfaction with the intrinsic nature of the work and 'Satisfaction with Workload' (abbreviated as workload), each sub-scale containing 5 items. both sub-scales had a Cronbach alpha of 0.88 in the original development of the measure<sup>43</sup>. The sum of each item calculated the scores of each sub-scale, and each item answered the question: To what extent were/are you satisfied or dissatisfied with the following items? The time available for patient care (for example).

### Work-life balance and moral distress

Work-life balance was measured using a validated concise scale developed for Australian and New Zealand general workers from healthcare, education, finance, manufacturing, public service and non-government organisations<sup>49</sup>. This four-item scale measured workers' reflections of their work and non-work activities. Using

a five-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree) and the respondents answered the question: '*When I reflect over my current/former work as a veterinary clinician and non-work activities (your regular activities outside of work such as family, friends, sports, study etc.) when working as a veterinary clinician, I conclude that (...) I had difficulty balancing my work and non-work activities' (for example). The measure showed good internal consistency in its development with a Cronbach alpha ranging between 0.84 to 0.94 in the different test populations. The score was calculated by adding the results of the four items with the score for item 2 being reversed. Finally, moral distress was evaluated using a recently developed scale that measures moral distress (the frequency of a morally distressing event and the level of distress that said event caused) in veterinarians (chapter 5). This three sub-scale measure was developed using a section of data also used for this study. The study aimed to evaluate moral distress as a whole rather than by three different factors. Thus, a single total moral distress score was calculated by multiplying the frequency of the stressor event by the distress it caused and adding the scores of the three sub-scales. The measure showed good internal reliability with Cronbach's alphas of 0.85, 0.84 and 0.77 for each of its three sub-scales.* 

All measures used a 1-5 Likert scale (see Appendix A), except for moral distress, ranging from 0-4 (see Appendix A). It was an ethics requirement for respondents to be able to skip questions. Therefore, missing data was a concern for analysing the schedules sub-scale from the job satisfaction measure as several respondents skipped this question (n=103, 13% of total responses used in this chapter). We assumed those were non-parents and therefore this question was not applicable to them. To avoid selection bias against the respondents that skipped this question, it was decided to impute the response of that variable as '3' (nor agree nor disagree) and use those responses in the regression model. Listwise exclusion of missing data was used for both logistic regression models (after imputation of '3' to the job satisfaction measure). The estimated time for survey completion was of 30 minutes. Further descriptions of the psychometric variables and example questions are presented in Table 1 below.

### Data analysis

A binomial logistic regression model was used to investigate the potential contributions of the various variables to attrition from clinical practice using IBM SPSS 26<sup>®</sup> (V.26). An initial analysis was performed using independent sample *t*-tests to determine which psychometric variables were included in the model. Only the variables that had a significant contribution (cut off p<0.2) to the outcome variable were included in the regression model<sup>61,62</sup>. All variables were assessed for internal consistency using an acceptable Cronbach alpha score of 0.65 or above<sup>62</sup>. The regression model used listwise exclusions and met the required assumptions; the outcome was dichotomous (stayed vs left clinical practice), had more than one independent variable and variables were mutually exclusive, there were 10 cases or more per independent variable, and data fit the test of linearity. Outliers were retained in the model since they were representative of the data. Variables were considered

significant if the *p-value* was < 0.05. The model contained 18 variables, which were: 1) Gender, 2) Region of work, 3) Field of work, 4) On-call duties, 5) Hours of work, 6) Salary, 7) Motivations – Vocational identity, 8) Motivations – Animal orientation, 9) Motivations – Social purpose, 10) Motivations – Career affordances, 11) Burnout, 12) Compassion satisfaction, 13) Job satisfaction – Work culture, 14) Job satisfaction – Scheduling, 15) Job satisfaction – Collegial relations, 16) Job satisfaction – Extrinsic rewards, 17) Job satisfaction – Personal satisfaction, and 18) Work-life balance.

Psychometric variables	Description	Example questions
Motivations to be a veterinarian <sup>21</sup>		
Vocational identity	Early vocational identity with the profession	It was a childhood dream to become a veterinarian
		It is all I ever wanted to be
Animal orientation	Affinity for animals	l love animals
		l want to prevent animal suffering
People orientation	Affinity and desire to help	I like interacting with clients
	people	I like working with people
Challenge and learning	Interest in problem solving and learning	I like the challenge of veterinary work
		l like solving problems
Social purpose	Desire to make a social contribution	l can make a difference to society
		l can contribute to the community
Career affordances	Extrinsic work-related reward	It offers job security
<b>D</b> ( )		It provides a decent income
Protessional quality of life <sup>34</sup>		

## Table 1: Description of the variables

Compassion Satisfaction	Pleasure derived from doing the work well and helping others. Includes positive feelings towards colleagues, ability to contribute to work settings or the greater good.	I feel invigorated after working with those I help My work makes me feel satisfied I am proud of what I can do to help
Compassion Fatigue - Burnout	Experiencing exhaustion, frustration, anger and depression associated with work	l am happy (score reversed) l feel trapped by my job as a vet (originally 'helper')
		l feel overwhelmed because my workload seems endless
Compassion Fatigue -	Negative feelings derived by fear and work-related	l jump or am startled by unexpected sounds
Secondary Traumatic	trauma	I think that I might have
Stress		been affected by the traumatic stress of those I help
		As a result of being a vet (originally my work as a helper), I have intrusive, frightening thoughts
Elements of job satisfaction <sup>41,43</sup>		
Work culture	Administration, recognition from superiors, and control of work settings	Encouragement and positive feedback
	er work oottingo.	Control over your work settings
Scheduling	Working hours, rosters and perception of family/work	Hours that you work
	balance	Parental leave time*
Collegial relations	Social contact with peers and teamwork	Opportunities for social contact at work
		Opportunity to work with other disciplines

Extrinsic reward	Salary and other work- related benefits	Salary		
		Vacation		
Personal satisfaction	Experiences and feelings of worthwhile and accomplishment	The feelings of worthwhile accomplishment you get from your work		
		The contribution you make to patient care		
Workload	Ability to complete tasks and provide patient care	Your workload		
	during allocated working	The time available for patient		
Work-life balance (WLB) <sup>49</sup>	nouro			
	Perception of balance between work and non- work activities	I have difficulty balancing my work and non-work activities (score reversed)		
		Overall, I believe that my work and non-work life are balanced		
Moral distress (chapter 5)				
	Frequency and level of distress associated with experiencing moral and ethical conflicts	Witness a violation of standard of practice or code of ethics and do not feel sufficiently supported to report the violation		
		Performing euthanasia for reasons I do not agree with		
		Working in a situation where the client would not pay for the recommended treatment		

# Results

## Data description: Output and demographic variables

The survey had a total of 920 responses, the study analysed 773 responses after exclusions were removed, and the regression model used 600 responses. Of these, 568 (74%) were veterinarians in clinical practice, and 205 (27%) had left clinical practice. Most of the respondents were female (71%), worked in small animal practice (61%), worked in metropolitan regions (57%), and did not have on-call duties (52%). The mean salary for current

veterinarians was \$A88,770 per annum and \$A74,590 per annum for veterinarians that had left clinical practice. The mean average hours of work per week in current veterinarians was 37.2 and in former clinicians was 45.2. Table 2 displays the demographic distribution of the sample.

# Data description: Distribution of psychometric variables

The preliminary assessment used an independent variable *t*-test to evaluate the individual contributions of each psychometric variable to the outcome variable. Table 3 below displays the results of this preliminary analysis. As mentioned above, only variables with a p< 0.2 were included in the regression model. All variables showed good internal consistency (Cronbach alpha >0.7), except for 'career affordances', and 'collegial relations' which had a marginally adequate Cronbach Alpha of 0.65 and 0.68 respectively.

	Current	Former	Total
	veterinary	veterinary	n
	clinicians	clinicians	
	n (%)	n (%)	
Gender			
Female	411 (72.4%)	137 (66.8%)	548
Male	155 (27.3%)	68 (33.2%)	223
Other	2 (0.4%)	0	2
Field of work			
Small animal	355 (62.7%)	112 (54.9%)	467
Mix practice, equine,	140 (24.7%)	82 (40.2%)	222
production animals,			
other	71 (12.5%)	10 (4.9%)	81
Region of work			
Metropolitan only	333 (58.9%)	102 (50.0%)	435
Rural/semi-rural	222 (39.3%)	83 (40.7%)	305
Both	10 (1.8%)	19 (9.3%)	29
On call duties			
Yes	211 (37.3%)	157 (76.6%)	368

# Table 2: Demographic results

No	355 (62.7%)	48 (23.4%)	403
	Mean +- SD	Mean +- SD	Mean for
			both groups
Annual salary	88.77 (52.10)	74.63 (31.61)	85.06 (48.02)
Hours of work	37.16 (14.38)	45.19 (11.89)	39.26 (14.21)

**Table 3:** Preliminary analysis of psychometric variables. The table shows the results of a *t*-test assessing the individual contributions of each psychometric variable and the outcome variable.

Variable name	Current Clinicians Mean (SD)	Former Clinicians Mean (SD)	<i>p</i> -value	Range	Cronbach alpha
Motivations People orientation	10.58 (2.71)	10.44 (2.81)	.54	1-15	0.83
Motivations Animal orientation	21.74 (3.07)	20.21 (3.79)	.001	1-25	0.88
Motivations Social purpose	10.97 (2.56)	11.37 (2.57)	.06	1-15	0.84
Motivations Challenge and learning	16.90 (2.46)	16.67 (2.44)	.25	1-20	0.77
Motivations Career affordances	13.06 (3.02)	12.04 (3.04)	<.0001	1-20	0.65

Burnout	27.53 (6.76)	29.89 (6.98)	<.0001	1-50	0.83
Compassion Satisfaction	35.15 (6.81)	31.92 (6.93)	<.0001	1-50	0.91
Secondary Traumatic Stress	25.71 (6.84)	25.04 (7.31)	.25	1-50	0.85
Job Satisfaction Collegial Relations	17.68 (3.29)	16.66 (3.44)	<.0001	1-25	0.68
Job Satisfaction Ext. Rewards	9.27 (2.80)	7.59 (2.65)	<.001	1-15	0.76
Job Satisfaction Work culture	23.34 (5.83)	20.65 (6.31)	<.0001	1-35	0.88
Job Satisfaction Scheduling	26.26 (5.50)	22.06 (6.01)	<.0001	1-40	0.85
Job Satisfaction Workload	15.42 (4.59)	15.05 (3.97)	.32	1-25	0.85
Job Satisfaction Personal Satisfaction	19.86 (3.24)	17.94 (3.71)	<.0001	1-25	0.81
Work-life Balance	11.95 (4.33)	9.92 (4.30)	<.0001	1-20	0.95
Moral Distress	65.27 (35.28)	69.03 (34.33)	.27	0-256	N/A

\*p-value for significance <.05

## Logistic regression modelling

A binomial logistic regression was performed to evaluate the relationship between attrition from clinical practice and selected variables. Only the variables with a p-value of <0.2 in the preliminary analysis were included in the model, as these were considered the contributing variables. The model indicates adequate goodness of fit by: a) being statistically significant  $x^2(10) = 248.67 p < 0.001$  and b) having a non-significant Hosmer and Lemeshow test X2 (10) = 2.65, p = 0.95. The model explained 49% (Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup>) of the variance and correctly classified 84.3% of the cases, with a positive predictive value of 76.4% and a negative predictive value of 86.5%. Specificity was 93.2% and sensitivity 60.2%.

Rural veterinarians had lower odds to have left clinical practice than their metropolitan counterparts (p < 0.0001), and veterinarians working in small animal practice had higher odds to have left than those working in 'other' fields of veterinary clinical practice (p = 0.01). However, there was no significant difference between veterinarians working with small animals and those working in mixed and equine practice (see Table 4). Veterinarians required to be on-call had higher odds to have left practice than those without on-call requirements (p < 0.0001). Veterinarians working longer hours (p < 0.0001) and with lower salaries (p < 0.0001) also had higher odds to have left clinical practice.

Regarding the psychometric variables, veterinarians scoring higher in 'Motivations – Social purpose' had 1.3 higher odds to have left clinical practice than those with lower scores for this item (p<0.001). Only the 'Burnout' and 'Compassion satisfaction' variables of professional quality of life were included in the model. In the model both were negatively associated with attrition. In terms of job satisfaction, higher satisfaction with collegial relations, lower satisfaction with scheduling, and lower personal satisfaction were significantly associated with attrition from clinical practice. Table 4 below displays the logistic regression results.

## Table 4: Binomial logistic regression results

Includes: B coefficient, standard error of the unstandardised B coefficient, Wald predictor variable, p-value, odds ratio (Exp B) and 95% odds ratio confidence intervals.

Predictor		B S.E.		Wald Si	Sig (p)	OR	95% C.I. for OR	
							Lower	Upper
Gender <sup>†</sup>		0.159	0.301	0.279	0.597	1.179	0.650	2.115
Region of work Metropolitan Only*				25.061	<.0001			
Rural and Semi-ru	ral Only	-1.642	0.369	19.795	<.0001	0.194	0.094	0.399
Both		1.032	0.715	2.083	.149	2.807	0.691	11.397
Field of work				7.4.40	000			
Small Animal				7.140	.028			
Mix quine/Production	practice	0.160	0.338	0.225	.635	1.174	0.605	2.278
Other		-1.602	0.625	6.567	.010	0.201	0.059	0.686
On Call		2.247	0.343	43.038	<.0001	9.464	4.836	18.522
Hours		0.051	0.013	16.235	<.0001	1.052	1.026	1.079
Salary		-0.015	0.004	14.610	<.0001	0.985	0.977	0.993
Motivations - Vocational identity		-0.016	0.032	0.251	.616	0.984	0.924	1.048
Motivations - Animal orientation		-0.051	0.044	1.371	.242	0.950	0.872	1.035
Motivations - Social purpose		0.244	0.060	16.669	<.0001	1.277	1.135	1.436
Motivations - Career affordances		-0.007	0.050	0.020	.887	0.993	0.900	1.096
Burnout		-0.078	0.032	5.812	.016	0.925	0.868	0.986
Compassion satisfaction		-0.095	0.033	8.44	.004	0.909	0.853	0.970
Job Satisfaction - Work culture		0.001	0.032	0.002	.969	1.001	0.941	1.065
Job Satisfaction - Scheduling		-0.106	0.035	9.023	.003	0.899	0.839	0.964
Job Satisfaction – Collegial Relations		0.124	0.056	4.888	.027	1.133	1.014	1.265
Job Satisfaction - Extrinsic Reward		-0.076	0.070	1.173	.279	1.133	1.014	1.265
Job Satisfaction - Personal satisfaction		-0.125	0.052	5.818	.016	0.883	0.797	0.977
Work-life balance		0.029	0.039	0.560	.454	1.030	0.954	1.111

<sup>†</sup>Males compared to females \*Reference group

## Discussion

The purpose of this study was to analyse the potential contributions of psychological variables suspected to have an association with attrition from veterinary clinical practice. The variables in the model with a negative association with attrition from veterinary clinical practice were found to be: 1) burnout, 2) compassion satisfaction, 3) satisfaction with schedules, and 4) personal satisfaction. Two variables in the model had a positive association with attrition: being motivated by social purpose and satisfaction with collegial relations. In terms of the demographic and working conditions included to account for confounders; associations reported in a previous study were confirmed. Variables associated with attrition from clinical practice included: 1) working in metropolitan practice (in comparison to rural practice), 2) working longer hours, 3) presence of on-call duties, and 4) lower salary. The contributions of those were already reported in a previous study using a larger sample of the same veterinary cohort<sup>7</sup> and also align with the veterinary literature. For example, better schedules and pay have been reported as reasons for retention in UK veterinarians<sup>6</sup>. Furthermore, remuneration and hours of work, and a supportive team represented the main factors for veterinary retention in emergency practice in the US<sup>48</sup>. Overall, the model shows that on-call duties (OR 9.46) had the highest odds for attrition. The following paragraphs discuss the possible contributions of the psychological variables to attrition from veterinary clinical practice.

#### Motivations

The only motivation factor associated with attrition from clinical practice in the final model was social purpose, defined as the desire to make a worthwhile social contribution<sup>20,64</sup>. Although it was significantly associated with attrition from practice, the odds of this variable were small, with odds for leaving practice increasing 1.28 times per unit in the social purpose score. Motivations and elements of job satisfaction can be consistent<sup>65</sup>. We can expect that veterinarians who are motivated to make a social contribution will be satisfied with aspects of the job that can fulfil said motivation. In clinical practice, veterinarians derive pleasure from work when they are able to help animals, people and their communities or society<sup>31,65-67</sup>. Although this contribution is mostly to individual patients or clients, it elicits the feeling of contributing to a greater cause, helping others, and 'making a difference'21,65,68. However, elements in clinical practice that could constrain professionals from providing meaningful care include increased workload (causing increased incidence of medical errors) or client financial constraints (inability to pursue perceived ideal patient care)<sup>69,70</sup> among others. Veterinarians who are highly motivated by social purpose might have a higher desire to leave when faced with such restrictions. Moreover, the focus of most veterinary clinical work is towards individual patients and clients; thus, it can be hypothesised that the sense of social contribution may not be met by clinical work and veterinarians that are motivated by social purpose may wish to be involved in broader community and social matters which may influence their desire to leave clinical practice. Veterinary clinical practice is not the only career path that can fulfill a desire to

give back to society. Social contribution can be fulfilled in other sectors such as healthcare, education and public service. It may also be theorised that a professional may desire to contribute to society in an alternative career. A qualitative Australian study reports that social purpose is one of the most frequently discussed themes in veterinary motivation<sup>20</sup>; therefore, understanding the association between social purpose and attrition is important. Further research evaluating a possible association between elements that reduce perceived patient and client care, the different motivations to be a veterinarian, and turnover intentions would be of value. Other options for further research include assessing whether the implementation of social or community programs in veterinary clinical practice could increase the engagement and retention of veterinarians motivated by social purpose.

## Professional quality of life

Only burnout and compassion satisfaction were significant in the model. Both variables in the model showed a negative relationship with attrition, indicating that those who scored higher on compassion satisfaction and burnout had higher odds to remain in clinical practice (or lower odds to have left). Results from veterinarians currently in clinical practice indicated higher compassion satisfaction than former clinicians, and those whose results indicated lower compassion satisfaction had higher odds to have left clinical practice (OR 0.91 p = 0.004). These results possibly indicate that veterinarians reporting more pleasure from doing their work well as a helper<sup>34</sup> had higher odds to stay in practice. Results from veterinarians who had left clinical practice indicated higher burnout than those currently in practice. However, all else being equal in the regression model, there was a negative relationship (OR 0.93 p = 0.016) between burnout and attrition from practice (lower burnout, higher odds of attrition). This result can seem unexpected since burnout has been often associated with predictors of attrition in other professionals<sup>36,71-73</sup>. Current veterinary clinicians experiencing burnout, high levels of stress<sup>74</sup> and psychological ill-health<sup>23,25,26,75</sup> is consistent with the veterinary literature<sup>25,27,45,76,77</sup>. For example, in a 2018 survey of UK veterinarians, 21% of their respondents were unable to cope with the work stress, and 48% experienced burnout<sup>44</sup>. It is important to acknowledge that the ProQOL measure has been designed to assess Professional Quality of Life at a certain point in time (within 30 days)<sup>34</sup> therefore it is difficult to interpret results relating to responses representing longer periods of time as they could be impacted by affect recall bias<sup>63</sup>. Affect recall bias has been defined as the tendency to underestimate or overestimate past emotional experiences<sup>63</sup>. In our study the potential affect recall bias could have an impact on how the respondents estimate their past emotional experiences in relation to their responses to the survey. Consequently, these results should be interpreted with caution. Taking into account the potential bias and possible measurement error, the findings of this study highlight the need to further explore professional quality of life and the relationship to attrition from veterinary practice.

Stamm defines burnout as a feeling of inefficacy, hopelessness, and the perception that there is "nothing they can do' to make things better<sup>34</sup>. Stamm relates burnout to high workloads and poor system functions in the workplace<sup>34</sup>. Positively, there are factors that can influence a *helpers'* work experience and reduce attrition despite experiencing burnout. For example, experiencing compassion satisfaction from the associated feelings that 'their work matters'<sup>34</sup> could be associated with increased retention despite experiencing burnout, as high satisfaction helps balance the negative effects of working with victims<sup>78</sup>. Professionals in the animal health sector can experience compassion satisfaction when they can make a difference to the care of animal patients, human clients and communities<sup>79</sup>. It is possible that the positive feeling of satisfaction is outweighing the negative work elements associated with burnout. On the other hand, burnout is not a predictor for turnover or career attrition in every sector of other professionals. For example, although burnout was a predictor for healthcare staff turnover for primary care clinicians, it was not in other primary care staff<sup>72</sup> nor a predictor for attrition in nursing home personel<sup>80</sup>. The results of the regression model indicated that other moderators for attrition, such as hours of work, presence of after-hours duties, and satisfaction with schedules have a stronger relationship with attrition from practice than burnout in this cohort of veterinary graduates. However, it is also possible that affect recall bias to be associated with asking the cohort of former veterinary clinicians to remember their experiences from when they were in practice, could underestimate their experiences with burnout and overestimate their experiences with compassion satisfaction<sup>63</sup>. It is important to interpret the results with this limitation in mind. Burnout has been associated with psychological ill-health in veterinarians<sup>25</sup>; therefore, implementing strategies to reduce burnout, such as restructuring a poor organisational system or reducing workload<sup>27,34</sup> is essential to the overall well-being of the veterinarian. Furthermore, developing strategies to improve compassion satisfaction in veterinary clinicians could improve retention. Previously reported strategies that could increase compassion satisfaction include opportunities to develop and grow within the workplace<sup>34</sup>, experiencing positive outcomes<sup>27</sup>, increasing opportunities to make a difference for animal patients<sup>79</sup>, and developing empathic communication<sup>33</sup>.

## Elements of job satisfaction

The latent variable of job satisfaction (as devised by the authors of the measure) assessed components of job satisfaction in medical nurses<sup>41,43</sup>. The sub-scales measured in this study represent discrete factors of the global variable of job satisfaction. Dissatisfaction with schedules and lower personal satisfaction were associated with attrition from veterinary clinical practice. As dissatisfaction with scheduling increased, the odds of leaving clinical practice increased by 10% (OR=0.9, *p*=0.003). Dissatisfaction with scheduling and working hours has previously been seen as a predictor for attrition in veterinarians<sup>5,7,11,13,48</sup> and reported as a recurrent occupational stressor<sup>81</sup>. For example, emergency veterinarians contemplating leaving emergency practice considered hours and schedules as one of the prime reasons for leaving, and 30% of those who had left emergency medicine reported schedules to be the main reason for doing so<sup>48</sup>. This indicates that hours of work and associated satisfaction with working hours in veterinary clinicians can be a significant predictor for attrition from clinical practice.

Dissatisfaction with hours of work being an influential factor for staff turnover has been reported in medical nurses<sup>52</sup>, home-care workers<sup>82</sup>, and non-specified private sector professionals<sup>83</sup>. Flexible and modified working hours have been associated with improved retention in medical nurses<sup>91</sup>, further research investigating whether these tactics would improve retention in veterinarians is needed to suggest implementation strategies.

Personal satisfaction was another contributor to attrition. The model showed that as personal satisfaction decreased, the odds of leaving clinical practice increased by 12% (OR 0.88 p=0.02). Traynor describes this variable as feelings of worthwhile accomplishment that contributes to patient care, use of skill, challenge and quality of work with patients in medical nurses<sup>43</sup>. This component of job satisfaction can be extrapolated to veterinary practice as the enjoyment of the clinical work. Such feelings of accomplishment seem to resemble the positive emotions associated with compassion satisfaction and motivation to help or contribute to society. Using clinical expertise, making a difference for animals, helping people, and achieving positive outcomes were frequent themes in job satisfaction of veterinarians and animal care workers<sup>31,79</sup>. These types of intrinsic satisfaction (satisfaction with the nature of the work itself) have been associated with career longevity (along with work-life balance) in early-career veterinarians<sup>84</sup>, and intrinsic enjoyment has been a source of retention in UK farm animal veterinarians<sup>85</sup>. Furthermore, intrinsic motivations, defined as the inherited enjoyment of performing a particular task, has been negatively associated with turnover intentions in multiple other sectors<sup>15,16</sup>, including healthcare<sup>17</sup>. In surgical personnel, the intrinsic enjoyment of the clinical work was a key significant predictor of job satisfaction<sup>86</sup>, highlighting the importance of this aspect. Personal intrinsic satisfaction with veterinary medicine seems to be a protective factor against attrition in this cohort of veterinarians. Understanding elements that will enhance intrinsic job satisfaction and facilitating those resources becomes important when developing retention strategies for veterinarians in clinical practice. For example, increasing the resources to achieve positive clinical outcomes and interactions with patients, and providing the environment for veterinary clinicians to enhance their use of clinical skills may improve their personal job satisfaction.

Collegial relations (an element of job satisfaction) was positively associated with attrition from practice. Clinicians reporting high satisfaction with collegial relations had higher odds of having left clinical practice (p=0.027, OR=1.13). This sub-scale measured opportunities for social contact during and after work, but also included questions about satisfaction with the delivery of care used, opportunities to work in other disciplines and the relationship with physicians, which changed to veterinarians and support staff for our study<sup>41</sup>. Contrastingly, an unfriendly and unsupportive working climate has been associated with attrition and job dissatisfaction in medical nurses<sup>52,86,87</sup>. This construct is described in previous research as experiences of isolation, not feeling well regarded by doctors, and a lack of teamwork, cohesion and support from other staff<sup>52,86,87</sup>. Those elements of dissatisfaction (isolation, lack of teamwork, cohesion etc.) might not have been well captured in this five-item sub-scale evaluating satisfaction with collegial relations (Cronbach alpha 0.68). It is possible that this sub-scale may not accurately measure collegial relations with the same terminology as in other studies associating such

dissatisfaction and attrition. Further studies may require an adaptation of the measure in order to adequately understand the contribution of this construct and attrition of veterinarians in practice.

When all variables were analysed, work culture, moral distress, satisfaction with workload, and work-life balance were not significant contributors to attrition from practice. Perception of low work-life balance, toxic work culture, moral distress and high workload have been related to attrition in medical professionals<sup>50,52,88</sup>. However, for this cohort of veterinary graduates, other variables such as satisfaction with schedules, compassion satisfaction, and employment conditions like salary and hours of work had a stronger relationship with attrition. It is possible that variables like work culture, moral distress, WLB, and workload can be an undercurrent of job dissatisfaction but are not directly linked to attrition in this cohort of veterinary clinicians. In Australian small animal veterinarians, workload was associated with work-related stress<sup>87</sup>. Further research is needed to understand these relationships. It is possible that the adapted job satisfaction measure constructed for medical nurses does not correctly evaluate the specific factors that increase workload in clinical veterinarians. Factors such as number of consultations and surgical procedures were associated with work-related stress in small animal veterinarians<sup>75</sup>; though the measure does not assess these, highlighting the importance of developing a veterinary specific job satisfaction scale.

Overall, this study displays factors associated with attrition from clinical practice in veterinarians and offers valuable contributions to the modern veterinary profession. The relationship between dissatisfaction with schedules and odds of attrition adds to previous findings (chapter 4) where more working hours increased odds of attrition<sup>7</sup>. The relationship between compassion satisfaction, being motivated by social purpose, and personal (intrinsic) satisfaction shows the strong interest of veterinarians to do meaningful work and how, when constraints prevent accomplishing such meaningful work, an increase in clinical attrition might be observed. Further research is required to understand better the relationship between burnout, satisfaction with collegial relations, work-life balance, workload, and moral distress and with veterinary attrition from practice.

# Limitations

The limitations of this study include the possibility of recollection, selection and imputation bias. There was no cut off for time of attrition, which could be associated with recollection bias for veterinarians that have left practice several years ago<sup>63</sup>. Recollection bias might have affected results obtained from some of the measures. The ProQOL, for example, was designed to measure compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue in a period of 30 days prior to administration<sup>34</sup>. The potential for affect recall bias may affect the accuracy of the results when recollecting feelings and experiences from periods beyond 30 days<sup>63</sup>. Potter indicated that the measure is better used when trends are evaluated over time<sup>89</sup>, and Stamm the creator of ProQOL, reports that changes over time can occur<sup>34</sup>. This study could not assess such trends and changes due to its cross-sectional design and

methodology and an interpretation of the mental health of veterinarians over the course of their careers cannot be extrapolated<sup>90</sup>. A longitudinal study could yield different results. Furthermore, the ProQOL measure is designed for those who care/help other people, but it is not specific for animal carers. Although we tried to adjust the statements to veterinary practice as much as possible without taking away the meaning of the item, there were elements relating to caring for animals that might not be captured in the ProQOL<sup>33</sup>. It is possible that the ProQOL can underrepresent the professional satisfaction of veterinary clinicians. Validating a veterinary specific professional quality of life measure may be useful to further understand the relationship between these variables and attrition from veterinary clinical practice. The results elicited from the use of this measure should be interpreted in the light of its limitations and may be useful as possible indicators for future research.

Unfortunately, the measure of job satisfaction had to have some data imputed to meet the ethical approval requirement to allow participants to skip questions leading to possible imputation bias which could elicit inaccurate representation of the estimated values<sup>92</sup>. Imputation bias was minimised by recognising a missingness pattern in the data set which increases our confidence of an adequate representation of the estimated values<sup>92</sup>. Furthermore, as there is no job satisfaction measure for veterinarians, some veterinary-specific situations were not included in this attrition assessment, such as financial constraints of clients and job satisfaction surrounding animal euthanasia. Furthermore, the sub-scale evaluating collegial relations might not have captured elements of teamwork, support, and collegiality reportedly related to attrition in medical nurses. This created difficulties with interpretating results surrounding this construct. Moral distress was assessed using a recently developed measure that uses a '0' for 'not applicable', which could reduce the overall scores of the scale, possibly under-reporting moral distress in this cohort. The moral distress measure was developed using the same dataset analysed in the current manuscript, without using a different population to validate the scale. Further research to validate the moral distress scale is needed and measuring a moral distress in a different population may yield a different relationship between moral distress and attrition from practice.

This research reports the results of a cross-sectional study; therefore, causality cannot be determined. The results observed are potentially indicative of possible relationships and associations only. Data was acquired mainly via electronic dissemination using alumni offices and social media, which may exclude veterinarians without access to these platforms. The authors tried to minimise selection bias by using veterinary alumni offices, however, it is possible that the cohort of former veterinary clinicians may be under represented.

## Conclusion

Employment conditions such as lower salary, working longer hours, working in metropolitan regions, and being on-call were associated with attrition from veterinary clinical practice, even when the analysis included the psychological factors. Addressing these working conditions is important when developing staff retention strategies. Furthermore, being motivated by social purpose and dissatisfaction with scheduling were influential factors for attrition from clinical practice. It is possible that compassion satisfaction and intrinsic personal satisfaction might be protective against attrition from practice but further research is required due to the limitations of the use of the measure to investigate compassion satisfaction. Dissatisfaction with scheduling can be closely related to working hours, and these factors in unity were associated with attrition from practice. Results from clinicians reporting lower burnout indicated higher odds to have left clinical practice, which may possibly be associated with a decision of current clinicians to stay despite experiencing burnout. However, it is possible that the experience of burnout in former veterinary clinicians could be underrepresented since the ProQOL was not designed to measure this variable in a prolonged retrospection. Further research is required to comprehensively understand the relationship between burnout and attrition in veterinarians.

Creating contextualised measures for job satisfaction and professional quality of life that include the circumstances unique to veterinarians, instead of adapting measures from other caring professions, can be important areas of future research. Finally, providing an environment that can enhance the sources of personal satisfaction and compassion satisfaction (such as resources to increase positive clinical outcomes and patient and client care) is a strategy that may potentially increase the retention of veterinarians in practice.

# References

- 1. The Australian Veterinary Association. *Australian veterinary workforce modelling report*. 2015 February 2015 [cited 2021 26/02/2021]; Available from: https://www.ava.com.au/policy-advocacy/advocacy/workforce/workforce-data/.
- 2. Neill, C.L., R.B. Holcomb, and B.W. Brorsen, *Current market conditions for veterinary services in the U.S.* Applied Economics, 2018. **50**(60): p. 6501-6511.
- 3. AVMA Workforce Advisory Group, *Implications of the 2013 US Veterinary Workforce Study and Recommendations for Future Actions*, A.V.M. Association, Editor. 2013: United States of America. p. 17.
- 4. Lincoln Institute. *Our disappearing vets: Australia's veterinary industry searching for answers over high attrition rates.* [Press Release] 2019 February 2021; Available from: https://lincolninstitute.com.au/lincoln-institutes-vet-engagement-survey/.
- 5. Villarroel, A., et al., A survey of reasons why veterinarians leave rural veterinary practice in the United States. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2010. **236**(8): p. 859-867.
- 6. Hagen, J.R., et al., *Investigation of factors affecting recruitment and retention in the UK veterinary profession.* Veterinary Record, 2020. **187**(9): p. 354-354.
- 7. Arbe Montoya, A.I., et al., *Risk factors associated with attrition from veterinary clinical practice. A descriptive study.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2021. **99**(11): p. 495-501.
- 8. McArthur, M.L., et al., *Resilience of veterinarians at different career stages: The role of self-efficacy, coping strategies and personal resources for resilience in veterinary practice.* Veterinary Record, 2021. **n/a**(n/a): p. e771.
- 9. Weldon, P., *Early career teacher attrition in Australia: evidence, definition, classification and measurement.* Australian Journal of Education, 2018. **62**(1): p. 61-78.
- 10. Crow, S.M., S.A. Smith, and S.J. Hartman, *Attrition in Nursing: Perspectives From the National Survey of College Graduates.* The Health Care Manager, 2005. **24**(4): p. 336-346.
- 11. Arbe Montoya, A.I., et al., *Why do veterinarians leave clinical practice? A qualitative study using thematic analysis.* Veterinary Record, 2021. **188**(1): p. 49-58.
- 12. Heath, T.J., *Longitudinal study of veterinary students and veterinarians: the first 20 years.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2007. **85**(7): p. 281-9.
- 13. Adam, K., S. Baillie, and J. Rushton, *Retaining vets in farm animal practice: a cross-sectional study.* Veterinary Record, 2015. **176**(25): p. 655.
- 14. Ryan, R.M. and E.L. Deci, *Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivations: Classic Definitions and New Directions*. Contemporary Educational Psychology, 2000. **25**(1): p. 54-67.
- 15. Kim, J., *The contrary effects of intrinsic and extrinsic motivations on burnout and turnover intention in the public sector.* International Journal of Manpower, 2018. **39**(3): p. 486-500.
- 16. Dysvik, A. and B. Kuvaas, *Exploring the relative and combined influence of mastery-approach goals and work intrinsic motivation on employee turnover intention.* Personnel Review, 2010. **39**(5): p. 622-638.
- 17. Galletta, M. and I. Portoghese, *Intrinsic Motivation, Job Autonomy and Turnover Intention in the Italian Healthcare: The mediating role of Affective Commitment.* Journal of Management Research, 2011. **3**(2): p. 19.
- 18. Ryan, R.M. and E.L. Deci, Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. American Psychologist, 2000. **55**(1): p. 68-78.
- 19. Heath, T.J., M. Lynch-Blosse, and A. Lanyon, *A longitudinal study of veterinary students and recent graduates.* 1. Backgrounds, plans and subsequent employment. Australian Veterinary Journal, 1996. **74**(4): p. 291-296.
- 20. Cake, M.A., et al., An exploration of the career motivations stated by early-career veterinarians in Australia. Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2019. **46**(12): p. 545-554.
- 21. Cake, M., et al., *Challenging identity: development of a measure of veterinary career motivations.* Veterinary Record, 2020. **186**(12): p. 386-386.
- 22. Vandeweerd, J.-M., A. Dugdale, and M. Romainville, *Validation of a Psychometric Instrument to Assess Motivation in Veterinary Bachelor Students.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2014. **41**(3): p. 265-274.

- 23. Nett, R.J., et al., *Risk factors for suicide, attitudes toward mental illness, and practice-related stressors among US veterinarians.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2015. **247**(8): p. 945-55.
- 24. Volk, J.O., et al., *Executive summary of the merck animal health veterinary wellbeing study*. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2018. **252**(10): p. 1231-1238.
- 25. Hatch, P.H., et al., *Workplace stress, mental health, and burnout of veterinarians in Australia.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2011. **89**(11): p. 460-8.
- 26. Platt, B., et al., *Suicidal behaviour and psychosocial problems in veterinary surgeons: a systematic review.* Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 2012. **47**(2): p. 223-40.
- 27. Scotney, R.L., D. McLaughlin, and H.L. Keates, *An investigation of the prevalence of compassion fatigue, compassion satisfaction and burnout in those working in animal-related occupations using the Professional Quality of Life (ProQOL) Scale.* The Veterinary Nurse, 2019. **10**(5): p. 276-284.
- 28. Hanrahan, C., B.M. Sabo, and P. Robb, Secondary traumatic stress and veterinarians: Human-animal bonds as psychosocial determinants of health. Traumatology, 2018. **24**(1): p. 73-82.
- 29. Musetti, A., et al., *Exposure to animal suffering, adult attachment styles, and professional quality of life in a sample of Italian veterinarians.* PLoS ONE, 2020. **15**(8 August).
- 30. Clise, M.H., N. Kirby, and M.L. McArthur, *Is veterinary work more than satisfying? A critical review of the literature.* Veterinary Record, 2021.
- 31. Clise, M.H., S.M. Matthew, and M.L. McArthur, *Sources of pleasure in veterinary work: A qualitative study.* Veterinary Record, 2021. **188**(11): p. no.
- 32. Pizzolon, C.N., J.B. Coe, and J.R. Shaw, *Evaluation of team effectiveness and personal empathy for associations with professional quality of life and job satisfaction in companion animal practice personnel.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2019. **254**(10): p. 1204-1217.
- 33. McArthur, M.L., et al., *The Prevalence of Compassion Fatigue among Veterinary Students in Australia and the Associated Psychological Factors.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2017. **44**(1): p. 9-21.
- 34. Stamm, B.H., *The Concise ProQOL Manual, 2nd Edition.* 2010.
- 35. Mason, V.M., et al., *Compassion fatigue, moral distress, and work engagement in surgical intensive care unit trauma nurses: a pilot study.* Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing, 2014. **33**(4): p. 215-25.
- 36. Perrone, F., D. Player, and P. Youngs, *Administrative Climate, Early Career Teacher Burnout, and Turnover.* Journal of School Leadership, 2019. **29**(3): p. 191-209.
- 37. Locke, E.A., *What is job satisfaction?* Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 1969. **4**(4): p. 309-336.
- 38. Griffeth, R.W., P.W. Hom, and S. Gaertner, *A meta-analysis of antecedents and correlates of employee turnover: Update, moderator tests, and research implications for the next millennium.* Journal of Management, 2000. **26**(3): p. 463-488.
- 39. Mobley, W.H., Intermediate linkages in the relationship between job satisfaction and employee turnover. Journal of Applied Psychology, 1977. **62**(2): p. 237-240.
- 40. Roberts, B.J., C. Jones, and M. Lynn, *Job satisfaction of new baccalaureate nurses.* Journal of Nursing Administration, 2004. **34**(9): p. 428-435.
- 41. Lee, S.E., S.V. Dahinten, and M. MacPhee, *Psychometric evaluation of the McCloskey/Mueller Satisfaction Scale*. Japan Journal of Nursing Science, 2016. **13**(4): p. 487-495.
- 42. Lloyd, S., et al., *Development of the emergency physician job satisfaction measurement instrument.* The American Journal of Emergency Medicine, 1994. **12**(1): p. 1-10.
- 43. Traynor, M. and B. Wade, *The development of a measure of job satisfaction for use in monitoring the morale of community nurses in four trusts.* Journal of Advanced Nursing, 1993. **18**(1): p. 127-136.
- 44. Begeny, C., M. Ryan, and R. Bongiorno. *Motivation, Satisfaction and Retention. Understanding the importance of vets' day-to-day work experiences.* 2018 November 2018; 12]. Available from: https://www.svf.se/media/ognjno14/motivation-satisfaction-and-retention-bva-workforce-report-nov-2018-1.pdf.
- 45. Moore, I.C., et al., *The role of veterinary team effectiveness in job satisfaction and burnout in companion animal veterinary clinics.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2014. **245**(5): p. 513-24.

- 46. Faragher, E., M. Cass, and C. Cooper, *The relationship between job satisfaction and health: a meta-analysis.* Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 2005. **62**: p. 105-112.
- 47. Delecta, P., *Work life balance.* . International Journal of Current Research, 2011. **3**(4): p. 186-189.
- 48. Booth, M., M. Rishniw, and L.R. Kogan, *The shortage of veterinarians in emergency practice: A survey and analysis.* Journal of Veterinary Emergency and Critical Care (San Antonio), 2020.
- 49. Brough, P., et al., *Work-life balance: a longitudinal evaluation of a new measure across Australia and New Zealand workers.* The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 2014. **25**(19): p. 2724-2744.
- 50. Dyo, M., P. Kalowes, and J. Devries, *Moral distress and intention to leave: A comparison of adult and paediatric nurses by hospital setting.* Intensive Critical Care Nursing, 2016. **36**: p. 42-8.
- 51. Ramos, M.D.B., et al., *Moral distress in nurses*. Cultura de los Cuidados, 2017. **21**(48): p. 210-218.
- 52. MacKusick, C.I. and P. Minick, *Why are nurses leaving? Findings From an Initial Qualitative Study on Nursing Attrition* MEDSURG Nursing, 2010. **19**(6): p. 335-340.
- 53. Lamiani, G., et al., *Measuring Moral Distress Among Critical Care Clinicians: Validation and Psychometric Properties of the Italian Moral Distress Scale-Revised.* Critical Care Medicine, 2017. **45**(3): p. 430-437.
- 54. Trotochaud, K., et al., *Moral Distress in Pediatric Healthcare Providers*. Journal of Pediatric Nursing, 2015. **30**(6): p. 908-14.
- 55. Arbe Montoya, A.I., et al., *Moral distress in veterinarians*. Veterinary Record, 2019. **185**(20): p. 631.
- 56. Jameton, A., *Nursing Practice. The Ethical Issues.* Englewood Cliffs. 1984, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- 57. Wilkinson, J.M., *Moral distress in nursing practice*. Nursing Forum, 1987-1988. **23**: p. 19-29.
- 58. Ando, M. and M. Kawano, *Relationships among moral distress, sense of coherence, and job satisfaction.* Nursing Ethics, 2018. **25**(5): p. 571-579.
- 59. Moses, L., M.J. Malowney, and J. Wesley Boyd, *Ethical conflict and moral distress in veterinary practice: A survey of North American veterinarians.* Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine, 2018. **32**(6): p. 2115-2122.
- 60. Mueller, C.W. and J.C. McCloskey, *Nurses' job satisfaction: A proposed measure.* Nursing Research, 1990. **39**(2): p. 113-117.
- 61. Maldonado, G. and S. Greenland, *Simulation Study of Confounder-Selection Strategies*. American Journal of Epidemiology, 1993. **138**(11): p. 923-936.
- 62. Taber, K.S., *The Use of Cronbach's Alpha When Developing and Reporting Research Instruments in Science Education.* Research in Science Education, 2018. **48**(6): p. 1273-1296.
- 63. Colombo, D., et al., *Affect Recall Bias: Being Resilient by Distorting Reality.* Cognitive Therapy and Research, 2020. **44**(5): p. 906-918.
- 64. Watt, H.M.G. and P.W. Richardson, *Motivational factors influencing teaching as a career choice: Development and validation of the FIT-choice scale.* Journal of Experimental Education, 2007. **75**(3): p. 167-202.
- 65. Cake, M.A., et al., *The Life of Meaning: A Model of the Positive Contributions to Well-Being from Veterinary Work.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2015. **42**(3): p. 184-93.
- 66. Figley, C.E. and R.G. Roop, *Compassion fatigue in the animal-care community*. 2006, Humane Society Press: Washington, USA.
- 67. Bartram, D.J., G. Yadegarfar, and D.S. Baldwin, *A cross-sectional study of mental health and well-being and their associations in the UK veterinary profession.* Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 2009. **44**(12): p. 1075-85.
- 68. Shibly, S., C.A. Rödl, and A. Tichy, *Vet A 'dream job'? Survey of work-related satisfaction and possible emotional stressors of veterinarians in a university setting.* Wiener Tierarztliche Monatsschrift, 2014. **101**(3-4): p. 43-49.
- 69. Kondrup, S.V., et al., Veterinarian's dilemma: a study of how Danish small animal practitioners handle financially limited clients. Veterinary Record, 2016. **179**(23): p. 596.
- Hayes, G.M., et al., A multicenter observational study investigating care errors, staffing levels, and workload in small animal intensive care units. Journal of Veterinary Emergency and Critical Care, 2020.
   30(5): p. 517-524.
- 71. Goodman, E.A. and R.W. Boss, *THE PHASE MODEL OF BURNOUT AND EMPLOYEE TURNOVER*. Journal of Health and Human Services Administration, 2002. **25**(1): p. 33-47.

- 72. Willard-Grace, R., et al., *Burnout and health care workforce turnover*. Annals of Family Medicine, 2019. **17**(1): p. 36-41.
- 73. Tziner, A., et al., *Work stress and turnover intentions among hospital physicians: The mediating role of burnout and work satisfaction.* Revista de Psicologia del Trabajo y de las Organizaciones, 2015. **31**(3): p. 207-213.
- 74. Buzzeo, J., D. Robinson, and W. Matthew, *The 2014 RCVS Survey of the Veterinary Profession*. 2014, Institute for Employment Studies: United Kingdom.
- 75. Meehan, M.P. and L. Bradley, *Identifying and evaluating job stress within the Australian small animal veterinary profession.* Australian Veterinary Practitioner, 2007. **37**(2): p. 70-83.
- 76. Elkins, A.D. and M. Kearney, *Professional burnout among female veterinarians in the United States.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 1992. **200**(5): p. 604-8.
- 77. AVMA, *Managing stress and avoiding burnout in overworked veterinarians*. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2004. **225**(4).
- 78. Stamm, B.H., Secondary trumatic stress: Self-care issues for clinicians, researchers and educators. 1995: The Sidran Press.
- Polachek, A.J. and J.E. Wallace, *The paradox of compassionate work: a mixed-methods study of satisfying and fatiguing experiences of animal health care providers.* Anxiety, Stress and Coping, 2018.
   31(2): p. 228-243.
- 80. Costello, H., et al., Burnout in UK care home staff and its effect on staff turnover: MARQUE English national care home longitudinal survey. Age and Ageing, 2020. **49**(1): p. 74-81.
- 81. Smith, D.R., et al., *Examining the dimensions and correlates of workplace stress among Australian veterinarians.* Journal of Occupational Medicine and Toxicology, 2009. **4**(1).
- 82. Morris, L., Quits and job changes among home care workers in maine: The role of wages, hours, and benefits. Gerontologist, 2009. **49**(5): p. 635-650.
- 83. Lee Lui, J., Main causes of voluntary employee turnover: A study of factors and their relationship with expectations and preferences, in Facultad de Economia y Negocios. 2014, Universidad de Chile: Santiago, Chile. p. 44.
- 84. Bell, M., M. Cake, and C. Mansfield, *Success in career transitions in veterinary practice: Perspectives of employers and their employees.* Veterinary Record, 2019. **185**(8): p. 232.
- 85. Adam, K.E., S. Baillie, and J. Rushton, *Clients. Outdoors. Animals: Retaining vets in UK farm animal practice-thematic analysis of free-text survey responses.* Veterinary Record, 2019. **184**(4): p. 121.
- 86. James-Scotter, M., C. Walker, and S. Jacobs, *An interprofessional perspective on job satisfaction in the operating room: a review of the literature.* Journal of Interprofessional Care, 2019. **33**(6): p. 782-794.
- 87. Dilig-Ruiz, A., et al., *Job satisfaction among critical care nurses: A systematic review.* International Journal of Nursing Studies, 2018. **88**: p. 123-134.
- 88. Xiaoming, Y., et al., *Effects of workload on burnout and turnover intention of medical staff: A study.* Studies on Ethno-Medicine, 2014. **8**(3): p. 229-237.
- 89. Potter, P., et al., *Compassion fatigue and burnout: prevalence among oncology nurses.* Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing, 2010. **14**(5): p. E56-62.
- 90. Perret, J.L., et al., *Prevalence of mental health outcomes among Canadian veterinarians*. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2020. **256**(3): p. 365-375.
- 91. Duffield, C.M., et al., *Nursing unit managers, staff retention and the work environment.* Journal of Clinical Nursing, 2011. **20**(1-2): p. 23-33.
- 92. Fox-Wasylyshyn, S.M. and M.M. El-Masri, *Handling missing data in self-report measures.* Research in Nursing & Health, 2005. **28**(6): p. 488-495.

# Supplementary materials

# Survey psychological variables

The questions were worded in present tense for current veterinary clinicians.

The questions were worded in past tense when presented to former veterinary clinicians and were introduced by 'Thinking back to your time as a veterinary clinician...'

# Motivations:

To what extent do you agree with the following statements:

I was motivated to be a veterinary clinician because...

5 point likert – scale from: 1: not at all like me, 2: rarely like me, 3: sometimes like me, 4: often like me, 5: very much like me

- 1. I've always wanted to be a veterinarian
- 2. It was a childhood dream to become a veterinarian
- 3. Being a veterinarian is all I've ever wanted to be
- 4. I like the challenge of veterinary work
- 5. I like learning new things
- 6. I like solving problems
- 7. I like the variety of veterinary work
- 8. I like working with animals
- 9. I want to help animals
- 10. I like interacting with animals
- 11. I love animals
- 12. I want to prevent animal suffering
- 13. I like working with people
- 14. I like interacting with clients
- 15. I want to help people
- 16. I want to contribute to society
- 17. I can make a difference to society
- 18. I can contribute to the community
- 19. It provides a decent income
- 20. It is a respected profession
- 21. There are lots of career opportunities as a veterinarian
- 22. It offers job security

# Professional quality of life

Thinking back to your time as a veterinary clinician how often did you experience the following? *5 point Likert Scale from never to very often* 

- 1- I was happy as a veterinarian
- 2- I was preoccupied with more than one person or patient I helped
- 3- I got satisfaction from being able to help others
- 4- I felt connected to others
- 5- I used to jump or be startled by unexpected sounds
- 6- I felt invigorated after working with those I help
- 7- I found it difficult to separate my personal life from my life as a veterinarian

- 8- I was not as productive at work because I was losing sleep over traumatic experiences as a veterinarian
- 9- I think that I might have been affected by the traumatic stress of those I used to help
- 10- I felt trapped by my job as a vet
- 11-Because of my job, I have felt 'on edge' about various things
- 12-I liked my work as a vet
- 13-I felt depressed because of the traumatic experiences of the people I helped
- 14-I felt as though I was experiencing the trauma of someone I have helped
- 15-I have beliefs that sustain me
- 16-I am pleased with how I was able to keep up with veterinary techniques and protocols
- 17-I was the person I always wanted to be
- 18- My work made me feel satisfied
- 19-I felt worn out because of my work as a vet
- 20- I had happy thoughts and feelings about people I helped and how I could help them further
- 21- I felt overwhelmed because my workload seemed endless
- 22-I believe I was able to make a difference through my work
- 23- I avoided certain activities or situations because they remind me of frightening experiences of those I helped
- 24-I was proud of what I could do to help
- 25-As a result of being a vet, I used to have intrusive, frightening thoughts
- 26- I felt 'bogged down' by the system
- 27-I had thoughts that I was a 'success' as a vet
- 28- I couldn't recall important parts of my work with patients
- 29-I am a very caring person
- 30-I am happy that I chose to do veterinary work

# Job Satisfaction

Thinking back to your work as a veterinary clinician, on average. To what extent were you satisfied or dissatisfied with the following items?

5 point Likert scale from very dissatisfied to very satisfied.

- 1- Encouragement and positive feedback
- 2- Recognition of your work from your superiors
- 3- Recognition of your work from peers
- 4- Participation in decision making in your workplace
- 5- Control over your work setting
- 6- Control over your work conditions
- 7- Your immediate supervisor
- 8- Weekends off per month
- 9- Flexibility in scheduling weekends off
- 10- Opportunity to work consecutive days
- 11- Flexibility in scheduling hours
- 12-Compensation for working weekends
- 13-Hours that you work
- 14-Parental leave time
- 15- Opportunity for part time work
- 16-Opportunities for social contact at work
- 17- Opportunities for social contact after work
- 18- Delivery of the care method you use

- 19- Opportunity to work with other disciplines
- 20- The other veterinarians and support staff you work with
- 21-Benefits package
- 22- Salary
- 23-Vacation
- 24- The time available to get through your work
- 25- The amount of time available to finish everything you have to do
- 26- The time available for patient care
- 27-Your workload
- 28- Overall staffing levels
- 29- The feeling of worthwhile accomplishment you get from your work
- 30- The extent to which you can use my skills
- 31- The contribution you make to patient care
- 32- The amount of challenge in your job
- 33- The extent to which your job is varied and interesting

## Moral Distress Scale for Veterinarians (MDS-V)

As a veterinary clinician. In relation to the following situations, how often did they occur and how distressing did you find them?

Only the items pertinent to the MDS-V were evaluated to assess the relationship between MD and attrition from veterinary clinical practice

5-point Likert scale from:

- 0 = Not applicable
- 1= Never / not distressing
- 2= Occasionally / slightly distressing

3= Frequently / distressing

4= Very frequently / 'very distressing

- 1. Participate on a team that gives inconsistent messages to clients
- 2. Experiencing lack of administrative action or support for a problem that is compromising patient and/or client care
- 3. Working within power hierarchies in teams, units and in my practice (or institution) that compromise patient and/or client care
- 4. Witnessing low quality of patient and client care due to poor team communication
- 5. Being required to care for patients who have inconsistent or unclear treatment plans or who lack goals of care
- 6. Assisting other veterinarians who were providing incompetent care
- 7. Working in a situation where the client would not pay for the recommended treatment
- 8. Being unable to provide optimal care due to pressures from clients to reduce costs
- 9. Carrying out the client's wishes that were not in the best interest of the patient
- 10. Performing euthanasia for reasons I do not agree with
- 11. Being required to work with abusive clients
- 12. Continue providing aggressive treatment to a patient who is most likely to die regardless of this treatment
- 13. Participate in care and procedures I do not agree with, but doing so because of fears of being fired
- 14. Witness a violation of standard of practice or code of ethics and do not feel sufficiently supported to report the violation

- 15. Feel the pressure to order or carry out orders for what I consider to be unnecessary or inappropriate tests and treatments
- 16. Participate in care and procedures I do not agree with, but doing so because of fears of litigation or complaints

# Work-Life Balance

When I reflect over my work as a veterinary clinician and non-work activities (your regular activities outside of work such as family, friends, sports, study etc.) when I was working as a veterinary clinician, I conclude that: 5 point Likert scale from strongly disagree to strongly agree

- 1- I had a good balance between the time I spent at work and the time I had available for non-work activities.
- 2- I had difficulty balancing my work and non-work activities
- 3- I felt that the balance between my work demands and non-work activities was about right
- 4- Overall, I believe that my work and non-work life were balanced.

# Chapter 7: Thesis discussion

# Overview

Overall, this research indicates that certain psychological variables are potentially associated with attrition from veterinary clinical practice. Further research is required to confirm these relationships. This thesis, however, sets the groundwork for further investigation on these psychological variables. Variables potentially associated with attrition from veterinary clinical practice included low compassion satisfaction, low burnout, dissatisfaction with schedules, being motivated by social purpose, higher satisfaction with collegial relations, and lower personal (intrinsic) satisfaction. Moral distress was not found to have a potential relationship with attrition from veterinary practice in this cohort of veterinary graduates. Although not without limitations, the results from chapter 6 illuminate important areas potentially associated with attrition from veterinary clinical practice. The final chapter of this dissertation aims to discuss the combined empirical results from chapters 2 to 6.

Veterinarians are essential for the community and the welfare of animals. Currently, there are suspected worldwide shortages of veterinary clinicians, which is thought to be the result of attrition from veterinary clinical practice. Although there are publications on attrition from veterinarians in rural or farm animal veterinary practice<sup>1-</sup><sup>3</sup>, intention to leave the profession<sup>4,5</sup>, and staff turnover<sup>6</sup>, there is a gap in the literature concerning attrition from clinical practice overall. In Australia, the Australian Veterinary Association (AVA) has reported an increase of 6% in intention to leave veterinary work from 2016 to 2018<sup>5,7</sup>. However, data acquired from the AVA workforce survey is not peer reviewed, and pertains to veterinarians leaving the profession not just clinical practice. More closely related to leaving clinical practice but only reporting intention to leave, a 2015 US survey reports that 13% of their respondents were considering leaving veterinary practice<sup>8</sup>. A problem of this magnitude is difficult to ignore, and demands research into the reasons for attrition.

Moral distress is a phenomenon that has been linked to staff turnover in healthcare professionals and is related to psychological anguish, job dissatisfaction, and low morale<sup>9-17</sup>. However, moral distress has received limited study in veterinary sciences, and the relationship between moral distress and attrition in veterinarians is unknown. This project sought to understand the reasons for attrition in veterinary clinical practice and the influence of moral distress. To achieve this goal, a deeper qualitative investigation on why veterinarians stop working in clinical practice was performed. This deeper investigation involves understanding the circumstances that might surround the decision-making process to leave clinical practice. Based on those results, a survey was developed to get a broader understanding of attrition in a larger cohort of veterinary clinicians. To understand moral distress and its contribution to attrition from clinical practice, a review of the literature was conducted, followed by the development of a moral distress scale to measure this phenomenon in veterinarians. Finally, moral distress and other theorised personal and work-related factors were investigated in a population of current

and former veterinary clinicians to determine their possible contributions to attrition from veterinary clinical practice. The following chapter will discuss the key findings and integrated results of the studies performed.

# Summary of findings

### Moral distress. Definitions and the moral deliberation pathway

Due to the limited understanding of moral distress in veterinarians, the dissertation's second chapter sought to understand moral distress by reviewing the related literature. Moral distress was defined as the psychological anguish that occurs when a professional cannot undergo what they consider to be the correct moral path<sup>18,19</sup>. A moral conflict was defined as a situation that is perceived to conflict with the professionals' personal values, and moral stress was defined as the stress associated with experiencing a moral conflict<sup>20-22</sup>. From this, a moral deliberation model was developed. The model indicated that moral distress occurs when modifying factors (such as personal background and personality) influence the perception of a situation as a moral conflict. Once a moral conflict occurs, the professional experiences moral stress. Following this (and also influenced by modifying factors), they experience one of two outcomes: 1) moral comfort, if the conflict has a positive resolution or 2) moral distress if psychological anguish occurs. Moral distress occurs in veterinary clinicians, and (just like in medical professionals) it can have deleterious effects on the mental health of the veterinarian experiencing it<sup>20,23-26</sup>. This review assisted us to have a better definition and understanding of moral distress in the veterinary profession.

Moral distress has been established as an influential factor in staff turnover in medical professionals<sup>13-16</sup>; however, there has been no research evaluating the influence of moral distress in veterinary clinical attrition. A better understanding of moral distress in veterinarians facilitates this necessary research. Additionally, the reasons for veterinary clinical attrition are yet to be explored in depth. It was decided to investigate the reasons for attrition in veterinarians first then observe whether moral distress (or conflict) was a contributing factor.

## Interviewing former veterinary clinicians. A qualitative analysis on why they left practice

A qualitative approach was used to understand the contextualised subjective experiences<sup>27-29</sup> of veterinarians who had left clinical practice. Interviews with 26 former veterinary clinicians asked them to describe their experiences as clinicians and why they left practice. Two main themes emerged: Personal Factors and Work Experiences, each with several sub-themes. Furthermore, the two themes interacted with each other. For example, alternative professional interest emerged as a sub-theme in Personal Factors. However, the participants often compared conditions such as hours of work and pay (Work experiences) at their chosen alternative profession with their former employment conditions as a clinician when discussing why they left practice. Moral distress featured as a sub-category within Work Experiences.

The first study highlighted that no single factor influenced attrition from veterinary clinical practice. Retention strategies, therefore, need to be multimodal, addressing both personal and work-related factors. This chapter establishes the relationship between work-related and personal factors and how they affect the veterinarian and their desire to leave clinical practice. This structural framework was used to develop a survey that explored these factors in a larger population.

# Risk factors possibly contributing to veterinary clinical attrition Part one: The influence of demographics and working conditions

An exploration of the interconnected factors that led to attrition from clinical practice provided the foundations to understand clinical attrition in veterinarians. Further research was needed to assess which factors emerging from the qualitative study were more closely associated with attrition. A survey investigating demographics, work-related factors, and psychological variables was distributed to current and former veterinary clinicians. The initial part of the analysis (chapter 4) focused on demographic factors and the following working conditions: region of work, being an employer or employee, field of work, salary, working hours, having an alternative professional interest, university of graduation, being investigated by a regulatory authority, and years of experience. By using a logistic regression model, it was possible to identify that working longer hours, having on-call duties, getting lower pay, being male, and working in metropolitan areas were associated with attrition from practice. Working in 'other' clinical fields was associated with retention. This result was difficult to interpret as the category of 'other' encompassed several different sub-categories. Following the evaluation of demographic and employment-related factors we investigated potential associations of the psychological variables that emerged during the interviews with former veterinary clinicians with attrition from clinical practice including moral distress. However, to properly evaluate moral distress, the development of a moral distress measure for veterinary clinicians was needed.

### Understanding and measuring moral distress in veterinary clinicians

Moral distress in veterinarians was further explored by using a mixed-methods approach. The themes emerging from the interviews in chapter 5 aligned with the moral deliberation pathway proposed in chapter 2. Other relationships were identified between modifying factors and moral conflicts, including whether the participant perceived a situation as a moral conflict or not. The second qualitative part of this chapter analyses the free-text responses to whether there were other moral or ethical conflicts the respondents encountered during veterinary clinical practice. Two themes emerged: Animal health and Human interactions. Participants described expected conflicts such as euthanasia, negative colleague interactions, pressures to increase financial gain, the inability of clients to afford veterinary care, and lack of support from the system. Some categories unidentified in literature

arose as moral conflicts, such as client care (independently from the animal patient) and employment conditions like having to work when fatigued or earning a lower income.

An exploratory principal component analysis and a confirmatory factor analysis were performed, and the moral distress scale for veterinarians (MDS-V) was developed. The MDS-V has three sub-scales demonstrating different areas of moral conflict in veterinary clinicians: Team relations compromising patient care; Conflicting client interactions; and Perception of personal threat. Although requiring validation in different populations of veterinarians, this scale can be used to measure moral distress in veterinary clinicians and to assess the relationship between moral distress and attrition from veterinary clinical practice.

## Risk factors possibly contributing to veterinary clinical attrition Part two: Evaluation of psychometric variables including moral distress

As seen in chapter 3, a combination of interlinked factors influenced veterinary clinical attrition. It was necessary to assess how these factors relate to attrition in the presence of each other rather than assessing their individual contributions. The variables assessed through a regression model were selected based on the interviewees' responses in chapter 3. In chapter 6 possible relationships between attrition from veterinary clinical practice and: motivations to be a veterinarian, professional quality of life, elements of job satisfaction (satisfaction with: work culture, work schedules, workload, collegial relations, remuneration, personal satisfaction), work-life balance, and moral distress. In addition to those psychological factors, the demographic and work-related variables associated with attrition in chapter 4 were included to account for possible confounders.

The logistic regression model indicated that some psychological variables had a positive association with attrition while others had a negative association. All else being equal, variables in the model positively associated with attrition (higher scores increase the odds of attrition) were: being motivated by social purpose and being satisfied with collegial relations. Variables in the model that were negatively associated with attrition (lower scores increase the odds of attrition) included: compassion satisfaction, burnout, satisfaction with scheduling, and personal (intrinsic) job satisfaction. The conclusions relate to possible indications of a protective effect of compassion satisfaction and personal (worthwhile accomplishments related to their clinical work<sup>85</sup>) job satisfaction from veterinary clinicians' attrition from practice. It is possible that satisfaction with the work itself may have a stronger pull to retention than burnout might have towards attrition. However, due to the limitations on the retrospective use of the ProQOL in former veterinary clinicians that have left clinical practice potentially a long time ago, these results should be used as possible indicators for future research only. Other variables theorised to be associated with attrition from practice, which yielded non-significant results, included work-life balance, dissatisfaction with workload and moral distress. This final study completed the investigation of reasons for attrition from veterinary clinical practice and the influence of moral distress.

# Integrated assessment of findings

#### The combination of factors

One of the main findings of chapter 2 was that a combination of personal and work-related factors influenced the veterinarian's decision to leave clinical practice. The participants' perceptions of values and background influenced how they approached their clinical work, and their experiences at work influenced their emotions and further motivations. Ultimately, the combination of these influenced their decision to leave practice. The risk factors for attrition were, therefore, analysed in light of each other rather than as individual variables. This method was used for the demographic elements and working conditions in chapter 4 and the investigation of psychological variables in chapter 6.

Although several previous studies have discussed attrition in veterinarians<sup>1,2,6,30,31</sup>, they focused on demographics, a particular field of work, staff turnover, or leaving the veterinary profession overall. Since the results of the qualitative exploration revealed that a combination of factors was involved in attrition from practice, it was necessary to account for possible psychological factors with the inclusion of moral distress. This research is in line with workforce literature reporting the influence of multiple factors on turnover intentions, staff turnover or career attrition in teachers<sup>32,33</sup>, and medical nurses<sup>16,34</sup>, and finds that multiple factors including personal (non-work related) and employment-related factors are associated with veterinary clinical attrition.

### Demographic factors: gender, region of work and working in 'other' clinical fields.

Previous workforce studies in the veterinary literature have focused on demographics and extrinsic working conditions. Understanding the contrasts between the findings in this dissertation and the previously published literature is important. For example, a discrepancy was noted regarding gender. Female veterinarians are reported to have higher intention to leave practice when compared with males<sup>31</sup>. In contrast, results in chapter 4 indicate that, for this cohort, male veterinarians had higher odds to have left practice than females. However, when the psychological variables were added to the model in chapter 6, the influence of gender was no longer significant. Furthermore, other veterinary studies found no link between gender and veterinarians leaving farm animal practice<sup>35</sup> or veterinary academia<sup>36</sup>. The overarching conclusion is that the influence of gender in veterinary workforce fluctuations might be cohort dependent. Future studies will be required if further focus on this particular demographic is desired.

Another relevant demographic is region of work. Several studies have addressed the perceived veterinary workforce shortage in rural veterinary practice<sup>1-3,35,37-39</sup>. However, this study showed that more metropolitan veterinarians tended to leave than rural or semi-rural ones. This result was consistent in chapter 6, even when

the model included the psychological variables. Furthermore, veterinarians who had worked both in metropolitan and rural regions had higher odds to have left practice than their metropolitan colleagues; although when the psychometrics were included in the model, this variable was no longer significant. To this date, there have been no publications exploring the influence of specific working regions on staff turnover or career attrition in veterinarians. The results in this thesis are novel and lead the way to further detailed research to understand the particular challenges that metropolitan veterinarians may be facing in contrast to their rural counterparts. It is possible, for example, that veterinarians in metropolitan regions may have more consultations, perform more surgery, and have less time per patient, which is a notable contributor to work-related stress in companion animal veterinarians<sup>40</sup>. On the other hand, sources of job satisfaction in rural veterinary practice (such as community involvement and working outdoors<sup>3,35</sup>) could have a stronger pull for retention for these veterinarians. This pull is seen in Australian healthcare, where general practitioners in rural regions showed higher job satisfaction than their urban counterparts<sup>41</sup>. Finally, a study with a small cohort of Charles Sturt University veterinary graduates reported that regional veterinarians could be receiving higher salaries than their metropolitan colleagues<sup>42</sup>. Considering salary is an important moderator for attrition, the higher salary received by regional veterinarians could act as a retention incentive. A comparison between the two groups is needed to assess this theory. In the meantime, strategies for retention for all regions should be considered.

No significant differences in relation to attrition from practice were found between small animal and mixed practice veterinarians. The field of work that grouped several sub-sectors, such as specialist practice, shelter medicine, wildlife and zoo veterinarians, and clinical government veterinarians (named 'Other'), seemed to be protective against attrition from practice. This result was seen both in chapter 4 and chapter 6. It is difficult to accurately explain this finding since it was not feasible to separate these smaller fields of work for individual analysis; however, future research may find that working in a specialist or niche field of practice could be protective from career attrition. In medical doctors, specialty surgeons (eg. cardiovascular, orthopaedic) tend to have higher job satisfaction than general surgeons<sup>43</sup> thus this could be a valid theory that requires more investigation. A qualitative study exploring the professional identity of newly graduated veterinarians found that participants who had a diagnosis-focused identity (satisfaction and value placed in the diagnosis and treatment of patients) might find some challenges of general veterinary practice frustrating<sup>44</sup>. It was hypothesised that such frustrations could be alleviated in a setting where clients have similar values and expectations, such as referral specialist practice<sup>44</sup>. This type of job satisfaction could contribute to retention, but further research is required to test this hypothesis since other studies in the veterinary literature indicate that attrition from practice and staff turnover also occurs in different specialty fields of practice like diagnostic imaging<sup>45</sup> and academia<sup>36</sup>. Therefore, a potential causal relationship between working in a specialty field and career longevity in veterinary practice needs further exploration. As expected, salary, hours of work and being on-call were still significant aspects of attrition from practice. These variables will be discussed in the following section.

#### Important working conditions: Hours, after-hours and salary

Hours of work, presence of after-hours duties and dissatisfaction with schedules were key findings in both the qualitative and quantitative studies. These findings are similar to those found in the literature. For example, in rural veterinary practice, lack of time off and presence of emergency duties were highly ranked as reasons for veterinarians to leave rural veterinary practice<sup>1</sup>. Hours of work, lack of breaks, not having enough holidays and long working days were associated with work-related stress in Queensland veterinarians<sup>46</sup>. A common suggestion has been to increase flexibility in schedules and working hours<sup>30,31,47,48</sup>. Although some veterinarians do reduce the number of hours they work<sup>47</sup>, recently graduated veterinarians seem to be working significantly more hours per week<sup>49</sup>. In New Zealand, it was reported that the median working week for recent graduate veterinarians was 48.7 hours<sup>49</sup>, and in Australia, the mean working hours for veterinarians was 40 hours per week<sup>5</sup>. Similarly, veterinary clinicians worked the longest hours in the UK, averaging 44.3 hours per week in 2014<sup>48</sup>. In chapter 6 of this dissertation, the mean of hours of work per week (for both current and former veterinary clinicians) was 39 hours. Fair Work Australia considers 38 hours per week to be the full-time working week in Australia<sup>50</sup>; hence, veterinarians on average, seem to be working more.

Besides dissatisfaction with long working hours, there seems to be an association between longer hours of work and psychological stress. Overwork and long working hours in healthcare and veterinary professionals have a relationship with psychological stress<sup>40,51-53</sup> and increased incidences of medical and 'everyday life' errors<sup>54</sup>. Furthermore, working longer hours in a stressful environment is associated with higher fatigue levels than working longer hours in a non-stressful environment<sup>51</sup>. With that in mind, chapter 6 shows a relationship between dissatisfaction with work hours and schedules and attrition from practice. Together, these factors indicate that overall hours of work is a critical factor influencing attrition from veterinary clinical practice. It is suggested that reducing working hours and increasing flexibility could increase the retention and attraction of veterinarians to clinical practice. Contrastingly, it has been suggested that a veterinarians' capability to embrace long working hours is associated with retention<sup>31</sup>. Considering the results of chapter 3 (where combined personal and workrelated factors influence attrition), the possibility that the acceptance and embracement of long working hours highlights the role of personal predisposition and beliefs around the perception of work associated with retention. The total number of working hours and dissatisfaction with them was not the only scheduling variables associated with attrition. On call duties were found to have a strong link with attrition.

Having on-call duties increased the odds of attrition from clinical practice nine times in chapter 6 (when the psychological variables were included) and ten times in chapter 4. Working after-hours and presence of emergency duties has been recurrently reported in the literature as a reason for veterinarians to leave their chosen field of work, like rural veterinary practice<sup>1</sup>. Furthermore, the association between after-hours, poor wellbeing and fatigue is worth recognising. Fatigue was also a sub-theme in chapter 3, where several of the
former clinicians interviewed reported the feeling of exhaustion from being on-call and the lack of opportunity for rest after a night on-call. Being on-call was also seen as an imposition in the interviewees' work-life/family balance, which is consistent with the literature<sup>1</sup>. A similar explanation was found in US and UK veterinary clinicians where after-hours duties (on-call) correlated with attrition from rural veterinary practice<sup>1,2</sup>. Addressing the on-call issue is key to reducing fatigue, improving WLB and consequently, retention of veterinary clinicians. Strategies to manage fatigue include 'flexibility of schedules' and reducing frequency of on-call are often proposed. However, implementation of these strategies and meet the needs of the community, maintain the welfare of animals and the business profitability of the practice is more complex. We propose reducing the frequency of on-call duties as a retention strategy. This could be achieved by sharing after-hours with neighboring clinics; however, further research is needed to assess whether this intervention is viable or helpful. Alternatively, ensuring time off after a night on-call could also reduce fatigue and exhaustion. The details for implementing these strategies require further exploration and consultation with the stakeholders involved.

Another working condition that seems to have a recurrent association with staff turnover and attrition from practice is salary. The association between remuneration and veterinary workforce has previously been explored. In the UK, most surveyed veterinarians in a 2014 study reported that better remuneration would improve the profession<sup>48</sup>, and in North America, authors recommend increasing salaries for veterinarians as a strategy for recruitment and retention<sup>37,47</sup>. In Australia, Professional Scientists Australia report that veterinarians in 2017 earned approximately 10% less than the average professional with an average wage of \$A72,940<sup>55</sup>. Increasing wages in mixed animal practice was recommended in a 2011 Queensland report after surveying the expectations of salary in veterinary students<sup>56</sup>. In chapter 4, we found in our data description that the average wage for current veterinary clinicians was \$A88.9k, and \$74.6k for former clinicians. Currently, information on veterinarians' wages is based on cross-sectional surveys of current working veterinarians or economic reports from private enterprises. Until now, wages between former and current veterinarians in practice had not been compared. This research provides an important contribution to the literature showing lower veterinary salaries (adjusted for inflation) in former veterinary clinicians in comparison to current ones and a significant association with attrition from practice.

The current system of private veterinary practice relies on providing services for a fee. Therefore, the sustainability and profitability (and consequently, the potential salaries of veterinarians) depend on clients' ability to pay for services. This was identified when discussing retention strategies to retain veterinarians in rural practice<sup>37</sup>. Rural veterinarians describe their clients' inability or unwillingness to pay for veterinary services and phone consultations. They report that clients use 'the guilt card' to coerce veterinarians into providing services for free or at low cost, which in turn generates a negative emotional state in the veterinarian<sup>37</sup>. The solution seems simple: increasing the profitability of the practices would incur an increase in salary for veterinarians. However, two problems could arise: 1) client expenditure for veterinary services increases but veterinary wages

do not<sup>55</sup> indicating that despite practice profitability, there might not be a correlation between practice profits and wage growth; 2) inability, unwillingness or struggles for clients to pay their veterinary bills<sup>57,58</sup>, including the perception that veterinary services are of low value and high cost<sup>59</sup>. The latter may lead to other issues (such as euthanasia of animals for economic reasons), which can instigate moral distress<sup>22,26</sup> and other emotional demands for clinical veterinarians<sup>58,60</sup>. Other issues with increasing profitability include the monopolistic nature of veterinary business possibly contributing to the market inefficiency<sup>57</sup> and the reported lack of experience of veterinarians to accurately communicate their expertise<sup>59</sup>.

Strategies to improve profitability and remuneration for veterinarians have been recommended. For example, recommendations of increasing early career business skills in veterinarian practice have been followed with recent veterinary graduates through university education<sup>61</sup>. Although working conditions such as pay have been associated with job satisfaction (and consequently) retention, the relationship may only be marginal as found in a meta-analysis of employees in multiple sectors<sup>62</sup>, and other factors (more intrinsic in nature) are important contributors to attrition and retention of veterinarians in practice.

#### A negative emotional state and burnout

Affectivity, described as a positive or negative emotional state<sup>63</sup>, was a recurrent theme arising in chapter 3 for 24 out of the 26 interviewees. There is a wide breadth of research related to the negative emotional state expressed as occupational stress, burnout and mental ill-health in veterinarians<sup>8,40,64,65</sup>. The recurrent expression of negative thoughts and negative affectivity as an influential factor for attrition in this cohort concurs with the cited literature. Negative affect seemed to interlink with work-related factors such as working long hours and presence of on-call. Some participants in the interviews associated this interaction with work-family/life balance and work-related stressors. Although affectivity itself was not measured in the quantitative studies, aspects associated with trauma, stress and emotional exhaustion (compassion fatigue)<sup>66</sup> as well as compassion satisfaction were investigated by measuring professional quality of life (ProQOL)<sup>66</sup>.

The results of Chapter 6 possibly indicate that potential relationships may exist for attrition from clinical practice and burnout and compassion satisfaction. Results of the logistic regression model indicated that former veterinary clinicians reported lower compassion satisfaction and that these results were associated with higher odds of attrition. Although results of the model indicated that former veterinary clinicians reported higher burnout, this variable in the model had a negative relationship with attrition from practice. This result possibly indicates a potential relationship between burnout and attrition from clinical practice that is contrary to previous findings where, for example, emergency clinicians that indicated intention to leave were experiencing self-reported burnout<sup>30</sup>. However, this study in emergency clinicians did not measure burnout and reports only the respondents' self-assessment of their own definition of burnout. Other studies have measured burnout in animal care staff<sup>67,68</sup>, veterinarians<sup>68,69</sup>, and veterinary students<sup>70</sup>, but the association between burnout and intention to leave or career attrition has not been measured in veterinary practice. It is also possible that although burnout seems to be prevalent in veterinarians (up to 50% of recently graduate veterinarians may reach a stage of burnout<sup>65</sup>), it may not necessarily relate to attrition from practice. Other aspects that increase retention may have a more substantial influence. However, it is also important to acknowledge the challenge of interpreting results associated with the ProQOL as the measure is intended to assess a professional's emotional state within 30 days and this study has not used the measure in this form. The results of this study give possible indications for future research investigating potential relationships between professional quality of life and career attrition and/or staff turnover.

High burnout, job satisfaction and compassion satisfaction can coexist<sup>66,71,72</sup>. In child care workers, this relationship is highly moderated with the meaningfulness and satisfaction derived from helping others<sup>71</sup>. Other factors associated with high job satisfaction (despite emotional exhaustion or burnout) mentioned in the literature are social support, workload, job autonomy, and personal attributes such as skill level and coping strategies<sup>71</sup>. Veterinarians experience burnout<sup>69,73</sup> and compassion satisfaction<sup>69</sup> which is not unprecedented. The dual duty of caring for both people and animals (and potentially arising conflicts) may contribute to a greater likelihood of experiencing both compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue<sup>74</sup>. The following section discusses the possible factors associated with satisfaction in veterinary clinical practice.

#### Motivations and job satisfaction

Matching motivations to work and reality of the job have been linked to improved job satisfaction<sup>75,76</sup>. The relevance for this thesis revolves around the relationship between motivations, job dissatisfaction and staff turnover<sup>43,77-81</sup>. Motivations to work is often related to personal values, background and beliefs. This interlink and its influence on attrition was discussed in chapter 3. Furthermore, it is possible to measure motivations in veterinarians<sup>76</sup>. In this dissertation, motivations to be a veterinarian were measured and compared to attrition from clinical practice. Chapter 6 showed that the only motivation associated with attrition from clinical practice was social purpose. As per the discussion in chapter 6, a professional may choose to fulfill this type of vocational need in alternative careers which make a stronger contribution to the wider community. Other motivation factors such as caring for animals, vocational identity and extrinsic reward did not show a relationship with attrition in this study. A hypothesis could be developed which indicates that either these motivations met. It can also be hypothesised that when experiences in veterinary practice match the motivations of veterinary professionals, career longevity is attainable. However, a better understanding of the relationships between these motivation factors and attrition requires further research.

Job satisfaction is an important concept due to its relationship with attrition and employee turnover in other professionals<sup>43,77,80</sup>, its relationship with professional engagement<sup>83,84</sup>, quality of patient care<sup>85</sup>, and psychological wellbeing<sup>82,83</sup>. Some elements challenge achieving satisfaction in veterinary practice. Armitage-Chan describes the frustration with limitations (such as client finances) that preclude achieving diagnosis and treatment for patients in a qualitative study of recently graduated veterinarians<sup>44</sup>. That cohort reported satisfaction not only when they were able to diagnose and treat but also when they could care for clients or overcome challenges<sup>44</sup>. Other reported sources of job satisfaction include the ability to use clinical expertise, positive clinical outcomes, positive client and inter-collegial relations, and the perception of helping<sup>84</sup>. However, most literature has either been qualitative narrative and thematic analysis, or descriptive quantitative research. To this date, there are no validated scales to measure job satisfaction in veterinary clinical practice. We measured elements of job satisfaction with intrinsic reward (personal satisfaction), which relates to the satisfaction and feelings of accomplishment of the work itself<sup>85</sup>, was significantly associated with attrition.

Similarly, to intrinsic satisfaction, compassion satisfaction is defined as the pleasure derived from helping others and doing the work well<sup>66</sup>. The indication of a possible relationship between compassion satisfaction and attrition from practice was expected: lower compassion satisfaction in the regression model was associated with higher odds of attrition from practice. Similarly, to medical nurses, increasing compassion satisfaction could be important for retention<sup>96</sup>. In chapter 6, for example, veterinarians with higher social purpose motivations and those with more personal dissatisfaction had higher odds to have left clinical practice. It was established earlier that social purpose indicated motivations towards making an impact or contribution to a community or society<sup>87,88</sup>. Similarly, compassion satisfaction and the job satisfaction sub-scale associated with personal satisfaction are also associated with feelings of accomplishment in relation to caring (for patients)<sup>85</sup>. Such meaningfulness of caring for patients has been associated with job satisfaction in healthcare professionals, including doctors and nurses<sup>43</sup>. Integrating these findings and the results associated with motivations and job satisfaction from intrinsic/personal achievement is valuable as we have established (in chapter 3) that it is a combination of factors that ultimately influences attrition. However, further research is required to assess the potential associations between the combination of the variables and attrition rather than their individual contributions.

The commonality between these variables demonstrates the desire of veterinary clinicians to make a difference and successfully care for patients. Caring for patients and clients is an element of job satisfaction in veterinarians, veterinary students and veterinary support staff<sup>67,70,84,89,90</sup>. In combination with the literature, these results show that veterinarians can develop enjoyment of the veterinary work itself (intrinsic satisfaction) when they can care for their patients, clients and community. When this intrinsic satisfaction is achieved, it may act as a protective mechanism against attrition. Furthermore, the inability to care for patients has been associated with staff turnover in medical nurses<sup>80,91</sup>. The inability to care for patients and not being able to 'give it a 100%' was also discussed

in chapter 3 as influential for attrition from clinical practice, indicating this to be an important factor. Understanding when veterinarians are not unable to care for patients and clients is essential. Skovholt *et al.* explains that the intrinsic reward of helping professionals (counselors) can be 'deeply meaningful and satisfying', but work-related difficulties outside the professionals' control can propose challenges to achieve said intrinsic reward<sup>92</sup>.

In veterinary practice, there are elements that might restrict the desired delivery of care and the achievement of compassion satisfaction when experiencing meaningful work. Time per patient has relevance. Smith identified stress associated with inadequate time per patient as an important work-related stressor in Queensland veterinarians<sup>46</sup>. Workload (unreasonable number of consultations and surgeries) and the perception of lack of time per patient has been associated with occupational stress in Australian small animal veterinarians, overseas veterinarians, and new graduates<sup>40,73,93</sup>. Although these surveys only provided descriptive analysis of self-reported variables rather than validated measures and statistical modelling, their contributions should be considered. Inadequate time per patient and the perception of 'letting the patient at the back down due to trying to fit in as much as possible' was mentioned in chapter 3 by more than one participant (see chapter 2 supplementary materials for representative quotes). Despite workload not being significantly associated with attrition from clinical practice in chapter 6, it has been mentioned by several studies as a stressor in veterinary practice<sup>40,94,95</sup>. Workload could be acting as an undercurrent source of job dissatisfaction rather than being directly linked to attrition from clinical practice.

Providing resources to ensure or increase patient and client care delivery is suggested to increase job satisfaction and thus retention. Strategies have been suggested such as managing number of patients (patient to nurse ratio) to improve patient care, increase job satisfaction, and reduce patient mortality in medical nurses<sup>80,96</sup>. Furthermore, time available for patient care also correlates with incidence of medical errors<sup>97</sup>. In a study of veterinary technicians, having more than 4 patients per veterinary technician was associated to significantly increased odds of medical (care) errors<sup>97</sup>. Experiencing medical errors and adverse events is distressing for veterinarians<sup>98,99</sup>, and exposes them to litigation. Giving veterinarians the time to care for their patients adequately seems to be important for achieving job satisfaction, compassion satisfaction and in turn, staff retention.

#### The influence of moral distress

Although moral distress was not significantly associated with attrition from clinical practice in this cohort of veterinary clinicians, the development of the MDS-V will help measure this phenomenon in clinical practice. Understanding and measuring moral distress is necessary to counter the effects that it can have on psychological wellbeing and its influence on reduced job satisfaction. In chapter 2, we developed a moral deliberation pathway model derived from the published literature. The model establishes that influential factors such as background,

values and beliefs will modify how a moral conflict is perceived and moral distress (or comfort) develops. These findings mirror the literature in veterinarians and medical nurses, establishing personal factors as influential factors in the development of moral distress<sup>17,20</sup>. Moral and ethical conflicts were identified in chapters 2 and 5. Client financial constraints, colleagues acting unethically, and objectionable euthanasia were recurrent sources of moral conflict. The moral conflicts emerging from this study are similar to those reported in the veterinary literature<sup>20,22,25,99-102</sup>.

Following the moral deliberation pathway, interviewees reported experiencing stress from moral and ethical conflicts. Those who reached a resolution expressed moral comfort, whereas those that experienced moral distress expressed it as emotional anguish. A list of veterinary specific moral and ethical conflicts emerged from the combination of moral and ethical conflicts outlined by participants and the conflicts reported in the literature. These, in combination with items associated with MD in healthcare workers, evolved into the MDS-V. Developing this scale was necessary to understand the influence of MD in attrition from veterinary practice. Previously, MD has been described as the discrete outcome of other variables like perfectionism<sup>20</sup>, via interviews and field work<sup>100,102</sup>, in non-empirical expert commentary<sup>22,26</sup>, and by assessing the impact of animal euthanasia<sup>22,26,103</sup>. For the most part, former research in veterinarians' moral distress focuses on describing the situations we defined as moral conflicts. Despite the need for further multiple studies to validate the scale, our moral distress scale was the required tool to explore the relationship between MD and attrition from veterinary practice in a quantitative manner.

Finally, it is possible that MD acts as an undercurrent for job dissatisfaction and veterinary clinicians which, although not necessarily directly linked to attrition, can accumulate with other factors and amplify job dissatisfaction. The underlying theme of moral distress is present in veterinarians and veterinary nurses when discussing their work experiences<sup>90</sup>. One participant of this qualitative study identified a situation of moral conflict that explained why they couldn't do the work anymore<sup>90</sup>. A similar experience was seen in two participants in chapter 3.

In relation to other variables, MD was a significant predictor for burnout in US nurses and medical doctors<sup>104,105</sup>, and is associated with burnout in critical care providers<sup>106</sup>. It is evident that understanding moral distress is important. The results of this thesis provide further understanding of moral distress in veterinarians. We also highlighted sources of moral conflict and created a scale to measure moral distress in practice. Measuring moral distress is a useful technique to recognise the elements of practice potentially leading to burnout and job dissatisfaction, which might improve retention if addressed.

#### Implications for the veterinary profession

Understanding why veterinarians leave practice is the first step when creating evidence-based retention strategies. The reasons why veterinarians leave clinical practice are complex and often interlinked, hence, it is necessary to understand personal and work-related factors in the light of each other rather than as independent variables. Extrinsic factors (such as salary and hours) and intrinsic factors (patient and client care satisfaction) influence whether a veterinarian stays or leaves clinical practice. Understanding and addressing these in combination is crucial when developing retention strategies. Although in this project we do not evaluate the contribution of combination of several variables and the interlink with each other, with the logistic regression model, we investigated a potential relationship of each variable when all others were equal.

The most recurrent extrinsic factors were hours of work and salary. Veterinarians seem to be working longer hours than the average Australian worker and former veterinary clinicians discussed their dissatisfaction with schedules and working hours. The association between working longer hours, presence of on-call duties and dissatisfaction with schedules and attrition from clinical practice was identified. Implementing a reduction of over-time and ensuring adequate rest following after-hours requirements may assist in reducing fatigue and mitigating the effect of on-call duties. Furthermore, reducing hours of work and flexibility with schedules could improve retention. Finally, improving financial remuneration is an essential step, though not without challenges, to increase retention.

The interactions between psychological factors and attrition can be more complex and require further research to be fully understood. The results of this thesis can provide some possible indications to inform such future research. Work stress and overall dissatisfaction could be associated with the demands of veterinary practice (long working hours, moral conflict and other emotional demands). However, results of this study provide possible indications that compassion satisfaction and personal satisfaction with the job could potentially influence retention in clinical practice but due to the limitations on the retrospective use of this measure, further research is required to reach this conclusion. Veterinarians hold value in their ability to care for their animal patients, clients and communities. Increasing the resources that allow them to provide the care they desire may increase retention of veterinarians in practice. Resources to increase job and compassion satisfaction include providing adequate time available per patient<sup>97</sup>, becoming part of a local community<sup>35</sup>, increasing collegial support<sup>49,107-109</sup>, training in empathetic communication<sup>70</sup>, recognising moral distress via bioethical training<sup>110</sup>, opportunity to use clinical expertise<sup>84</sup>, self-care<sup>111</sup>, self-compassion<sup>112</sup>, recognition from superiors<sup>84</sup>, psychoeducation<sup>113</sup>, and coping skills training<sup>113</sup>.

As discussed, although moral distress was not significantly associated with attrition from clinical practice, this research presents a thorough description of moral distress in veterinarians. Veterinary professionals and

veterinary leaders are encouraged to further expand their understanding of moral distress, with the aim to reduce its frequency and mitigate its effects. Having a psychometric scale to measure moral distress in veterinary clinical settings is an important step to further recognise this phenomenon and address it promptly. Acknowledging the recurrent moral conflicts in veterinarians presented in this study can create the needed awareness to identify them as they occur and develop the required strategies to reach moral comfort instead of distress. Monitoring trends of mental ill-health was proposed by UK researchers as a strategy to improve mental wellbeing in veterinarians<sup>94</sup>. With the use of psychometric scales, this idea could be extrapolated to the attrition phenomenon. Monitoring trends with psychometric measures, such as moral distress or job satisfaction, can give veterinary leadership the tools to find staff at risk of leaving before they exit their current employment, clinical practice or the veterinary profession.

### Opportunities for future research

It was interesting to see that other aspects that have influenced job dissatisfaction and work-related stress, such as workload (amount of work to be done in any given time) in medical nurses<sup>85</sup> and companion animal veterinarians<sup>40</sup> did not have a significant relationship with attrition from practice in our study. It is likely that these elements act as an undercurrent of job dissatisfaction or occupational stress but are not directly linked to attrition. It is also possible that a measure designed to assess workload in medical nurses might not accurately encompass the elements of workload in clinical veterinarians, such as number of consultations, time per consultation and number of required surgeries<sup>40</sup>. Developing a job satisfaction measure tailored for clinical veterinarians to assess these elements could clarify the relationship between workload and attrition from practice. Specific items should include, number of consultations, surgeries, time per patient, and time allocated per consultation to evaluate workload.

In this project, a scale to measure moral distress was developed. However, further research is needed to validate the MDS-V. Future studies to validate the MDS-V could include repeating the PCA and CFA with the inclusion of the constructs emerging from the free-text answers; using EFA to determine underlying latent constructs, determination of concurrent and discriminant validity, and perform a correlation analysis in different populations. Furthermore, administering the MDS-V in a different sample population as part of the validation process could yield different results for moral distress in association with attrition. Therefore, it is recommended that the association between veterinary clinical attrition and moral distress be re-assessed in a different population after further validation of the MDS-V.

The researcher chose to use the ProQOL in a retrospective fashion beyond 30 days which is not how the measure was designed to be used. This was done to gain some potential insight of professional quality of life in former veterinary clinicians which has not been previously reported. It is possible that the results are influenced

by affect recall bias and do not represent the true experiences<sup>114</sup> of burnout and compassion satisfaction in former clinicians. Importantly, the results are not intended to be interpreted as indicating fixed personal characteristics or whole-career experiences in relation to attrition from practice. Instead, the results are interpreted as indicating possible opportunities for future research to further understand the potential relationship between professional quality of life and career attrition and/or staff turnover. Such future research would be valuable for the veterinary profession.

This study also highlights some gaps in the literature yet to be fully explored. This study focused on motivations to be a veterinarian, a personal factor that influences attrition from practice. Further research in other personal characteristics (such as personality traits), beliefs and values are required as these characteristics were mentioned by interviews in chapter 3 but were not measured in the quantitative chapters. Understanding their contribution in a wider cohort is still missing. Also, more research is warranted to understand whether working in niche fields of veterinary practice (specialty, shelter etc.) influences retention in practice. Additionally, it would be interesting to observe whether working in general practice (mix animal, equine or small animal) compared to government or other speciality practice poses a higher risk for clinical attrition. Understanding the relationship between niche fields and specialities and attrition is important to be able to further investigate the specific characteristic of these fields that may influence retention. Increasing salaries, reducing hours, and allowing additional time for patient care are recommended strategies for retention. However, the authors acknowledge the financial impact these might have on private veterinary businesses. Proposing strategies to mitigate such financial impact or increase practice profitability is outside the scope of this thesis but needs consideration when implementing retention strategies.

Finally, in this dissertation we used logistic regression modelling to investigate potential contributions of the hypothesised variables and attrition from veterinary clinical practice. Although the models provided results for the contribution of each variable accounting for the influence of other variables as confounders (all else being equal), there was no analysis in relation to the interaction between the variables and the contribution of the combination of variables and the outcome. Considering that both in chapter 3 and the review of the literature the interaction of variables is seen to possibly contribute to attrition, it would be important to assess the contribution of combination of factors and the outcome in future studies.

## Limitations of the studies

As with any research project, this study had certain limitations. Participant recollection and recruitment bias could have affected some of the results. Recollection bias could impact the results of the ProQOL<sup>114</sup>, which is designed to capture the incidence of the variables within a 30-day period<sup>66</sup>. Chapter 6 used the ProQOL scale to measure CS and CF in former clinicians who (in the majority) had left practice considerably longer than 30 days prior to

the survey meaning that the scores for this cohort may be less accurate. Furthermore, it was not possible to modify the ProQOL measure to account for aspects of CF or CS related to caring for animals (patients), which might show different results than when caring for people (clients).

It was a requirement for ethics approval to present a 'non-applicable' option to answer the moral distress scale, which affected the Likert scores and prevented using the MMD-HP precisely as it was developed. Although a veterinary specific measure was developed for moral distress, it is recommended that this scale is administered in a different population to assess validity. Some of the sub-scales extrapolated from medical nursing might not have adequately captured the constructs of job satisfaction in veterinarians. Other questions more in line with veterinary practice might yield different results for the collegial relations and workload variables. Developing veterinary specific professional measures can improve our understanding of professional wellbeing, job and career satisfaction, and retention in clinical practice. Finally, the logistics regression model uses odds ratio to further characterise the magnitude of significance of the assessed variables. Although odds ratio is the default measurement in SPSS logistics regression modelling, further assessment in changes of risk ratios, probabilities and likelihoods would be required to fully understand the magnitude of the effect that each of the investigated variable has on the outcome variable.

Some subtle yet important differences are evident when the results of the regression, excluding the psychometric scales (chapter 4) and the results of chapter 6 are compared. The population in this final study was approximately 200 respondents, smaller than the population for chapter 4. If the MDS-V scale had been included in the final regression model, the population would have reduced further. This occurred because although most respondents completed the demographic section of the survey, few answered the psychometric scales, and fewer participants responded to the questions associated with moral distress. This population shift was enough for gender to be no longer significant to attrition from practice, and veterinarians that had worked in both rural and metropolitan regions did no longer have higher odds to have left than their solely metropolitan counterparts.

Finally, the category of 'other' in field of work grouped several clinical areas. This grouping was chosen to meet the model requirements but prevented evaluation of the individual sub-categories in this group. Working in 'other' clinical fields could prevent attrition from practice. However, due to the limitations in methodology (having several, widely-varied fields of work under one category), further research is needed to understand whether working in niche fields contributes to retention or whether this contribution depends on a particular clinical field.

## Conclusions

When examining working conditions, those that influenced attrition were having on-call duties, more hours of work, lower pay, and worked in metropolitan regions. Further research in regional differences may uncover unique, key elements requiring further address. The contribution of working hours is also reflected in the significant contribution of job dissatisfactions with schedules. Overall, flexibility with hours of work (particularly on-call duties) and increasing remuneration could be a pertinent starting point to retain veterinarians in clinical practice.

Other factors that might influence attrition include being motivated by social purposes, experiencing lower compassion satisfaction, and experiencing lower job satisfaction in relation to personal satisfaction or intrinsic reward. This thesis sets the groundwork for future research to further understand potential relationships of these psychological variables and attrition from veterinary practice. Creating a tool to measure job satisfaction in veterinary clinical practice and a contextualised professional quality of life measure for veterinary clinicians is recommended to guide future research. Finally, the contribution of moral distress was identified by former clinicians as an influential factor for their decision to leave practice but showed no significance when quantitatively assessed in a larger population. Research limitations around the investigation of this variable must be considered. However, regardless of the relationship between moral distress and attrition, understanding and addressing moral distress in veterinary professionals is vital for the mental wellbeing of these professionals.

It is concluded that the reasons for attrition from veterinary clinical practice are complex and varied: there are a range of potential influential elements that often interrelate. Designing retention strategies requires an appreciation of these combined factors. The retention of veterinarians in practice needs to address the adverse and extrinsic working conditions such as on-call, working hours and salary, and enhance the work elements that enable veterinary clinicians to experience job satisfaction, like being able to care for their patients, clients, and communities.

# References

- 1. Villarroel, A., et al., *A survey of reasons why veterinarians leave rural veterinary practice in the United States.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2010. **236**(8): p. 859-867.
- 2. Adam, K., S. Baillie, and J. Rushton, *Retaining vets in farm animal practice: a cross-sectional study.* Veterinary Record, 2015. **176**(25): p. 655.
- 3. Heath, T.J. and G.E. Niethe, *Veterinary practitioners in rural Australia: a national survey.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2001. **79**(7): p. 464-469.
- 4. The Australian Veterinary Association. *Australian Veterinary Association Veterinary Workforce Survey* 2021. 2021 December 2021 [cited 2022 01/04/2022]; 38]. Available from: https://www.ava.com.au/siteassets/news/ava-workforce-survey-analysis-2021-final.pdf.
- The Australian Veterinary Association. Australian Veterinary Workforce Survey 2018. 2019 April 2019; Available from: https://www.ava.com.au/policy-advocacy/advocacy/workforce/workforce-data/.
- 6. Hagen, J.R., et al., *Investigation of factors affecting recruitment and retention in the UK veterinary profession.* Veterinary Record, 2020. **187**(9): p. 354-354.
- 7. The Australian Veterinary Association, *The Australian Veterinary Workforce Survey 2016*. 2017.
- 8. Nett, R.J., et al., *Risk factors for suicide, attitudes toward mental illness, and practice-related stressors among US veterinarians.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2015. **247**(8): p. 945-55.
- 9. Epstein, E.G., et al., *Enhancing Understanding of Moral Distress: The Measure of Moral Distress for Health Care Professionals.* AJOB Empirical Bioethics, 2019. **10**(2): p. 113-124.
- 10. Epstein, E.G., *Understanding and addressing moral distress.* Online Journal of Issues in Nursing, 2010. **15**(3).
- 11. Epstein, E.G. and A.B. Hamric, *Moral distress, moral residue, and the crescendo effect.* Journal of Clinical Ethics, 2009. **20**(4): p. 330-42.
- Lamiani, G., et al., Measuring Moral Distress Among Critical Care Clinicians: Validation and Psychometric Properties of the Italian Moral Distress Scale-Revised. Critical Care Medicine, 2017. 45(3): p. 430-437.
- 13. Lamiani, G., L. Borghi, and P. Argentero, *When healthcare professionals cannot do the right thing: A systematic review of moral distress and its correlates.* Journal of Health Psychology, 2017. **22**(1): p. 51-67.
- 14. Trotochaud, K., et al., *Moral Distress in Pediatric Healthcare Providers.* Journal of Pediatric Nursing, 2015. **30**(6): p. 908-14.
- 15. Dyo, M., P. Kalowes, and J. Devries, *Moral distress and intention to leave: A comparison of adult and paediatric nurses by hospital setting.* Intensive Critical Care Nursing, 2016. **36**: p. 42-8.
- 16. MacKusick, C.I. and P. Minick, *Why are nurses leaving? Findings From an Initial Qualitative Study on Nursing Attrition* MEDSURG Nursing, 2010. **19**(6): p. 335-340.
- 17. Ramos, M.D.B., et al., *Moral distress in nurses*. Cultura de los Cuidados, 2017. **21**(48): p. 210-218.
- 18. Jameton, A., Nursing Practice. The Ethical Issues. Englewood Cliffs. 1984, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- 19. Wilkinson, J.M., Moral distress in nursing practice. Nursing Forum, 1987-1988. 23: p. 19-29.
- 20. Crane, M.F., J.K. Phillips, and E. Karin, *Trait perfectionism strengthens the negative effects of moral stressors occurring in veterinary practice.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2015. **93**(10): p. 354-60.
- 21. Crane, M.F., P. Bayl-Smith, and J. Cartmill, *A Recommendation for Expanding the Definition of Moral Distress Experienced in the Workplace.* The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Organisational Psychology, 2013. **6**.
- 22. Rollin, B.E., *Euthanasia and Moral Stress*. Loss, Grief and Care, 1987. 1(1-2).
- 23. Kahler, S.C., Moral stress the top trigger in veterinarians' compassion fatigue: veterinary social worker suggests redefining veterinarians' ethical responsibility. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2015. **246**(1): p. 16-18.

- Moses, L., M.J. Malowney, and J. Wesley Boyd, *Ethical conflict and moral distress in veterinary practice: A survey of North American veterinarians.* Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine, 2018. 32(6): p. 2115-2122.
- 25. Morgan, C.A. and M. McDonald, *Ethical dilemmas in veterinary medicine*. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice, 2007. **37**(1): p. 165-79.
- 26. Rollin, B.E., *Euthanasia, moral stress, and chronic illness in veterinary medicine.* Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice, 2011. **41**(3): p. 651-9.
- 27. Liamputtong, P., *Qualitative Research Methods*. Fourth ed. 2013, Victoria, Australia: Oxford University Press.
- 28. Braun, V. and V. Clarke, *Using thematic analysis in psychology.* Qualitative Research in Psychology, 2006. **3**(2): p. 77-101.
- 29. Crowe, M., M. Inder, and R. Porter, *Conducting qualitative research in mental health: Thematic and content analyses.* Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 2015. **49**(7): p. 616-623.
- 30. Booth, M., M. Rishniw, and L.R. Kogan, *The shortage of veterinarians in emergency practice: A survey and analysis.* Journal of Veterinary Emergency and Critical Care (San Antonio), 2020.
- 31. Begeny, C., M. Ryan, and R. Bongiorno. *Motivation, Satisfaction and Retention. Understanding the importance of vets' day-to-day work experiences.* 2018 November 2018; 12]. Available from: https://www.svf.se/media/ognjno14/motivation-satisfaction-and-retention-bva-workforce-report-nov-2018-1.pdf.
- 32. Kirby, S.N. and D.W. Grissmer, *Teacher Attrition: Theory, Evidence and Suggested Policy Options*. 1993, Rand Corp: Santa Monica, Calif. p. 54.
- 33. Mason, S. and C. Matas Poyatos, *Teacher attrition and retention research in Australia: Towards a new theoretical framework.* Australian Journal of Teacher Education (Online), 2015.
- 34. Cosgrave, C., M. Maple, and R. Hussain, *An explanation of turnover intention among early-career nursing and allied health professionals working in rural and remote Australia - findings from a grounded theory study.* Rural and Remote Health, 2018. **18**(3).
- 35. Adam, K.E., S. Baillie, and J. Rushton, *Clients. Outdoors. Animals: Retaining vets in UK farm animal practice-thematic analysis of free-text survey responses.* Veterinary Record, 2019. **184**(4): p. 121.
- 36. Furr, M., *Factors Associated with Veterinary Clinical Faculty Attrition.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2018. **45**(1): p. 16-26.
- 37. Villarroel, A., et al., *Shortage of Rural Veterinarians: Real or Perceived?* Online Journal of Rural Research and Policy, 2010. **5**(7).
- 38. Federation of Veterinarians of Europe. *Shortage of veterinarians in rural and remote areas. Summary report.* 2020 14]; Available from:
- https://2020.fve.org/cms/wpcontent/uploads/Shortage\_Vets\_Rural\_Areas10July2020.pdf.
- 39. Maxwell, J.A.L., et al., *Rural veterinary services in Western Australia: Part B. Rural practice.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2008. **86**(3): p. 74-80.
- 40. Meehan, M.P. and L. Bradley, *Identifying and evaluating job stress within the Australian small animal veterinary profession.* Australian Veterinary Practitioner, 2007. **37**(2): p. 70-83.
- 41. Ulmer, B. and M. Harris, *Australian GPs are satisfied with their job: even more so in rural areas.* Family Practice, 2002. **19**(3): p. 300-3.
- 42. Hyams, J.H., et al., *Demographic and preliminary employment data of the first two graduate cohorts from a rural veterinary school.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2017. **95**(4): p. 91-100.
- 43. James-Scotter, M., C. Walker, and S. Jacobs, *An interprofessional perspective on job satisfaction in the operating room: a review of the literature.* Journal of Interprofessional Care, 2019. **33**(6): p. 782-794.
- 44. Armitage-Chan, E. and S.A. May, *Identity, environment and mental wellbeing in the veterinary profession.* Veterinary Record, 2018. **183**(2): p. 68.
- 45. Jelinski, M.D. and T.I. Silver, *The career path choices of veterinary radiologists.* Veterinary Radiology and Ultrasound, 2015. **56**(1): p. 109-113.
- 46. Smith, D.R., et al., *Examining the dimensions and correlates of workplace stress among Australian veterinarians.* Journal of Occupational Medicine and Toxicology, 2009. **4**(1).
- 47. Doherty, C., *The demand for associate veterinarians: Surveying the "shortage".* The Canadian veterinary journal = La revue veterinaire canadienne, 2020. **61**(1): p. 85-88.

- 48. Buzzeo, J., D. Robinson, and W. Matthew, *The 2014 RCVS Survey of the Veterinary Profession*. 2014, Institute for Employment Studies: United Kingdom.
- 49. Gates, M.C., et al., *Experiences of employers, work colleagues, and mentors with new veterinary graduates and preferences towards new graduate support programmes.* New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 2021. **69**(1): p. 38-50.
- 50. Fair Work Australia. *Maximum weekly hours*. 06/06/2021]; Available from: https://www.fairwork.gov.au/tools-and-resources/fact-sheets/minimum-workplace-entitlements/maximum-weekly-hours.
- 51. Hardy, G.E., D.A. Shapiro, and C.S. Borrill, *Fatigue in the workforce of national health service trusts:* Levels of symptomatology and links with minor psychiatric disorder, demographic, occupational and work role factors. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 1997. **43**(1): p. 83-92.
- 52. Houston, D.M. and S.K. Allt, *Psychological distress and error making among junior house officers.* British Journal of Health Psychology, 1997. **2**(2): p. 141-151.
- 53. Trimpop, R., et al., *Individual differences in working hours, work perceptions and accident rates in veterinary surgeries.* Work & Stress, 2000. **14**(2): p. 181-188.
- 54. Houston, S., et al., *The intensity and frequency of moral distress among different healthcare disciplines.* Journal of Clinical Ethics, 2013. **24**(2): p. 98-112.
- 55. Professionals Australia. *Veterinarians issues paper*. 2017 [cited 2021 26/02/2021]; Available from: http://www.professionalsaustralia.org.au/professional-women/wpcontent/uploads/2017/09/Veterinarians-Issues-Paper.pdf.
- 56. White, R. What would make a vet stay in rural practice. 2011.
- 57. Neill, C.L. and R.B. Holcomb, *Is the Veterinary Industry Chasing its Tail? An Equilibrium Analysis of Veterinarian Service Hours*. 2017, Southern Agricultural Economics Association: Alabama.
- 58. Kipperman, B.S., P.H. Kass, and M. Rishniw, *Factors that influence small animal veterinarians'* opinions and actions regarding cost of care and effects of economic limitations on patient care and outcome and professional career satisfaction and burnout. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2017. **250**(7): p. 785-794.
- 59. Frawley, P.T., *Review of Rural Veterinary Services*, Department of Agriculture Fisheries and Forestry, Editor. 2003: Australia. p. 145.
- 60. Kinnison, T., When veterinary teams are faced with clients who can't afford to pay. Veterinary Record, 2016. **179**(23): p. 594-595.
- 61. Bachynsky, E.A., et al., A survey of the opinions of recent veterinary graduates and employers regarding early career business skills. Veterinary Record, 2013. **172**(23): p. 604.
- 62. Judge, T.A., et al., *The relationship between pay and job satisfaction: A meta-analysis of the literature.* Journal of Vocational Behavior, 2010. **77**(2): p. 157-167.
- 63. Watson, D. and L.A. Clark, *Negative affectivity. The disposition to experience aversive emotional states.* Psychological Bulletin, 1984. **96**: p. 465-490.
- 64. Gardner, D.H. and D. Hini, *Work-related stress in the veterinary profession in New Zealand.* New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 2006. **54**(3): p. 119-24.
- 65. Hatch, P.H., et al., *Workplace stress, mental health, and burnout of veterinarians in Australia.* Australian Veterinary Journal, 2011. **89**(11): p. 460-8.
- 66. Stamm, B.H., *The Concise ProQOL Manual, 2nd Edition.* 2010.
- 67. Scotney, R.L., D. McLaughlin, and H.L. Keates, *An investigation of the prevalence of compassion fatigue, compassion satisfaction and burnout in those working in animal-related occupations using the Professional Quality of Life (ProQOL) Scale.* The Veterinary Nurse, 2019. **10**(5): p. 276-284.
- 68. Monaghan, H., et al., *Compassion Fatigue in People Who Care for Animals: An Investigation of Risk and Protective Factors.* Traumatology, 2020.
- 69. Best, C.O., et al., *A survey of veterinarian mental health and resilience in Ontario, Canada.* The Canadian veterinary journal = La revue veterinaire canadienne, 2020. **61**(2): p. 166-172.
- 70. McArthur, M.L., et al., *The Prevalence of Compassion Fatigue among Veterinary Students in Australia and the Associated Psychological Factors.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2017. **44**(1): p. 9-21.

- 71. Stalker, C.A., et al., *Child welfare workers who are exhausted yet satisfied with their jobs: How do they do it?* Child and Family Social Work, 2007. **12**(2): p. 182-191.
- 72. Cavallaro, L., *Employee Wellbeing and Compassion Fatigue among Animal Caregivers: A Hermeneutic Phenomenological Study*, in *The Graduate School of Education and Human Development*. 2010, The George Washington University.
- 73. Hansez, I., F. Schins, and F. Rollin, *Occupational stress, work-home interference and burnout among Belgian veterinary practitioners.* Irish Veterinary Jpurnal, 2008. **61**(4): p. 233-41.
- Polachek, A.J. and J.E. Wallace, *The paradox of compassionate work: a mixed-methods study of satisfying and fatiguing experiences of animal health care providers*. Anxiety, Stress and Coping, 2018.
  31(2): p. 228-243.
- 75. Jalagat, R.J., *Job Performance, Job Satisfaction, and Motivation: A Critical Review of their Relationship.* International Journal of Advances in Management and Economics, 2016. **5**(6): p. 36-42.
- 76. Cake, M., et al., *Challenging identity: development of a measure of veterinary career motivations.* Veterinary Record, 2020. **186**(12): p. 386-386.
- 77. Mobley, W.H., Intermediate linkages in the relationship between job satisfaction and employee *turnover*. Journal of Applied Psychology, 1977. **62**(2): p. 237-240.
- 78. Brewer, C.S., et al., *Predictors of actual turnover in a national sample of newly licensed registered nurses employed in hospitals.* Journal of Advanced Nursing, 2012. **68**(3): p. 521-38.
- 79. Chen, G., et al., *The power of momentum: A new model of dynamic relationships between job satisfaction change and turnover intentions.* Academy of Management Journal, 2011. **54**(1): p. 159-181.
- 80. Sellgren, S.F., et al., *Nursing staff turnover at a Swedish university hospital: An exploratory study.* Journal of Clinical Nursing, 2009. **18**(22): p. 3181-3189.
- 81. Roberts, B.J., C. Jones, and M. Lynn, *Job satisfaction of new baccalaureate nurses.* Journal of Nursing Administration, 2004. **34**(9): p. 428-435.
- 82. Sutherland, V.J. and C.L. Cooper, *Identifying distress among general practitioners: Predictors of psychological ill-health and job dissatisfaction.* Social Science & Medicine, 1993. **37**(5): p. 575-581.
- 83. Judge, T.A. and E.A. Locke, *Effect of Dysfunctional Thought Processes on Subjective Well-Being and Job Satisfaction.* Journal of Applied Psychology, 1993. **78**(3): p. 475-490.
- 84. Clise, M.H., S.M. Matthew, and M.L. McArthur, *Sources of pleasure in veterinary work: A qualitative study.* Veterinary Record, 2021. **188**(11): p. no.
- 85. Traynor, M. and B. Wade, *The development of a measure of job satisfaction for use in monitoring the morale of community nurses in four trusts.* Journal of Advanced Nursing, 1993. **18**(1): p. 127-136.
- 86. Hegney, D.G., et al., Compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue, anxiety, depression and stress in registered nurses in Australia: study 1 results. Journal of Nursing Management, 2014. **22**(4): p. 506-518.
- 87. Watt, H.M.G. and P.W. Richardson, *Motivational factors influencing teaching as a career choice:* Development and validation of the FIT-choice scale. Journal of Experimental Education, 2007. **75**(3): p. 167-202.
- 88. Cake, M.A., et al., *An exploration of the career motivations stated by early-career veterinarians in Australia.* Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, 2019. **46**(12): p. 545-554.
- 89. Clise, M.H., N. Kirby, and M.L. McArthur, *Is veterinary work more than satisfying? A critical review of the literature.* Veterinary Record, 2021.
- 90. Page-Jones, S. and G. Abbey, *Career identity in the veterinary profession*. Veterinary Record, 2015. **176**(17): p. 433.
- 91. Pizzolon, C.N., J.B. Coe, and J.R. Shaw, *Evaluation of team effectiveness and personal empathy for associations with professional quality of life and job satisfaction in companion animal practice personnel.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2019. **254**(10): p. 1204-1217.
- 92. Skovholt, T.M., T.L. Grier, and M.R. Hanson, *Career counseling for longevity: Self-care and burnout prevention strategies for counselor resilience.* Journal of Career Development, 2001. **27**(3): p. 167-176.
- 93. Dixon, W.H.R., T. Kinnison, and S.A. May, *Understanding the primary care paradigm: An experiential learning focus of the early veterinary graduate.* Veterinary Record, 2017. **181**(18): p. 480.
- 94. Bartram, D.J., J.M. Sinclair, and D.S. Baldwin, *Interventions with potential to improve the mental health and wellbeing of UK veterinary surgeons.* Veterinary Record, 2010. **166**(17): p. 518-23.

- 95. Andela, M., *Burnout, somatic complaints, and suicidal ideations among veterinarians: Development and validation of the Veterinarians Stressors Inventory.* Journal of Veterinary Behavior, 2020. **37**: p. 48-55.
- 96. Aiken, L.H., et al., *Hospital nurse staffing and patient mortality, nurse burnout, and job dissatisfaction.* Journal of the American Medical Association, 2002. **288**(16): p. 1987-1993.
- 97. Hayes, G.M., et al., A multicenter observational study investigating care errors, staffing levels, and workload in small animal intensive care units. Journal of Veterinary Emergency and Critical Care, 2020. **30**(5): p. 517-524.
- 98. Kogan, L.R., et al., *Veterinarians' experiences with near misses and adverse events.* Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 2018. **252**(5): p. 586-595.
- 99. Batchelor, C.E. and D.E. McKeegan, *Survey of the frequency and perceived stressfulness of ethical dilemmas encountered in UK veterinary practice.* Veterinary Record, 2012. **170**(1): p. 1-5.
- 100. Morgan, C.A., *Stepping up to the plate. Veterinarians, animal welfare and ethical dilemmas.*, in *Doctorate Dissertation.* 2009, The University of British Columbia: Vancouver, Canada. p. 215.
- Kipperman, B., P. Morris, and B. Rollin, *Ethical dilemmas encountered by small animal veterinarians: characterisation, responses, consequences and beliefs regarding euthanasia.* Veterinary Record, 2018.
  182(19): p. 548.
- 102. Richards, L., *Veterinarians Making Ethical Decisions How do they do it?* 2017, The University of Melbourne: Melbourne, Australia. p. 58.
- 103. Tran, L., M.F. Crane, and J.K. Phillips, *The distinct role of performing euthanasia on depression and suicide in veterinarians.* Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, 2014. **19**(2): p. 123-32.
- 104. Rushton, C.H., A.W. Kaszniak, and J.S. Halifax, *A framework for understanding moral distress among palliative care clinicians.* Journal of Palliative Medicine, 2013. **16**(9): p. 1074-9.
- 105. Dalmolin Gde, L., et al., *Moral distress and burnout syndrome: are there relationships between these phenomena in nursing workers?* Revista Latino-Americana de Enfermagem, 2014. **22**(1): p. 35-42.
- 106. Fumis, R.R.L., et al., *Moral distress and its contribution to the development of burnout syndrome among critical care providers.* Annals of Intensive Care, 2017. **7**(1).
- 107. Bartram, D.J., G. Yadegarfar, and D.S. Baldwin, *Psychosocial working conditions and work-related stressors among UK veterinary surgeons.* Occupational Medicine (Lond), 2009. **59**(5): p. 334-41.
- Gates, M.C., et al., Experiences of recent veterinary graduates in their first employment position and their preferences for new graduate support programmes. New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 2020. 68(4): p. 214-224.
- 109. Rock, L.K., et al., "Circle up": Workflow adaptation and psychological support via briefing, debriefing and peer support. NEJM Catalyst, 2020: p. 14.
- 110. Corley, M.C. and P. Minick, *Moral distress or moral comfort.* Bioethics Forum, 2002. **18**(1-2): p. 7-14.
- 111. Lloyd, C. and D.P. Campion, *Occupational stress and the importance of self-care and resilience: Focus on veterinary nursing.* Irish Veterinary Journal, 2017. **70**(1).
- 112. Meehan, M., *Practical strategies to manage work-related stress in the veterinary profession.* Veterinary Record, 2019. **184**(19): p. 585-587.
- 113. Rohlf, V.I., Interventions for occupational stress and compassion fatigue in animal care professionals— A systematic review. Traumatology, 2018. **24**(3): p. 186-192.
- 114. Colombo, D., et al., *Affect Recall Bias: Being Resilient by Distorting Reality.* Cognitive Therapy and Research, 2020. **44**(5): p. 906-918.